Nonabelian level structures, Nielsen equivalence, and Markoff triples

By WILLIAM Y. CHEN

Abstract

In this paper we establish a congruence on the degree of the map from a component of a Hurwitz space of covers of elliptic curves to the moduli stack of elliptic curves. Combinatorially, this can be expressed as a congruence on the cardinalities of Nielsen equivalence classes of generating pairs of finite groups. Building on the work of Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak, we apply this congruence to show that for all but finitely many primes p, the group of Markoff automorphisms acts transitively on the non-zero \mathbb{F}_p -points of the Markoff equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 3xyz = 0$. This yields a strong approximation property for the Markoff equation, the finiteness of congruence conditions satisfied by Markoff numbers, and the connectivity of a certain infinite family of Hurwitz spaces of $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -covers of elliptic curves. With possibly finitely many exceptions, this resolves a conjecture of Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak, first posed by Baragar in 1991, and a question of Frobenius, posed in 1913. Since their methods are effective, this reduces the conjecture to a finite computation.

Contents

1.	Introduction	303
1.1.	Admissible covers and the main congruence	304
1.2.	Applications	306
1.3.	Organization of the paper	311
1.4.	Related work	314
1.5.	Acknowledgements	315
1.6.	Notation and conventions	315

Keywords: Nielsen equivalence, Hurwitz stacks, elliptic curves, non-congruence modular curves, admissible covers, character varieties, Markoff triples

AMS Classification: Primary: 11D25, 11J06, 14H10, 14H30, 14D20, 14G12, 14M35, 20D60; Secondary: 11F06, 11Gxx, 14D23, 14G32, 14G35.

The author's research was partly supported by National Science Foundation Award No. DMS-1803357, as well as the Minerva Research Foundation at the Institute for Advanced Study.

^{© 2024} Department of Mathematics, Princeton University.

2. Admissible <i>G</i> -covers of elliptic curves	316
2.1. Admissible <i>G</i> -covers and their moduli	316
2.2. The reduced ramification divisor of an admissible <i>G</i> -cover	323
2.3. The Higman invariant	326
2.4. Comparison with stable marked <i>G</i> -curves	328
2.5. Relation to the moduli stack of elliptic curves with <i>G</i> -structures	332
3. Degrees of components of $Adm(G)$ over $\overline{M(1)}$	348
3.1. The cotangent and relative dualizing sheaves for universal familie	es
over moduli stacks	348
3.2. The universal family over $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and its reduced ramification	
divisor	351
3.3. Restriction of the relative dualizing sheaf to a ramified section	353
3.4. Degree formalism for line bundles on 1-dimensional stacks	354
3.5. The main congruence	358
4. Galois correspondence for cuspidal objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$	360
4.1. (Pre)cuspidal <i>G</i> -curves, (pre)cuspidal <i>G</i> -covers	361
4.2. Tangential base points	362
4.3. The fundamental group of $\mathbb{P}^1 - \{0, 1, \infty\}$	365
4.4. The category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ and the normalization map $\Xi: \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$	366
4.5. Balanced objects of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$	371
4.6. Galois correspondence for precuspidal <i>G</i> -covers	373
4.7. Combinatorial balance, combinatorial connectedness	374
4.8. Parametrizing isomorphism classes of cuspidal admissible	
G-covers: the δ -invariant	377
4.9. The δ -invariant of the [-1]-pullback of a cuspidal <i>G</i> -cover	380
4.10. Automorphism groups of cuspidal objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$	382
4.11. Necessity of the obstructions m, d	388
4.12. Congruences for non-abelian finite simple groups	389
5. Applications to Markoff triples and the geometry of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$	391
5.1. The trace invariant	392
5.2. $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -structures as \mathbb{F}_q -points of a character variety	394
5.3. Automorphism groups of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$	405
5.4. Congruences for $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -structures	410
5.5. Strong approximation for the Markoff equation	414
5.6. A genus formula for $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2,\overline{\mathbb{O}}}^{\mathrm{abs}}$; Finiteness of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -	
structures of trace invariant -2	417
6. Appendix	422
6.1. Normalized coordinates for tame balanced actions on prestable	
curves	422
6.2. The isomorphism $R[A, B, C] \xrightarrow{\sim} A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}}$	426
6.3. The normalizer of $\operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ in $\operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$	428

302

6.4.	Images of absolutely irreducible representations $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$	428
6.5.	Étale local rings of Deligne-Mumford stacks	430
Refer	rences	434

1. Introduction

Let k be a field. Let $\mathcal{M}_{g,n}$ denote the moduli stack over k of smooth curves of genus g with n marked points. For an integer d, there is a Hurwitz stack $\mathcal{H}_{g,n,d}$ which classifies connected degree d covers of smooth (g, n)-curves, ramified above the n marked points and unramified elsewhere. While $\mathcal{M}_{g,n}$ is irreducible, the Hurwitz stacks $\mathcal{H}_{g,n,d}$ are typically disconnected. It is a classical problem to find combinatorial invariants of covers that can distinguish their connected components, or equivalently, to determine whether an open and closed substack of $\mathcal{H}_{g,n,d}$ corresponding to some fixed values of various combinatorial invariants is connected.

For example, when $k = \mathbb{C}$, Clebsch, Lüroth, and Hurwitz used a combinatorial argument [Cle73], [Hur91], [Ful69] to show that the substack of $\mathcal{H}_{0,n,d}$ corresponding to covers which are simply branched over the *n* marked points is either empty or connected, the latter happening exactly when *n* is even and $n \geq 2d - 2$; taking *d* large enough so that every curve of genus *g* admits a degree *d* map to \mathbb{P}^1 with simple branching over *n* points, this gave the first proof of the connectedness of \mathcal{M}_g . When (g, n) = (0, 3) and $k = \mathbb{Q}$, the connected components of $\bigsqcup_{d\geq 1} \mathcal{H}_{0,3,d}$ are in bijection with the $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}/\mathbb{Q})$ -orbits of dessins d'enfants. Describing these orbits in terms of combinatorial data remains a deep and very open problem [HS97], [Sch97], [SL97a], [SL97b].

When a combinatorial type is fixed and g or n are allowed to be large, there are a number of connectedness results which go under the name of genus stabilization ($g \gg 0$ — see [DT06, §6] or [CLP16]), or branch stabilization (g = $0, n \gg 0$), which first appeared as a theorem of Conway and Parker.¹ Recently such connectedness results have found notable applications to number theory. In [EVW16] and [LZB19], Ellenberg, Venkatesh, Westerland, Liu, Wood, and Zureick-Brown proved branch stabilization results and used them to study the function field analogs of Cohen-Lenstra-Martinet heuristics on class groups. In [RV15], Roberts and Venkatesh also used branch stabilization to study an open problem of Malle and Roberts on the infinitude of number fields with alternating or symmetric monodromy group and bounded ramification.

When (g, n) are fixed and the combinatorial type is allowed to vary, much less is known, and it is unclear what one should even expect. In this paper, we will prove a connectedness result of this type, where (g, n) = (1, 1) (see Theorem 1.2.10), and apply it to a conjecture of Bourgain, Gamburd, and

¹see [FV91, Appendix]; also see [Lön20], [EVW16, Th. 6.1], [LZB19, Cor. 12.5].

Sarnak on the Diophantine properties of the Markoff equation (see Section 1.2). The key new ingredient is a congruence on the degree of a forgetful map between moduli spaces; see Theorem 1.1.1. Our results also have applications to a non-congruence Rademacher's conjecture, an old question of Frobenius, and can also be interpreted in the language of Nielsen equivalence for generating pairs of finite groups.

1.1. Admissible covers and the main congruence. Let $\mathcal{M}(1) := \mathcal{M}_{1,1}$ be the moduli stack of elliptic curves, and let $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ denote its compactification by stable pointed curves of genus 1. Henceforth, following [DR73], the objects of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ will be called 1-generalized elliptic curves. For a finite group G, let $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ denote the stack of admissible G-covers of 1-generalized elliptic curves E which are unramified away from the marked point $O \in E$ (the origin of E).² The stacks $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ are smooth, proper, and Deligne-Mumford over $\mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$, but for the purposes of the introduction it will suffice to work over \mathbb{C} . The coarse schemes of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ are denoted Adm(G) and $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ respectively.

Let $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ be the forgetful map sending an admissible cover of E to the base curve E. To a cover $C \to E$ in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$, one can associate the Higman invariant, which analytically is the conjugacy class in Ggiven by monodromy around the origin $O \in E$. If \mathfrak{c} is a conjugacy class of G, the substack $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ classifying covers with Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} is open and closed, and for any such cover $C \to E$, the ramification index of any point above $O \in E$ is equal to the order of any representative of \mathfrak{c} . In this paper we will establish, for any connected component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ with coarse scheme X, a divisibility theorem on the degree of the finite flat forgetful map $\mathfrak{f}: X \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$. For example, we will show

THEOREM 1.1.1 (See Corollary 4.12.5). Let G be a finite group. Let $c \in G$, and let \mathfrak{c} be its conjugacy class. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ be a connected component with coarse scheme X, parametrizing covers with Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} . For a prime ℓ , write $r := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|)$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$, write $\lceil x \rceil$ for the minimum integer $\geq x$. Then we have

(a) Write $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|) = r+s$. Let $j \ge 0$ be an integer such that G does not contain any proper normal subgroup of order divisible by ℓ^{j+1} . If $r \ge 3s + j$, then

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\lceil \frac{r-3s-j}{2} \rceil}.$$

(b) Suppose G is non-abelian and simple. If l^{r+1} ≥ |G|^{1/3} and G is not isomorphic to PSL₂(F_q) for any q, then

- - -

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\left\lfloor \frac{r}{2} \right\rfloor}.$$

²If E is smooth, these are just G-Galois branched covers, only branched above the origin. If E is nodal, we also allow non-étaleness above the node, though these are not considered ramification points; see Section 2.1.

A sketch of the proof is given in Section 1.3.2. A more precise version of this result is given in Theorems 3.5.1 and 4.10.5. Note that in case (a), if $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|) = \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|)$ and G does not contain any proper normal subgroup of order divisible by ℓ , then we obtain a congruence $\equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\lceil \frac{r}{2} \rceil}$. This is the case when $c = \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{\ell})$ for $\ell \geq 3$, so we get a congruence $\equiv 0 \mod \ell$. This case leads to our main result on Markoff triples (see Section 1.2.1).

Let $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ denote the substack classifying smooth covers. The forgetful map $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ restricts to an étale map $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$, which in turn factors as

$$\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1),$$

where $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the moduli stack of elliptic curves with *G*-structures (see Section 2.5 below). Here the first map is a homeomorphism and the second map is finite étale. In particular, the sets of connected components of $\mathcal{A}dm(G), \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$, and $\mathcal{M}(G)$ are in natural bijection with each other and can be characterized combinatorially using Galois theory: if Π denotes the fundamental group of a once punctured torus, then the geometric fibers of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ above $\mathcal{M}(1)$ are in bijection with the set

$$\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) := \operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, G) / \operatorname{Inn}(G).$$

Note that Π is free of rank 2 and that $\Pi \to \Pi/[\Pi,\Pi] \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$ induces an *isomorphism* $\operatorname{Out}(\Pi) := \operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)/\operatorname{Inn}(\Pi) \cong \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ [LS01, Prop. 4.5]. Let $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ be the subgroup of $\operatorname{Out}(\Pi)$ acting with determinant 1 on \mathbb{Z}^2 . Then the fundamental group of $\mathcal{M}(1)$ is the profinite completion of $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$, the connected components of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ are in bijection with the orbits of the natural action of $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$, and the degree of the induced map on coarse schemes $Adm^0(G) \to M(1)$ is either equal to the cardinality of the orbit, or twice the cardinality (Theorem 2.5.2). From this we deduce the following combinatorial interpretation of Theorem 1.1.1:

COROLLARY 1.1.2. Let G be a finite group. Let $c \in G$, and let \mathfrak{c} be its conjugacy class. Fix a basis (a, b) for Π . Let $\varphi : \Pi \to G$ be a surjection satisfying $\varphi([a, b]) \in \mathfrak{c}$. Let $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \cdot \varphi$ denote the orbit of φ in $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$. For a prime ℓ , write $r := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|)$. Then we have

(a) Write $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|) = r + s$, and let $j \ge 0$ be an integer such that G does not contain any proper normal subgroup of order divisible by ℓ^{j+1} . If $r \ge 3s+j$, then

$$|\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \cdot \varphi| \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\lceil \frac{r-3s-j}{2} \rceil}.$$

(b) Suppose G is non-abelian and simple. If $\ell^{r+1} \ge |G|^{1/3}$ and G is not isomorphic to $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ for any q, then

$$|\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \cdot \varphi| \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{|\frac{r}{2}|}.$$

Since the congruences give at best $\equiv 0 \mod |c|$, we find that the results above are only interesting when G is non-abelian (and generated by two elements). Note that when G is abelian, the sizes of the Out⁺(II)-orbits of $\varphi : \Pi \to G$ correspond to the indices of certain congruence subgroups inside $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, which are well understood. When $G = \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$, the action is transitive and the size of the single orbit is the index $[SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma_1(n)]$; when $G = (\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})^2$, the action has $\phi(n)$ components, and the size of each orbit is $[SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma(n)] = |SL_2(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})|$.

1.2. Applications. From now on we let Π be a free group of rank 2, with basis a, b. Let $X_{SL_2} := \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, SL_2) // \operatorname{GL}_2$ denote the character variety of SL₂-representations of Π , as a scheme of finite type over \mathbb{Z} . In preparation for describing the application of the main congruence to Markoff triples, we first recall some relevant properties of X_{SL_2} . See Section 5.2 for more details.

By results of Brumfiel and Hilden, there is an isomorphism $X_{\mathrm{SL}_2} \cong \mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}}$, and there is a natural action of $\mathrm{Aut}(\Pi)$ on X_{SL_2} whose induced action on $\mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}}$ preserves the hypersurfaces $X_{\mathrm{SL}_2,t}$ given by $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 = t$ for any $t \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a ring R and $t \in R$, let $\mathrm{Hom}(\Pi, \mathrm{SL}_2(R))_t$ denote the set of homomorphisms $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(R)$ satisfying tr $\varphi([a, b]) = t$. Such homomorphisms are said to have *trace invariant* t. Then at the level of \mathbb{F}_q -points, for any $t \in \mathbb{F}_q - \{2\}$, the isomorphism $X_{\mathrm{SL}_2} \cong \mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}}$ induces a *bijection*

(1.1)
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_t / \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \longrightarrow X_{\operatorname{SL}_2, t}(\mathbb{F}_q), \\ \varphi \mapsto (\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab)),$$

where $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ acts naturally on the source and $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ acts by conjugation on $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Let $\Gamma \subset \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}})$ be the image of the $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ -action. Then Γ is generated by permutations of the coordinates and the "Vieta" involution $(x, y, z) \mapsto$ (x, y, xy - z). Via the Galois correspondence, the bijection (1.1) provides a dictionary between the geometric properties of the moduli stacks $\mathcal{M}(G)$ for subgroups $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and the properties of the Γ -action on the \mathbb{F}_q -points of the surface $X_{\operatorname{SL}_2,t}$.

1.2.1. Application to Markoff triples. When t = -2, the surface appearing in (1.1) is the Markoff surface X given by³

$$X : x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = 0,$$

306

³Classically, the Markoff surface is given by $\mathbb{M}: x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 3xyz = 0$. However, since the map $\mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{X}$ given by $(x, y, z) \mapsto (3x, 3y, 3z)$ is an isomorphism away from 3 and gives a bijection on \mathbb{Z} -points, for our purposes it is harmless (and more convenient) to work with \mathbb{X} . In Section 5.5, we will make this distinction precise.

which we view as an affine hypersurface in $\mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}}$. For primes p, let $\mathbb{X}^*(p) := \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p) - \{(0,0,0)\}$. It follows from the classification of subgroups of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ that for odd p, the bijection (1.1) restricts to give a bijection

(1.2)
$$\operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{X}^*(p).$$

This surface first appeared in the work of Markoff [Mar79], [Mar80], where he noted its connection to binary quadratic forms and Diophantine approximation,⁴ and proved that

THEOREM 1.2.1 (Markoff [Mar79], [Mar80]). The positive integer solutions to X form a single orbit under the action of Γ .

In [BGS16b], [BGS16a], Bourgain, Gamburd and Sarnak studied the action of Γ on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ (for p prime) and conjectured that an analogue of Markoff's result should also hold for its \mathbb{F}_p -points:

CONJECTURE 1.2.2 (Bourgain, Gamburd, Sarnak [BGS16b]). For all primes p, Γ acts transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$.

In other words, they conjecture that $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ is the union of at most two Γ -orbits: the singleton orbit $\{(0,0,0)\}$, and $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. (The latter is empty if and only if p = 3.) Since $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z})$ contains the solutions $\{(0,0,0), (3,3,3)\}$ and $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_3) = \{(0,0,0)\}$, a positive solution to this conjecture would imply that for any prime p, the reduction mod p map $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ is surjective, in which case, following [BGS16b], we say that \mathbb{X} satisfies *strong approximation* at all primes p.

To the author's knowledge this conjecture was first posed by Baragar in his 1991 PhD thesis [Bar, §V.3]. The first major progress on Conjecture 1.2.2 came in 2016, when Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak [BGS16a] proved

THEOREM 1.2.3 (Bourgain, Gamburd, Sarnak). The following are true:

(a) Let \mathbb{E}_{bgs} denote the set of primes p for which Γ does not act transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. For any $\epsilon > 0$, we have

$$|\{p \in \mathbb{E}_{bgs} \mid p \le x\}| = O(x^{\epsilon}).$$

(b) Let $\mathcal{C}(p)$ be the largest orbit of Γ on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$, we have

$$|\mathbb{X}^*(p) - \mathcal{C}(p)| \le p^{\epsilon}$$
 for large p .

Thus, part (a) says that Conjecture 1.2.2 holds for all but a sparse (but possibly infinite) set of primes, and part (b) says that even if it were to fail, it cannot fail too horribly. By the above discussion, the bijection (1.2) yields the following equivalent group-theoretic translation of their result:

⁴See [Bom07] for an excellent exposition of this relationship.

THEOREM 1.2.4 (Bourgain, Gamburd, Sarnak). For $t \in \mathbb{F}_p$, we denote by Epi $(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_t$ the subset of surjections with trace invariant t (i.e., which satisfy tr $\varphi([a, b]) = t$).

(a) Let \mathbb{E}_{bgs} denote the set of primes for which $Out(\Pi)$ does not act transitively on $Epi(\Pi, SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/ GL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. For any $\epsilon > 0$, we have

$$|\{p \in \mathbb{E}_{bgs} \mid p \le x\}| = O(x^{\epsilon}).$$

(b) Let C(p) be the largest orbit of $Out(\Pi)$ on $Epi(\Pi, SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/ GL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$, we have

 $|\operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p) - \mathcal{C}(p)| \le p^{\epsilon}$ for large p.

By Proposition 5.1.3, for any surjection $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ with trace invariant -2, $\varphi([a,b])$ must be conjugate to a matrix of the form $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & u \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ for $u \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$. In particular, if $p \geq 3$, then $\varphi([a,b])$ has order 2p. Then our Corollary 1.1.2(a) implies

THEOREM 1.2.5 (See Theorem 5.5.4). For every $p \ge 3$, every $\text{Out}^+(\Pi)$ orbit on $\text{Epi}(\Pi, \text{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/\text{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ has cardinality divisible by p. In particular, every Γ -orbit on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ has cardinality divisible by p.

In particular, every Γ -orbit must have size at least p, so combined with Theorem 1.2.3(b), this establishes Conjecture 1.2.2 for all but a finite set of primes:

THEOREM 1.2.6 (See Theorems 5.5.5, 5.5.7). The following are true.

- (a) The "exceptional" set \mathbb{E}_{bgs} is finite and explicitly bounded.
- (b) For all primes $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, X satisfies strong approximation at p.

Recently, using the above results, Eddy, Fuchs, Litman, Martin, and Tripeny gave an explicit upper bound of $3.448 \cdot 10^{392}$ for the primes in \mathbb{E}_{bgs} [EFL⁺23]. In particular, we have effectively reduced the conjecture to a finite computation. The conjecture has been verified for all primes p < 3000by de-Courcy-Ireland and Lee in [dCIL22], so it is reasonable to expect that the final computation will indeed verify Conjecture 1.2.2. If so, then it would follow from Proposition 5.3.3 below that there are no congruence constraints on Markoff numbers mod p other than the ones first noted by Frobenius in 1913 [Fro13], namely that if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$ and $p \neq 3$, then a Markoff number cannot be $\equiv 0, \frac{\pm 2}{3} \mod p$. Using the work of Meiri, Puder et al. [MP18], one can also deduce strong approximation mod n for most squarefree integers n(Theorem 5.5.8).

Our methods also give congruences for the generalized Markoff equations $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = t + 2$.

THEOREM 1.2.7 (See Theorems 5.4.4 and 5.5.9). Let $q \ge 3$ be a prime power. Let $t \in \mathbb{F}_q - \{2, -2\}$. Then we may write $t = \omega + \omega^{-1}$ for some

308

 $\omega \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times} - \{-1,1\}$, and the set $\{\omega, \omega^{-1}\}$ is uniquely determined by t. Let P = (A, B, C) be an \mathbb{F}_q -point of the hypersurface defined by

(1.3)
$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = t + 2.$$

Let Γ act on the hypersurface (1.3) via the same formulas as for its action on X. Suppose at least two of $\{A, B, C\}$ are non-zero. Let ℓ be an odd prime. Let $r := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|\omega|)$, and write $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)|) = \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(q^3 - q) = r + s$. Then the Γ -orbit of P has cardinality $\equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\max\{r-s,0\}}$.

See Theorem 5.4.4 for a stronger and more precise result. Here, the case t = -2 gives the Markoff equation, which was addressed in Theorem 1.2.5, and the case t = 2 is called the *Cayley cubic*, which is addressed in [dCIL22, §5]. As announced in [BGS16b], the methods of [BGS16a] also carry over to yield results analogous to Theorem 1.2.3 for these more general equations (1.3) (with an appropriately defined $X^*(p)$). Thus, combined with Theorem 1.2.7, it is conceivable that conjectures analogous to Conjecture 1.2.2 for these more general equations may also be within reach.

1.2.2. Application to Nielsen equivalence of generating pairs of finite groups. In combinatorial group theory the $Out(\Pi)$ -orbits on $Epi^{ext}(\Pi, G)$ are called Nielsen equivalence classes. In general, if F_r denotes a free group of rank r, then the problem of Nielsen equivalence asks for a description of the orbits of $Out(F_r)$ on $Epi^{ext}(F_r, G)$. Similarly, one can ask for a description of the orbits of $Out(F_r)$ on $Epi(F_r, G)/Aut(G)$, in which case the orbits are called T_r -systems (or sometimes T-systems). Such problems arose in the 1950s in the study of group presentations, but have recently garnered renewed interest due to their relevance to the product replacement algorithm for generating random elements of finite groups [Pak01], [Lub11]. Let d(G) denote the minimum cardinality of a generating set of G. When $r \geq d(G) + 1$, the expectation is

CONJECTURE 1.2.8 (See [Gar08, Conj. 1]). Let G be a finite group. If $r \ge d(G) + 1$, then $\operatorname{Out}(F_r)$ acts transitively on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_r, G)$.

When G is simple, this conjecture is attributed to Wiegold, and it dates back to the 1970s. The conjecture is known if G is solvable [Dun70], or if $r \ge \log_2(|G|)$ [Lub11, Cor. 3.3]. This latter result can be viewed as an analog of branch/genus stabilization. However, when r = d(G) = 2, the action can have arbitrarily many orbits [GS09, Th. 1.8]. The first conjectural complete description of T_2 -systems for a family of non-solvable groups was given in 2013 by McCullough and Wanderley [MW13]. For $G = SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, they conjecture that the trace invariant map

$$\tau: \operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{F}_q$$
$$\varphi \mapsto \operatorname{tr} \varphi([a, b])$$

completely describes T_2 -systems for $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$:

CONJECTURE 1.2.9 ("T-classification conjecture" [MW13]). For any prime power q, the trace invariant map τ induces a bijection from the set of T₂-systems on SL₂(\mathbb{F}_q) onto its image in \mathbb{F}_q .

Moreover, they give a complete description of the image of τ and computationally verify their conjecture for all $q \leq 131$.

Our Theorem 1.2.6 (also see Theorem 1.2.4) implies that for all but finitely many primes p, there is only one T_2 -system on $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ with trace invariant $\tau = -2$. More generally, our Corollary 1.1.2 can be viewed as giving non-trivial lower bounds on the sizes of Nielsen equivalence classes of $\mathrm{Epi}^{\mathrm{ext}}(\Pi, G)$. The full conjecture can be interpreted as an appropriate transitivity property of the Γ -action on the generalized Markoff surfaces (1.3).

1.2.3. Application to Hurwitz stacks. In this section we consider the substack $\mathcal{A}dm(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$ consisting of admissible covers whose Higman invariant has trace -2. For a fixed p, there are two such Higman invariants; they are represented by $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} -1 & a \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ where $a \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ is a non-square, and they are swapped by the conjugation action of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. Let us write $\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2$ for these two conjugacy classes.

From the combinatorial characterization of the components of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ described in Section 1.1, we find that for $p \geq 5$, $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$ is the disjoint union of the two isomorphic components $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{\mathfrak{c}_i}$ for i = 1, 2. In particular, each stack $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{\mathfrak{c}_i}$ is connected. In accordance with Conjecture 1.2.9, we expect this to hold for any conjugacy class of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$.

By the coordinatization of the monodromy action given by the character variety, for i = 1, 2, we are able to compute the ramification behavior of the coarse scheme of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{\mathfrak{c}_i}$ over $\overline{M(1)}$. Applying Riemann-Hurwitz, this yields an explicit formula for the genus (Theorem 5.6.3). For example, we will show

THEOREM 1.2.10 (Theorems 5.6.3 and 5.6.4). Let p be an odd prime not in the finite set \mathbb{E}_{bgs} . The stacks $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{\mathfrak{c}_i}$ for i = 1, 2 are connected and isomorphic to each other. Let $\overline{M_p}$ denote the coarse scheme of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{\mathfrak{c}_i}$. Then we have

genus
$$(\overline{M_p}) \sim \frac{1}{12}p^2.$$

An explicit formula for genus $(\overline{M_p})$ is given in Theorem 5.6.3. In particular, for $p \geq 13$, genus $(\overline{M_p}) \geq 2$, and for p = 5, 7, 11, $\overline{M_p}$ has genus 0, 0, 1 respectively. It follows by Falting's theorem that for any $p \geq 13$, $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, and any number field K, only finitely many elliptic curves over K admit an $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -cover with ramification index 2p defined over K.

We note that the components of $Adm(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ can all be obtained by compactifying the quotients of the Poincaré upper half plane by finite index subgroups of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ [Che18]; in other words, they are (possibly non-congruence) modular curves. In fact we will show that for all but a density 0 set of primes p, the curves $\overline{M_p}$ are non-congruence (Corollary 5.6.8). From this perspective, the theorem implies

COROLLARY 1.2.11. There exist only finitely many non-congruence modular curves of a given genus classifying elliptic curves with $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -covers, only ramified above the origin with ramification index 2p.

This can be viewed as an analog of Rademacher's conjecture, proved by Dennin [DJ75], that there are only finitely many congruence modular curves of a given genus. The same statement is false for general non-congruence modular curves, so to obtain finiteness one needs to restrict the types of noncongruence modular curves considered — for example, by restricting the moduli interpretations. Since congruence modular curves can all be obtained from quotients of components of Adm(G) for abelian groups G, our restriction to components of $Adm(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ is not unnatural. Moreover, we expect that the statement of the corollary would continue to hold even without the condition on the ramification index.

1.3. Organization of the paper.

1.3.1. Admissible covers and G-structures. In Section 2, we give an overview of the moduli stacks we will work with. In Section 2.1, we define admissible G-covers and the stacks $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$, following [ACV03]. In Section 2.2 and Section 2.3, we define the reduced ramification divisor and the Higman invariant of an admissible G-cover and prove some basic results. In Section 2.4, we show that an admissible G-cover can be equivalently characterized as a curve equipped with a G-action satisfying certain properties; this section is not necessary for understanding the rest of the paper. In Section 2.5, we show that there is a homeomorphism $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G)$, where $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the moduli stack of elliptic curves with G-structures [Che18], [Ols12], [PdJ95], [DM69]. Since the forgetful map $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is finite étale, this leads to a combinatorial characterization of the components of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ via Galois theory. This also leads to a natural compactification $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ of $\mathcal{M}(G)$.

1.3.2. The main congruence and sketch of the argument. The purpose of Section 3 is to prove the base form of the main congruence (Theorem 3.5.1), which is the main ingredient in the proof of Theorem 1.1.1. In Sections 3.1-3.4, we review some standard results and describe their extensions to the setting of stacks. In Section 3.5, we prove the main congruence. This congruence essentially comes from noting that for any component $X \subset Adm(G)$, modulo

some technical considerations, the pullback of a certain line bundle on $\overline{M(1)}$ to X is an *e*-th tensor power, where *e* is the ramification index of the covers classified by X, and hence the forgetful map $X \to \overline{M(1)}$ must have degree which is divisible by *e*. Here we briefly sketch the argument. We work over an algebraically closed field k of characteristic 0.

We begin by presenting the prototype of the argument. Suppose $f: X \to X(1)$ is a finite map of (connected) smooth proper curves and $E(1) \to X(1)$ is a family of 1-generalized elliptic curves (stable pointed curves of genus 1) with zero section σ'_O . Let $E \to X$ be its pullback via f with section σ_O . Suppose we are given a diagram



where σ is a section of $C \to X$ contained in the smooth locus of C/X, $\pi \circ \sigma = \sigma_O$, and π is an admissible *G*-cover, only branched above σ_O , where it has ramification index *e*. This implies that C/X together with the ramification divisor of π is a stable marked curve, and σ is a component of the ramification divisor. It follows from the étale local description of admissible *G*-covers (see Section 3.3) that

(1.4)
$$\sigma_O^* \Omega_{E/X} = \sigma^* \pi^* \Omega_{E/X} \cong (\sigma^* \Omega_{C/X})^{\otimes e}.$$

Since cotangent sheaves commute with base change, we also have

$$\sigma_O^* \Omega_{E/X} = \sigma_O^* \tilde{f}^* \Omega_{E(1)/X(1)} = f^* \sigma_O'^* \Omega_{E(1)/X(1)}$$

Let $\lambda := \sigma_O^{\prime*} \Omega_{E(1)/X(1)}$. Then since f is finite flat, taking degrees gives

 $\deg f \cdot \deg \lambda = \deg f^* \lambda = e \cdot \deg(\sigma^* \Omega_{C/X}).$

Since degrees are integers, this yields

(1.5)
$$\deg f \equiv 0 \mod \frac{e}{\gcd(e, \deg \lambda)}.$$

This is the essence of the main congruence. We wish to run this prototype argument when $E(1) \to X(1)$ is the universal family $\mathcal{E}(1) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$, X is a component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$, f is the forgetful map $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$, and $\pi : C \to E$ is the universal family $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ over \mathcal{X} . In this case, we find that λ is the Hodge bundle, which has degree $\frac{1}{24}$ (Proposition 3.4.9). However, in this setting we are immediately presented with two difficulties:

(a) The universal admissible G-cover $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ may not admit a ramified section σ .

The reduced ramification divisor \mathcal{R}_{π} of the universal admissible *G*-cover $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ is always finite étale over \mathcal{X} , but it may not admit a section. If $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ is a component, the base change of $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{R} admits a ramified section σ , and \mathcal{R} is the minimal extension of \mathcal{X} for which this happens. Thus we can try to apply the prototype argument to the base change $\pi : \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$, at the cost of potentially weakening the congruence. Let $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ denote the degree of the map on coarse schemes $R \to X$ induced by $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{X}$.

- (b) Since \mathcal{R} is a stack, the degree of $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}/\mathcal{R}}$ may not be an integer.
 - Since \mathcal{X} is Deligne-Mumford, at least we have deg $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}/\mathcal{R}} \in \mathbb{Q}$. For a geometric point x: Spec $k \to \mathcal{X}$, $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}/\mathcal{R}}$ defines a rank 1 representation of Aut_{\mathcal{X}}(x), which we call the *local character* at x. By a theorem of Olsson [Ols12], the denominator of the rational number deg $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}/\mathcal{R}}$ can be bounded in terms of the orders of the local characters. Since \mathcal{X} is Noetherian, let $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ denote the minimum positive integer such that $(\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{R}}/\mathcal{R}})^{\otimes m_{\mathcal{X}}}$ has trivial local characters.

The integers $d_{\mathcal{X}}, m_{\mathcal{X}}$ defined above quantify the obstructions to achieving a congruence of the form (1.5). As described in Section 4.11, both obstructions can be non-trivial and can affect the congruence. Since the forgetful map $\mathfrak{f}: \mathcal{X} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is generally not representable, hence not finite, we will phrase the congruence in terms of the induced finite flat map on coarse schemes $f: X \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$. The purest form of our main result is

THEOREM 1.3.1 (Main congruence; see Theorem 3.5.1). Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a connected component classifying G-covers of elliptic curves with ramification index e above the origin. Let $d_{\mathcal{X}}, m_{\mathcal{X}}$ be as above. Then the forgetful map $f: X \to \overline{M(1)}$ satisfies

$$\deg(X \xrightarrow{f} \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{12e}{\gcd(12e, m_{\mathcal{X}} d_{\mathcal{X}})}$$

In this form, the congruence is difficult to use, since one must first check that $m_{\mathcal{X}}, d_{\mathcal{X}}$ do not share too many divisors with e. Thus we are motivated to give more easily accessible bounds for $m_{\mathcal{X}}, d_{\mathcal{X}}$. If $c \in G$ represents the Higman invariant of covers classified by \mathcal{X} , then by Proposition 3.2.2, $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ must divide $|C_G(c)/\langle c \rangle|$.⁵ The integer $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ is related to the order of automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R} . For points corresponding to smooth covers, these automorphism groups are contained in the center Z(G) (see Proposition 3.5.2). For points lying over the boundary of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$, the possible non-irreducibility of

⁵This bound is probably not optimal in general, but it will be enough for our main application to the Markoff equation.

degenerate covers complicates the situation; this issue is addressed in Section 4, which we describe next.

1.3.3. Combinatorial characterization of the cusps. Borrowing terminology from the classical theory of the moduli of elliptic curves, we call points lying on the boundary cusps, and we call the objects they correspond to cuspidal objects. In Section 4 we give a combinatorial characterization of cuspidal objects using Galois theory. In Section 4.8, we will attach to any cuspidal object a " δ -invariant," which is the equivalence class of an element of $G \times G$. In Section 4.10, we calculate the automorphism group of a cuspidal object from its δ -invariant, which allows us to control, in purely combinatorial terms, the integer $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ described above. Together with the bound on $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ mentioned above, we give a purely combinatorial corollary of the main congruence (Theorem 4.10.5). In Section 4.12 we deduce the congruences of Theorems 1.1.1 and 1.1.2 from this combinatorial statement.

1.3.4. Applications to Markoff triples and the geometry of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$. In Section 5 we prove the applications of our congruences described in Section 1.2. In Section 5.2 we describe the theory of the character variety for SL_2 -representations of a free group of rank 2, and we make precise the connection between the stacks $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ and the Markoff equation. In Section 5.3, we use the connection with the character variety to show that the automorphism groups of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ are as small as possible: they are reduced to the center $Z(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$. In Section 5.4 we use this calculation as input to the main congruence and obtain congruences for the degrees of components of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ over $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$, or equivalently the sizes of Γ -orbits of \mathbb{F}_q -points on the associated generalized Markoff surface. In Section 5.5 we bring everything together and prove Theorem 1.2.6. In Section 5.6, we give formulas for the genus of the components of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$ for $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{\mathrm{bgs}}$, and show that they are non-congruence for a density 1 set of primes.

1.4. Related work.

1.4.1. Integral points on more general character varieties. A related problem is to understand the mapping class group orbits on the *integral* points of character varieties. In the case of SL₂-representations of the fundamental group of one-holed torus with trace invariant -2, this question is resolved by a classical result of Markoff [Mar79] (see Theorem 1.2.1). In particular, in this case we obtain five orbits, represented by (0,0,0), (3,3,3), (3,-3,-3), (-3,3,-3), and (-3,-3,3). This should be viewed as a type of "finite generation" result on the set of integral points up to the action of the mapping class group. An analogous finite generation result for integral points for more general character varieties is proven in [Wha20] using techniques from differential geometry.

1.4.2. Teichmüller curves. For a component $M \subset M(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$, let g denote the genus of the covers it classifies. Forgetting the base curve gives a natural map $M \to M_q$, whose image is a *Teichmüller curve* as first studied by Veech [Vee89] in the context of dynamics of billiard tables (also see [Che17], [HS06], [Loc05], [MT02], [Zor06]). Specifically, these are Teichmüller curves generated by a square-tiled surface (called "origami curves" in [HS09], [Sch04]). If M is a component of $M(G)_{\mathbb{C}}/\operatorname{Out}(G)$, then it follows from [Sch04] that M is the quotient of the upper half plane by the Veech group of the corresponding square tiled surface. In this language, our congruence can be interpreted as a congruence on the index of the Veech group inside $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. For genus g = 2, the Teichmüller curves in M_2 have been studied extensively in [McM03], [McM05], [Dur18]. In [McM05] McMullen faced a similar issue of connectedness of a certain moduli space, which he was able to solve by reducing it to a problem in combinatorial number theory. It can be shown that his moduli space is a subspace of $M(S_d)/\operatorname{Out}(S_d) \sqcup M(A_d)/\operatorname{Out}(A_d)$, where A_d (resp. S_d) denotes the alternating (resp. symmetric group) on d letters. Specifically, [McM05, Cor. 1.5] can be viewed as saying that for $d \geq 4$, the subscheme of $M(S_d) / \operatorname{Out}(S_d) \sqcup$ $M(A_d)/\operatorname{Out}(A_d)$ consisting of covers with Higman invariant the class of a 3-cycle has one or two components, according to whether d is even or odd.

1.4.3. Tamely ramified covers of \mathbb{P}^1 in characteristic p. In [BBCL22], for every prime ℓ , we realized infinitely many alternating and symmetric groups as quotients of the tame fundamental group of $\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{F}_\ell} - \{0, 1, \infty\})$. This work is in the spirit of a tame version of "Abhyankar's conjecture" [HOPS18]. The precise result stated in [BBCL22, Th. 3.5.1] only holds for those primes p for which Γ acts transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. Thus, Theorem 1.2.6 of the present paper can be viewed as a strengthening of [BBCL22, Th. 3.5.1].

1.5. Acknowledgements. We have benefited from helpful conversations with Dan Abramovich, Dave Aulicino, Jeremy Booher, Pierre Deligne, Pat Hooper, Johan de Jong, Rafael von Känel, Peter Sarnak, and John Voight. We are especially grateful to Peter Sarnak for bringing Conjecture 1.2.2 our attention, and to Johan de Jong for sharing the idea behind the argument sketched in Section 1.3.2. We would also like to thank the referee for their careful reading and helpful comments. Finally, we also thank Columbia University and the Institute for Advanced Study for their support and hospitality while this work was being prepared.

1.6. Notation and conventions. In our usage of stacks, we will follow the definitions of the stacks project [Stacks, 026O]. We will typically use script letters $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{Z}, \ldots$ to denote stacks and use Roman letters X, Y, Z, \ldots to denote schemes. Typically, X will be the coarse scheme of \mathcal{X} .

The symbol π_1 applied to a geometric object will by default refer to the étale fundamental group. If X is a topological space and $x \in X$, then $\pi_1^{\text{top}}(X, x)$

denotes its topological fundamental group. We take the convention that if γ_1, γ_2 are two loops in X based at x, then the product $\gamma_1\gamma_2$ in $\pi_1^{\text{top}}(X, x)$ is represented by the loop that first follows γ_2 and then follows γ_1 . This is consistent with our use of Galois theory, where we adopt the convention that Galois actions are right actions and monodromy actions are left actions. In particular, the étale fundamental group is the automorphism group of a fiber functor and hence acts on fibers from the left.

For elements a, b of a group $G, a \sim b$ means that a is conjugate to b, $[a,b] := aba^{-1}b^{-1}$ denotes the commutator, $a^b := b^{-1}ab$, and ${}^ba := bab^{-1}$. The order of $a \in G$ is denoted |a|.

Here is a summary of our notation:

- G will always be a finite group; Cl(G) denotes the set of conjugacy classes of G.
- *I* will generally denote the matrix $I = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Thus the center of $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is $\{\pm I\}$.
- Given groups A and B, $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(A, B) := \operatorname{Epi}(A, B) / \operatorname{Inn}(B)$ is the set of conjugacy classes of surjections $A \to B$ (called "exterior epimorphisms" in [DM69]).
- S is the universal base scheme. Often we will take $S = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$.
- \mathbb{Q} is the algebraic closure of \mathbb{Q} inside \mathbb{C} .
- $\mathcal{M}(1)$ is the moduli stack of elliptic curves, and $\mathcal{M}(1)$ is the compactification of $\mathcal{M}(1)$ by stable curves.
- $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the moduli stack of elliptic curves with G-structures. This is finite étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)$, but does not always carry a universal family of covers.
- $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is the moduli stack of admissible *G*-covers of 1-generalized elliptic curves (i.e., stable pointed curves of genus 1). This carries a universal family of covers, but is typically not finite over $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$.
- $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is the open substack classifying smooth covers. It is an étale gerbe over $\mathcal{M}(G)$ with group Z(G). In particular, $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(G)$ have the same coarse schemes.
- $\mathcal{M}(G)$ denotes the rigidification $\mathcal{A}dm(G)/\!\!/Z(G)$ (Definition 2.5.9).

2. Admissible *G*-covers of elliptic curves

In this section we recall the theory of admissible *G*-covers and their moduli stacks $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$, following [AV02], [ACV03], [Ols07], and we will relate them to the moduli stacks $\mathcal{M}(G)$ of elliptic curves with *G*-structures as studied in [Che18] (also see [DM69, §5] and [PdJ95]). Here *G* will always be a finite group. We will work universally over the base scheme $\mathbb{S} := \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$.

2.1. Admissible G-covers and their moduli.

Definition 2.1.1. A morphism of schemes $f : C \to S$ is a nodal curve if f is flat, proper, of finite presentation, and whose geometric fibers are of pure dimension 1 and whose only singularities are ordinary double points. The morphism $f : C \to S$ is a prestable curve if f is a nodal curve with connected geometric fibers.

Definition 2.1.2. A prestable *n*-pointed curve of genus g is a prestable curve $f: C \to S$ with geometric fibers of arithmetic genus g, equipped with n mutually disjoint sections $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n : S \to C$ lying in the smooth locus $C_{\rm sm} \subset C$. The sections $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$ are called *markings*.

The prestable *n*-pointed curve $(C, \{\sigma_i\})$ is a stable *n*-pointed curve if for any geometric point \overline{s} : Spec $k \to S$, the geometric fiber $C_{\overline{s}}$ satisfies any of the following equivalent conditions [Man99, §5, Lemma 1.2.1]:

- $C_{\overline{s}}$ has only finitely many k-automorphisms which fix the sections $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$;
- for any irreducible component $Z \subset C_{\overline{s}}$ with normalization Z', if Z' has genus 0, then it must contain at least three special⁶ points, and if Z' has genus 1, then it must contain at least one special point;
- $\omega_{C_{\overline{s}}}(\sum_{i} \sigma_{i})$ is ample, where $\omega_{C_{\overline{s}}}$ is the dualizing sheaf (see Section 3.1.2).

A prestable marked curve is a prestable curve $f : C \to S$ equipped with an effective Cartier divisor $R \subset C_{\rm sm}$, finite étale over S, called a marking. The pair (C/S, R) is a stable marked curve if for every geometric point \overline{s} : Spec $k \to S$, $C_{\overline{s}}$ has only finitely many k-automorphisms which preserve R.

A point in C is called a node if it is the image of a node of a geometric fiber of C/S. A point in C is special if it is either a node or in a marking. The *generic locus* of a (pre)stable *n*-pointed curve $f : C \to S$ is the open complement of the special points, denoted $C_{\text{gen}} \subset C$.

Definition 2.1.3. A 1-generalized elliptic curve is a stable 1-pointed curve of genus 1. We will denote the section by σ_O and the divisor it defines by O. We will write E° for the open subscheme E - O. The moduli stack of 1-generalized elliptic curves is denoted $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$. The open substack classifying (smooth) elliptic curves is denoted $\mathcal{M}(1)$.⁷ Let $M(1) \cong \mathbb{A}^1_{\mathbb{S}}$ and $\overline{M(1)} \cong \mathbb{P}^1_{\mathbb{S}}$ denote their coarse schemes (see Definition 2.1.8 below), where the isomorphisms are given by the *j*-invariant.

⁶For an irreducible component $Z \subset C_{\overline{s}}$ with normalization Z', we say that a point $z \in Z'$ is special if either it maps to a marking or a node in $C_{\overline{s}}$.

⁷Here, the "1" in " $\mathcal{M}(1)$ " indicates "no level structures" (or "trivial level structures"). In general $\mathcal{M}(G)$ will denote the moduli stack of elliptic curves with G-structures (cf. Section 2.5 below).

For a scheme X and a geometric point \overline{p} : Spec $k \to X$, let $\mathcal{O}_{X,\overline{p}}$ be the strict henselization of the local ring (or just the strict local ring) of X at the image p of \overline{p} . Its residue field is the separable closure of the residue field $\kappa(p)$ inside k. For the purposes of the following definition, we will use the notation

$$X_{(\overline{p})} := \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{X,\overline{p}}$$

and we say that $X_{(\overline{p})}$ is the strict localization of X at p.

Definition 2.1.4 (cf. [ACV03, Def. 4.3.1]). An admissible G-cover of a prestable n-pointed curve $(D \xrightarrow{f} S, \{\sigma_i\})$ is a finite map $\pi : C \to D$ equipped with a right action of G on C leaving π invariant, where

- (1) $C \to S$ is a prestable curve.
- (2) Every node of C maps to a node of D.
- (3) The restriction of π to the preimage of D_{gen} is a G-torsor.
- (4) Let \overline{p} : Spec $k \to C$ be a geometric point whose image in D lands in a marking. Let $\overline{s} := f(\pi \circ \overline{p})$ be its image in S, with strict local ring $\mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}$. For some integer $e \geq 1$, let

$$\pi': C' := \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}[\xi] \longrightarrow D' := \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}[x]$$

be given by $x \mapsto \xi^e$. Let \overline{p}' : Spec $k \to C'$ be a geometric point with image the point $\xi = 0$. Then for some choice of e as above, there is a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} C_{(\overline{p})} & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} & D_{(\pi \circ \overline{p})} & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & S_{(\overline{s})} \\ & & \downarrow \cong & & \downarrow \cong & & \parallel \\ C'_{(\overline{p}')} & \stackrel{\pi'}{\longrightarrow} & D'_{(\pi' \circ \overline{p}')} & \stackrel{f'}{\longrightarrow} & S_{(\overline{s}),} \end{array}$$

where the vertical maps are isomorphisms with the marking corresponding to x = 0, and f' is induced by the structure map $D' \to S_{(\bar{s})}$. We call this integer e the ramification index at \bar{p} .

(5) Let \overline{p} : Spec $k \to C$ be a geometric point whose image in D is a node, and let $\overline{s} := f(\pi(\overline{p}))$ be its image in S. For some integer $r \ge 1$ and a in the maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m}_{S,\overline{s}} \subset \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}$, let

$$\pi': C':= \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}[\xi,\eta]/(\xi\eta-a) \longrightarrow D':= \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}[x,y]/(xy-a^r)$$

be given by $(x, y) \mapsto (\xi^r, \eta^r)$. Let $p' : \operatorname{Spec} k \to C'$ be a geometric point with image $(\xi, \eta) = (0, 0)$. Then there is a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} C_{(\overline{p})} & \xrightarrow{\pi} & D_{(\pi \circ \overline{p})} & \xrightarrow{f} & S_{(\overline{s})} \\ & \downarrow \cong & & \downarrow \cong & & \parallel \\ C'_{(\overline{p}')} & \xrightarrow{\pi'} & D'_{(\pi' \circ \overline{p}')} & \xrightarrow{f'} & S_{(\overline{s})}, \end{array}$$

318

where the vertical maps are isomorphisms, and f' is induced by the structure map $D' \to S_{(\bar{s})}$.

- (6) If \overline{p} is a geometric point landing in a node of C with image $\overline{s} \in S$, then in the notation of (5) applied to the fiber $C_{\overline{s}}$, the stabilizer $G_{\overline{p}} := \operatorname{Stab}_{G}(\overline{p})$ is cyclic and the action of a generator $g \in G_{\overline{p}}$ on $(C_{\overline{s}})_{(\overline{p})}$ is given étale locally by sending $\xi \mapsto \zeta \xi, \eta \mapsto \zeta^{-1} \eta$ for some primitive *e*-th root of unity $\zeta \in k(\overline{s})$. Here we say that the node \overline{p} is *balanced*.
- An admissible G-cover $\pi: C \to D$ is smooth if C/S is smooth.

Remark 2.1.5. Here we record some observations about admissible G-covers.

- (a) We note that part (2) of the definition is implied by (3) and (4). It follows from (5) that admissible G-covers map smooth points to smooth points. Thus, for an admissible G-cover π : C → D, a point x ∈ C is a node if and only if π(x) ∈ D is a node. In particular, C/S is smooth if and only if D/S is smooth.
- (b) By part (3), G acts transitively on the geometric fiber above any given marked point $x \in D$. In particular, the ramification indices at points lying over x are all equal. If D has a single marking and S is connected, then all points above the marked section have the same ramification, which we simply call the ramification index of the cover.
- (c) Our definition of admissible covers differs from the definition used in Abramovich-Corti-Vistoli [ACV03, Def. 4.3.1] in that we require the covering curve C to be prestable, and hence it has *connected* geometric fibers, whereas [ACV03] only requires that C be a nodal curve, so its geometric fibers can be disconnected. An ACV-admissible G-cover is a map $\pi: C \to D$ where C/S is a nodal curve and π satisfies conditions (2)–(6) of the definition. Thus an admissible G-cover is equivalently an ACVadmissible G-cover with connected geometric fibers.
- (d) A finite map π : C → E is an admissible cover if it satisfies (1), (2), (3), (4), and (5). If it admits a G-action leaving π invariant which moreover satisfies (6), then we say that the G-action is "balanced." Thus, an admissible G-cover is an admissible cover admitting a balanced G-action. In general, for a cover satisfying (2), the action of a generator of G_p on the local ring of a node p can send ξ → ζξ, η → ζ'η, where ζ, ζ' are arbitrary primitive r-th roots of unity. However if ζ' ≠ ζ⁻¹, this would force a = 0 in the notation of (5), and so the node cannot appear in a generically smooth family. Since we will be interested in compactifications of the moduli stack of smooth admissible G-covers, it suffices to restrict our attention to balanced actions.
- (e) Let \overline{p} be a geometric point landing in a node of C with image $\overline{s} \in S$. By Proposition 6.1.4, the balanced condition at \overline{p} can be equivalently phrased

as follows: The normalization map $\nu : C'_{\overline{s}} \to C_{\overline{s}}$ induces a decomposition of the cotangent space $T^*_{C_{\overline{s}},\overline{p}}$ into a sum of two 1-dimensional subspaces (the branches of the node). The *G*-action is *balanced* at \overline{p} if the (left) action of $G_{\overline{p}} := \operatorname{Stab}_G(\overline{p})$ on this cotangent space preserves this decomposition and acts faithfully via mutually inverse characters on each summand.

 $\begin{array}{l} Definition \ 2.1.6. \ \text{Given admissible} \ (\text{resp. ACV-admissible}) \ G\text{-covers of genus} \\ g \ \text{stable} \ n\text{-pointed curves} \ (C \rightarrow D \rightarrow S, \{\sigma_i\}_{1 \leq i \leq n}) \ \text{and} \ (C' \rightarrow D' \rightarrow S', \{\sigma'_i\}_{1 \leq i \leq n}), \\ \text{a morphism} \ (C' \rightarrow D' \rightarrow S', \{\sigma_i\}) \rightarrow (C \rightarrow D \rightarrow S, \{\sigma'_i\}) \ \text{is a diagram} \end{array}$



where all squares are cartesian, \overline{f} sends each σ_i to σ'_i , and f is G-equivariant. Since $C \to D, C \to S$ are epimorphisms [Stacks, 023Q], any such diagram is determined by a morphism $f: C' \to C$. Moreover, we will see (Proposition 2.4.6) that an admissible G-cover $C \to D$ induces an isomorphism $C/G \cong D$, so any G-equivariant map $f: C' \to C$ determines a diagram as above, whence a morphism of admissible (resp. ACV-admissible) G-covers. The category of ACV-admissible G-covers of stable n-pointed curves of genus g is fibered in groupoids over <u>Sch</u>/S. In [ACV03, §4.3], this category is denoted $\mathcal{A}dm_{g,n}(G)$. The full subcategory of admissible G-covers forms an open and closed substack $\mathcal{A}dm_{g,n}^{conn}(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm_{g,n}(G)$. In our case, since we will only consider connected covers of 1-generalized elliptic curves, we will abbreviate

$$\mathcal{A}dm(G) := \mathcal{A}dm_{1\,1}^{\mathrm{conn}}(G).$$

Let $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ denote the open substack consisting of smooth covers. If $\phi : \mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ denotes the functor sending an admissible cover $C \to E \to S$ to $E \to S$, then we have $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) = \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}(1))$. As usual let $\mathcal{A}dm(G), \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ denote the corresponding coarse spaces (see Theorem 2.1.11 below).

Remark 2.1.7. Beware that despite the nomenclature, given admissible G-covers $\pi : C \to E$, $\pi' : C' \to E$ of the same 1-generalized elliptic curve E, a morphism of admissible G-covers $\pi \to \pi'$ need not induce the identity on E. In other words, morphisms of admissible G-covers are not necessarily "morphisms of covers." In this sense, it may be better to think of an admissible G-cover as the curve C equipped with a G-action and a marking divisor. This perspective is taken in Section 2.4 below.

320

Definition 2.1.8. Recall that the coarse space of an algebraic stack \mathcal{X} is a map $c: \mathcal{X} \to X$ with X an algebraic space which satisfies

- (a) Any map $\mathcal{X} \to T$ with T an algebraic space factors uniquely through $c: \mathcal{X} \to X$.
- (b) For any algebraically closed field k, c induces a bijection of sets $\mathcal{X}(k)/\cong \xrightarrow{\sim} X(k)$.

The coarse space, if it exists, is uniquely determined by (a). If \mathcal{X} is locally of finite presentation over S and has finite inertia (e.g., if it is a separated and locally finitely presented Deligne-Mumford stack), then the coarse space always exists and enjoys the following additional properties, which we will use repeatedly without mention.

THEOREM 2.1.9 (Keel-Mori theorem). Let \mathcal{X} be an algebraic stack locally of finite presentation (over S) with finite inertia. Then there exists a coarse space $c : \mathcal{X} \to X$ such that moreover we have

- (a) $c: \mathcal{X} \to X$ is proper, quasi-finite, and a universal homeomorphism;
- (b) formation of X commutes with flat base change;
- (c) $c_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}} = \mathcal{O}_X;$
- (d) if \mathcal{X} is separated over \mathbb{S} , then X is also separated over \mathbb{S} ;
- (e) if S is locally Noetherian, then X is locally of finite presentation over S;
- (f) if S is locally Noetherian and X is proper over S, then X is also proper over S.

Proof. See [Stacks, 04XE] for the definition of the topological space of a stack. By [Stacks, 0DUT], c is separated, quasi-compact, and a universal homeomorphism, and it commutes with flat base change. Since \mathcal{X} is locally of finite type, the same is true of c, so it is of finite type. This implies that c is proper and quasi-finite [Stacks, 0G2M]. This establishes (a) and (b). Part (c) follows from (b) and the universal property of coarse spaces (see [AV02, Th. 2.2.1]). Part (d) is [Stacks, 0DUY]. Part (e) is [Stacks, 0DUX]. Part (f) follows from (a), (d), and (e).

In relative dimension 1, smoothness of \mathcal{X} often implies smoothness of X.

LEMMA 2.1.10. Let \mathcal{X} be a smooth proper Deligne-Mumford stack over a regular Noetherian scheme S whose fibers have pure dimension 1. Suppose its coarse space X is a scheme. Then X is smooth and proper over S.

Proof. By Theorem 2.1.9(f), X is proper over S, so it remains to establish smoothness. By the local structure of Deligne-Mumford stacks [Ols16, Th. 11.3.1], \mathcal{X} admits an étale covering by schemes $\{U_i \to \mathcal{X}\}$ such that $\mathcal{X} \times_X U_i \cong [V_i/G_i]$ for some finite U_i -scheme V_i equipped with an action of

a finite group G_i . From the proof we may even take V_i to be affine, and hence $U_i = V_i/G_i$ is also affine. Since $V_i \to \mathcal{X}$ is étale, each V_i is a smooth affine curve over S. By [KM85, Th. on p. 508], the quotients $U_i = V_i/G_i$ are also smooth affine curves over S, so X is smooth over S [Stacks, 036U].

THEOREM 2.1.11 ([AV02], [ACV03]). The following hold:

- (a) The category Adm(G) is a smooth proper Deligne-Mumford stack of pure dimension 1 (over S). In particular, it has finite diagonal.
- (b) The natural map $\phi : \mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ sending an admissible cover $C \to E \to S$ to $E \to S$ is flat, proper, and quasi-finite.⁸ In particular, $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is open and dense.
- (c) Adm(G) admits a coarse scheme Adm(G) satisfying the properties of Theorem 2.1.9, and the map $Adm(G) \rightarrow \overline{M(1)}$ induced by ϕ is finite. In particular, Adm(G) is a scheme.

Proof. The statements are preserved by base change, so we may assume S is Noetherian. In [ACV03], these facts are proven for the stack $\mathcal{B}_{1,1}^{\mathrm{bal}}(G)$ of *twisted G*-covers of 1-generalized elliptic curves, which is equivalent to $\mathcal{A}dm_{1,1}(G)$ [ACV03, Th. 4.3.2], and so the theorem follows from the fact that $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is an open and closed substack of $\mathcal{A}dm_{1,1}(G)$.

Specifically, that $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is a proper Deligne-Mumford stack follows from [ACV03, Th. 2.1.7](1) (also see [AV02, Th. 1.4.1]), which also implies the finiteness of the diagonal.⁹ The smoothness and 1-dimensionality of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ follows from [ACV03, Th. 3.0.2]. This proves (a).

The properties of the map ϕ follows from [ACV03, Cor. 3.0.5]. To see that $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is open dense, note that a flat locally of finite presentation morphism of algebraic stacks induces an open map of topological spaces [Stacks, 06R7], so the map ϕ is open. If $\mathcal{X} \subsetneq \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is a proper closed substack containing $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$, then its complement $\mathcal{U} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is open and non-empty, which maps onto an open substack of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ containing the cusp, which must intersect $\mathcal{M}(1)$ non-trivially since $\mathcal{M}(1) \subset \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is open dense. But this contradicts the fact that $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) = \phi^{-1}(\mathcal{M}(1))$.¹⁰ This proves (b).

For (c), note that finite diagonal implies finite inertia, so the existence and properties of the coarse space follows from Theorem 2.1.9. The rest of part (c) follows from [AV02, Th. 1.4.1] (also see [ACV03, §2.2]), where in their notation they show that the map

⁸Quasi-finiteness for morphisms of algebraic stacks is defined in [Stacks, 0G2L] (also see [Vis89, Def. 1.8]).

⁹A proper morphism is separated, so $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ has proper diagonal. Since $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is Deligne-Mumford, its diagonal is also unramified, hence locally quasi-finite, hence finite by Zariski's main theorem [Stacks, 0A4X].

¹⁰This denseness also follows from the deformation theory (see Proposition 2.5.3).

$B_{1,1}(G) = \mathbf{K}_{1,1}(BG, 0) \longrightarrow \mathbf{K}_{1,1}(\mathbb{S}, 0) = \overline{M(1)}$

is finite, where $B_{1,1}(G)$ is the coarse space of $\mathcal{B}_{1,1}(G)$. Since $\mathcal{B}_{1,1}^{\text{bal}}(G)$ is an open and closed substack of $\mathcal{B}_{1,1}(G)$, Adm(G) is also open and closed inside $B_{1,1}(G)$, so $Adm(G) \to \overline{M(1)}$ is finite as desired. Since $\overline{M(1)}$ is a scheme, the finiteness also implies that Adm(G) is a scheme [Stacks, 03ZQ]. (One could also use [Stacks, 03XX].)

2.2. The reduced ramification divisor of an admissible G-cover. Let π : $C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover of a stable *n*-pointed curve D over S. Here we will define its reduced ramification divisor \mathcal{R}_{π} , which is a closed subscheme of C, supported on the smooth points of C with non-trivial inertia groups, and is finite étale over S. As an S-scheme it is determined up to isomorphism by this property.¹¹ Moreover it inherits an action of G, and its connected components can be controlled by group-theoretic properties of G. Our discussion follows [BR11, §4.1.2]. Note that the reduced ramification divisor never contains any nodes, even when they have nontrivial G-stabilizers. We do not consider nodes to be ramification points.

For a non-trivial cyclic subgroup $H \leq G$, let $C^H \subset C$ denote the closed subscheme of fixed points. Namely, for $h \in H$, let $C^h \hookrightarrow C$ denote the equalizer of the maps id, $h : C \rightrightarrows C$, which is a closed subscheme of C since C is separated.¹² Let $C^H := \bigcap_{h \in H} C^h$ be the scheme theoretic intersection [Stacks, 0C4H]. Note that if $h \in H$ is a generator, then we have $C^H = C^h$. If U :=Spec $A \subset C$ is a G-invariant open affine, then $C^H \cap U =$ Spec A_H , where A_H is the ring of coinvariants $A/\langle \{ha - a\}_{a \in A, h \in H} \rangle$.

PROPOSITION 2.2.1. Let $\pi: C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover of a stable n-pointed curve D over S. Let $C_{\rm sm} \subset C$ denote the smooth locus of C/S. For a non-trivial cyclic subgroup $H \leq G$, let $C_{\rm sm}^H := C^H \cap C_{\rm sm} = (C_{\rm sm})^H$. Then either $C_{\rm sm}^H$ is empty, or $C_{\rm sm}^H \hookrightarrow C$ is an effective Cartier divisor finite étale over S. Moreover, $C_{\rm sm}^H$ commutes with arbitrary base change.

Proof. Let $h \in H$ be a generator. For any map $T \to S$, the universal property of equalizers implies that $(C^H)_T$ is the equalizer of id, $h : C_T \rightrightarrows C_T$. Since taking the smooth locus commutes with arbitrary base change [Stacks, 0C3H], so does $C_{\rm sm}^H$.

0C3H], so does C_{sm}^H . Now suppose C_{sm}^H is non-empty. For any geometric point $\overline{z} \in C_{\text{sm}}^H$, its image in C must land in a marking, so étale locally in $C, C_{\text{sm}}^H \hookrightarrow C$ looks like $\operatorname{Spec} A[t]/\langle (\zeta - 1)t \rangle \to \operatorname{Spec} A[t]$, where A is the strict local ring at the image

¹¹If S is reduced, then this property defines \mathcal{R}_{π} as a closed subscheme. In the general case, the topological invariance of the étale site [Stacks, 04DZ] applied to the universal homeomorphism $S_{\text{red}} \to S$ yields the uniqueness up to S-isomorphisms.

¹²This is also the fiber product $C^h = C \times_{(\mathrm{id},h),C \times_S C,\Delta} C$.

of \overline{z} in S, ζ is a primitive |H|-th root of unity, and h acts on A[t] linearly in A sending $t \mapsto \zeta t$. This shows that $C_{\text{sm}}^H \hookrightarrow C$ is a closed immersion, and since |G| is invertible on the base, $\zeta - 1 \in A^{\times}$, so C_{sm}^H is also étale over S. Since $C \to S$ is proper, this implies that C_{sm}^H is moreover finite étale, so it is an effective Cartier divisor as desired.

Let $H \leq G$ be a non-trivial cyclic subgroup, and let $K \supset H$ be a cyclic subgroup containing H. Then $C_{\text{sm}}^K \subset C_{\text{sm}}^H$ is a closed immersion of finite étale S-schemes, so C_{sm}^K is an open and closed subscheme of C_{sm}^H . Let

$$\Delta(H) := C_{\mathrm{sm}}^H - \bigcup_{K \supseteq H} C_{\mathrm{sm}}^K,$$

where the union runs over all cyclic subgroups of G properly containing H. Thus, the support of $\Delta(H)$ consists precisely of the points $x \in C_{\rm sm}$ such that (a) Hx = x,

(b) H acts trivially on the residue field $\kappa(x)$, and

(c) no strictly larger subgroup $K \supseteq H$ satisfies (a) and (b).

It follows from this description that $\Delta(H) \cap \Delta(K) = \emptyset$ if $H, K \leq G$ are distinct non-trivial cyclic subgroups.

Definition 2.2.2. Let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover of a stable *n*-pointed curve D over S. The reduced ramification divisor is the divisor

$$\mathcal{R}_{\pi} := \bigsqcup_{H \le G} \Delta(H),$$

where H runs over all non-trivial cyclic subgroups of G.

PROPOSITION 2.2.3. Let $\pi: C \to D$ be an admissible *G*-cover of a stable *n*-pointed curve $(D, \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)$ over *S*. Suppose *S* is connected, and let e_i denote the ramification index of any point $x \in \pi^{-1}(\sigma_i)$. Then the reduced ramification divisor $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} \subset C$ is an effective Cartier divisor finite étale over *S*, supported on the set of non-étale points of $C_{\rm sm} \to D_{\rm sm}$. If $e_i \geq 2$, then $\sigma_i^* \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ is finite étale over *S* of degree $|G|/e_i$.

Proof. The reduced ramification divisor \mathcal{R}_{π} is a disjoint union of finite étale S-schemes, so it is also finite étale over S, hence an effective Cartier divisor. The description of the degree and support follows from the description of $\Delta(H)$ and the local picture above a marking.

Remark 2.2.4. The "reduced ramification divisor" is only reduced in the relative sense that it is unramified over S. It follows from the étale local picture that it is reduced in the usual "absolute" sense if and only if S is reduced. We call it the reduced ramification divisor to avoid confusion with the ramification divisor that appears in the proof of the Riemann-Hurwitz formula, which can be defined as

$$\mathfrak{R}_{\pi} := \operatorname{Div}(\pi^* \omega_{D/S} \to \omega_{C/S}),$$

where ω denotes the relative dualizing sheaf, and Div is taken in the sense of Knudsen-Mumford [KM76, §2]. The restriction of \Re_{π} to the preimage of a marking is a multiple of \mathcal{R}_{π} . In the notation of Proposition 2.2.3, we have $\sigma_i^* \Re_{\pi} = (e_i - 1)\sigma_i^* \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ [BR11, §4.1.2].

Let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible *G*-cover of a stable *n*-pointed curve $(D, \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n)$ over *S*. If $H \leq G$ is a cyclic subgroup, then $\Delta(H)^g = \Delta(g^{-1}Hg)$ for any $g \in G$, so the action of *G* on *C* restricts to an action on \mathcal{R}_{π} which is transitive on fibers over *D*. Since \mathcal{R}_{π}/S is finite étale, we may study the structure of \mathcal{R}_{π} via Galois theory:

PROPOSITION 2.2.5. Let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover of a prestable pointed curve (D, σ) over $(a \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$ -scheme) S with ramification indices e above σ . Let \overline{s} be a geometric point of S, and let \overline{x} be a geometric point of C lying over $\sigma(\overline{s})$. Then

- (a) the connected components of \mathcal{R}_{π} are all isomorphic, and the connected component $R \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ containing \overline{x} is finite étale Galois over S with Galois group a subgroup of $N_G(G_{\overline{x}})/G_{\overline{x}}$, where $N_G(G_{\overline{x}})$ denotes the normalizer of $G_{\overline{x}}$ inside G;
- (b) if, moreover, S is regular and integral and Γ(S, O_S) contains a primitive e-th root of unity, where e denotes the common ramification indices of π above σ, then Gal(R/S) is isomorphic to a subgroup of C_G(G_x)/G_x, where C_G denotes the centralizer.

Remark 2.2.6. By working universally (see Proposition 3.2.2), the conditions that S be regular and integral in part (b) of the proposition can be removed.

Proof. Let $\Pi := \pi_1(S, \overline{s})$. Then by Galois theory we have commuting actions of Π and G on the geometric fiber $F := (\mathcal{R}_\pi)_{\overline{s}}$. Thus G acts on the set of Π -orbits of F, and for any $z \in F$, the decomposition group $\mathbb{D} := \operatorname{Stab}_G(\Pi \cdot z)$ acts transitively on the orbit $\Pi \cdot z$. It follows that the inertia group G_z acts trivially on $\Pi \cdot z$, so G_z is normal in $\operatorname{Stab}_G(\Pi \cdot z)$, and the connected component $R \subset \mathcal{R}_\pi$ corresponding to $\Pi \cdot z$ is Galois over S with Galois group $\mathbb{D}/G_z \leq N_G(G_z)/G_z$. This proves (a).

Now suppose in addition that S is regular and integral and contains a primitive *e*-th root of unity. Let $\eta \in S$ be the generic point. Since R/S is étale, R is irreducible. Let $\epsilon \in R$ be the unique generic point lying over η , and let $\overline{\epsilon}$ be a geometric point mapping to ϵ . Then we find that $\mathbb{D} = G_{\epsilon} := \operatorname{Stab}_{G}(\epsilon)$, and taking $\overline{s} = \overline{\eta}$ in the above discussion, it remains to show that $G_{\overline{\epsilon}}$ is contained in the center $Z(\mathbb{D})$ of \mathbb{D} . Let $A := \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{D_{\eta},\sigma(\eta)}}$ be the complete local ring of the generic fiber D_{η} at the branch point $\sigma(\eta)$, and let $K := \operatorname{Frac}(A)$. Let $B := \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{C_{\eta},\epsilon}}$, and let $L := \operatorname{Frac}(B)$. Then L/K is Galois with Galois group $\mathbb{D} =$

 G_{ϵ} and inertia group $G_{\overline{\epsilon}}$. The vector space $\mathfrak{m}_B/\mathfrak{m}_B^2$ is a 1-dimensional vector space over B/\mathfrak{m}_B , and since we are in the tame case, the local representation $\chi_{\overline{\epsilon}}: G_{\overline{\epsilon}} \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathfrak{m}_B/\mathfrak{m}_B^2)$ is faithful [Ser79, §IV.2]. If $g \in \mathbb{D}$ and $\gamma \in G_{\overline{\epsilon}}$, then since by assumption $\Gamma(S, \mathcal{O}_S)$ contains all *e*-th roots of unity, for any $v \in \mathfrak{m}_B/\mathfrak{m}_B^2$, we have $g^{-1}\gamma gv = g^{-1}(\zeta \cdot gv) = \zeta v$ for some *e*-th root of unity ζ . Thus $g^{-1}\gamma g$ also acts by multiplication by ζ , but since $\chi_{\overline{\epsilon}}$ is faithful, this implies that $g^{-1}\gamma g = \gamma$ for all $g \in G$, so $G_{\overline{\epsilon}} \leq Z(\mathbb{D})$, which proves (b).

2.3. The Higman invariant. Let G be a finite group. The stacks $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ are typically not geometrically connected. Different connected components can often be distinguished by a natural combinatorial invariant called the Higman invariant, which analytically over \mathbb{C} is the conjugacy class in G given by the monodromy of a small positively oriented loop winding once around the branch point. When G is a matrix group, the trace of this class is called the *trace invari*ant (see Section 5.1). Here we discuss the Higman invariant over algebraically closed fields.

Let (D, O) be a 1-pointed prestable curve over an algebraically closed field k. Let G be a finite group of order invertible in k, and let $\pi: C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover. If $k = \mathbb{C}$, then for any base point $y \in D_{\text{gen}}(\mathbb{C})$ and any point $x \in \pi^{-1}(y)$, for $\gamma \in \pi_1^{\text{top}}(D_{\text{gen}}(\mathbb{C}), y)$, let $\gamma \cdot x$ denote the endpoint of the unique lift of γ to C which starts at x. The monodromy representation at x is the unique homomorphism

$$\varphi_x: \pi_1^{\mathrm{top}}(D_{\mathrm{gen}}(\mathbb{C}), y) \longrightarrow G$$

satisfying $\gamma \cdot x = x \cdot \varphi_x(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \pi_1^{\text{top}}(D_{\text{gen}}(\mathbb{C}), y)$. Varying the choice of $x \in \pi^{-1}(y)$ amounts to post-composing φ_x with an inner automorphism of G. Thus, if $\gamma_O \in \pi_1^{\mathrm{top}}(D_{\mathrm{gen}}(\mathbb{C}), y)$ is a small loop winding once counter-clockwise around O, then $\{\varphi_x(\gamma_O) \mid x \in \pi^{-1}(y)\}$ is a conjugacy class of G, which we call the (topological) Higman invariant of π (at $O \in D$).

Now suppose k is a general algebraically closed field. Let $x \in \pi^{-1}(O)$, and let e be its ramification index. Since π is admissible, x is a smooth point of C. Let T_x^* denote its cotangent space. Then the stabilizer $G_x := \operatorname{Stab}_G(x)$ is cyclic of order e, and the right action of G on C defines a faithful local representation

(2.1)
$$\chi_x: G_x \to \operatorname{GL}(T_x^*) = k^{\times}$$

so it gives an isomorphism $\chi_x: G_x \xrightarrow{\sim} \mu_e(k)$. If $x' \in \pi^{-1}(O)$ is another point, then x' = xg for some $g \in G$, so the conjugation $i_{q^{-1}} : h \mapsto g^{-1}hg$ induces an isomorphism $i_{g^{-1}}: G_x \xrightarrow{\sim} G_{xg}$. Computing on G-invariant open affines, we find that the following diagram is commutative:

(2.2)
$$\begin{array}{c} G_x \xrightarrow{\chi_x} \operatorname{GL}(T_x^*) \\ \downarrow^{i_{g^{-1}}} \\ G_{xg} \xrightarrow{\chi_{xg}} \operatorname{GL}(T_{xg}^*). \end{array}$$

Thus, if $\zeta_e \in k^{\times}$ is a primitive *e*-th root of unity, then the conjugacy class of $\chi_x^{-1}(\zeta_e)$ in *G* is independent of the choice of $x \in \pi^{-1}(O)$.

Definition 2.3.1. Let k be an algebraically closed field, and let (D, O) be a 1-pointed prestable curve over k. Let G be a finite group of order invertible in k, and let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover. Let e be the common ramification indices of π at points above $O \in D$. If $\zeta_n \in k^{\times}$ is a primitive n-th root of unity where $e \mid n$, then using the notation above, the (algebraic) Higman invariant of π relative to ζ_n is the conjugacy class of $\chi_x^{-1}(\zeta_n^{n/e})$ for any $x \in \pi^{-1}(O)$, denoted $\operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}(\pi)$. By (2.2), this is independent of the choice of $x \in \pi^{-1}(O)$.

Now suppose our universal base scheme S is such that there exists a primitive *n*-th root of unity $\zeta_n \in \Gamma(\mathbb{S}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{S}})$. Let $\xi : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a geometric point, corresponding to an admissible *G*-cover $\pi_{\xi} : C \to E$ over Ω , where (E, O)is a 1-generalized elliptic curve. Thus, to any geometric point ξ , we may associate an integer $e(\xi)$ (the ramification index of the corresponding admissible *G*-cover). If $e(\xi) \mid n$, then relative to our choice of ζ_n , we may also associate the conjugacy class

$$\operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}(\xi) := \operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}(\pi_{\xi}).$$

Note that $e(\xi)$ is also just the order of (any representative of) the Higman invariant. Let $|\mathcal{A}dm(G)|$ denote the underlying topological space of the stack $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ [Stacks, 04XE]. Since $e(\xi)$ and $\operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}(\xi)$ are invariant under field extensions $\Omega \subset \Omega'$, they define functions on $|\mathcal{A}dm(G)|$.

PROPOSITION 2.3.2. Let $\operatorname{Cl}(G)$ denote the set of conjugacy classes of G. The functions

$$e: |\mathcal{A}dm(G)| \longrightarrow \mathbb{N},$$

$$\operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}: |\mathcal{A}dm(G)| \longrightarrow \operatorname{Cl}(G)$$

are locally constant.

Proof. The statement for e is evident from the definition of admissible G-covers. The proof for $\operatorname{Hig}_{\zeta_n}$ is identical to the proof of [BBCL22, Prop. 2.5.1]. In the language of stable marked G-curves, this also follows from [BR11, Prop. 3.2.5], using the equivalence of Theorem 2.4.9.

Remark 2.3.3. Over $k = \mathbb{C}$, the (topological) Higman invariant of the analytification of π agrees with the (algebraic) Higman invariant of π relative to $\zeta_n = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{n})$. This is equivalent to saying that monodromy around a branch point induces multiplication by $\exp(\frac{2\pi i}{n})$ on cotangent (equivalently, tangent) spaces. It will be useful to keep in mind that if E is an elliptic curve over \mathbb{C} with origin $O, E^{\circ} := E - O, x_0 \in E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$, and $a, b \in \pi_1^{\mathrm{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), x_0)$ is a basis for the fundamental group with positive intersection number (a "positively oriented basis"), then the conjugacy class of the commutator $[b, a] \in \pi_1^{\text{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), x_0)$ is represented by a positively oriented loop in $E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$ winding once around the puncture. Thus, if $\pi: C \to E$ is an admissible G-cover, $x_0 \in E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$ and $x \in C^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$ $\pi^{-1}(x_0)$ with associated monodromy representation $\varphi_x: \pi_1^{\text{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), x_0) \to G$, then φ_x is surjective and the Higman invariant of π is the conjugacy class of $\varphi_x([b,a]) = [\varphi_x(b), \varphi_x(a)]$. In particular, the Higman invariant of an admissible G-cover can always be expressed as a commutator of a generating pair of G. This implies, for example, that abelian G-covers of elliptic curves unramified away from the origin are in fact unramified everywhere, or equivalently, if G is abelian, then objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ have trivial Higman invariant.

Definition 2.3.4. In light of the remark, when $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, we will always consider the Higman invariant relative to $\exp(2\pi i/|G|)$. In this case, for a geometric point $\xi : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$, we will simply write

$$\operatorname{Hig}(\xi) := \operatorname{Hig}_{\exp(2\pi i/|G|)}(\xi).$$

From the local constancy of the Higman invariant, it follows that we have decompositions

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} = \bigsqcup_{\mathfrak{c} \in \mathrm{Cl}(G)} \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}_{\mathfrak{c}} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} = \bigsqcup_{\mathfrak{c} \in \mathrm{Cl}(G)} \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}},$$

where $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ (resp. $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$) is the open and closed substack consisting of objects with Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} . Let $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}_{\mathfrak{c}}, Adm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ denote their coarse schemes.

2.4. Comparison with stable marked G-curves. An admissible G-cover is a map $\pi: C \to D$ satisfying certain properties. An alternative approach is to forget D and only remember the curve C together with its G-action and a suitable marking divisor $R \subset C$. We will see that π induces an isomorphism $C/G \cong D$, so nothing is lost in this approach. Moreover this perspective will be convenient later when we describe the deformation theory for admissible G-covers in Proposition 2.5.3 below. In this section we make precise the relationship between these two viewpoints. The results here are not new and can be viewed as an exposition of [ACV03, App. B]. However our terminology here follows Bertin-Romagny [BR11, Def. 4.3.4]. We begin with a well-known lemma.

328

LEMMA 2.4.1. Let (C/S, R) be a stable marked curve. Let G be a finite group acting S-linearly on C. Then

- (a) C is a union of G-invariant affine opens.
- (b) The categorical quotient $\pi: C \to C/G$ exists (as a scheme) and satisfies
 - π is finite;
 - π is surjective, the fibers of π are G-orbits, and C/G has the quotient topology;
 - π induces an isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{C/G} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\pi_* \mathcal{O}_C)^G$; and
 - for every $x \in C$ with image $s \in S$, the residue field $\kappa(x)$ is a normal extension of $\kappa(s)$, and the stabilizer G_x surjects onto $\operatorname{Aut}(\kappa(x)/\kappa(s))$.
- (c) The quotient C/G commutes with arbitrary base change.

Proof. If C satisfies (a), then (b) follows from [GR71, Exp. V, Cor. 1.5, Prop. 1.8], and (c) follows from [KM85, Prop. A7.1.3(4)] (using our standing tameness assumption). It remains to show (a). This is Zariski local on the base, so we may assume S affine. Recall that a scheme X satisfies property (AF) if any finite set of points is contained in an affine open [Ryd13, App. B].¹³ Since (C/S, R) is stable, $\omega_{C/S}(R) := \omega_{C/S} \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(R)$ is ample on C [Stacks, 0D2S] [Knu83, Cor. 1.9] (this uses the affineness of S), so C satisfies (AF) [Gro61, II, Cor. 4.5.4]. Then for any point $x \in C$, let $W \subset C$ be an open affine containing the orbit Gx. Then $\cap_{g \in G} gW$ is a G-invariant open affine neighborhood of x. This implies (a).

Remark 2.4.2. The conclusions of Lemma 2.4.1 are true more generally for any finite group acting S-linearly on a finite type S-scheme which satisfies property (AF). Note that the tameness assumption on |G|, S was only used part (c).

Definition 2.4.3. A stable marked G-curve is a stable marked curve (C/S, R) equipped with a faithful right-action of G satisfying

- (a) the G-action preserves the divisor R;
- (b) $C \to C/G$ is étale on $C_{\rm sm} R$ (equivalently, G acts with trivial inertia on $C_{\rm sm} R$); and
- (c) the action at every geometric node is *balanced* in the sense of Remark 2.1.5, observation (e).

A morphism of stable marked G-curves is a morphism of the underlying prestable curves which both preserves the marking and is G-equivariant.

¹³(AF) is short for *affine finie*. Property (AF) is also sometimes called the *Chevalley-Kleiman property* [Kol12, Def. 47].

PROPOSITION 2.4.4. Given a stable marked G-curve (C/S, R), the quotient (C/G, R/G) is a stable marked curve and the quotient map $\pi : C \to C/G$ is finite flat.

Proof. By Noetherian approximation (Remark 6.1.1), we are reduced to the case where S is of finite type over Z. By Lemma 2.4.1, the quotient exists and π is finite surjective. By [GR71, Cor. V.1.5], C/G is separated and of finite presentation over S. The surjectivity of π implies $C/G \to S$ is universally closed, hence proper. Since C/S is flat, by the fiberwise criteria of flatness [Stacks, 039B], to check that π and $C/G \to S$ are flat, it suffices to check that π is flat on fibers over S. By Lemma 2.4.1(c), quotients commute with base change, so it suffices to check stability and flatness in the case S = Spec kwhere k is an algebraically closed field. In this case flatness is clear at smooth points; at nodes it follows immediately from the étale-local picture, using the balanced assumption (see Proposition 6.1.4). The same local picture implies that C/G is prestable.

Finally we claim that the quotient (C/G, R/G) is stable. Suppose $Z \subset C/G$ is a non-stable component, with normalization Z'. Then Z' has genus at most 1. If Z' has genus 1, then we must have Z = Z' and it must have no nodes or markings, but this implies that if W is any irreducible component of the preimage of Z in C, then W contains no nodes or markings, so $W \to Z$ is étale, so by Riemann-Hurwitz, W also has genus 1, so W is also unstable. Now suppose $Z' \cong \mathbb{P}^1$ has genus 0, and let $W \subset C$ be an irreducible component mapping to Z, with normalization W'. Then $W' \to Z'$ is étale away from the complement of two points, so $W' \to Z'$ is a totally ramified cyclic cover, so W' is also genus 0 with at most two special points, so W is also unstable.

Definition 2.4.5. Let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible *G*-cover of an *n*-pointed stable curve $(D, \{\sigma_i\}_{1 \le i \le n})$. Let \mathcal{R}_{π} be the reduced ramification divisor, and let $J \subset \{1, \ldots, n\}$ be the subset of indices *j* such that \mathcal{R}_{π} does not meet the divisor $Z_j := C \times_{D,\sigma_j} S$. For each *i*, let

$$R_i := \begin{cases} Z_i & \text{if } i \in J, \\ \mathcal{R}_{\pi} \times_{D,\sigma_i} S & \text{if } i \notin J. \end{cases}$$

We call $\sqcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i$ the marking associated to the admissible G-cover π .

PROPOSITION 2.4.6. Let $\pi : C \to D$ be an admissible G-cover of an *n*-pointed stable curve $(D, \{\sigma_i\}_{1 \le i \le n})$, and let $R := \bigsqcup_{i=1}^n R_i$ be the associated marking as in Definition 2.4.5. Then (C/S, R) is a stable marked G-curve. The categorical quotient C/G exists and commutes with arbitrary base change, and π induces an isomorphism $C/G \xrightarrow{\sim} D$. Proof. Since π is admissible, the *G*-action is balanced on the nodes. Since π is étale above D_{gen} , and the support of \mathcal{R}_{π} is precisely the set of points in C_{sm} at which π is not étale, the image of \mathcal{R}_{π} in *D* is contained in the marking divisor and $\sqcup_{j \in J} Z_j$ is étale over *S*. Thus $R \subset C$ is an effective Cartier divisor, finite étale over *S*. To show that (C/S, R) is stable marked, we may assume $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$ for k an algebraically closed field. Let $Z \subset D$ be an irreducible component with normalization Z', and let $W \subset C$ be an irreducible component mapping to Z, with normalization W'. We say that a point of W' (resp. Z') is special if it maps to a node or marking of W (resp. Z). By Riemann-Hurwitz, the stability of W is clear if Q' has genus ≥ 2 , and since a point of W is special if and only if it maps to a special point of Z (Remark 2.1.5(a)), stability is also clear if Z' contains at least three special points. The only remaining case is when Z' has genus 1, containing at least one special point, but again in this case we find W' has genus at least 1 with at least one node or marking, so W' is also stable.

By Lemma 2.4.1, the categorical quotient C/G exists, commutes with arbitrary base change, and is defined affine locally by taking *G*-invariants. Then π factors uniquely through a finite map $\alpha : C/G \to D$ which by Definition 2.1.4(3) must be an isomorphism over D_{gen} . It follows from the local picture at the nodes and markings that α is an isomorphism there as well.

Definition 2.4.7. Let $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G}$ denote the category whose objects are stable marked *G*-curves (C/S, R) equipped with a decomposition $R = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i$ into open and closed subschemes such that

- (1) G preserves each R_i ,
- (2) the map $R_i/G \to S$ is an isomorphism¹⁴ for each *i*, and
- (3) C/G is a prestable curve of genus g,

and whose morphisms are fiber squares, preserving the decomposition $R = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i$. Then $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G}$ is a category fibered in groupoids over <u>Sch</u>/S. Let $\mathcal{H}_G \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ denote the subcategory consisting of pairs (C/S, R) where C/S is smooth. Let $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G := \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{1,1,G}$, and similarly let $\mathcal{H}_G := \mathcal{H}_{1,1,G}$.

PROPOSITION 2.4.8. Let $(C/S, R = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i)$ be an object of $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G}$. Let σ_i denote the section of C/G determined by R_i/G . Then $(C/G, \{\sigma_i\}_{1 \le i \le n})$ is a stable n-pointed curve and the quotient map $\pi : C \to C/G$ is an admissible G-cover.

Proof. By Proposition 2.4.4, $(C/G, \{\sigma_i\})$ is a stable *n*-pointed curve. It remains to check that π is an admissible *G*-cover. The most difficult thing to check is that π has the correct local picture at the nodes and markings and

¹⁴Equivalently, G acts transitively on the geometric fibers of $R_i \to S$.

that the *G*-action is balanced at the nodes. This is done in Proposition 6.1.4 in the appendix. This local picture then implies that π maps nodes to nodes. Since *G* acts without inertia on $C_{\rm sm} - R$, π is a *G*-torsor above $(C/G)_{\rm gen}$, so π is an admissible *G*-cover as desired.

THEOREM 2.4.9. For $g, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, the map Φ sending an object $(C/S, R = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i)$ in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G}$ to the admissible G-cover $C \to C/G$ together with the n sections of C/G determined by R_i/G gives an equivalence of categories

$$\Phi: \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm_{g,n}^{\mathrm{conn}}(G)$$

A quasi-inverse is given by the functor Ψ sending an admissible G-cover $(C \xrightarrow{\pi} D, \{\sigma_i : S \to D\}_{1 \le i \le n})$ to $(C/S, R = \sqcup_{i=1}^n R_i)$, where here R_i is as in Definition 2.4.5. In particular, $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ is a smooth proper Deligne-Mumford stack of pure dimension 1 over \mathbb{S} .

Proof. Since any admissible G-cover $C \to D$ is a quotient map (Proposition 2.4.6), Φ is fully faithful, so maps in $\mathcal{A}dm_{g,n}^{\mathrm{conn}}(G)$ are precisely given by G-equivariant maps of the covering curve preserving the decomposition of the marking $R = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{n} R_i$. It is essentially surjective since $\Psi \circ \Phi$ is equal to the identity functor on $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{g,n,G}$.

2.5. Relation to the moduli stack of elliptic curves with G-structures. In this section we compare $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ (equivalently $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$) to the moduli stack $\mathcal{M}(G)$ of elliptic curves with G-structures [Che18], [Ols12], [PdJ95], [DM69]. The main result is that the open substack $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ corresponding to smooth covers is an étale gerbe over $\mathcal{M}(G)$, and $\mathcal{M}(G)$ can be obtained from $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ by a rigidification process removing Z(G) from all the automorphism groups of objects in $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$. The same process applied to $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ results in a smooth compactification of $\mathcal{M}(G)$, which we denote $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$. In this section we explain these relationships, following [ACV03], [Che18], and [BR11].

Let G be a finite group. A G-torsor over a scheme X is a finite étale morphism $p: Y \to X$ together with an X-linear right action of G on Y such that p acts freely and transitively on geometric fibers. A morphism of G-torsors over X is a G-equivariant morphism over X. For an elliptic curve E/S with zero divisor O, recall that $E^{\circ} := E - O$. Let $\mathcal{T}_{G}^{\text{pre}}$ denote the presheaf

(2.3)

$$\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}} : \mathcal{M}(1) \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$$

 $E/S \mapsto \{G\text{-torsors } X \to E^\circ \text{ with geom. connected fibers over } S\}/\cong .$

Let \mathcal{T}_G be the sheafification of $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}}$ with respect to the topology on $\mathcal{M}(1)$ inherited from $(\underline{\mathbf{Sch}}/\mathbb{S})_{\acute{e}t}$. Then $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the stack associated to \mathcal{T}_G . For an elliptic curve E/S, a G-structure¹⁵ on E/S is by definition an element of the set $\mathcal{T}_G(E/S)$.

If α, α' are isomorphism classes of *G*-torsors on E/S, E'/S', then a morphism $(E'/S', \alpha') \to (E/S, \alpha)$ thus consists of a cartesian diagram



such that $f^*\alpha = \alpha'$. Thus, morphisms in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ are determined by morphisms of elliptic curves, so the map $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is representable. Using the relative fundamental group, \mathcal{T}_G is checked to be finite locally constant on $\mathcal{M}(1)$, and hence $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is finite étale. In particular, it is a smooth Deligne-Mumford stack.¹⁶

Remark 2.5.1. We make some remarks.

- (a) If $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$ with k a separably closed field, and E/k is an elliptic curve, then the stalk of $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}}$ (resp. \mathcal{T}_G) at E/k is precisely $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}}(E/k)$ (resp. $\mathcal{T}_G(E/k)$) [Stacks, 06VW]. Thus, since sheafification preserves stalks [Stacks, 00Y8], $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}}(E/k) = \mathcal{T}_G(E/k)$ is precisely the set of isomorphism classes of geometrically connected G-torsors over E°/k .
- (b) If E/S is an elliptic curve, then an object of $\mathcal{T}_G(E/S)$ is given by an étale covering $\{S_i \to S\}$, and *G*-torsors X_i on each $E_i^{\circ} := E^{\circ} \times_S S_i$ with geometrically connected fibers over S_i whose common "overlaps" are isomorphic. However, there is no requirement that one can choose the isomorphisms to satisfy a cocycle condition, and hence the *G*-torsors $\{X_i\}$ need not glue to give a *G*-torsor on E° . If *G* has trivial center, then such *G*-torsors have trivial automorphism groups, and hence the cocycle condition is automatic, so in this case we have $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}} = \mathcal{T}_G$ [Che18, Prop. 2.2.6(3)].
- (c) Given an elliptic curve E/S, a G-torsor on E° with geometrically connected S-fibers defines a G-structure on E/S. This gives a map from the set of isomorphism classes of geometrically connected G-torsors on E°/S

¹⁵This G-structure was originally called a *Teichmüller structure of level G* in [DM69, §5]. In [Che18], G-structures were studied as non-abelian analogues of the usual congruence level structures attached to elliptic curves. While the definition of G-structures here differs from the one used in [Che18], the resulting objects are isomorphic. Namely, taking monodromy representations defines a map from $\mathcal{T}_G^{\text{pre}}$ to the presheaf of [Che18, Def. 2.2.3] which is locally an isomorphism. Thus, their sheafifications are isomorphic.

¹⁶As defined, $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is an algebraic stack for the étale topology. By [Stacks, 076U], it is also an algebraic stack for the fppf topology (i.e., an algebraic stack in the sense of the stacks project).

to the set of G-structures $\mathcal{T}_G(E/S)$. As we saw above, this map is a bijection if either S = Spec k with k a separably closed field, or if G has trivial center, but in general it need not be injective or surjective.¹⁷ While this may make G-structures seem like a somewhat unnatural gadget, the upshot is that the forgetful map $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is *finite étale*, and so it can be studied using Galois theory. On the other hand, while $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is in some sense more natural (and carries a universal family of covers), the forgetful map $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is typically not representable, hence typically not finite, even above $\mathcal{M}(1)$ (see Section 2.5.2). In Proposition 2.5.10 we will show that $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is homeomorphic to $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$. Since we will be interested in questions of connectedness, we may (and we will) make use of both perspectives.

2.5.1. Review of G-structures. Here we recall some of the salient features of the stacks $\mathcal{M}(G)$.

¹⁷If G is abelian, then the map is surjective but rarely injective: If $\pi : X \to E^{\circ}$ is a G-torsor geometrically connected over S and E° admits a section σ , then for any G-torsor ξ over S, one can "twist" π in a way that the restriction of the resulting G-torsor π_{ξ} to σ is isomorphic to ξ , but such that the torsors $\{\pi_{\xi}\}_{\xi}$ all determine the same G-structure. If G has non-trivial center, then failure of descent implies that this map is typically not surjective.

THEOREM 2.5.2. Let G be a finite group. Let

 $\mathfrak{f}:\mathcal{M}(G)\to\mathcal{M}(1)$

be the forgetful map. We work universally over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$.

- (1) (étaleness). The category $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is a Noetherian smooth separated Deligne-Mumford stack, and the forgetful functor $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is finite étale.
- (2) (Coarse moduli and ramification). M(G) admits a coarse moduli scheme M(G) which is a normal affine scheme finite over M(1) ≈ Spec Z[1/|G|][j], and smooth of relative dimension 1 over Z[1/|G|]. Moreover, M(G) is étale over the complement of the sections j = 0 and j = 1728 in M(1). If either 6 | |G| or S is a regular Noetherian Z[1/|G|]-scheme, then M(G) ×_{Z[1/|G|]}S is the coarse moduli scheme of M(G) ×_{Z[1/|G|]}S, and it is normal.
- (3) (Combinatorial description of G-structures). Let \mathbb{L} be the set of prime divisors of |G|. For any profinite group π , let $\pi^{\mathbb{L}}$ denote the maximal pro- \mathbb{L} -quotient of π . Let E be an elliptic curve over S. Let $\overline{x} \in E^{\circ}$ be a geometric point, and let $\overline{s} \in S$ be the image of \overline{x} . The sequence $E_{\overline{s}}^{\circ} \hookrightarrow E \to S$ induces an outer representation

$$\rho_{E,\overline{x}}: \pi_1(S,\overline{s}) \to \operatorname{Out}(\pi_1^{\mathbb{L}}(E_{\overline{s}}^{\circ},\overline{x}))$$

from which we obtain a natural right action of $\pi_1(S, \overline{s})$ on the set

 $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\pi_1^{\mathbb{L}}(E_{\overline{s}}^{\circ},\overline{x}),G) := \operatorname{Epi}(\pi_1^{\mathbb{L}}(E_{\overline{s}}^{\circ},\overline{x}),G)/\operatorname{Inn}(G)$

of surjective morphisms $\pi_1^{\mathbb{L}}(E_{\overline{s}}^{\circ}, \overline{x}) \to G$ up to conjugation in G. By Galois theory this action corresponds to a finite étale morphism $F \to S$, which fits into a cartesian diagram

In particular, we obtain a bijection

$$\mathcal{T}_G(E/S) \xrightarrow{\sim} \{ \varphi \in \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\pi_1(E_{\overline{s}}^\circ, \overline{x}), G) \mid \varphi \circ \rho_{E, \overline{x}}(\sigma) = \varphi \text{ for all } \sigma \in \pi_1(S, \overline{s}) \},$$

where recall that $\mathcal{T}_G(E/S)$ is the set of G-structures on E/S.

(4) (Fibers). Let E be an elliptic curve over an algebraically closed field k of characteristic not dividing |G|, and let x₀ ∈ E°(k). Let x_E : Spec k → M(1) be the geometric point given by E. The fiber f⁻¹(x_E) is in bijection with the set of connected G-torsors on E°. Taking monodromy representations (see Section 2.3) gives a canonical bijection

(2.4)
$$f^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\pi_1^{\acute{e}t}(E^\circ, x_0), G).$$

If E is an elliptic curve over \mathbb{C} , then for $x_0 \in E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$, write

$$\Pi := \pi_1^{\operatorname{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), x_0).$$

Taking monodromy representations gives a canonical bijection

(2.5)
$$f^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G).$$

In particular, if G is not generated by two elements, then $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is empty. Let $a, b \in \Pi$ be generators. Let $\gamma_0, \gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}, \gamma_{-I} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ be the automorphisms given by

Let $f: \overline{M(G)} \to \overline{M(1)}_{\mathbb{C}}$ be the map induced by \mathfrak{f} , where $\overline{M(G)}$ denotes a smooth compactification of M(G) over $\mathbb{C}^{.18}$ If $j(E) \neq 0,1728$, then viewing $\overline{M(1)}$ as the projective line with coordinate j, there is a bijection

$$f^{-1}(j(E)) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) / \langle \gamma_{-I} \rangle$$

such that via (2.5), the map $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) \to f^{-1}(j(E))$ induced by $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G)$ is identified with the the canonical projection

$$\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) \to \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) / \langle \gamma_{-I} \rangle$$

Letting j(E) approach $j = 0, 1728, \infty$ respectively, we also obtain bijections

- $f^{-1}(0) \cong \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)/\langle \gamma_0 \rangle, \quad f^{-1}(1728) \cong \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)/\langle \gamma_{1728} \rangle, \text{ and}$ $f^{-1}(\infty) \cong \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)/\langle \gamma_{-I}, \gamma_{\infty} \rangle$
- (5) (Monodromy). Let E be an elliptic curve over \mathbb{C} , $x_0 \in E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$, and $\Pi := \pi_1^{\text{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), x_0)$. Let x_E : Spec $\mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ be the geometric point given by E. Then Π is a free group of rank 2, and the canonical map $\Pi \to H_1(E, \mathbb{Z})$ induces an isomorphism $\Pi/[\Pi, \Pi] \cong H_1(E, \mathbb{Z})$. Let Γ_E denote the orientation-preserving mapping class group of $E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$, and let $\text{Out}^+(\Pi)$ be the preimage of $\text{SL}(H_1(E, \mathbb{Z}))$ under the canonical map

$$\alpha : \operatorname{Out}(\Pi) \to \operatorname{GL}(H_1(E,\mathbb{Z})).$$

The outer action of Γ_E on Π is faithful and identifies Γ_E with $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$. As α is an isomorphism, it induces canonical isomorphisms $\Gamma_E \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{SL}(H_1(E,\mathbb{Z}))$. The image of $\gamma_{-I} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ (see (4)) in $\operatorname{SL}(H_1(E,\mathbb{Z}))$ is central. The analytic theory identifies Γ_E with the topological fundamental group of the analytic moduli stack of elliptic curves $\mathcal{M}(1)^{\operatorname{an}}$, from which we obtain canonical isomorphisms $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_E^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E)$ (where \wedge denotes profinite completion). In particular, we have a canonical

336

¹⁸In fact we will see in Proposition 2.5.10(e) below that M(G) even admits a smooth modular compactification over $\mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$.
map $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \hookrightarrow \pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E)$ with dense image. Relative to this map, the bijection

$$\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$$

of (2.4) is $Out^+(\Pi)$ -equivariant. To summarize, we have canonical isomorphisms

$$\pi_1^{\text{top}}(\mathcal{M}(1)^{\text{an}}, E) \cong \Gamma_E \cong \text{Out}^+(\Pi) \cong \text{SL}(H_1(E, \mathbb{Z}))$$

and

$$\pi_1^{\acute{e}t}(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}, E) \cong \pi_1^{\operatorname{top}}(\mathcal{M}(1)^{\operatorname{an}}, E)^{\wedge}.$$

(6) (Functoriality). Let C denote the category whose objects are finite groups generated by two elements, and whose morphisms are surjective homomorphisms. If f : G₁ → G₂ is a morphism in C, then we obtain a map T^{pre}_f : T^{pre}_{G1} → T^{pre}_{G2} defined by sending the G₁-torsor X° → E° to the G₂-torsor X°/ker(f) → E° where the G₂-action is given by the canonical isomorphism G₁/ker(f) ≅ G₂ induced by f. This induces a map T^f : T_{G1} → T_{G2}, whence a map

$$\mathcal{M}(f): \mathcal{M}(G_1) \to \mathcal{M}(G_2).$$

The maps $\mathcal{M}(f)$ make the rule sending $G \in \mathcal{C}$ to the map $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ into an epimorphism-preserving functor from \mathcal{C} to the category¹⁹ of stacks finite étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. Let E, Π, Γ_E be as in (4). Then in terms of the Galois correspondence for covers of $\mathcal{M}(1)$, given a surjection $f : G_1 \to G_2$, the induced map $\mathcal{M}(G_1) \to \mathcal{M}(G_2)$ (of $\mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$ -stacks) is given by the Γ_E -equivariant map of fibers

$$f_* : \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G_1) \to \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G_2)$$

obtained by post-composing every surjection with f.

(7) (Cofinality — Asada's theorem). For any stack \mathcal{M} finite étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$, there is a finite group G such that \mathcal{M} is dominated by some connected component of $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$. In particular, for any smooth projective curve Xover $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, there are an open $U \subset X$, a component $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$, and a finite étale morphism $\mathcal{N} \to U$. Here we can even arrange that $\mathcal{N} \to U$ be Galois, and for the Galois action to be defined over the field of definition of \mathcal{M}_X as an element of $\pi_0(\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}})$.

Proof. Part (1) is [Che18, Prop. 3.1.4]. Everything in (2) except for normality and étaleness is [Che18, Prop. 3.3.4]. The normality of M(G) follows

¹⁹Here we mean the (1-)category associated to the (2,1)-category. That is, the morphisms in this category are precisely the 2-isomorphism classes of 1-morphisms; cf. [Noo04, §4]. We note that this category is equivalent to the category of finite locally constant sheaves on $\mathcal{M}(1)$ (with respect to the étale topology).

from the fact that M(G) is the quotient of a smooth representable moduli problem by a finite group [Che18, §3.3.3]. Let $U \subset M(1)$ be the complement of j = 0, 1728; to see that M(G) is étale over the complement of U, consider a finite étale surjection $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(G)$ with \mathcal{M} representable. (We may, for example, take \mathcal{M} to be the product of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ with the moduli stack of elliptic curves with full level p^2 structure for some $p \mid |G|$.) By [KM85, Cor. 8.4.5], the map $\mathcal{M}_U \to U$ is étale, which implies the étaleness of $\mathcal{M}(G)_U \to U$ [Stacks, 02KM].

Part (3) is [Che18, Prop. 2.2.6(1,2)]. The bijections (2.4) and (2.5) of (4) follow from part (3), setting $S = \operatorname{Spec} k$. For the rest of (4), see [BBCL22, Prop. 2.1.2, Cor. 2.1.3].

For (5), a theorem of Nielsen gives that α is an isomorphism [OZ81, Th. 3.1], and the isomorphism $\Gamma_E^{\wedge} \cong \pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, E)$ follows from the Riemann existence theorem for stacks [Noo05, Th. 20.4]. The rest of (5) is simply an unfolding of definitions. Part (6) is [Che18, Prop. 3.2.8]. All but the final sentence of (7) is Asada's theorem together with Belyi's theorem (see [Che18, Th. 3.4.2], [BER11], [Asa01, §7]). The final sentence is [BBCL22, Th. 2.2.3].

2.5.2. The relation between $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(G)$. The key relation between $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is that the map $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is an étale gerbe. First we show that it is étale. This is a problem in deformation theory (see Proposition 6.5.6). In fact, following [BR11, §5], we can even describe the ramification indices at points lying over the "cusp" of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ represented by a nodal cubic. For this it will be useful to work with the equivalent stack $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ of stable marked *G*-curves (Definition 2.4.7).

PROPOSITION 2.5.3 ([BR11, Th. 5.1.5]). Let k be an algebraically closed field (of characteristic coprime to |G|) and \overline{x} : Spec $k \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ be a geometric point with image $\overline{y} \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$. The point \overline{x} corresponds to a stable marked G-curve (C/k, R), and \overline{y} is given by the 1-generalized elliptic curve E := C/G with origin O = R/G. The natural map $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ given by taking quotients by G induces a morphism from the deformation functor of \overline{x} to that of \overline{y} . Let Λ be the Cohen ring²⁰ with residue field k. The deformation functors for $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$ in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{G,\Lambda}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)_{\Lambda}$ are prorepresentable, and the induced map on universal deformation rings is given (with respect to suitable coordinates) by

$$\begin{split} \Lambda[\![T]\!] &\longrightarrow \Lambda[\![t]\!], \\ T &\mapsto t^e, \end{split}$$

where e = 1 if C is smooth, and otherwise e is the order of the stabilizer G_p of any node $p \in C$. In particular, the map $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ is flat and $\mathcal{H}_G \to \mathcal{M}(1)$

²⁰If char(k) = 0, then $\Lambda = k$, and otherwise it is the unique [Mat89, Th. 29.2] complete discrete valuation ring with residue field k and maximal ideal $p\Lambda$.

is étale. Moreover, the substack $\mathcal{H}_G \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ is open and dense, and the same is true of $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$.

Proof. This statement is a special case of [BR11, Th. 5.1.5]. Here we sketch the argument in our situation. Let $D_{C,G}$ (resp. D_E) denote the deformation functor of C as a stable marked G-curve (resp. of E as a 1-generalized elliptic curve). Since $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G, \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ are Deligne-Mumford, all deformation functors are prorepresentable, and the universal deformation rings are the completions of the étale local rings of $\overline{x} \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{G,\Lambda}$ and $\overline{y} \in \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)_{\Lambda}$ (see Proposition 6.5.5). Because $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{G,\Lambda}$ and $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)_{\Lambda}$ are smooth and 1-dimensional over Spec Λ , the universal deformation rings are power series rings in one variable over Λ [Stacks, 0DYL]. Let

$$\pi: C \to E := C/G$$

be the quotient map. Every deformation of C yields by taking quotients a deformation of E, so π induces a map $D_{C,G} \to D_E$. It remains to describe the induced map of universal deformation rings. The deformation theory of C is described by equivariant cohomology (see [BM00, §3] or [BM06, §3]). We briefly recall some definitions. An (\mathcal{O}_C, G) -module is a coherent sheaf which locally on an open affine Spec A is given by an A-module M equipped with a G-action satisfying g(am) = g(a)g(m) for any $g \in G, a \in A, m \in M$. Given an (\mathcal{O}_C, G) -module \mathcal{F} on C, let $\pi^G_*(\mathcal{F})$ be the module on E given by $U \mapsto \Gamma(U, \pi_*\mathcal{F})^G$, and let $\Gamma^G(C, \mathcal{F}) := \Gamma(C, \mathcal{F})^G$. Let $H^i_G(C, \mathcal{F}) := R^i \Gamma^G \mathcal{F}$. Let $\mathcal{T}_C := \mathcal{H}om_C(\Omega^1_{C/k}, \mathcal{O}_C)$ be the tangent sheaf. Since π is finite and |G| is invertible in k, π^G_* is exact, and hence we obtain a canonical isomorphism

$$H^1_G(C, \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi)) \cong H^1(E, \pi^G_* \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi)).$$

By a local calculation [BR11, Prop. 4.1.11],²¹ we have $\pi^G_* \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi) = \mathcal{T}_E(-O)$ from which we obtain a canonical isomorphism

(2.6)
$$H^1_G(C, \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi)) \cong H^1(E, \mathcal{T}_E(-O)).$$

If C (equivalently E) is smooth, $H^1(E, \mathcal{T}_E(-O))$ is the tangent space of D_E (see [Har10, Th. 5.3] for the unmarked case; also see [ACG11, §XI.3]), and $H^1_G(C, \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi))$ is the tangent space of $D_{C,G}$ [BM00, Prop. 3.2.1]. By (2.6) these tangent spaces are isomorphic (and 1-dimensional), though this does not tell us that the map on deformation spaces induced by $C \mapsto C/G$ induces an isomorphism. To check this, one can use the fact that the deformations of E and C can be described explicitly by Čech cohomology (equivariant in the case of C (see [BM00, §3.1] and [Gro57, §5.5]), but the added complication is minimal due to the invertibility of |G| on k). There is a natural map of Čech complexes

²¹See [BR11, §4.1.2] for the definition of points of type I, II, and III. In their notation, D = C/G, and by $\theta_D(-\Delta)$ they mean $\theta_D(-B)$.

induced by the map $C \to E$, which (a) induces the isomorphism (2.6), and (b) is easily seen to agree with the map on tangent spaces $D_{C,G}(k[\epsilon]) \to D_E(k[\epsilon])$ induced by $C \mapsto E$. This shows that $\mathcal{H}_{G,\Lambda} \to \mathcal{M}(1)_{\Lambda}$ induces an isomorphism of deformation rings and hence is étale by Proposition 6.5.6. Since $\mathcal{H}_G \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is flat (Theorem 2.1.11(b)), this implies that $\mathcal{H}_G \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is étale.

Now suppose C is nodal. Let \mathcal{C}_{Λ} be the category of Artin local Λ -algebras. If $x \in C$ is a node with stabilizer G_x , then the local deformation functor $D_{C,G_x,x}$ of C at x [BM06, §3] is given by sending an object $A \in \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda}$ to the set of deformations of $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{C,x}} \cong k[[u, v]]/(uv)$ over A as an A-algebra with G_x -action. The natural "localization" morphism $D_{C,G} \to D_{C,G_x,x}$ is smooth. (See [BM06, Th. 4.3] for the unmarked case.) The map on tangent spaces $D_{C,G}(k[\epsilon]) \to D_{C,G_x,x}(k[\epsilon])$ can be identified with the map

$$\varphi: \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathcal{O}_{C},G}(\Omega^{1}_{C/k}, \mathcal{O}_{C}(-\mathcal{R}_{\pi})) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{C,x},G_{x}}(\widehat{\Omega}_{\widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{C,x}/k}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{C,x})$$

coming from the local-to-global (equivariant) Ext spectral sequence, which is surjective with kernel $H^1_G(C, \mathcal{T}_C(-\mathcal{R}_\pi)) = H^1(E, \mathcal{T}_E(-O)) = 0$ (see [BM06, Lemme 4.1] for the unmarked case), so the map $D_{C,G} \to D_{C,G_x,x}$ induces an isomorphism on tangent spaces.

Since G is invertible in k, $\operatorname{Ext}_{\widehat{O}_{C,x},G_x}^i(-,-) = \operatorname{Ext}_{\widehat{O}_{C,x}}^i(-,-)^G$ for all $i \geq 0$. The fact that the G-action is balanced at x implies that the G-action on $\operatorname{Ext}_{\widehat{O}_{C,x}}^1(\widehat{\Omega}_{\widehat{O}_{C,x}/k},\widehat{O}_{C,x})$ is trivial (see [BM06, §5.2] and [BR11, Th. 5.1.1]). On the other hand, this latter group is also the tangent space of the usual (non-equivariant) local deformation functor of a node. In fact, if $D_{C,x}$ denotes the usual deformation functor of the node x without G_x -action, then it can be shown using the results of [ST18] that the forgetful map $D_{C,G_x,x} \to D_{C,x}$ is an *isomorphism*, and that a miniversal family for $D_{C,G_x,x}$ is given by $\Lambda[\![U,V,T]\!]/(UV-T)$ with G_x action given by $gU = \chi(g)U, gV = \chi(g)^{-1}V$ for some primitive character $\chi : G_x \to k^{\times}$. In particular, $\Lambda[\![U,V,T]\!]/(UV-T)$ (without G_x -action) defines a miniversal family for $D_{C,x}$.

Let $R_{C,G_x,x} = \Lambda[\![t]\!]$ be a miniversal ring of $D_{C,G_x,x}$, and let $\underline{R}_{C,G_x,x}$ denote the corresponding functor on \mathcal{C}_{Λ} . Since $D_{C,G}$ is prorepresentable, by versality of $R_{C,G_x,x}$ we obtain a morphism $D_{C,G} \to \underline{R}_{C,G_x,x}$ which must be an isomorphism since it induces an isomorphism on tangent spaces and both functors are prorepresented by regular complete local rings of the same dimension. Let $y \in E$ be the node lying under x. Let $D_{E,y}$ be the local deformation functor of the node $y \in E$, with miniversal family given by $R_{E,y} := \Lambda[\![T]\!] \to \Lambda[\![U,V,T]\!]/(UV-T)$. Then similarly we have $D_{E,y} \cong \underline{R}_{E,y}$. Thus, the map of universal deformation rings induced by $D_{C,G} \to D_E$ can be computed by examining the induced map on miniversal families at the nodes x and y. From the local picture of a balanced node, choosing appropriate coordinates, this map on miniversal families is given by

$$\Lambda\llbracket U, V, T \rrbracket / (UV - T) \longrightarrow \Lambda\llbracket u, v, t \rrbracket / (uv - t),$$

$$(U, V, T) \mapsto (u^e, v^e, t^e),$$

where $e = |G_x|$, and hence the map on miniversal rings is given by

$$\begin{aligned} R_{E,y} &= \Lambda[\![T]\!] \longrightarrow \Lambda[\![t]\!] = R_{C,G_x,x}, \\ T &\mapsto t^e, \end{aligned}$$

which via the isomorphisms $D_{C,G} \cong \underline{R}_{C,G_x,x}$ and $D_{E,y} \cong \underline{R}_{E,y}$ also computes the map on universal deformation rings induced by $D_{C,G} \to D_E$. Finally, the form of the miniversal families given above implies that any point of $\overline{\mathcal{H}_G}$ corresponding to a nodal curve is the specialization of a point corresponding to a smooth curve. Thus, \mathcal{H}_G (resp. $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$) are open and dense inside $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_G$ (resp. $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$).

COROLLARY 2.5.4. If G cannot be generated by two elements, then $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is empty.

Proof. By Proposition 2.5.3, $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is dense, so it suffices to show that if G is not 2-generated, then $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ is empty. If E is an elliptic curve over an algebraically closed field k (of characteristic prime to |G|, since we are working universally over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$), then an admissible G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ corresponds by Galois theory to a surjection $\pi_1(E_k^\circ) \to G$. Since G is prime to p, this surjection factors through the maximal prime-to-p quotient of $\pi_1(E_k^\circ)$, which is 2-generated [GR71, Exp. X, Cor. 3.10], so G must be 2-generated, as desired.

While $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ is étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)$, unlike $\mathcal{M}(G)$, the map $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is generally not representable, hence it is generally not finite. The obstruction to representability lies in the vertical automorphism groups:

Definition 2.5.5. For a map of algebraic stacks $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ and a *T*-valued point $t: T \to \mathcal{X}$, there is a homomorphism

$$f_* : \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{X}(T)}(t) \to \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{Y}(T)}(f(t)).$$

The vertical automorphism group of t (relative to f) is by definition the kernel of f_* . Thus if \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} are Deligne-Mumford, then f is representable if and only if f_* is injective on geometric points [ACV03, Lemma 4.4.3].

For a *T*-valued point $t : T \to \mathcal{X}$ where \mathcal{X} is a stack equipped with a map to $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ (this will essentially always be the case in this paper), its *vertical automorphism group* is by default defined to be its vertical automorphism group relative to the map to $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$, and we will denote it by $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(t)$.

For a geometric point $\operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ corresponding to an admissible G-cover $\pi : C \to E$, its vertical automorphism group is the group of the G-equivariant automorphisms σ of C which induce the identity on E — i.e., which satisfy $\pi \circ \sigma = \pi$. Any G-equivariant automorphism σ of C inducing the identity on E restricts to an automorphism of the G-torsor $\pi : \pi^{-1}(E_{\text{gen}}) \to E_{\text{gen}}$. Since C is smooth and connected, it is irreducible, so $\pi^{-1}(E_{\text{gen}})$ is also irreducible, so every automorphism of $\pi^{-1}(E_{\text{gen}}) \to E_{\text{gen}}$ is given by the action of some $g \in G$. Since the automorphism is G-equivariant, we must have $g \in Z(G)$. We have proved the following:

PROPOSITION 2.5.6. The vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of $Adm^0(G)$ are isomorphic to Z(G).

Thus, if one takes $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ and considers all morphisms as defined "modulo Z(G)," then the corresponding fibered category should be representable over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. This is achieved by the process of *rigidification* (see [ACV03, §5], [Rom05, §5]). The statement is the following:

THEOREM 2.5.7 ([ACV03, Th. 5.1.5]). Let H be a flat finitely presented separated group scheme over \mathbb{S} , and let \mathcal{X} be an algebraic stack over \mathbb{S} . Assume that for each object $\xi \in \mathcal{X}(S)$, there is an embedding

$$i_{\xi}: H(S) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_{S}(\xi),$$

which is compatible with pullback, in the following sense: Let $\phi : \xi \to \eta$ be a morphism in \mathcal{X} lying over a morphism of schemes $f : S \to T$, and let $g \in H(T)$; we require that the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \xi & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} \eta \\ i_{\xi}(f^*g) \Big| & & & \downarrow i_{\eta}(g) \\ \xi & \stackrel{\phi}{\longrightarrow} \eta. \end{array}$$

Since \mathcal{X} is fibered in groupoids, this implies that $i_{\xi}(f^*g) = \phi^*i_{\eta}(g)$. Then, the rigidification of \mathcal{X} by H is a stack $\mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$, equipped with a smooth surjective finitely presented morphism $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ which satisfies

- (a) For any object $\xi \in \mathcal{X}(S)$ with image $\eta \in (\mathcal{X}/H)(S)$, we have that H(S) lies in the kernel of $\operatorname{Aut}_{S}(\xi) \to \operatorname{Aut}_{S}(\eta)$.
- (b) The morphism X → X [] H is a gerbe and is universal for morphisms of stacks X → Y satisfying (a) above.
- (c) If S is the spectrum of an algebraically closed field, then in (1), we have $\operatorname{Aut}_S(\eta) = \operatorname{Aut}_S(\xi)/H(S)$.
- (d) If $c : \mathcal{X} \to X$ is a coarse moduli space for \mathcal{X} , then by (b) it factorizes through a unique morphism $c' : \mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H \to X$, which is also a coarse moduli

space for \mathcal{X} / H . In particular, $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} / H$ induces a homeomorphism on topological spaces.

- (e) If X is Deligne-Mumford, then so is X [] H, and the map X → X [] H is étale.
- (f) If \mathcal{X} is smooth (resp. proper), then \mathcal{X} / H is smooth (resp. proper).

Remark 2.5.8. In [ACV03] this rigidification would be denoted \mathcal{X}^H , but since it seems closer to taking a quotient than taking fixed points, we will use the notation " $\mathcal{X}/\!\!/ H$ " as introduced in [Rom05].

Proof. Everything but (f) and the gerbiness in (b) is [ACV03, Th. 5.1.5]. That $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ is a gerbe follows from the explicit description of $\mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ given in [ACV03, §5.1.7], the key fact being that sheafification/stackification is locally surjective on sections/objects. If \mathcal{X} is smooth, then it admits a smooth covering by a smooth S-scheme $U \to \mathcal{X}$, but then $U \to \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ is a smooth covering as well, so $\mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ is also smooth. If \mathcal{X} is proper, then using the fact that $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H$ is a gerbe, it is straightforward to check that $\mathcal{X} /\!\!/ H \to \mathbb{S}$ satisfies the valuative criteria of properness [Stacks, 0CLZ].

Applying the theorem to H = Z(G), by Theorem 2.5.7(b) we obtain a canonical factorization

(2.7)
$$\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \mathcal{A}dm(G) / Z(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1).$$

Definition 2.5.9. Let $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)} := \mathcal{A}dm(G) / Z(G)$. As usual we will write $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ for its coarse moduli space.

Next we record some of the basic properties of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(G)$ and its relation to $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$.

PROPOSITION 2.5.10. We work over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$. Let $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 := \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)/\!\!/ \mathbb{Z}(G)$ be the open substack classifying smooth covers.

- (a) The map Adm(G) → M(G) induces an isomorphism on coarse spaces Adm(G) → M(G). In particular, it induces a homeomorphism on topological spaces. Both stacks are empty if G cannot be generated by two elements.
- (b) Let φ be the map

$$\varphi: \mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G)$$

sending an admissible cover $\pi : C \to E$ to the G-structure on E determined by the G-torsor $C_{\text{gen}} \to E_{\text{gen}} = E^{\circ} := E - O$. Then φ is an étale gerbe and factors through an isomorphism

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 := \mathcal{A}dm^0(G) / Z(G) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}(G).$$

In particular, we find that $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is naturally isomorphic to an open dense substack of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$.

- (c) The stack $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is smooth and proper of relative dimension 1 over \mathbb{S} .
- (d) The map $\mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is flat, proper, and quasi-finite.
- (e) The scheme M(G), and hence Adm(G), is smooth and proper of relative dimension 1 over S.
- (f) Let $f: G_1 \to G_2$ be a surjection of finite 2-generated groups, inducing a canonical isomorphism $\psi_f: G_2 \xrightarrow{\sim} G_1/\operatorname{Ker}(f)$. Consider the functor

$$f_*: \mathcal{A}dm(G_1) \to \mathcal{A}dm(G_2)$$

sending an admissible G_1 -cover $\pi: C \to E$ to the cover $C/\operatorname{Ker}(f) \to E$ equipped with an action of G_2 via ψ_f . Its behavior on morphisms is defined using the universal property of quotients. Then f_* induces a proper surjective and quasi-finite map

$$\overline{\mathcal{M}(f)}:\overline{\mathcal{M}(G_1)}\to\overline{\mathcal{M}(G_2)}$$

of stacks over $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ whose restriction to $\mathcal{M}(G_1)$ agrees with the map described in Theorem 2.5.2(6).

Proof. We begin with (a). If G cannot be generated by two elements, then by Corollary 2.5.4, $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is empty, so $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ is empty. The rest of (a) follows from Theorem 2.5.7(d). Part (c) follows from Theorem 2.5.7(f).

For (b), we first show that the map $p: \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is finite étale. By Theorem 2.5.7(c) and Proposition 2.5.6, p is representable. Next, since $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ is proper, the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is also proper, so $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is also proper. By Proposition 2.5.3, $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is étale. By Theorem 2.5.7(e), $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \to \mathcal{A}dm^0(G) / Z(G) = \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0$ is étale surjective, so since $p: \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is representable, we find that p is also étale [Stacks, 0CIL]. Thus p is representable, proper, and étale, so it is finite étale [Stacks, 02LS]. Thus to show that the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 \to \mathcal{M}(G)$, it would suffice to show that it induces a bijection on geometric fibers over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. This follows from the observation that if E is an elliptic curve over an algebraically closed field k, then every admissible G-cover of E restricts to give a G-torsor over E° , and conversely every G-torsor over E° (necessarily tamely ramified over $O \in E$ since we are working universally over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$ extends by normalization to an admissible G-cover of E, and these processes are mutually inverse. Thus $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0 \cong \mathcal{M}(G)$ as desired. Finally, to see that $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}^0$, and hence $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is open dense inside $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$, it suffices to check that $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G) \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is open dense, but this follows from Proposition 2.5.3. This proves (b).

For (d), flatness follows from the fact that $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is flat (see Theorem 2.1.11(b)) and that $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ is flat and surjective. Properness follows from the fact that it is a map of proper stacks. Quasi-finiteness

follows from the same property for the map $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ (see Theorem 2.1.11(b)).

Part (e) follows from Lemma 2.1.10.

For (f), first note that by Proposition 2.4.6 and Lemma 2.4.1, the quotient $C/\operatorname{Ker}(f)$ exists. Next we check that $C/\operatorname{Ker}(f) \to E$ satisfies conditions (1)–(6) of an admissible $G_1/\operatorname{Ker}(f) \cong G_2$ -cover (Definition 2.1.4). Part (1) follows from Proposition 2.4.4. Part (6) is immediate from the same property of C. Part (3) is Galois theory. Parts (2), (4), and (5) are local questions and follow from the explicit étale local description of admissible G-covers.

By Lemma 2.4.1(c), formation of the quotient $C/\operatorname{Ker}(f)$ commutes with arbitrary base change so f_* is a morphism of stacks. By the universal property of rigidification (cf. Theorem 2.5.7(b)), the composition

$$\mathcal{A}dm(G_1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(G_2) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(G_2) / Z(G_2) = \mathcal{M}(G_2)$$

factors uniquely via

$$\mathcal{A}dm(G_1) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(G_1) / Z(G_1) = \overline{\mathcal{M}(G_1)} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}(G_2)},$$

and $\mathcal{M}(f)$ will be defined to be the second arrow in the above factorization. As a map between proper stacks, it is proper. As a map between Deligne-Mumford stacks quasi-finite over $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$, it is quasi-finite. By construction its restriction to the smooth locus agrees with the map described in Theorem 2.5.2(6). Since the induced maps over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ are surjective and $\mathcal{M}(G) \subset \overline{\mathcal{M}}(G)$ is open dense, the surjectivity of $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(f) : \overline{\mathcal{M}}(G_1) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(G_2)$ is a consequence of its properness. \Box

Definition 2.5.11. In light of Proposition 2.5.10, we see that $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is a smooth modular compactification of the moduli stack of elliptic curves with G-structures. If k is a field, then a k-point of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ (resp. $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}, \mathcal{A}dm(G)$, Adm(G)) not lying in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ (resp. $M(G), \mathcal{A}dm^0(G), \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$) is called a *cusp* or a *cuspidal object*.

Remark 2.5.12. The terminology of "cusp" comes from the fact that the schemes $M(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$ are disjoint unions of quotients of the upper half plane by finite index subgroups of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ acting via Möbius transformations [Che18, §3.3.5]. Each component of $M(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$ can be viewed as a modular curve for a possibly non-congruence subgroup of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$, whose cusps correspond exactly to the points in $\overline{M(G)}_{\mathbb{C}} - M(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$.

2.5.3. A Galois theoretic mantra. We will often need to use the Galois correspondence to translate between the category of stacks finite étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ and finite sets with $\pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}})$ -action. Some setup is required to make this precise, so that Theorem 2.5.2 can be applied. To avoid describing the same setup repeatedly, we will gather it into the following "situation" (Situation 2.5.14 below) which we will refer to when needed. We begin with a definition of "equivalence classes of G-structures."

For any 2-generated group G, let $\mathcal{T}_G : \mathcal{M}(1) \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$ be the sheaf of G-structures defined in Section 2.5. By functoriality of \mathcal{T}_G in G (cf. Theorem 2.5.2(6)), we obtain an action of $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$ on \mathcal{T}_G . By looking at geometric fibers, we find that $\operatorname{Inn}(G)$ acts trivially and that the induced action of $\operatorname{Out}(G)$ on \mathcal{T}_G is *free*. In particular, we get an action of $\operatorname{Out}(G)$ on the stack $\mathcal{M}(G)$ over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. Thus for any subgroup $A \subset \operatorname{Out}(G)$, the quotient \mathcal{T}_G/A is also a finite locally constant sheaf on $\mathcal{M}(G)$.

Definition 2.5.13. Let $A \subset \operatorname{Out}(G)$ be a subgroup. The sections of \mathcal{T}_G/A over an elliptic curve E/S will be called (G|A)-structures on E/S. The moduli stack of elliptic curves with (G|A)-structures is the quotient $\mathcal{M}(G)/A$, defined as the stack over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ associated to the quotient sheaf \mathcal{T}_G/A . When A = $\operatorname{Out}(G)$, we will call them *absolute G-structures*,²² and the corresponding stack $\mathcal{M}(G)/\operatorname{Out}(G)$ will be denoted $\mathcal{M}(G)^{abs}$.

Situation 2.5.14. Let E be an elliptic curve over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let $t \in E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C})$ be a point. Let $\Pi := \pi_1^{\text{top}}(E^{\circ}(\mathbb{C}), t)$. Let a, b be a basis for Π with intersection number +1. (We will call this a "positively oriented basis.") Let $x_E : \operatorname{Spec} \overline{\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ be the geometric point corresponding to E. Recall that $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ is defined to be the subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ of elements which induce determinant 1 automorphisms of $\Pi/[\Pi,\Pi] \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$, and $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) := \operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)/\operatorname{Inn}(\Pi)$. By Theorem 2.5.2(5), there is a canonical map $i : \operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \hookrightarrow \pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, x_E)$ which is injective with dense image. It induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi) \cong$ $\pi_1(\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}, x_E)$, which we will use to identify the two groups. In particular, we obtain an action of $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ (and hence $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$) on the geometric fiber over x_E of any stack finite étale over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. Let G be a finite 2-generated group, and let

$$\mathfrak{f}:\mathcal{M}(G)\to\mathcal{M}(1)$$

be the forgetful map. The fiber $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E)$ is the set of isomorphism classes of geometrically connected *G*-torsors over E° . Taking monodromy representations (see Section 2.3) gives a bijection

$$\alpha_{G,x_E} : \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$$

²²We distinguish this special case because absolute structures have a natural moduli interpretation. Specifically, let $k = \overline{k}$ have characteristic coprime to |G|, and E/k an elliptic curve. An absolute *G*-structure on *E* is represented by a *G*-torsor over E° . Two absolute *G*-structures over $k = \overline{k}$ are the same if their corresponding torsors are isomorphic as covers of E° . Namely, we do not require the isomorphism to be *G*-equivariant. Thus an absolute *G*-structure on *E* amounts to giving a finite Galois cover of *E*, branched only above the origin, whose Galois group is isomorphic to *G* (cf. [BBCL22, §2.4])

which is $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ -equivariant, where $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ acts on $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E)$ via *i* (cf. Theorem 2.5.2). Via this bijection, the Higman invariant can also be expressed at the level of $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$ (cf. Remark 2.3.3).

To be precise, there is a commutative diagram

$$\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow[\text{Hig}]{\alpha_{G,x_E}} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) \\
\downarrow \varphi \mapsto \varphi([b,a]) \\
\underset{\operatorname{Cl}(G),}{\downarrow} \varphi([b,a])$$

where $\operatorname{Cl}(G)$ denotes the set of conjugacy classes of G. Let \mathcal{C} be the category whose objects are 2-generated finite groups, and where morphisms are surjections. Let $\underline{\operatorname{FinSets}}_{\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)}$ be the category of finite sets with $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ -action, and let $\operatorname{FEt}_{\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}$ be the category of finite étale maps to $\mathcal{M}(1)$. Let $\mathcal{M} : \mathcal{C} \to$ $\operatorname{FEt}_{\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}}$ be the epimorphism-preserving functor of Theorem 2.5.2(6). Let $F_{x_E} : \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}} \to \underline{\operatorname{FinSets}}_{\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)}$ be the fiber functor at x_E . (This is an equivalence of categories by Galois theory.) Then the diagram



2-commutes, in the sense that the two paths are isomorphic as functors, with the isomorphism defined using the isomorphisms α_{G,x_E} . In particular, if $A \subset$ $\operatorname{Out}(G)$ is a subgroup, if $g : \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G)/A$ is the quotient map, and if $\mathfrak{f}_A : \mathcal{M}(G)/A \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is the forgetful map, then the commutative diagram



induces the diagram

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) \\ & \downarrow^g & \downarrow^h \\ & \mathfrak{f}_A^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)/A \end{aligned}$$

where h is the quotient map, and the bottom bijection is also $\text{Out}^+(\Pi)$ -equivariant.

3. Degrees of components of Adm(G) over $\overline{M(1)}$

In this section, after recalling the definitions and formalism of the cotangent sheaf, relative dualizing sheaf, ramification divisor, and degrees of line bundles on 1-dimensional stacks, in Section 3.5 we establish the basic form of our main congruence on the degrees of components of Adm(G) over $\overline{M(1)}$.

3.1. The cotangent and relative dualizing sheaves for universal families over moduli stacks.

Definition 3.1.1. We say that a representable map $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ of algebraic stacks is a *prestable curve* if for any map $S \to \mathcal{X}$ with S a scheme, the pullback $\mathcal{C}_S \to S$ is a prestable curve in the sense of Definition 2.1.2.

The purpose of this section is to review the canonical map $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}} \to \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ when $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ is a representable map of algebraic stacks which is a prestable curve. We work universally over a base scheme S.

3.1.1. The sheaf of relative differentials. Let \mathbb{S} be a scheme. Let \mathcal{C} be an algebraic stack over \mathbb{S} . We can view \mathcal{C} as a site by giving \mathcal{C} the inherited topology from $(\underline{\mathbf{Sch}}/\mathbb{S})_{fppf}$. Recall that this means that given an object $\xi: T \to \mathcal{C}$ with T a scheme, a covering of ξ is given by a family $\{\xi_i\}$ of objects of \mathcal{C} such that each ξ_i is given by $\xi_i: T_i \xrightarrow{t_i} T \to \mathcal{C}$ such that $\{t_i: T_i \to T\}$ is a covering family in $(\underline{\mathbf{Sch}}/\mathbb{S})_{fppf}$. A sheaf on \mathcal{C} is just a sheaf on the corresponding site [Stacks, 06TF]. The structure sheaf on \mathcal{C} is the sheaf of rings $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ given by $(U \to \mathcal{C}) \mapsto \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$. A sheaf \mathcal{F} of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -modules is quasicoherent if its restriction to each $T \to \mathcal{C}$ is a quasicoherent sheaf on T.

Let $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a representable map of algebraic stacks. Given $t : T \to \mathcal{C}$ with T a scheme, consider the diagram

(3.1)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{C}_T & \stackrel{t}{\longrightarrow} \mathcal{C} \\ \tau & \uparrow & \downarrow f \\ T & \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}, \end{array}$$

where the outer square is cartesian, and τ is the section induced by t. This diagram is commutative if one ignores τ . Since C_T is a scheme, it makes sense to define $\Omega_{C/\mathcal{X}}$ to be the presheaf on C given by

$$\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}(t) := \Gamma(T, \tau^* \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T})$$

We note that given a diagram of the form (3.1), it "factors through" a diagram (commutative if one ignores sections)



where the right square is cartesian, and $\tilde{\tau}$ is the section induced by t; this implies that the outer rectangle is cartesian, hence the left square is cartesian. Since sheaves of relative differentials commute with base change, we have

(3.2)
$$\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}(\tilde{t}:\mathcal{C}_T\to\mathcal{C}):=\Gamma(\mathcal{C}_T,\tilde{\tau}^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/\mathcal{C}_T})\cong\Gamma(\mathcal{C}_T,\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}).$$

The restriction maps of $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ are defined as follows. Given a map $s: S \to \mathcal{C}$ and a map $p: S \to T$ with $t \circ p = s$, we obtain a commutative diagram



with both squares cartesian and where the section σ is induced by $s = t \circ p$. Note that $\mathcal{C}_S, \mathcal{C}_T$ are schemes since f is representable. From the diagram we obtain natural restriction maps on global sections

$$\begin{split} \rho_{p,t,s} &: \Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}(t) := \Gamma(T,\tau^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}) \longrightarrow \Gamma(S,p^*\tau^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma(S,\sigma^*\tilde{p}^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}) \\ & \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma(S,\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_S/S}) =: \Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}(s). \end{split}$$

The first map is the usual pullback map on sections. The second map comes from the unique isomorphism $p^*\tau^* \cong \sigma^*\tilde{p}^*$ of functors $\underline{Mod}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}_T}) \to \underline{Mod}(\mathcal{O}_S)$, the uniqueness coming from the fact that $p^*\tau^*$ and $\sigma^*\tilde{p}^*$ are both left adjoints of $\tau_* \circ p_* = \tilde{p}_* \circ \sigma_* = (\tau \circ p)_*$. The final map is induced by the unique isomorphism $\tilde{p}^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T} \cong \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_S/S}$ coming from the universal property of the sheaf of differentials.

The restriction of $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ to any scheme $t: T \to \mathcal{C}$ is just the quasicoherent sheaf on $(\underline{\mathbf{Sch}}/T)_{fppf}$ associated to the usual quasicoherent sheaf $\tau^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}$ on T. Thus $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ is a quasicoherent sheaf, and by (3.2) it agrees with the usual sheaf of relative differentials when \mathcal{C}, \mathcal{X} is are schemes.

Definition 3.1.2. Let $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a representable morphism of algebraic stacks. Let $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ denote the sheaf of relative differentials, as defined above.

Alternatively, the sheaf $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ can be defined on a presentation for \mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X} . Namely, let U be a scheme, and let $U \to \mathcal{X}$ now be a smooth surjective morphism. Then $\mathcal{C}_U := \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{X}} U \to \mathcal{C}$ is also smooth and surjective. Let $R := \mathcal{C}_U \times_{\mathcal{C}} \mathcal{C}_U$ and $S := U \times_{\mathcal{X}} U$. This determines a commutative diagram



which induces isomorphisms $[\mathcal{C}_U/R] \cong \mathcal{C}$ and $[U/S] \cong \mathcal{X}$ [Stacks, 04T4]. To give a quasicoherent sheaf on \mathcal{C} is the same as giving a quasicoherent sheaf \mathcal{F} on \mathcal{C}_U together with an isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{pr}_0^* \mathcal{F} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{pr}_1^* \mathcal{F}$$

over R satisfying a certain cocycle condition [Stacks, 0441,06WT]. Letting $\mathcal{F} = \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_U/U}$ and α the canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{pr}_0^* \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_U/U} \cong \Omega_{R/S} \cong \operatorname{pr}_1^* \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_U/U}$, one checks that α satisfies the cocycle condition, and hence this determines a sheaf $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ on \mathcal{C} which agrees with our earlier definition.

3.1.2. The relative dualizing sheaf and the canonical map $\Omega_{C/X} \to \omega_{C/X}$. Let $f: C \to X$ be a flat proper finitely presented morphism of schemes. Recall that if X is quasi-compact quasi-separated, then the functor $Rf_*: D(\mathcal{O}_C) \to D(\mathcal{O}_X)$ has a right adjoint $f^!: D(\mathcal{O}_X) \to D(\mathcal{O}_C)$ [Stacks, 0B6S]. In this case the relative dualizing complex is $\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet} := f^!(\mathcal{O}_X)$, and it is equipped with a "trace map" $\operatorname{tr}_f: Rf_*\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_X$ coming from adjunction. For general X, the uniqueness of the adjoint implies that the relative dualizing complexes locally defined on affine opens of X glue to yield a pair ($\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet}, \operatorname{tr}_f$), where $\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet} \in D(\mathcal{O}_X)$ and $\operatorname{tr}_f: Rf_*\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{O}_X$ is such that the pair ($\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet}, \operatorname{tr}_f$) restricts to the relative dualizing complex over affine opens of X [Stacks, 0E61]. Moreover, such a pair is unique up to unique isomorphism and commutes with arbitrary base change [Stacks, 0E5Z,0E60].

If, moreover, f has Cohen-Macaulay and geometrically connected fibers of constant relative dimension d, then the dualizing complex $\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet}$ has a unique non-zero cohomology sheaf which is in degree -d [Stacks, 0BV8].²³ Let $\omega_{C/X} := H^{-d}(\omega_{C/X}^{\bullet})$ denote this unique non-zero cohomology sheaf, which is called the (relative) dualizing sheaf for f.

Definition 3.1.3. Let $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a representable flat proper finitely presented morphism of algebraic stacks with geometrically connected and Cohen-Macaulay fibers. The relative dualizing sheaf $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ is defined as follows. Given any diagram of the form (3.1), define

$$\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}(t) := \Gamma(T, \tau^* \omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}).$$

As in the case for $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$, we obtain natural restriction maps $\rho_{p,t,s}$ as in (3.3). Since relative dualizing sheaves commute with arbitrary base change, the same

²³Technically, in order to use this, one should first reduce to the case where X is affine, and then use Noetherian approximation to note that f is the base change of a morphism $f_0: C_0 \to X_0$ where X_0 is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , and f_0 is also flat proper finitely presented with Cohen-Macaulay fibers [Stacks, 01ZA,081C,045U]. In this situation [Stacks, 0BV8] applies, and by pullback we deduce the result for f.

discussion as above implies that the restriction maps are compatible and define a quasicoherent sheaf on C, which is called the *relative dualizing sheaf* of C/\mathcal{X} .

PROPOSITION 3.1.4. Let $f : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a representable map of algebraic stacks which is a prestable curve. Then there is a canonical map

$$\psi:\Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}\longrightarrow\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$$

which is an isomorphism where f is smooth.

Proof. Let $T \to \mathcal{X}$ be a map with T a scheme. The easiest way to define ψ is to note that $\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}$ viewed as an object of the derived category $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}_T})$ is a perfect complex [Knu83, Cor. 3.3], and hence we may construct $\omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}$ as the determinant det $(\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T})$ in the sense of [KM76].²⁴ In this case we have a canonical map $\psi_T = \psi_{T\to\mathcal{X}} : \Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T} \to \det(\Omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}) = \omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}$ as described in [Knu83, §1], which is an isomorphism on the smooth locus. It is clear from the description of ψ_T that they commute with base change relative to any map $T' \to T$. This implies that the family of maps $\{\psi_T\}$ define a morphism $\psi: \Omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}} \to \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}}$ as desired.²⁵

3.2. The universal family over $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and its reduced ramification divisor. Let G be a finite group. We work universally over a $\mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$ -scheme S. The universal admissible G-cover

$$(3.4) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{C}(G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}(G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(G)$$

is defined as follows. The objects of $\mathcal{E}(G)$ over a scheme T are pairs $(\pi : C \to E, \sigma)$, where π is an admissible G-cover of a 1-generalized elliptic curve E over T and $\sigma : T \to E$ is a section. Morphisms are morphisms in the category $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ respecting the sections σ . The map $\mathcal{E}(G) \to \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is given by forgetting σ . Similarly, the objects of $\mathcal{C}(G)$ over a scheme T are pairs $(\pi : C \to E, \sigma)$ where π is again an admissible G-cover of a 1-generalized elliptic curve E over T, and $\sigma : T \to C$ is a section, with morphisms similarly defined. The map $\mathcal{C}(G) \to \mathcal{E}(G)$ sends $(\pi : C \to E, \sigma)$ to $(\pi : C \to E, \pi \circ \sigma)$. In particular, we find that for a geometric point \overline{z} of $\mathcal{C}(G)$ mapping to \overline{x} in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$, the automorphism group of \overline{z} is precisely the group of automorphisms of the admissible G-cover $\pi_{\overline{x}} : \mathcal{C}(G)_{\overline{x}} \to \mathcal{E}(G)_{\overline{x}}$ which fix \overline{z} .

It follows from the above discussion that the maps (3.4) are representable and for any scheme T and map $T \to \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ given by an admissible G-cover

²⁴By [Kle80, Cor. 19] this sheaf is dualizing and hence agrees with our definition of $\omega_{C_T/T}$ above. Also see [BR11, §4.1.1-4.1.2] and [Liu02, §6.4].

²⁵Alternatively, using the more traditional definition of $\omega_{\mathcal{C}_T/T}$, the map ψ_T is also described in [Stacks, 0E9Z], though it is less clear from this description that it commutes with base change.

 $\pi : C \to E$ over T, the pullback of (3.4) to T is canonically isomorphic to $C \xrightarrow{\pi} E \to T$.

Let $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}(G)/\mathcal{E}(G)}$ be the strictly full subcategory of $\mathcal{C}(G)$ whose objects over a scheme T are pairs $(\pi : C \to E, \sigma)$ where $\sigma : T \to C$ factors (uniquely) through the closed immersion $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} \hookrightarrow C$. If $T \to \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is a map given by an admissible G-cover $\pi : C \to E$, then $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}(G)/\mathcal{E}(G)} \times_{\mathcal{A}dm(G)} T = \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$. It follows that the inclusion map $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}(G)/\mathcal{E}(G)} \subset \mathcal{C}(G)$ is a closed immersion.

Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a connected component, and let

$$\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}$$

denote the restriction of the universal family to \mathcal{X} . Let $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{E}}$ denote the restriction of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}(G)/\mathcal{E}(G)}$ to \mathcal{C} .

Definition 3.2.1. The reduced ramification divisor of \mathcal{C}/\mathcal{E} is the closed substack $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{E}} \subset \mathcal{C}$ defined above.

PROPOSITION 3.2.2. The components of the reduced ramification divisor can be controlled as follows.

- (a) Working over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$, let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G) = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathbb{S}}$ be a connected component classifying covers with ramification index e. Let $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{X}$ be the universal family. Then the reduced ramification divisor $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} = \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{E}}$ is finite étale over \mathcal{X} of degree |G|/e. Let \overline{z} be a geometric point of \mathcal{R}_{π} with stabilizer $G_{\overline{z}} \leq G$. The connected components of \mathcal{R}_{π} are all isomorphic, each Galois over \mathcal{X} with Galois group isomorphic to a subgroup of $N_G(G_{\overline{z}})/G_{\overline{z}}$.
- (b) Working over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{Z}[1/|G|, \zeta_e]$, let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G) = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathbb{S}}$ be a connected component classifying covers with ramification index e. Let $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{X}$ be the universal family. Then the conclusions of (a) hold and the Galois groups of components of \mathcal{R}_{π} are moreover isomorphic to a subgroup of $C_G(G_{\overline{z}})/G_{\overline{z}}$.

Proof. For part (a), from the discussion above, we may argue exactly as in Proposition 2.2.5(a). In part (b), the conclusions of (a) hold by base change, so it remains to justify the claim about the Galois groups. If e = 1, then the statement is trivial, so we may assume $e \ge 2$, and hence $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{X}$ has fibers of genus $g \ge 2$. Let $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ be a connected component. Suppose there exists a map $f: U \to \mathcal{X}$ with U a regular integral scheme such that $f^*\mathcal{R}$ is connected. Then we may apply Proposition 2.2.5(b) to the pullback $f^*\mathcal{C} \to f^*\mathcal{E}$, which would give us the desired result. To construct the map f, let $K := \mathbb{Q}(\zeta_e)$, let \mathcal{M}_g (resp. $\mathcal{M}_{g,n}$) denote the moduli stack of smooth curves of genus g (resp. with n distinct marked points) over K (see [Knu83]), and let $\mathcal{Y}_K \subset \mathcal{X}_K$ be the open substack consisting of smooth objects. There is a natural map

$$h: \mathcal{Y}_K \to \mathcal{M}_q$$

sending an admissible cover $C \to E$ to the genus g curve C. The Riemann-Hurwitz formula together with Hurwitz's automorphism theorem implies that for fixed g, there is a large enough n such that curves of genus g (in characteristic 0) do not have any automorphisms with n fixed points, so the stack $\mathcal{M}_{g,n}$ is a scheme. Let us fix such an n. Forgetting marked points yields natural maps

$$\mathcal{M}_{g,n} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{g,n-1} \longrightarrow \cdots \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{g,1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}_{g,0} = \mathcal{M}_g,$$

where the source of each map is the universal family over the target. Thus the composition $\mathcal{M}_{g,n} \to \mathcal{M}_g$ is representable, smooth, and proper with geometrically connected fibers. Let $U := h^* \mathcal{M}_{g,n}$. Then since automorphisms of objects in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ are determined by how it behaves on the covering curve C, the map h is representable and hence U is a scheme. Since \mathcal{Y}_K is regular and connected and $U \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}} \mathcal{Y}_K$ is proper and smooth (hence open and closed) with connected fibers, U is also regular and connected, so it is a regular integral scheme. Let f be the composition

$$f: U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}} \mathcal{Y}_K \xrightarrow{i} \mathcal{X}.$$

By Proposition 2.5.10(e), the coarse scheme X of \mathcal{X} is smooth over \mathbb{S} , hence normal, hence irreducible since it is connected, so the same is true of the coarse scheme of \mathcal{R} . This implies that \mathcal{X} and \mathcal{R} are irreducible, so the restriction $i^*\mathcal{R}$ is also irreducible. Next, the map $f^*\mathcal{R} \to i^*\mathcal{R}$ is smooth proper with geometrically connected fibers since the same is true of pr. Since $i^*\mathcal{R}$ is connected, this implies that $f^*\mathcal{R}$ is also connected, as desired.

3.3. Restriction of the relative dualizing sheaf to a ramified section. Let G be a finite group. We work universally over a $\mathbb{Z}[1/|G|]$ -scheme S.

PROPOSITION 3.3.1. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a connected component with universal family $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{X}$. Let $\sigma_O : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{E}$ denote the zero section. Suppose $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ has ramification index e above σ_O . Suppose further that we have a section $\sigma : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{C}$ making the following diagram commute:



Then, there is a canonical isomorphism $\varphi : \sigma_O^* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{X}} \cong (\sigma^* \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}})^{\otimes e}$.

Proof. Let $T \to \mathcal{X}$ be a map with T a scheme, corresponding to an admissible G-cover $C \xrightarrow{\pi} E \to T$. Abusing notation, let σ, σ_O also denote the sections of C, E pulled back from σ, σ_O , with respective sheaves of ideals $\mathcal{J} \subset \mathcal{O}_C, \mathcal{I} \subset \mathcal{O}_E$. Since $\pi \circ \sigma = \sigma_O, \pi$ induces a map $\pi^* \mathcal{I} \to \mathcal{J}$. The étale local picture of an admissible cover above a marking implies that this map factors through an isomorphism $\pi^* \mathcal{I} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{J}^e \subset \mathcal{J}$. On the other hand, since σ, σ_O land in the smooth loci of C and E, the conormal exact sequence induces canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathcal{J}/\mathcal{J}^2 \cong \sigma^* \Omega_{C/T}, \qquad \mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2 \cong \sigma^*_O \Omega_{E/T}.$$

Thus we obtain canonical isomorphisms

(3.5)
$$\sigma_O^* \Omega_{E/T} \cong \mathcal{I}/\mathcal{I}^2 \cong \mathcal{I} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_E} \mathcal{O}_E/\mathcal{I} \cong \sigma_O^* \mathcal{I} \\ \cong \sigma^* \pi^* \mathcal{I} \cong \sigma^* \mathcal{J}^e \cong (\mathcal{J}/\mathcal{J}^2)^{\otimes e} \cong (\sigma^* \Omega_{C/T})^{\otimes e}$$

compatible with any base change. Since the canonical map $\psi_T : \Omega_{C/T} \to \omega_{C/T}$ of Proposition 3.1.4 is an isomorphism on the smooth locus and is compatible with base change (and similarly for E/T), (3.5) induces an isomorphism $\varphi_T : \sigma_O^* \omega_{E/T} \cong (\sigma^* \omega_{C/T})^{\otimes e}$ also compatible with base change. This compatibility implies that the family $\{\varphi_T\}$ defines an isomorphism $\varphi : \sigma_O^* \omega_{\mathcal{E}/\mathcal{X}} \cong (\sigma^* \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{X}})^{\otimes e}$ as desired.

3.4. Degree formalism for line bundles on 1-dimensional stacks. The main congruence described in the introduction (Theorem 1.1.1) originates from a congruence on the degree of a certain line bundle on $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. Here we recall the notion of degree for a line bundle on a proper 1-dimensional algebraic stack and some of its basic properties.

Given a finite flat morphism of algebraic stacks $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$, given a map $y : \operatorname{Spec} k \to \mathcal{Y}$ with k a field, its degree $\deg_y(f)$ at y is the k-rank of the fiber $\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathcal{Y},y} \operatorname{Spec} k$. This integer is locally constant on \mathcal{Y} . If \mathcal{Y} is connected, we denote it simply by $\deg(f) \in \mathbb{Z}$. For a line bundle \mathcal{L} on a proper scheme X of pure dimension 1 over a field k, its degree is

(3.6)
$$\deg(\mathcal{L}) = \deg_k(\mathcal{L}) := \chi_k(X, \mathcal{L}) - \chi_k(X, \mathcal{O}_X) \qquad [Stacks, 0AYR].$$

LEMMA 3.4.1 ([BDP17, App. B.2 by B. Conrad]). Let \mathcal{X} be a connected proper algebraic stack of pure dimension 1 over a field k, and for i = 1, 2, let $q_i : U_i \to \mathcal{X}$ denote finite flat surjective morphisms with U_i a connected scheme. Let \mathcal{L} be an invertible sheaf on \mathcal{X} . Then

$$\frac{\deg(q_1^*\mathcal{L})}{\deg q_1} = \frac{\deg(q_2^*\mathcal{L})}{\deg q_2}$$

Proof. Since q_i is finite flat, $U_1 \times_{\mathcal{X}} U_2$ is a scheme. Let $U \subset U_1 \times_{\mathcal{X}} U_2$ be a connected component. Then U_1, U_2, U are all proper connected k-schemes of pure dimension 1. We have a diagram with all maps finite flat surjective

$$\begin{array}{c} U \xrightarrow{p_2} U_2 \\ \downarrow & \searrow^p & \downarrow^{q_2} \\ U_1 \xrightarrow{q_1} \mathcal{X}. \end{array}$$

Noting that $\frac{\deg(p_i^*q_i^*\mathcal{L})}{\deg(q_i^*\mathcal{L})} = \deg p_i$ [Stacks, 0AYW,0AYZ], we find that the ratios in (3.6) are both equal to $\frac{\deg(p^*\mathcal{L})}{\deg p}$.

Definition 3.4.2 ([BDP17, App. B.2]). Let \mathcal{X} be a connected proper algebraic stack of pure dimension 1 over a field k which admits a finite flat (equivalently, finite locally free [Stacks, 02KB]) surjective map $p: U \to \mathcal{X}$ with U a scheme. For a line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{X} , define

$$\deg(\mathcal{L}) := \frac{\deg(p^*\mathcal{L})}{\deg p} \in \mathbb{Q}.$$

It follows from the lemma that $\deg(\mathcal{L})$ is independent of the choice of the finite flat scheme cover $p: U \to \mathcal{X}$. It will be useful to keep the following lemma in mind:

LEMMA 3.4.3 ([Knu71]). Let X be a reduced algebraic space of pure dimension 1 which is separated and of finite type over a field k. Then X is a scheme. In particular, any 1-dimensional smooth separated Deligne-Mumford stack over a field k admits a coarse scheme.

Proof. For k algebraically closed, X is a scheme by [Knu71, Th. V.4.9]. To bootstrap to general fields, one can use [Stacks, 0B88, 088J]. The last statement follows from the Keel-Mori Theorem 2.1.9.

Recall that a Deligne-Mumford stack is *tame* if its automorphism groups at every geometric point Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{X}$ have order coprime to the characteristic of Ω . We say it is generically tame if it has an open dense substack which is tame. The following proposition implies that it makes sense to speak of degrees of line bundles on $\mathcal{A}dm(G), \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$.

PROPOSITION 3.4.4 ([KV04], [EHKV01]). We work over a field k.

- (a) Let X be a smooth separated generically tame 1-dimensional Deligne-Mumford stack. Then there exists a finite flat surjective map U → X with U a smooth k-scheme.
- (b) Let G be a finite group. If $\operatorname{char}(k) \nmid 2|G|$, then for $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_k$ or $\mathcal{M} = \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}_k$, \mathcal{M} admits a finite flat surjective map $U \to \mathcal{M}$ with U a smooth k-scheme.

Proof. By Theorem 2.1.9 and Lemma 3.4.3, \mathcal{X} admits a coarse scheme which is proper over k. Since proper schemes of dimension 1 are projective, (a) is [KV04, Ths. 1, 2, 3]. By Proposition 2.5.10(e), $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ is smooth with smooth projective coarse scheme. Since $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ is an étale gerbe, the same is true of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. The assumption on char(k) guarantees that $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ are generically tame, so (b) follows from (a).

Next we obtain a criterion to detect when $\deg(\mathcal{L})$ is an integer. Let \mathcal{L} be an invertible sheaf on a Deligne-Mumford stack \mathcal{L} . For any geometric point $x : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \mathcal{X}, x^* \mathcal{L}$ is a rank 1 representation of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{X}}(x)$, which we call the *local character* of \mathcal{L} at x. We will need the following result.

PROPOSITION 3.4.5 ([Ols12, Prop. 6.1]). Let \mathcal{X} be a locally finitely presented tame separated Deligne-Mumford stack admitting a coarse scheme $c : \mathcal{X} \to X$. Then the pullback c^* induces an isomorphism between the category of invertible sheaves on X and the full subcategory of invertible sheaves on \mathcal{X} whose local characters at all geometric points are trivial. A quasi-inverse is given by c_* .

Definition 3.4.6. Let \mathcal{X} be an irreducible Deligne-Mumford stack admitting a coarse scheme $c : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$. Its generic automorphism group is the automorphism group of a geometric generic point Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{X}$.

PROPOSITION 3.4.7. Let \mathcal{X} be a connected tame smooth proper 1-dimensional Deligne-Mumford stack over a field k. Suppose its generic automorphism group has order n. Then for any invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{X} with trivial local characters, we have

$$\deg(\mathcal{L}) = \frac{1}{n} \deg(c_*\mathcal{L}) \in \frac{1}{n}\mathbb{Z}.$$

Proof. By Proposition 3.4.4, we may find a finite flat map $p: Y \to \mathcal{X}$ with Y a smooth proper curve, so we may speak of degrees of line bundles on \mathcal{X} . By Lemma 2.1.10, X is a smooth proper curve, so the map $c \circ p: Y \to \mathcal{X} \to X$ is finite flat. By Proposition 3.4.5, $\mathcal{L} \cong c^* c_* \mathcal{L}$, so it would suffice to show that $\deg(c \circ p) = \frac{\deg p}{n}$. By the local structure of Deligne-Mumford stacks [Ols16, Th. 11.3.1], $\mathcal{X} \to X$ is étale-locally given by $[U/\Gamma] \to U/\Gamma$ for some finite group Γ acting on a scheme U étale over \mathcal{X} . Let $\Gamma_1 \leq \Gamma$ be the kernel of the Γ -action on U. Then by shrinking U we may assume that U is irreducible and Γ/Γ_1 acts with trivial inertia on U. In this case it follows that Γ_1 is isomorphic to the generic automorphism group of \mathcal{X} , so $|\Gamma_1| = n$. We have a diagram



where all squares are cartesian. Thus γ is finite étale of degree $|\Gamma|$ and deg $\alpha = \deg p$. Since Γ/Γ_1 acts with trivial inertia on U, β is finite étale of degree

 $|\Gamma/\Gamma_1| = \frac{1}{n}|\Gamma|$. Since $\gamma \circ \delta \circ \epsilon = \beta \circ \alpha$ are finite flat, we have

$$\deg(c \circ p) = \deg(\epsilon \circ \delta) = \frac{\deg \alpha \cdot \deg \beta}{\deg \gamma} = \frac{\deg p \cdot \frac{1}{n} |\Gamma|}{|\Gamma|} = \deg p \cdot \frac{1}{n}$$

ired.
$$\Box$$

as desired

PROPOSITION 3.4.8. We work over a field k.

(a) Let $f : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$ be a finite flat map of connected proper 1-dimensional algebraic stacks of degree d, and let \mathcal{L} be a line bundle on \mathcal{X} . Then

$$\deg(f^*\mathcal{L}) = d \cdot \deg(\mathcal{L})$$

(b) Let X be a connected tame smooth proper 1-dimensional Deligne-Mumford stack with generic automorphism group of order n. Let c : X → X be its coarse scheme. Then for a line bundle L on X,

$$\deg(c^*\mathcal{L}) = \frac{1}{n}\deg(\mathcal{L}).$$

(c) Let \mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{X} be connected tame smooth proper 1-dimensional Deligne-Mumford stacks with generic automorphism groups of order $n_{\mathcal{Y}}, n_{\mathcal{X}}$ respectively and admitting coarse schemes Y, X respectively. If $f : \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{X}$ induces a finite flat map $\overline{f} : Y \to X$ on coarse schemes, then for any line bundle \mathcal{L} on \mathcal{X} , we have

$$\deg(f^*\mathcal{L}) = \frac{n_{\mathcal{X}}}{n_{\mathcal{Y}}} \deg(\overline{f}) \cdot \deg(\mathcal{L}).$$

Proof. For (a), see [Stacks, 0AYW,0AYZ,02RH]. Part (b) follows from Propositions 3.4.5 and 3.4.7. For part (c), it follows from the étale local picture of Deligne-Mumford stacks [AV02, Lemma 2.2.3] that for some integer $m \ge 1$, $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}$ has trivial local characters. Since $\deg(\mathcal{L}^{\otimes m}) = m \cdot \deg(\mathcal{L})$, we are reduced to the case where \mathcal{L} has trivial local characters, but in this case the result follows from (b).

PROPOSITION 3.4.9. Here we work over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. Let $\mathcal{E}(1) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ be the universal family of elliptic curves, with zero section σ_O . Then the Hodge bundle $\lambda := \sigma_O^* \omega_{\mathcal{E}(1)/\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}}$ is an invertible sheaf on $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ of degree $\frac{1}{24}$.

Proof. Recall that if \mathcal{M} is an algebraic stack and \mathcal{F} is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}$ -module, its global sections is the set $\Gamma(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{F}) := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}}, \mathcal{F})$. Let $c : \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)$ be the coarse scheme. Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} \Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)},\lambda^{\otimes 12}) &= \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}}}(c^*\mathcal{O}_{\overline{M(1)}},\lambda^{\otimes 12}) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{M(1)}},c_*\lambda^{\otimes 12}) = \Gamma(\overline{M(1)},c_*\lambda^{\otimes 12}). \end{split}$$

Base changing to \mathbb{C} , by standard GAGA arguments,

$$\Gamma(\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}, \lambda^{\otimes 12}) = \Gamma(\overline{M(1)}, c_*\lambda^{\otimes 12})$$

is isomorphic to the \mathbb{C} -vector space of modular forms of level 1 and weight 12, which has dimension 2, generated by the Eisenstein series E_{12} and the

discriminant Δ [DS05, Th. 3.5.2]. Since $\overline{M(1)} \cong \mathbb{P}^1$, it follows that $c_* \lambda^{\otimes 12}$ has degree 1, so by Proposition 3.4.8(b), $\deg(\lambda^{\otimes 12}) = \frac{1}{2}$, so $\deg(\lambda) = \frac{1}{24}$. \Box

3.5. The main congruence. In this section we work universally over $\mathbb{S} =$ Spec k, where k is an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0.

THEOREM 3.5.1. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a connected component, with universal family $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{X}$ and reduced ramification divisor \mathcal{R}_{π} . Let $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ be the coarse scheme of \mathcal{X} , and let $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)} \cong \mathbb{P}^1_j$ be the coarse moduli scheme. Let $\mathcal{E}(1) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ be the universal family. Let $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ be a connected component with coarse scheme R, and let $\epsilon : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{X}$ be the induced map. By definition, $\mathcal{C}' := \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{X}} \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$ admits a section σ lying over the zero section of $\mathcal{E}' := \mathcal{E} \times_{\mathcal{X}} \mathcal{R}$. To \mathcal{X} we associate the three integers:

- let e = e_X be the ramification index of any point of C above the zero section of ε;
- let $d = d_{\mathcal{X}}$ be the degree of the induced map on coarse schemes $\overline{\epsilon} : R \to X$;
- let $m = m_{\mathcal{X}}$ be the minimal positive integer such that $(\sigma^* \Omega_{\mathcal{C}'/\mathcal{R}})^{\otimes m}$ has trivial local characters.

Let $\overline{f}: X \to \overline{M(1)}$ be the map on coarse schemes induced by $f: \mathcal{X} \to \overline{M(1)}$. Then we have

$$\deg(\overline{f}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{12e}{\gcd(12e, md)}.$$

Proof. We have a commutative diagram with the top three squares cartesian (if you ignore the sections),

where σ_O, σ'_O denote the zero sections. The sheaf $\lambda := \sigma_O^* \omega_{\mathcal{E}(1)/\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}}$ is the Hodge bundle, which has degree $\frac{1}{24}$ by Proposition 3.4.9. Since dualizing sheaves commute with arbitrary base change, by Proposition 3.3.1 we have

$$\epsilon^* f^* \lambda \cong \sigma_O'^* \omega_{\mathcal{E}'/\mathcal{R}} \cong (\sigma^* \omega_{\mathcal{C}'/\mathcal{R}})^{\otimes e} \cong (\sigma^* \Omega_{\mathcal{C}'/\mathcal{R}})^{\otimes e},$$

where the final isomorphism follows from the fact that σ lies in the smooth locus by definition of admissible covers. Suppose \mathcal{R} has a generic automorphism

group of order *n*. By Proposition 3.4.7, we have $\deg(\epsilon^* f^* \lambda) \in \frac{e}{mn} \mathbb{Z}$. Since $\deg(\lambda) = \frac{1}{24}$, by 3.4.8(c) we have

$$\deg(\epsilon^* f^* \lambda) = \frac{2}{n} \deg(\overline{\epsilon}) \cdot \deg(\overline{f}) \cdot \frac{1}{24} = \frac{d}{12n} \cdot \deg(\overline{f}) \in \frac{e}{mn} \mathbb{Z}$$

and hence

$$\deg(\overline{f}) \in \frac{12e}{dm}\mathbb{Z} \quad \text{or equivalently} \quad \deg(\overline{f}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{12e}{\gcd(12e, md)}. \quad \Box$$

Theorem 3.5.1 takes as input a group G and a component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$, and outputs a congruence which at best gives $\equiv 0 \mod 12e_{\mathcal{X}}$, but is possibly diluted by the integers $d_{\mathcal{X}}, m_{\mathcal{X}}$ associated to \mathcal{X} . To obtain a good congruence, one wishes to show that $e_{\mathcal{X}}$ does not share large divisors with $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $m_{\mathcal{X}}$. Suppose \mathcal{X} classifies covers with Higman invariant equal to the conjugacy class of $c \in G$. As we saw in Section 2.3, $e_{\mathcal{X}}$ is just the order of c. Here we will describe some ways to control $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $m_{\mathcal{X}}$.

By Proposition 3.2.2, $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ must divide the order of $C_G(\langle c \rangle)/\langle c \rangle$. A trivial consequence of this is that if ℓ^r is a prime power dividing |c| with $\ell^{r+1} \nmid |G|$, then $\ell \nmid d_{\mathcal{X}}$. The integer $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ is more difficult to control. If $m'_{\mathcal{X}}$ denotes the minimum positive integer required to kill all the vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R} (Definition 2.5.5), then $12m'_{\mathcal{X}}$ kills all the automorphism groups of geometric points, so we must have $m_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 12m'_{\mathcal{X}}$. In fact, it follows from the local structure of admissible covers that the local characters of $\sigma^*\Omega_{\mathcal{C}'/\mathcal{R}}$ restrict to faithful representations of the vertical automorphism groups, so we have $m'_{\mathcal{X}} \mid m_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 12m'_{\mathcal{X}}$.

Let \overline{r} : Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{R}$ be a geometric point with image $\overline{x} \in \mathcal{X}$. Then \overline{x} is given by a 1-generalized elliptic curve E over Ω and an admissible G-cover $\pi : C \to E$, and \overline{r} is given by π together with a point $P \in C(\Omega)$ lying over $O \in E$. The vertical automorphism group of \overline{x} is the group of G-equivariant automorphisms $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}(C)$ such that $\pi \circ \sigma = \pi$, and the vertical automorphism group of \overline{x} satisfying $\sigma(P) = P$.

When E is smooth, there is a simple description of the vertical automorphism group of \overline{r} :

PROPOSITION 3.5.2. Let $\mathcal{Y} \subset \mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ be a connected component classifying covers with Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} . Let $c \in \mathfrak{c}$ be a representative. Let \mathcal{R} be a component of the ramification divisor of the universal family over \mathcal{Y} . Let \overline{r} be a geometric point of \mathcal{R} with image \overline{y} in \mathcal{Y} . Suppose \overline{r} corresponds to the admissible cover $\pi : C \to E$ together with the point $P \in \pi^{-1}(O)$. Then the vertical automorphism groups of $\overline{y}, \overline{r}$ are

$$\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\overline{y}) = Z(G) \qquad and \qquad \operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\overline{r}) = Z(G) \cap \langle c \rangle$$

Proof. The fact that $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\overline{y}) = Z(G)$ is Proposition 2.5.6. The subgroup of *G*-equivariant automorphisms which fix *P* is then $Z(G) \cap G_P$, where $G_P :=$ $\operatorname{Stab}_{G}(P)$ is the stabilizer. By the definition of the Higman invariant, G_P is conjugate to $\langle c \rangle$, so we have $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\overline{r}) = Z(G) \cap G_P = Z(G) \cap \langle c \rangle$. \Box

If E is not smooth, then C can fail to be irreducible, and the situation can be potentially bad enough to make the congruence trivial (see Section 4.11). The main purpose of the next section is to give a precise group-theoretic characterization of the vertical automorphism groups of cuspidal objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. This will allow us to control $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ at least when $G = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ or a non-abelian finite simple group. In particular, we will show that in these cases, one can often achieve non-trivial congruences (see Section 4.10).

4. Galois correspondence for cuspidal objects of Adm(G)

In this section we characterize cuspidal admissible G-covers combinatorially in terms of group-theoretic information in G and describe their automorphism groups. This is done in Section 4.10, though it will need terminology from the preceding subsections. We will also formulate a combinatorial version of Theorem 3.5.1 (Theorem 4.10.5), with which we will show that we can often obtain non-trivial congruences when G is a non-abelian group (Corollary 4.12.5). The statements of these two results can be understood without consulting the previous subsections.

We give an overview of our approach. We begin in Section 4.1 by defining the notion of a "precuspidal G-cover" of a non-smooth 1-generalized elliptic curve E, which is roughly a non-smooth admissible G-cover which may fail to be balanced or connected. The category of such objects is denoted \mathcal{C}_{E}^{pc} . Given a precuspidal G-cover $\pi: C \to E$, taking normalizations we obtain a G-cover $\pi': C' \to \mathbb{P}^1$, ramified only above three points. We may assume that $0, \infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$ are the preimages of the node in E. The normalization map also provides the data of a G-equivariant bijection $\alpha = \alpha_{\pi} : \pi'^{-1}(0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi'^{-1}(\infty)$. We will let $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ denote the category of such pairs (π', α) . The usual Galois correspondence identifies G-covers of \mathbb{P}^1 only branched over $\{0, 1, \infty\}$ with finite sets equipped with commuting actions of $\Pi := \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 - \{0, 1, \infty\})$ and G. Accordingly, objects of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ can be identified with finite sets equipped with commuting actions of Π and G as well as a "combinatorial G-equivariant bijection." The category of such objects is denoted <u>Sets</u>^{(Π,G)_ δ,\succ}, where δ denotes a path from a tangential base point at $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ to a tangential base point at $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$. We will describe equivalences of categories

$$\mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \xrightarrow{\Xi} \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \xrightarrow{F_{\delta}^{\succ}} \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}.$$

Roughly speaking, the first is given by taking normalizations, and the second is given by taking geometric fibers. We say that an object of C_E^{pc} is *cuspidal* if

it corresponds to a cuspidal object of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. This amounts to the two additional conditions that the cover is *connected* and (the *G*-action is) *balanced*. The full subcategory of cuspidal objects of \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} is denoted \mathcal{C}_E^c . To obtain a combinatorial characterization of \mathcal{C}_E^c , we must describe what it means for an object of <u>Sets</u>^{(II,G)_{\delta},~} to come from a cuspidal (i.e., connected and balanced) object of \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} . This is done in Section 4.7. Using this, in Section 4.8 we give a combinatorial parametrization of all cuspidal objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ in terms their " δ -invariant" (where δ is the path mentioned above), which is an equivalence class of a generating pair of *G*. In Section 4.10, we calculate the automorphism groups of cuspidal admissible *G*-covers in terms of their δ -invariants, and in Section 4.12 we describe some applications to the cardinalities of Nielsen equivalence classes of generating pairs of finite groups.

4.1. (Pre)cuspidal G-curves, (pre)cuspidal G-covers. Throughout Section 4, we will work universally over $\mathbb{S} = \operatorname{Spec} k$, where k denotes an algebraically closed field of characteristic 0. Moreover, we will fix a compatible system of primitive n-th roots of unity $\{\zeta_n\}_{n\geq 1} \subset k$, compatible in the sense that for all $d \mid n, \zeta_n^d = \zeta_{n/d}$. Essentially all of our methods are algebraic, so the same development should also make sense in all tame characteristics.

Definition 4.1.1. A precuspidal G-curve is a non-smooth prestable curve C equipped with a faithful right action of G and a G-invariant divisor $R \subset C$ finite étale over k, such that the quotient map $C \to C/G$ sends nodes to nodes and is étale on $C_{\rm sm} - R$, and (C/G, R/G) is a nodal elliptic curve (i.e., a non-smooth 1-generalized elliptic curve). A cuspidal G-curve is a precuspidal G-curve C such that

- C is connected;
- the G-action is balanced at the nodes in the sense of Remark 2.1.5(e) in this case we say C is balanced.

A morphism of (pre)cuspidal G-curves is a G-equivariant map preserving divisors.

Note that up to isomorphism, there is only one nodal elliptic curve.

Definition 4.1.2. A G-cover of a finite type equidimension 1 scheme Y is a finite flat map $p: X \to Y$ equipped with a faithful right action of G on X such that p induces an isomorphism $X/G \xrightarrow{\sim} Y$.

Definition 4.1.3. Let E = (E, O) be nodal elliptic curve. A precuspidal Gcover of E is a G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ such that $(C, (C \times_E O)_{red})$ is a precuspidal G-curve. Equivalently, it is a G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ satisfying

- π sends nodes to nodes,
- π is étale on $C_{\rm sm} \pi^{-1}(O)$

A precuspidal *G*-cover is *connected* (resp. *balanced*) if *C* is connected (resp. the *G*-action is balanced at the nodes). A *cuspidal G*-cover is a balanced connected precuspidal *G*-cover. A morphism of (pre)cuspidal *G*-covers is a *G*-equivariant map over *E*. Let C_E^{pc} (resp. C_E^c) denote the category of precuspidal (resp. cuspidal) *G*-covers of *E*.

In particular, a precuspidal G-cover is an admissible G-cover if and only if it is cuspidal, or equivalently, connected and balanced, or equivalently, is a cuspidal object of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. Here is a precise statement.

PROPOSITION 4.1.4. Let $\mathcal{A}dm^{c}(G) := \mathcal{A}dm(G) - \mathcal{A}dm^{0}(G)$ be the closed substack consisting of cuspidal (i.e., non-smooth) objects. Associating a cuspidal G-curve (C, R) to the cuspidal G-cover $C \to C/G$ of the nodal elliptic curve (C/G, R/G) gives an equivalence of categories

{cuspidal *G*-curves} $\xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}dm^{c}(G)(k)$.

Let E be a nodal elliptic curve. Let $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_E$ denote the fiber category of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ over $E \in \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$. Thus, the objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_E$ are admissible G-covers of E, and morphisms are morphisms of admissible G-covers which induce the identity on E. Then we have an equality of categories

$$\mathcal{C}_E^c = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_E.$$

In particular, the automorphism groups of objects of \mathcal{C}_E^c (resp. $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_E$) are the vertical automorphism groups of the corresponding objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$.

Proof. The first equivalence follows from Theorem 2.4.9, which in turn implies $C_E^c = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_E$.

4.2. Tangential base points. Here we follow Deligne [Del89, §15]. Let X be a smooth curve (a smooth finite type 1-dimensional scheme over $k = \overline{k}$), $x \in X$ a closed point, and $X^{\circ} := X - \{x\}$. Let $K_x := \operatorname{Frac} \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$, and let $v_x : K_x \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the discrete valuation. Then K_x is filtered by v_x :

$$F^i K_x := \{ f \in K_x \mid v_x(f) \ge i \}.$$

As a scheme, define the tangent space at x by $\mathbb{T}_x := \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$, where $\operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$ is the associated graded ring with respect to the filtration F^i defined above.²⁶ Similarly, the punctured tangent space $\mathbb{T}_x^\circ := \mathbb{T}_x - \{0\}$ is $\operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(K_x)$. These constructions are functorial in (X, x). If $\pi^\circ : Y^\circ \to X^\circ$ is a finite étale map which extends to a finite map $\pi : Y \to X$ of smooth curves, then we may

²⁶Strictly speaking, this is really the tangent *cone*. In particular, we are viewing \mathbb{T}_x as a scheme instead of as a vector space.

associate to π° the maps

$$\pi_{(x)} : Y_{(x)} := \bigsqcup_{y \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}) =: \mathbb{T}_x,$$
$$\pi_{(x)}^{\circ} : Y_{(x)}^{\circ} := \bigsqcup_{y \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(K_y) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(K_x) =: \mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}$$

defined as follows. The rings $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ and $K_y := \operatorname{Frac} \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ are filtered according to the valuation $v_y : K_y \to \frac{1}{e}\mathbb{Z}$ extending v_x , where e is the ramification index of π at y. Specifically, for $i \in \frac{1}{e}\mathbb{Z}$,

$$F^i K_y = \{ f \in K_y \mid v_y(f) \ge i \}.$$

If we also view K_x as a $\frac{1}{e}\mathbb{Z}$ -filtered ring with $F^iK_x := F^iK_y \cap K_x$ for $i \in \frac{1}{e}\mathbb{Z}$, then $\mathcal{O}_{X,x} \to \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ and $K_x \to K_y$ are filtered ring maps, and we define the maps $\pi_{(x)}, \pi_{(x)}^{\circ}$ to be the maps which are induced by these filtered ring maps. Let $\varpi_x \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ be a uniformizer, and let $\varpi_y \in \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ satisfy $\varpi_y^e \equiv \varpi_x \mod \mathfrak{m}_y^{e+1}$, so that ϖ_y is a uniformizer of $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$. Then the maps

$$k[t] \longrightarrow \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}), \qquad \qquad k[s] \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}),$$
$$t \mapsto \varpi_x \mod \mathfrak{m}_x = F^1 \mathcal{O}_{X,x}, \qquad s \mapsto \varpi_y \mod \mathfrak{m}_y = F^{1/e} \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$$

are isomorphisms [Stacks, 00NO] which moreover induce isomorphisms $k[t, t^{-1}] \cong \operatorname{gr}(K_x)$ and $k[s, s^{-1}] \cong \operatorname{gr}(K_y)$. Since $\varpi_y^e \equiv \varpi_x \mod \mathfrak{m}_y^{e+1}$, the restriction of $\pi_{(x)}^\circ$ to $\operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(K_y)$ fits into a commutative diagram

$$k[s, s^{-1}] \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr}(K_y).$$

$$t \mapsto s^e \uparrow \qquad \uparrow \pi^{\circ}_{(x)}$$

$$k[t, t^{-1}] \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr}(K_x)$$

In particular, we find that $\pi^{\circ}_{(x)}$ is finite étale. For a scheme S, let FEt_S denote the category of finite étale maps to S. Then the association $\pi^{\circ} \mapsto \pi^{\circ}_{(x)}$ defines an exact functor²⁷ $R_x : \operatorname{FEt}_{X^{\circ}} \to \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{T}^{\circ}_x}$, and hence if $t \in \mathbb{T}^{\circ}_x$ is a closed point with associated fiber functor $F_{\mathbb{T}^{\circ}_x,t}$, then the composition

$$F_{X^{\circ},t}: \operatorname{FEt}_{X^{\circ}} \xrightarrow{R_x} \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}} \xrightarrow{F_{\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ},t}} \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}$$

is also a fundamental functor for $\operatorname{FEt}_{X^{\circ}}$ [GR71, Exp. V, Prop. 6.1]. That is to say, if $\Pi := \operatorname{Aut}(F_{X^{\circ},t})$, then $F_{X^{\circ},t}$ defines an equivalence of categories between $\operatorname{FEt}_{X^{\circ}}$ and the category of finite sets with Π -action.

²⁷That is, it preserves finite limits and finite colimits. This can be checked using [GR71, Exp. V, Prop. 6.1].

Definition 4.2.1. Let X be a smooth curve, $x \in X$ be a closed point, and let $X^{\circ} := X - \{x\}$. A tangential base point of X at x is a closed point $t \in \mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}$. Given a finite étale cover $\pi : Y^{\circ} \to X^{\circ}$, we will abuse notation and write

$$Y_t^{\circ} = \pi^{-1}(t) := F_{X^{\circ},t}(\pi)$$

and call $F_{X^{\circ},t}$ the fiber of $\pi : Y^{\circ} \to X^{\circ}$ above t. Accordingly, we will write $\pi_1(X^{\circ},t) := \operatorname{Aut}(F_{X^{\circ},t}).$

The group $\pi_1(\mathbb{T}_x^\circ, t) := \operatorname{Aut}(F_{\mathbb{T}_x^\circ, t}) \cong \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}$ acts on $F_{X^\circ, t}$ in the obvious way, and this defines a canonical morphism of fundamental groups

$$\pi_1(\mathbb{T}_x^\circ, t) \to \pi_1(X^\circ, t),$$

which is in fact injective [GR71, V, Prop. 6.8]. There is a unique isomorphism $\mathbb{T}_x \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{A}^1$ sending $0 \mapsto 0$ and $t \mapsto 1$ which induces an isomorphism $\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{G}_m := \mathbb{A}^1 - \{1\}$ (which we will use to identify the two schemes). The Galois theory of \mathbb{G}_m is well-understood: for every integer $n \geq 1$, there is a unique connected degree n finite étale cover of \mathbb{G}_m given by $\pi_n : \mathbb{G}_m \to \mathbb{G}_m$ sending $z \mapsto z^n$. Let $g_{t,n} \in \operatorname{Gal}(\pi_n)$ be given by $z \mapsto \zeta_n z$.

Definition 4.2.2. Let X be a smooth curve, $x \in X$ be a closed point, let $X^{\circ} := X - \{x\}$, and let $t \in \mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}$ be a tangential base point. The canonical generator of inertia is the element $\gamma_t \in \pi_1(\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}, t)$ which acts on $F_{\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}, t}(\pi_n)$ via $g_{t,n} : z \mapsto \zeta_n z$ for every n. We will often view γ_t as an element of $\pi_1(X^{\circ}, t)$ via the canonical map $\pi_1(\mathbb{T}_x^{\circ}, t) \hookrightarrow \pi_1(X^{\circ}, t)$. Note that this definition depends on our choice of compatible system $\{\zeta_n\}_{n>1}$.

PROPOSITION 4.2.3. Let X be a smooth curve, $x \in X$ a closed point, and $X^{\circ} := X - \{x\}.$

(a) Let T_x^*X be the Zariski cotangent space at x (a vector space), and let $T_0^*\mathbb{T}_x$ be the Zariski cotangent space at $0 \in \mathbb{T}_x$. There is a canonical isomorphism

$$T_x^*X \longrightarrow T_0^*\mathbb{T}_x$$

which is functorial in (X, x).

(b) Let π : Y → X be a finite map of smooth curves, étale over X°. Every connected component of the scheme Y_(x) has a unique point lying over 0∈T_x. The fiber π⁻¹_(x)(0) is canonically in bijection with Y_x := π⁻¹(x). The map Y_t := π⁻¹_(x)(t) → π⁻¹_(x)(0) sending y ∈ Y_t to the unique point of Y_(x) lying over 0 induces a canonical bijection (the specialization to a ramified fiber) ⟨γ_t⟩\Y_t → π⁻¹_(x)(0) → Y_x

which is functorial in π , in the sense that it defines an isomorphism of functors $\operatorname{FEt}_{X^{\circ}} \to \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}$. Given $y \in Y_t$, we will often let [x] denote its image in $\langle \gamma_t \rangle \backslash Y_t$ or its image in Y_x .

Proof. For (a), to be precise let $\mathfrak{m}_0 \subset \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$ be the maximal ideal at 0. Then for $r \geq 0$, $\mathfrak{m}_0^r = \bigoplus_{n \geq r} \operatorname{gr}_n(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$, so the Zariski cotangent space

 $\mathfrak{m}_0/\mathfrak{m}_0^2$ is canonically isomorphic to $\operatorname{gr}_1(\mathcal{O}_{X,x}) = \mathfrak{m}_x/\mathfrak{m}_x^2 = T_x^*X$, and this isomorphism is clearly functorial in the pair (X, x).

For (b), it suffices to observe that from the discussion above, the scheme $Y_{(x)} := \bigsqcup_{y \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{O}_{Y,y})$ is a disjoint union of affine lines indexed by $y \in \pi^{-1}(x)$, each mapping to \mathbb{T}_x (also an affine line) by the map $z \mapsto z^{e_y}$, where e_y is the ramification index of π at y.

Remark 4.2.4. If $k = \mathbb{C}$, there is a complementary analytic theory [Del89, §15.3-15.12], where the functor $R_x : \operatorname{FEt}_{X^\circ} \to \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{T}^\circ_x}$ is given by pulling back covers along the germ of a local isomorphism between a punctured neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{T}^\circ_x$ and a punctured neighborhood of $x \in X$. As an informal picture, one should imagine gluing a copy of \mathbb{C}^\times to X° along a (infinitesimally) small punctured disk at 0 and x. In this picture a tangential base point is simply a point of \mathbb{C}^\times . The resulting space is homeomorphic to X° , and hence has the same fundamental group. Moreover, in this analytic theory, there is a good notion of "path" in the topological sense given by continuous maps from [0, 1], and so one can speak of true paths between points (normal, or tangential).

For general algebraically closed k of characteristic 0, one can often deduce results from the analytic theory over \mathbb{C} as follows. First note that depending on the cardinality of k, either k embeds in \mathbb{C} or it contains \mathbb{C} . On the other hand, if L/K is an extension of algebraically closed fields and X is a K-scheme, then the map $X_L \to X$ induces an isomorphism on fundamental groups for any choice of base points [GR71, Exp. XIII, Prop. 4.6], so it induces an equivalence $\operatorname{FEt}_X \cong \operatorname{FEt}_{X_L}$. Finally, classical GAGA results [GR71, Exp. XII] provide an equivalence between the category of finite étale covers of finite type \mathbb{C} -schemes and finite étale covers of their analytifications.

Remark 4.2.5. There is a simpler alternative version of tangential base points given as follows. Let X be a smooth curve over k, and let $x \in X$ be a closed point. Let $\varpi \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ be a uniformizer. Then the map $\mathcal{O}_{X,x} \to k[t]$ sending $\varpi \mapsto t$ defines a map

$$t_{\varpi}: \operatorname{Spec} k(\!(z^{1/\infty})\!) \xrightarrow{i_z} \operatorname{Spec} k(\!(z)\!) \to \operatorname{Spec} k[\![z]\!] \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Spec} \widehat{\mathcal{O}_{X,x}} \longrightarrow X$$

such that t_{ϖ} becomes a geometric point of X° . This gives a true geometric point of X° and shares many of the same features as the tangential base points given above (canonical generators of inertia, specialization map to a ramified fiber). However in this definition, it is more difficult to describe the corresponding analytic theory over \mathbb{C} , which we will need in two places.

4.3. The fundamental group of $\mathbb{P}^1 - \{0, 1, \infty\}$. Here we set up some of the notation and convention which we will maintain for the rest of Section 4.

Let $\mathbb{P}^* := \mathbb{P}^1 - \{0, 1, \infty\}$. Recall that the fundamental groupoid of \mathbb{P}^* is the category $\Pi_{\mathbb{P}^*}$ whose objects are fundamental functors $\operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{P}^*} \to \operatorname{\underline{Sets}}$

(see [GR71, §V, Def. 5.1]) and whose morphisms are isomorphisms of functors. If $x \in \mathbb{P}^*$ is a geometric point or tangential base point, let F_x denote the corresponding fundamental functor, which we also call the *fiber functor at* x. The fundamental group of \mathbb{P}^* with base point x is the group $\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, x) :=$ $\operatorname{Aut}(F_x)$. If x, y are geometric points or tangential base points, then a path $\delta: x \rightsquigarrow y$ is an isomorphism of fiber functors $\delta: F_x \xrightarrow{\sim} F_y$. If $\delta: x \rightsquigarrow y$ and $\delta': y \rightsquigarrow z$ are paths, then we will write the composition $\delta' \circ \delta$ as $\delta' \delta$ or $\delta' \cdot \delta : x \rightsquigarrow z$. If $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, y) := \operatorname{Aut}(F_y)$ and $\delta : x \rightsquigarrow y$ is a path, then we write "conjugation" as

(4.1)
$$\gamma^{\delta} := \delta^{-1} \gamma \delta \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, x) := \operatorname{Aut}(F_x).$$

An automorphism $f \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{P}^*)$ determines by pullback an automorphism $f^*: \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{P}^*} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{FEt}_{\mathbb{P}^*}$ which induces an automorphism of the fundamental groupoid $f_*: \Pi_{\mathbb{P}^*} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Pi_{\mathbb{P}^*}$ described by $f_*F_x := F_x \circ f^*$. There is a canonical isomorphism $F_x \circ f^* \cong F_{f(x)}$, using which we obtain the usual induced map $f_*: \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, x) \to \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, f(x)).$

Let $\iota: z \mapsto \frac{1}{z}$ denote the unique automorphism of \mathbb{P}^1 fixing 1 and switching $0,\infty$. In what follows, we will fix a choice of tangential base point t_0 at $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$ and define t_{∞} as the tangential base point at ∞ given by $\iota(t_0)$. If γ_0, γ_∞ denote the canonical generators of inertia at t_0, t_{∞} , then ι defines a homomorphism $\iota_*: \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0) \to \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty)$ sending $\gamma_0 \mapsto \gamma_\infty$. If $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ is a path, then $\iota_*\delta$ is a path $t_\infty \rightsquigarrow t_0$.

Definition 4.3.1. Having fixed a tangential base point t_0 at 0, let t_{∞} := $\iota(t_0)$. A path $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ is good if

γ₀ and γ^δ_∞ := δ⁻¹γ_∞δ topologically generate π₁(ℙ*, t₀); and
for some path ε : t₀ → t₁, we have γ^δ_∞ γ^ε₁γ₀ = 1.

The path δ is symmetric if

$$\iota_*\delta = \gamma_0^r \cdot \delta^{-1} \cdot \gamma_\infty^s \quad \text{for some } r, s \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

It follows from the analytic theory (cf. Remark 4.2.4) that symmetric good paths exist. Indeed, we can let δ be the path $t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ in \mathbb{P}^* which, for some small $\epsilon > 0$, traces the interval $(0, 1 - \epsilon)$, makes a small counterclockwise turn around $1 \in \mathbb{P}^1$, and continues along the interval $(1 + \epsilon, \infty)$.

4.4. The category $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ and the normalization map $\Xi : \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. As in Section 4.3, in what follows let $\mathbb{P}^* := \mathbb{P}^1 - \{0, 1, \infty\}$. We fix a choice of tangential base point t_0 at 0. Let $t_{\infty} := \iota(t_0)$ denote the corresponding tangential base point at ∞ (see Section 4.3). Then associated to t_0, t_{∞} we have fiber functors

$$F_{t_0}, F_{t_{\infty}} : \operatorname{FEt}_{X^\circ} \longrightarrow \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}$$

and canonical generators of inertia $\gamma_0 \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0), \gamma_\infty \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty)$.

Definition 4.4.1. Let $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ be the category of pairs $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$, where q is a (possibly disconnected) smooth G-cover, étale over \mathbb{P}^* , and α is a G-equivariant bijection of fibers $\alpha: D_0 \to D_\infty$, where $D_0 := q^{-1}(0)$ and $D_\infty := q^{-1}(\infty)$. A morphism between $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha) \to (q': D' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha')$ in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ is a G-equivariant morphism $f: D \to D'$ over \mathbb{P}^1 respecting the identifications of the fibers. In a formula, we require that f satisfies

$$f(\alpha(x)) = \alpha'(f(x))$$
 for all $x \in D_0$

Informally, $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ is the category of three point covers with "gluing data." The symbol " \succ " represents that the objects come with gluing data.

Definition 4.4.2. Given a nodal elliptic curve E, a standard normalization of E is a finite birational map $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$ satisfying

- $\nu(1) = O \in E;$
- $\nu|_{\nu^{-1}(E^{\mathrm{sm}})}: \nu^{-1}(E^{\mathrm{sm}}) \to E^{\mathrm{sm}}$ is an isomorphism;
- let $z \in E$ be the node then $\nu^{-1}(z) = \{0, \infty\} \subset \mathbb{P}^1$.

The map $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$ identifies \mathbb{P}^1 with the normalization of E, and hence up to precomposing with $\iota : z \mapsto 1/z$, the map ν is uniquely determined by these properties.

Let $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$ be a standard normalization, and let $p : C \to E$ be a precuspidal *G*-cover. Let $\nu_C : C' \to C$ denote the normalization of *C*. Then the *G*-action on *C* extends uniquely to *C'*, and there is a unique map $p' : C' \to \mathbb{P}^1$ fitting into the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} C' & \stackrel{\nu_C}{\longrightarrow} & C \\ \downarrow^{p'} & & \downarrow^p \\ \mathbb{P}^1 & \stackrel{\nu}{\longrightarrow} & E \end{array}$$

such that p' is a G-cover. Note that C' may be disconnected even if C is connected. The map ν_C defines a G-equivariant bijection (a "gluing datum")

$$\alpha_p: C'_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} C'_\infty$$

defined by sending $x \in C'_0$ to the unique point $y \in C'_\infty$ such that $\nu_C(x) = \nu_C(y)$. Let $C'^\circ := p'^{-1}(\mathbb{P}^*)$. Then the restriction $p'|_{C'^\circ} : C'^\circ \to \mathbb{P}^*$ is étale, and so the pair (p', α_p) defines an object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Since a morphism of objects in \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} induces a morphism of their images in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$, taking normalizations and remembering the gluing data defines a functor

$$\Xi_{\nu}: \mathcal{C}_{E}^{pc} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{\succ},$$
$$(p: C \to E) \mapsto (p', \alpha_{p})$$

If ν' is another standard normalization, then $\nu' = \nu \circ \iota$, and $\iota : z \mapsto 1/z$ induces an isomorphism of functors $\Xi_{\nu} \cong \Xi_{\nu'}$. We will eventually show that Ξ_{ν} is an equivalence of categories. Let $(q : D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ be an object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. We summarize some of the relevant structures associated to (q, α) .

(a) A path $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ defines a bijection of fibers

$$\delta(q): D_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\gamma} D_{t_{\infty}}$$

which is G-equivariant since δ is an isomorphism of functors. Sometimes we will abuse notation and simply write $\delta = \delta(q)$. Moreover, it determines an isomorphism of fundamental groups:

$$\delta(\cdot): \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0) \xrightarrow{\sim} \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty),$$
$$\gamma \mapsto \delta_\gamma := \delta \gamma \delta^{-1}.$$

If we let $\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0)$ act on $D_{t_{\infty}}$ via this isomorphism, then $\delta(q)$ is $\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0)$ -equivariant.

(b) For any point $x_0 \in D_{t_0}$, the freeness and transitivity of the *G*-action on fibers of $q|_{q^{-1}(\mathbb{P}^*)}$ yield monodromy representations

$$\varphi_{x_0} : \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0) \longrightarrow G$$
$$\varphi_{\delta x_0} : \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty) \longrightarrow G$$

defined in the usual way by the relations

$$\begin{array}{lll} \gamma \cdot x_0 &=& x_0 \cdot \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma) & \text{ for any } \gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0), \\ \gamma \cdot \delta x_0 &=& \delta x_0 \cdot \varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma) & \text{ for any } \gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty). \end{array}$$

(c) Let $[\cdot]$ denote the map

$$\begin{split} [\cdot] : D_{t_0} &\longrightarrow \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0}, \\ x &\mapsto [x] := \langle \gamma_0 \rangle x \end{split}$$

and similarly for points of $D_{t_{\infty}}$.

(d) Let $\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} := \delta^{-1} \gamma_{\infty} \delta$. As in Proposition 4.2.3, there are canonical bijections functorial in D

$$\begin{array}{rcl} \xi_0 : \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & D_0, \\ \xi_\infty : \langle \gamma_\infty \rangle \backslash D_{t_\infty} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & D_\infty, \\ \xi_\infty \circ \delta : \langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \backslash D_{t_0} & \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} & D_\infty. \end{array}$$

Here, functoriality means the following. Let F_0 (resp. F'_0) be the functors $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$ sending $(q : D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ to D_0 (resp. $\langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0}$). Then ξ_0 defines a natural isomorphism of functors $\xi_0 : F'_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} F_0$. The map $\xi_0 \circ [\cdot] : D_{t_0} \to D_0$ should be thought of as the "specialization map to the ramified fiber" induced by the "specialization" $t_0 \rightsquigarrow 0$ in \mathbb{P}^1 . Thus for $x \in D_{t_0}$, we will often abuse notation and view [x] as an element of D_0 , and similarly for points of D_{t_∞} . Via ξ_0, ξ_∞ , we will often view α as a bijection of coset spaces

$$\alpha: \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} \langle \gamma_\infty \rangle \backslash D_{t_\infty}$$

(e) Given a point $x \in D_0$, let $G_x := \operatorname{Stab}_G(x)$. The right-action of G on D induces a left action on the cotangent space T_x^*D , whence a local representation

(4.2)
$$\chi_x: G_x \longrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(T_x^*D)$$

Next we record some basic computations which we will use freely in what follows. Recall that for a path $\delta : x \rightsquigarrow y$ and a loop γ at y, we write $\gamma^{\delta} := \delta^{-1} \gamma \delta$ to be the loop at x given by $x \stackrel{\delta}{\rightsquigarrow} y \stackrel{\gamma}{\rightsquigarrow} y \stackrel{\delta^{-1}}{\rightsquigarrow} x$ (see (4.1)).

PROPOSITION 4.4.3. Let $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha) \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$, let $x_0 \in D_{t_0}$, and let $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a path. Then we have

- (a) $G_{[x_0]} = \langle \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0) \rangle$ and $\chi_{[x_0]}(\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)) = \zeta_n$;
- (b) $G_{[\delta x_0]} = \langle \varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma_\infty) \rangle$ and $\chi_{[\delta x_0]}(\varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma_\infty)) = \zeta_n;$
- (c) $\varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma) = \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma^{\delta})$ for all $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_{\infty})$;
- (d) $\varphi_{\delta^{-1}x_{\infty}}(\gamma) = \varphi_{x_{\infty}}(\gamma^{\delta^{-1}})$ for all $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_{\infty}), x_{\infty} \in D_{t_{\infty}};$
- (e) $\varphi_{xg}(\gamma) = g^{-1}\varphi_x(\gamma)g$ for all $g \in G, \gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, q(x))$, and any unramified or tangential base point $x \in D$.

Proof. Parts (a) and (b) follow from the local picture. For (c), note that $\delta x_0 \varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma) = \gamma \delta x_0 = \delta \delta^{-1} \gamma \delta x_0$, which forces $x_0 \varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma) = \delta^{-1} \gamma \delta x_0$. This precisely says that $\varphi_{x_0}(\delta^{-1} \gamma \delta) = \varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma)$ as desired. The proof of (d) and (e) are similar.

In the remainder of this section, we will show that $\Xi_{\nu} : \mathcal{C}_{E}^{pc} \to \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}^{\succ}$ is an equivalence.

LEMMA 4.4.4. Given an object $(\pi : D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$, suppose $\pi^{-1}(0)$ has cardinality n. Let

$$\beta: \underbrace{\sqcup_{x \in \pi^{-1}(\{0,\infty\})} \operatorname{Spec} k}_{Z} \longrightarrow \underbrace{\sqcup_{i=1}^{n} \operatorname{Spec} k}_{W}$$

be the map identifying pairs of points according to α . Then the pushout $D_{\alpha} := D \cup_{Z,\beta} W$ exists in the category of schemes. We say that D_{α} is obtained by gluing D along α . Let $\nu : D \to D_{\alpha}$ be the canonical map. Then we have

- (a) The map $\nu: D \to D_{\alpha}$ is finite and surjective.
- (b) ν identifies the topological space of D_α with the topological quotient of D by the equivalence relation given by α.
- (c) For an open $U \subset D_{\alpha}$, we have $\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_{D_{\alpha}}) = \{f \in \Gamma(\nu^{-1}(U), \mathcal{O}_D) \mid f(x) = f(\alpha(x)) \text{ for all } x \in \pi^{-1}(0)\}.$
- (d) D_{α} is a prestable curve, and every point in $\nu(\pi^{-1}(\{0,\infty\}))$ is a node.
- (e) ν identifies D with a normalization of D_{α} .
- (f) ν restricts to an isomorphism on $D \pi^{-1}(\{0,\infty\})$.

(g) Let (E_0, O) be the nodal elliptic curve obtained by gluing \mathbb{P}^1 along $\{0, \infty\}$, where we set the origin O to be the image of $1 \in \mathbb{P}^1$. Then the canonical map $D_{\alpha} \to E_0$ is precuspidal G-cover of E_0 , and sending $(\pi : D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha) \mapsto (\pi_{\alpha} : D_{\alpha} \to E_0)$ defines a "gluing" functor

Glue :
$$\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{E_0}^{pc}$$
.

We say that D_{α} is the prestable curve obtained by gluing D along α . Note that if π is the degree 1 cover $D = \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$, then D_{α} is a nodal cubic.

Proof. By [Stacks, 0E25], the pushout $D \cup_{Z,\beta} W$ exists and satisfies (b) and (c) (which in turn determines the pushout uniquely), and moreover the pushout diagram is also cartesian, so ν is the pullback of β and hence is finite surjective. Part (d) is [Knu83, Th. 3.4]. Since D is smooth, part (e) follows from the universal properties of normalization [Stacks, 035Q], and (f) follows from (e).

Finally, for (g), the *G*-equivariance of α implies that the *G*-action descends to D_{α} . Write $Z = \operatorname{Spec} R$ and $W = \operatorname{Spec} S$. Give *W* the unique *G*-action making $\beta : Z \to W$ *G*-equivariant. Note that $E_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \cup_{Z/G} (W/G)$. The behavior of Glue on morphisms is defined by the universal property of pushouts, so it remains to show that $\pi_{\alpha} : D_{\alpha} \to E_0$ is a precuspidal *G*-cover. By (f), this is obvious on the smooth locus, so let $U = \operatorname{Spec} A \subset D$ be a *G*-invariant open affine containing $\pi^{-1}(\{0,\infty\})$ (see Lemma 2.4.1). Let $U_{\alpha} := \nu(U)$. Then $U_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Spec} A \times_R S$ and $U_{\alpha}/G = \operatorname{Spec} (A \times_R S)^G$. Since taking *G*-invariants is left exact, this is equal to $\operatorname{Spec} A^G \times_{R^G} S^G$, which is precisely the corresponding open affine neighborhood of the node in E_0 , so π_{α} induces an isomorphism $D_{\alpha}/G \cong E_0$. This shows that π_{α} is finite. Since the maps $D \to D/G$, $Z \to Z/G$, $W \to W/G$ are all flat, so is $\pi_{\alpha} : D_{\alpha} \to E_0$ [Stacks, 0ECL]. Thus π_{α} is a *G*-cover. Part (f) implies that π_{α} sends nodes to nodes and is étale at smooth points not mapping to $O \in E_0$, so π_{α} is a precuspidal *G*-cover of E_0 , as desired.

THEOREM 4.4.5. Let E be a nodal elliptic curve, and let $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$ be a standard normalization. The categories $\mathcal{C}_E^{pc}, \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ are groupoids, and the functor

$$\Xi_{\nu}: \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$$

sending $p: C \to E$ to $(p': C' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_p)$ is an equivalence of categories. We note that if ν' is another standard normalization (equivalently, $\nu' = \nu \circ \iota$), then ι defines an isomorphism $\Xi_{\nu} \cong \Xi_{\nu'}$. Let E_0 be the nodal elliptic curve obtained by gluing 0 to ∞ in \mathbb{P}^1 . A quasi-inverse to Ξ_{ν} is given by composing the gluing functor of Lemma 4.4.4(g) with the isomorphism $\mathcal{C}_{E_0}^{pc} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}_E^{pc}$ induced by any isomorphism $E_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} E$.

Proof. By the universal properties of normalization [Stacks, 035Q], this normalization procedure defines a functor. Now consider a pair of objects

 $(q_1: D_1 \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_1), (q_2: D_2 \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_2)$ in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Suppose we have a morphism $s: (q_1, \alpha_1) \to (q_2, \alpha_2)$ in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Since it respects α_1, α_2 , by the universal property of pushouts, it induces a unique map $s_{\alpha}: (D_1)_{\alpha_1} \to (D_2)_{\alpha_2}$ in <u>Sch</u>/ \mathbb{P}^1 fitting into a commutative diagram

(4.3)
$$D_1 \xrightarrow{s} D_2$$
$$\downarrow^{\nu_1} \qquad \downarrow^{\nu_2}$$
$$(D_1)_{\alpha_1} \xrightarrow{s_\alpha} (D_2)_\alpha$$

of schemes over \mathbb{P}^1 . By Lemma 4.4.4(e), the canonical maps ν_1, ν_2 are also normalization maps. The universal property of pushouts also gives unique maps $p_i : (D_i)_{\alpha_i} \to E_0$ making the diagrams

$$D_i \xrightarrow{\nu_i} (D_i)_{\alpha_i}$$

$$\downarrow^{q_i} \qquad \downarrow^{p_i}$$

$$\mathbb{P}^1 \longrightarrow E_0$$

commute (for i = 1, 2), and forming a commutative prism with (4.3). By Lemma 4.4.4(e) and (g), each p_i is a precuspidal *G*-cover and $q_i : D_i \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is a normalization of p_i . Pulling back p_i via some isomorphism $E \xrightarrow{\sim} E_0$, we find q_i is the normalization of a precuspidal *G*-cover of E, so Ξ_{ν} is essentially surjective.

Since ν_1, ν_2 are birational morphisms between separated schemes, s determines s_{α} , so Ξ_{ν} is faithful. Since s can be recovered from s_{α} as the induced map on normalizations Ξ_{ν} is fully faithful, so Ξ_{ν} is an equivalence.

Finally, to see that they are both groupoids, let $\operatorname{Fet}_{\mathbb{P}^*}^G$ denote the category of finite étale *G*-covers of \mathbb{P}^* . Consider the "forgetful functor" $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \to \operatorname{Fet}_{\mathbb{P}^*}^G$ sending (q, α) in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ to the restriction of q to \mathbb{P}^* . Since all schemes considered are separated, this functor is faithful. The category $\operatorname{Fet}_{\mathbb{P}^*}^G$ is a groupoid. (Any *G*-equivariant map between étale *G*-covers is an isomorphism.) Since the inverse of a map which preserves the identifications of fibers (in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$) must also preserve identifications of fibers, this functor is also conservative (i.e., "isomorphism reflecting"), and hence $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ is a groupoid, and hence so is \mathcal{C}_{E}^{Pc} . \Box

Definition 4.4.6. We say that an object $(C' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ is connected if the precuspidal G-curve C'_{α} is connected.

4.5. Balanced objects of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Here we describe the property of being balanced in terms of the internal logic of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$.

Let $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ be an object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Let $x_0 \in D_{t_0}$ be a point, and let $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a path. Then $\alpha([x_0]) = [\delta x_0 \cdot h]$ for some $h \in G$, where h is unique up to the coset

$$H_{\delta,x_0} := G_{[\delta x_0]} h \in G_{[\delta x_0]} \backslash G.$$

Thus the coset $H_{\delta,x_0} \subset G$ is a well-defined function of the quadruple (q, α, δ, x_0) .

LEMMA 4.5.1. Let δ' be another path from $t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$. Then for any $h \in H_{\delta,x_0}$, we have

 $[\delta' x_0 \cdot \varphi_{x_0}(\delta'^{-1}\delta)h] = [\delta x_0 \cdot h], \quad or \ equivalently \quad \varphi_{x_0}(\delta'^{-1}\delta)h \in H_{\delta',x_0}.$

Proof. The first equality follows from the definition of φ_{x_0} , and the equivalence follows from the definition of H_{δ,x_0} and H_{δ',x_0} .

The following proposition describes the objects of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ which correspond to balanced objects of \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} .

PROPOSITION 4.5.2. For an object $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$, the following are equivalent:

(a) For some (equivalently any) choices of $x_0 \in D_{t_0}$ and $x_\infty \in D_{t_\infty}$ satisfying $[x_\infty] = \alpha([x_0])$, we have

$$\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = \varphi_{x_\infty}(\gamma_\infty)$$

(b) For some (equivalently any) choices of $x_0 \in D_{t_0}, \delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_{\infty}$, and $h \in H_{\delta,x_0}$, we have

(4.4)
$$\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = h^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_\infty^\delta)h.$$

Moreover, if $p: C \to E$ is a precuspidal G-cover, then p is balanced if and only if $\Xi(p) = (p', \alpha_p) \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}$ satisfies either of the equivalent conditions (a) or (b).

Definition 4.5.3. We say that an object (q, α) of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ is balanced if the equivalent conditions (a), (b) of Proposition 4.5.2 are satisfied.

Proof of Proposition 4.5.2. Fix a standard normalization $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$. Since $\Xi_{\nu} : \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \to \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ is an equivalence, we may assume that $q : D \to \mathbb{P}^1$ fits into a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} D & \stackrel{\nu_C}{\longrightarrow} & C \\ \downarrow^q & & \downarrow^p \\ \mathbb{P}^1 & \stackrel{\nu}{\longrightarrow} & E \end{array}$$

such that ν_C, ν are normalization maps, q is the map of normalizations induced by p, and α is the *G*-equivariant bijection $D_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} D_\infty$ induced by ν_C . Equivalently, $(q, \alpha) \cong \Xi(p)$. We wish to show that p is balanced if and only if (q, α) satisfies (a) if and only if it satisfies (b).

By Proposition 4.4.3(a), $\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)$ generates $G_{[x_0]}$ and is the unique element of $G_{[x_0]}$ inducing ζ_n on the cotangent space at $[x_0]$. Let $x_{\infty} \in D_{t_{\infty}}$ satisfying $[x_{\infty}] = \alpha([x_0])$. Again by Proposition 4.4.3(a), $\varphi_{x_{\infty}}(\gamma_{\infty})$ is the unique element of $G_{[x_{\infty}]} = G_{\alpha([x_0])}$ inducing ζ_n on the cotangent space at $[x_{\infty}]$. Since $G_{[x_0]} =$ $G_{\alpha_p([x_0])} = G_{[x_{\infty}]}$ (due to *G*-equivariance of α), we find that *p* is balanced at $\nu_C([x_0]) = \nu_C([x_{\infty}])$ if and only if

(4.5)
$$\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = \varphi_{x_\infty}(\gamma_\infty).$$
In this case, using Proposition 4.4.3(e), for any $g \in G$ we have

$$\varphi_{x_0g}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = g^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1}g = g^{-1}\varphi_{x_\infty}(\gamma_\infty)g = \varphi_{x_\infty g}(\gamma_\infty)g$$

Since $\alpha([x_0g]) = \alpha([x_0])g = [x_\infty]g = [x_\infty g]$, we have shown that p is balanced if and only if it is balanced at the image of x_0 if and only if (4.5) is satisfied. Thus, the choices of x_0, x_∞ are irrelevant, so in part (a), "some" is equivalent to "any," and p being balanced is equivalent to (a).

For part (b), we note that having fixed x_0, x_∞ satisfies $[x_\infty] = \alpha([x_0])$ if and only if $x_\infty = \delta x_0 h$ for some $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x_0}$. Let x_∞ be given in this way. Then using Proposition 4.4.3, we find that

$$h^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})h = h^{-1}\varphi_{\delta x_0}(\gamma_{\infty})h = \varphi_{\delta x_0 h}(\gamma_{\infty}) = \varphi_{x_{\infty}}(\gamma_{\infty}).$$

This implies that (b) is equivalent to (a).

4.6. Galois correspondence for precuspidal G-covers. Recall that t_0 denotes a tangential base point at $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$, and $t_{\infty} := \iota(t_0)$ is the corresponding tangential base point at $\infty \in \mathbb{P}^1$. In the remainder of Section 4, let $\Pi := \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0)$, and let δ be a good path $t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_{\infty}$ (cf. Definition 4.3.1). Then Π is a free profinite group of rank 2 topologically generated by $\gamma_0, \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} := \delta^{-1}\gamma\delta$.

Definition 4.6.1. For a good path $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$, let <u>Sets</u>^{(Π,G) $_{\delta},\succ$} denote the category of pairs (F, α) where F is a finite set equipped with a left Π -action which commutes with a free and transitive right G-action, and

$$\alpha:\langle\gamma_0\rangle\backslash F \xrightarrow{\sim} \langle\gamma_\infty^\delta\rangle\backslash F$$

is a *G*-equivariant bijection (which we view as a "combinatorial gluing datum"). We will call such a pair (F, α) a *precuspidal G-datum* (relative to δ). Morphisms are given by (Π, G) -equivariant maps respecting α 's. Let F_{δ}^{\succ} be the functor

$$F_{\delta}^{\succ}: \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta}, \succ}$$

which sends $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ to the pair $(D_{t_0}, F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha))$, where $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha)$ is the bijection

$$F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha) : \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\xi_0} D_0 \xrightarrow{\alpha} D_{\infty} \xrightarrow{\xi_{\infty}^{-1}} \langle \gamma_{\infty} \rangle \backslash D_{t_{\infty}} \xrightarrow{\delta^{-1}} \langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle \backslash D_{t_0},$$

where ξ_0, ξ_∞ are bijections defined as in Proposition 4.2.3(b).

Informally, an object (F, α) represents a three-point-cover $X \to \mathbb{P}^1$ with gluing data given by α , whose fibers at t_0 and t_∞ are both represented by F, and where the bijection $\delta : X_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{t_\infty}$ between the fibers becomes "normalized" to be the identity $\mathrm{id}_F : F \xrightarrow{\sim} F$. The orbit spaces $\langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F$ and $\langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \backslash F$ correspond to the fibers X_0, X_∞ , and α corresponds to the gluing data $X_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} X_\infty$.

PROPOSITION 4.6.2. The functor $F_{\delta}^{\succ} : \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ is an equivalence of categories.

Proof. Given objects $(D, \alpha), (D', \alpha') \in C_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$, the usual Galois correspondence implies giving a *G*-equivariant morphisms $f : D \to D'$ over \mathbb{P}^1 is the same as giving a (Π, G) -equivariant map $D_{t_0} \to D'_{t_0}$. We must show that f respects α if and only if the induced map $f_* : \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D_{t_0} \to \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash D'_{t_0}$ respects $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha), F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha')$. Consider the diagram

The composition of the top row is just $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha)$, and the composition of the bottom row is $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\alpha')$. From left to right, the first, third, and fourth squares commute because $\xi_0, \xi_{\infty}^{-1}, \delta^{-1}$ are all functorial in D. Thus the diagram commutes if and only if the second square commutes, which happens if and only if f respects α . Thus F_{δ}^{\succ} is fully faithful.

To show that F_{δ}^{\succ} is essentially surjective, we will define a quasi-inverse functor, denoted $H : \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ} \to \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Given a precuspidal *G*-datum (F, α) , by the usual Galois correspondence we obtain a *G*-cover $\pi : X \to \mathbb{P}^1$, étale over \mathbb{P}^* , equipped with a (Π, G) -equivariant bijection $\varphi : F \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{t_0}$. Moreover, δ defines a *G*-equivariant bijection $\delta : X_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{t_{\infty}}$, which induces a *G*-equivariant bijection $\langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle \backslash X_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} \langle \gamma_{\infty} \rangle \backslash X_{t_{\infty}}$. Using $\varphi : F \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{t_0}$ and $\delta \circ \varphi : F \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{t_{\infty}}$, we obtain *G*-equivariant bijections

$$\begin{array}{rccc} \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} & \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash X_{t_0} & \stackrel{\xi_0}{\longrightarrow} & X_0, \\ \langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle \backslash F & \stackrel{\delta \circ \varphi}{\longrightarrow} & \langle \gamma_{\infty} \rangle \backslash X_{t_{\infty}} & \stackrel{\xi_{\infty}}{\longrightarrow} & X_{\infty} \end{array}$$

Connecting these bijections via α , we obtain a *G*-equivariant bijection α_{π} : $X_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{\infty}$, and we define $H(F, \alpha) = (\pi : X \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_{\pi})$. It is straightforward to check that $F_{\delta}^{\succ} \circ H \cong \operatorname{id}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}}$, so F_{δ}^{\succ} is essentially surjective. \Box

4.7. Combinatorial balance, combinatorial connectedness. For a good path $\delta: t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$, we have defined equivalences of categories

$$\mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \xrightarrow{\Xi} \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \xrightarrow{F_{\delta}^{\succ}} \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$$

Next we will describe when a precuspidal *G*-datum corresponds to a balanced object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Given a precuspidal *G*-datum (F, α) (relative to a good path $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$), let $[\cdot]_0, [\cdot]_\infty$ be the (*G*-equivariant) projections

$$[\cdot]_0: F \longrightarrow \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F,$$
$$[\cdot]_\infty: F \longrightarrow \langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \backslash F.$$

For $x \in F$, we have a homomorphism

$$\varphi_x : \Pi \longrightarrow G$$
 defined by $\gamma \cdot x = x \cdot \varphi_x(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \Pi$.

Note that we have $G_{[x]_0} = \varphi_x(\langle \gamma_0 \rangle)$ and $G_{[x]_\infty} = \varphi_x(\langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle)$. Finally for $x \in F$, let (4.6) $H_{\delta,x} := \{h \in G \mid \alpha([x]_0) = [x]_\infty \cdot h\} \in G_{[x]_\infty} \setminus G.$

Definition 4.7.1. We say a precuspidal G-datum $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ is balanced if for some (equivalently any) choices of $x \in F$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x}$, we have

$$\varphi_x(\gamma_0)^{-1} = h^{-1}\varphi_x(\gamma_\infty^\delta)h.$$

It follows from Proposition 4.5.2 that this definition makes sense and agrees with the notion of balanced objects in $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ relative to the equivalence F_{δ}^{\succ} .

Next we want to express the notion of connectedness for precuspidal G-covers in terms of precuspidal G-data. For this it is useful to introduce the graph of components of a prestable curve.

Definition 4.7.2. A graph Γ consists of the data $(\mathcal{V}_{\Gamma}, \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}, \sigma, \tau)$ where

- \mathcal{V}_{Γ} is a set, called the set of *vertices* of Γ ;
- \mathcal{E}_{Γ} is a set called the set of (directed) *edges* (or arrows) of Γ ;
- $\sigma: \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{V}_{\Gamma}$ is a function, called the "incidence map" or the "source map;"
- $\tau : \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma} \to \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$ is a fixed-point free involution. For $e \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$, we also write $\overline{e} := \tau(e)$.

If $e \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma}$, then we say that e is an arrow from $\sigma(e)$ to $\sigma(\overline{e})$, and we write $\sigma(e) \stackrel{e}{\longrightarrow} \sigma(\overline{e})$.

A morphism of graphs is given by a pair of functions between the vertex and edge sets which commute with the σ, τ maps. Let **<u>Graphs</u>** denote the category of graphs. See [Bas93].

Let $\pi: C \to E$ be a precuspidal *G*-torsor. Let $(\pi': C' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_{\pi}: C'_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} C'_{\infty}) = \Xi(\pi)$ be the associated object of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$ obtained by normalization. Its component graph Γ_{π} is given by

- $\mathcal{V}_{\Gamma_{\pi}} = \pi_0(C')$ is the set of components of C';
- $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_{\pi}} = C'_0 \sqcup C'_{\infty};$
- for $e \in C'_0 \sqcup C'_\infty$, $\sigma(e)$ is the component on which e lies;
- for $e \in C'_0$, $\overline{e} = \alpha_{\pi}(e)$, and if $e \in C'_{\infty}$, then $\overline{e} := \alpha_{\pi}^{-1}(e)$.

The action of G on C induces an action on Γ_{π} . It is immediate that

PROPOSITION 4.7.3. C is connected if and only if Γ_{π} is connected.

Let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a good path in \mathbb{P}^* , and let $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ be an object. Let $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ denote the graph given by

- $\mathcal{V}_{\Gamma_{F,\alpha}} = \Pi \backslash F;$
- $\mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_{F,\alpha}} = \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F \sqcup \langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \backslash F;$
- for $e \in \mathcal{E}_{\Gamma_{F,\alpha}}$, either $e = [x]_0$ or $e = [x]_\infty$ for some $x \in F$ in either case, let $\sigma(e) := \Pi \cdot x$;

• for $e \in \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F$, define $\overline{e} := \alpha(e)$, and for $e \in \langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle \backslash F$, define $\overline{e} := \alpha^{-1}(e)$. Note that $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ comes with a natural action of G induced by its action on F.

PROPOSITION 4.7.4. The graph associated to a precuspidal G-cover π : $C \to E$ is isomorphic to the graph associated to the precuspidal G-datum $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\Xi(\pi))$. Given a precuspidal G-datum (F, α) and $x \in F$, let $H_{\delta,x}$ be as in (4.6). Let $M_x := \varphi_x(\Pi)$ be the "monodromy group at x." Then the graph $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ is connected if and only if either of the two equivalent conditions hold:

- (a) For some (equivalently any) $x \in F$, G is generated by M_x and $H_{\delta,x}$.
- (b) For some (equivalently any) x ∈ F, G is generated by M_x and any element h ∈ H_{δ,x}.

Proof. That the graphs of π and $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\Xi(\pi))$ are isomorphic follows from their definitions. Since $G_{[x]_{\infty}} = \varphi_x(\langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle) \subset M_x$, we see that (a) and (b) are equivalent. It remains to show that they are equivalent to the connectedness of $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$. Suppose $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ is connected. Then for any $g \in G$, there is a path in $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ from the vertex Πx to Πxg . Setting $g_n = g, g_0 = 1$, this means there is a sequence $1 = g_1, g_2, \ldots, g_n = g \in G$ and edges e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_n fitting into a path

(4.7)
$$\Pi x = \Pi x g_0 \xrightarrow{e_1} \Pi x g_1 \xrightarrow{e_2} \Pi x g_2 \xrightarrow{e_3} \cdots \xrightarrow{e_n} \Pi x g_n = \Pi x g.$$

For $i \in [1, n]$, there are two possibilities for the edge $\prod xg_{i-1} \xrightarrow{e_i} \prod xg_i$:

• $e_i = [\gamma x g_{i-1}]_0 = [x \varphi_x(\gamma) g_{i-1}]_0$ for some $\gamma \in \Pi$. In this case, since $\alpha([x]_0) = [x \cdot h]_\infty$ for any $h \in H_{\delta,x}$, by *G*-equivariance we have $\overline{e_i} = [xh\varphi_x(\gamma)g_{i-1}]_\infty$. The fact that $\sigma(\overline{e_i}) = \Pi x g_i$ says precisely that

$$[xh\varphi_x(\gamma)g_{i-1}]_{\infty} = \langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle xh\varphi_x(\gamma)g_{i-1} \subset \Pi xg_i.$$

Thus, for some $\gamma' \in \Pi$, we have

$$xh\varphi_x(\gamma)g_{i-1} = \gamma' xg_i = x\varphi_x(\gamma')g_i$$
 so $g_i \in M_xhM_xg_{i-1}$.

• $e_i = [\gamma x g_{i-1}]_{\infty} = [x \varphi_x(\gamma) g_{i-1}]_{\infty}$ for some $\gamma \in \Pi$. In this case, a similar argument shows $\overline{e_i} = [x h^{-1} \varphi_x(\gamma) g_{i-1}]_0$. The fact that $\sigma(\overline{e_i}) = \Pi x g_i$ says precisely that $[x h^{-1} \varphi_x(\gamma) g_{i-1}]_0 = \langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle x h^{-1} \varphi_x(\gamma) g_{i-1} \subset \Pi x g_i$. Thus, for some $\gamma' \in \Pi$, we have

$$xh^{-1}\varphi_x(\gamma)g_{i-1} = \gamma' xg_i = x\varphi_x(\gamma')g_i$$
 so $g_i \in M_xh^{-1}M_xg_{i-1}$.

Thus, by induction we find that for $j = \{1, ..., n\}$, there exist $i_j \in \{\pm 1\}$ and $m_j, m'_j \in M_x$ such that

$$g_n = g = m'_n h^{i_n} m_n m'_{n-1} h^{i_{n-1}} m_{n-1} \cdots m'_1 h^{i_1} m_1.$$

Since this holds for any $g \in G$, we find that G is generated by M_x and h.

Conversely, suppose G is generated by M_x and h for some $h \in H_{\delta,x}$. Then for every $g \in G$, we may write it as $g = h^{i_n} m_n h^{i_{n-1}} m_{n-1} \cdots h^{i_1} m_1$ with

 $i_j \in \{\pm 1\}$ and $m_j \in M_x$. Then for $k \in [0, n]$, define g_k inductively by $g_0 = 1$ and $g_k = h^{i_k} m_k g_{k-1}$ for $k \ge 1$ (so $g_n = g$). Define edges $e_1 \dots, e_n$ by

$$e_k := \begin{cases} [xm_kg_{k-1}]_0 & \text{if } i_j = 1, \\ [xm_kg_{k-1}]_\infty & \text{if } i_j = -1. \end{cases}$$

Then e_1, \ldots, e_n define a path

$$\Pi x = \Pi x g_0 \xrightarrow{e_1} \Pi x g_1 \xrightarrow{e_2} \Pi x g_2 \xrightarrow{e_3} \cdots \xrightarrow{e_n} \Pi x g_n = \Pi x g_n.$$

Since this holds for every $g \in G$, this implies that $\Gamma_{F,\alpha}$ is connected. Since x was arbitrary in the discussion above, it follows that "some" is equivalent to "any" in (a) and (b).

Definition 4.7.5. For a good path $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$, we say that a precuspidal *G*-datum $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ is connected if the equivalent conditions of Proposition 4.7.4 hold. A precuspidal *G*-datum is *cuspidal* if it is connected and balanced.

PROPOSITION 4.7.6. For a good path $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$, the equivalences $\Xi : C_E^{pc} \xrightarrow{\sim} C_{\mathbb{P}^1} \text{ and } F_{\delta}^{\succ} : C_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ restrict to equivalences between the full subcategories of connected objects, balanced objects, and connected+balanced objects.

Proof. This follows from the definitions together with Propositions 4.5.2 and 4.7.4. \Box

4.8. Parametrizing isomorphism classes of cuspidal admissible G-covers: the δ -invariant. As usual, let $\Pi := \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0)$, and let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a good path in \mathbb{P}^* .

PROPOSITION 4.8.1. A precuspidal G-datum $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ is cuspidal (i.e., balanced and connected) if and only if both of the following conditions hold:

(a) For some (equivalently any) $x \in F$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x}$ (see (4.6)), we have

$$\varphi_x(\gamma_0)^{-1} = h^{-1}\varphi_x(\gamma_\infty^\delta)h$$
 or equivalently $\varphi_x(\gamma_\infty^\delta) = h\varphi_x(\gamma_0)^{-1}h^{-1}$.

(b) For some (equivalently any) $x \in F$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x}$, G is generated by h and $\varphi_x(\gamma_0)$.

Proof. Condition (a) is the definition of balancedness. The group Π is generated by γ_0 and γ_{∞}^{δ} , and hence in the presence of (a), G is generated by $M_x := \varphi_x(\Pi)$ and h if and only if it is generated by $\varphi_x(\gamma_0)$ and h. Thus in the presence of (a), by Proposition 4.7.4, (b) is equivalent to (F, α) being connected.

We will define a bijection between the set of isomorphism classes of cuspidal objects of $\operatorname{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ and an explicit finite set built from G. Let G act on

the set $G \times G$ by conjugation:

$$g \cdot (u,h) = (gug^{-1}, ghg^{-1}).$$

If two pairs (u, h) and (u', h') are conjugate by this action, then we will write $(u, h) \sim (u', h')$. Let \mathbb{Z} act on $G \times G$ on the right by the rule

$$(u,h) \cdot k = (u,u^k h), \qquad k \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

These actions of G and \mathbb{Z} on $G \times G$ commute and they preserve the subset of generating pairs. Let $\mathbb{I}(G)$ denote the subset of the orbit space $G \setminus (G \times G) / \mathbb{Z}$ represented by generating pairs:

$$\mathbb{I}(G) := G \setminus \{(u, h) : u, h \text{ generate } G\} / \mathbb{Z}.$$

Definition 4.8.2. For a generating pair $(u, h) \in G \times G$, let $\llbracket u, h \rrbracket$ denote its image in $\mathbb{I}(G)$.

Definition 4.8.3. For a generating pair $(u,h) \in G \times G$, let $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h}) \in$ Sets $^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ be given as follows:

• $F_{u,h}$ is the pointed set G (with distinguished element 1_G) viewed as a right G-torsor via right-multiplication. Give $F_{u,h}$ the structure of a left Π -set using the unique left Π -action which both commutes with the right G-action and also satisfies

$$\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \cdot 1_G = 1_G u$$
 and $\gamma_0 \cdot 1_G = 1_G h^{-1} u^{-1} h.$

Explicitly, this left Π -action has the following description:

$$\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \cdot x = ux, \qquad \gamma_0 \cdot x = h^{-1} u^{-1} hx \qquad \forall x \in F_{u,h},$$

where the right-hand sides of the equalities involve multiplication in G. Thus, the Π action is given by left multiplication by the subgroup

(4.8)
$$M_{u,h} := \langle u, h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle \le G = \varphi_{1_G}(\Pi).$$

We call this subgroup the monodromy group at 1_G .

• $\alpha_{u,h}$ is the *G*-equivariant bijection

$$\alpha_{u,h} : \langle \gamma_0 \rangle \backslash F_{u,h} \longrightarrow \langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \backslash F_{u,h},$$
$$\langle \gamma_0 \rangle \cdot x \ \mapsto \ \langle \gamma_\infty^\delta \rangle \cdot hx,$$

where $x \in F_{u,h}$ and hx is multiplication in G. We note that this is the unique G-equivariant bijection satisfying $\alpha_{u,h}([1]_0) = [1]_{\infty} \cdot h = [h]_{\infty}$. Equivalently, in terms of the Π -action, we have

$$\alpha_{u,h} : \langle h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle \backslash G \longrightarrow \langle u \rangle \backslash G,$$
$$\langle h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle \cdot x \mapsto \langle u \rangle \cdot hx.$$

Note that $H_{\delta,1_G} = \varphi_{1_G}(\langle \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \rangle) \cdot h = \langle u \rangle h.$

It is easy to check that $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$ is balanced and connected, hence cuspidal.

THEOREM 4.8.4 (The δ -invariant). Let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a good path, and let $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ be a precuspidal G-datum. For any $x \in F$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x}$, define

$$\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta} : \underline{\operatorname{\mathbf{Sets}}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ} \longrightarrow G \backslash (G \times G) / \mathbb{Z},$$
$$(F, \alpha) \mapsto \llbracket \varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta}), h \rrbracket.$$

We will say that $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(F, \alpha)$ is the invariant of (F, α) with respect to the path δ . Let \mathcal{D}_{δ} be the full subcategory of <u>Sets</u>^{(Π,G)_{\delta},\succ} consisting of cuspidal objects, and let $\pi_0(\mathcal{D}_{\delta})$ denote the set of isomorphism classes of \mathcal{D}_{δ} . Then $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(F, \alpha)$ is independent of x and h and its restriction to \mathcal{D}_{δ} yields a bijection

$$\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}: \pi_0(\mathcal{D}_{\delta}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{I}(G)$$

with inverse induced by $(u,h) \mapsto (F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$.

Definition 4.8.5. Let E be a nodal elliptic curve. Given an object of \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} or $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$, its δ -invariant is the δ -invariant of its image in <u>Sets</u>^{(II,G)_{\delta},\succ} via the equivalences Ξ and F_{δ}^{\succ} . In particular, using the equality $\mathcal{C}_E^c = \mathcal{A}dm(G)_E$, taking δ -invariants induces a bijection

$$\pi_0(\mathcal{A}dm(G)_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{I}(G).$$

Proof of Theorem 4.8.4. First we note that for $x' = xg \in F$, we have

$$arphi_{xg}(\gamma) = g^{-1} arphi_x(\gamma) g \quad orall \gamma \in \Pi \quad ext{and} \quad H_{\delta,xg} = g^{-1} H_{\delta,xg}.$$

Thus, changing x results in a conjugate pair, so $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}$ is independent of x. On the other hand, the only other choices of h are given by $\varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^k \cdot h$, so by the definition of the \mathbb{Z} -action on $(G \times G)$, $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}$ is also independent of h.

Next we note that for any choice of x, h, if (F, α) lies in \mathcal{D}_{δ} , then by connectedness of (F, α) , G is generated by $\varphi_x(\gamma_0), \varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})$, and h. On the other hand, since (F, α) is balanced, $\varphi_x(\gamma_0) = h^{-1}\varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}h$, so G is also generated by $\varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta}), h$. Thus $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}$ applied to an element of \mathcal{D}_{δ} represents an element of $\mathbb{I}(G)$.

Next, if $(F, \alpha) \cong (F', \alpha')$ via a (Π, G) -equivariant bijection $f : F \xrightarrow{\sim} F'$ respecting α, α' , then one checks that

 $\varphi_{f(x)}(\gamma) = \varphi_x(\gamma) \quad \forall x \in F, \gamma \in \Pi$ and $H_{\delta,x} = H_{\delta,f(x)} \quad \forall x \in F$ Inverse is an isomorphism invariant

so Inv_{δ} is an isomorphism invariant.

We claim that the map $\{(u,h) \in G \times G \mid u,h \text{ generate } G\} \to \pi_0(\mathcal{D}_{\delta})$ defined by sending (u,h) to the isomorphism class of $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$ gives an inverse to Inv_{δ} . Indeed, we have $\text{Inv}_{\delta}(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h}) = \llbracket u,h \rrbracket$ by construction. On the other hand, if $(F,\alpha) \in \underline{\text{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ has $\text{Inv}_{\delta}(F,\alpha) = \llbracket u,h \rrbracket$, then for some $x \in F$, we have $\varphi_x(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta}) = u$ and $h \in H_{\delta,x}$. Then one can check that the unique G-equivariant map $F_{u,h} \xrightarrow{\sim} F$ sending $1_G \mapsto x$ defines an isomorphism $(F, \alpha) \xrightarrow{\sim} (F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$ as desired. \Box

PROPOSITION 4.8.6. Let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_\infty$ be a good path. Let $\pi : C \to E$ be a cuspidal G-cover with δ -invariant $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(\pi) = \llbracket u, h \rrbracket$. Then its Higman invariant is the conjugacy class of $[u^{-1}, h^{-1}] := u^{-1}h^{-1}uh \sim [u, h]$.

Proof. Let e denote the common ramification indices of π above O. Let $\Xi(\pi) = (\pi' : C' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha)$ be the normalization-with-gluing data. Since normalization induces an isomorphism on the smooth locus, every point in $\pi'^{-1}(1)$ is also ramified with index e, and the Higman invariant of π is the Higman invariant of π' at $1 \in \mathbb{P}^1$. We note that the conjugacy class of [u, h] does not depend on the representative $(u, h) \in [[u, h]]$. Thus from the definition of $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}$, we may assume that for some $x_0 \in C'_{t_0}$, we have

$$u = \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})$$
 and $h \in H_{\delta, x_0}$.

For any $x \in \pi'^{-1}(1)$, let $\chi_x : G_x \to \operatorname{GL}(T_x^*C')$ be the local representation as in (4.2). Then the Higman invariant of π is precisely $\chi_x^{-1}(\zeta_e)$. Since δ is good, for some path $\epsilon : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_1$, we have $\gamma_1^{\epsilon} = (\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1}$. By Proposition 4.2.3, there is a canonical *G*-equivariant bijection

$$\xi_1: \langle \gamma_1 \rangle \backslash C'_{t_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} C'_1.$$

Let $x_1 := \epsilon x_0 \in C'_{t_1}$, and let $x := \xi_1([x_1])$. Then from the local picture (also see Proposition 4.4.3), we have

$$\chi_x^{-1}(\zeta_e) = \varphi_{x_1}(\gamma_1) = \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_1^{\epsilon})$$

but by our choice of ϵ , $\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_1^{\epsilon}) = \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = u^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1}$, and since the *G*-action is balanced, we have $\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0)^{-1} = h^{-1}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})h = h^{-1}uh$. Thus we find that the Higman invariant of π is the conjugacy class of

$$\chi_x^{-1}(\zeta_e) = [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \sim [u, h].$$

4.9. The δ -invariant of the [-1]-pullback of a cuspidal G-cover. The sole purpose of this section is to prove the following proposition. To simplify calculations, we will assume that δ is a good path which is moreover symmetric (cf. Definition 4.3.1).

PROPOSITION 4.9.1. Let $\iota \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{P}^1)$ denote the unique automorphism fixing 1 and switching $0, \infty$. Let t_0 be a tangential base point at $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$, and let $t_{\infty} := \iota(t_0)$. Let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_{\infty}$ be a symmetric good path. Let E be a nodal elliptic curve over k. Let $p : C \to E$ be a cuspidal G-cover. If $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(p) = \llbracket u, h \rrbracket$, then $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}([-1]^*p) = \llbracket u^{-1}, h^{-1} \rrbracket$. In particular, if [-1] denotes the unique non-trivial automorphism of E, then the following are equivalent:

(a) [-1] lifts to an automorphism of C;

- (b) $[-1]^*p \cong p$ as cuspidal G-covers;
- (c) $\llbracket u, h \rrbracket = \llbracket u^{-1}, h^{-1} \rrbracket;$
- (d) (u^{-1}, h^{-1}) is conjugate to $(u, u^r h)$ for some r > 0.

Proof. The equivalence of (a), (b), (c), and (d) follows from the statement that $\text{Inv}_{\delta}([-1]^*p) = [\![u^{-1}, h^{-1}]\!]$, so this is what we will prove.

Via Ξ , $p: C \to E$ corresponds to an object $(q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha) \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Let $\overline{D} := \iota^* D$, so we have a cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \overline{D} & \stackrel{\widetilde{\iota}}{\longrightarrow} D \\ \downarrow_{\overline{q}} & \qquad \downarrow_{q} \\ \mathbb{P}^{1} & \stackrel{\iota}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{P}^{1} \end{array}$$

with $\tilde{\iota}$ a *G*-equivariant isomorphism. Via the standard normalization $\mathbb{P}^1 \to E$, [-1] induces the automorphism ι , so it suffices to show that if $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(q, \alpha) = \llbracket u, h \rrbracket$, then $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(\iota^*q, \iota^*\alpha) = \llbracket u^{-1}, h^{-1} \rrbracket$.

The map $\tilde{\iota}$ induces bijections $\tilde{\iota}: \overline{D}_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} D_\infty$ and $\tilde{\iota}: \overline{D}_\infty \xrightarrow{\sim} D_0$. Thus $\alpha: D_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} D_\infty$ induces a bijection

$$\overline{\alpha} := \iota^* \alpha : \overline{D}_0 \xrightarrow{\tilde{\iota}} D_\infty \xrightarrow{\alpha^{-1}} D_0 \xrightarrow{\tilde{\iota}^{-1}} \overline{D}_\infty.$$

Let $x_0 \in D_{t_0}$ be a point, and as usual let

$$H_{\delta,x_0} := \{h \in G \mid \alpha([x_0]) = [\delta x_0 h]\} \in G_{[\delta x_0]} \backslash G.$$

Fix $h \in H_{\delta,x_0}$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(q,\alpha) = \llbracket \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta}), h \rrbracket.$$

Since δ is symmetric, write $\iota_* \delta = \gamma_0^r \delta^{-1} \gamma_\infty^s$ for some $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let $x_\infty := \gamma_\infty^{-s} \delta x_0 h \in D_{t_\infty}$, so that $\alpha([x_0]) = [x_\infty]$. The canonical isomorphism $F_{t_0} \circ \iota^* \cong F_{\iota(t_0)} = F_{t_\infty}$ evaluated at $q: D \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is realized by the bijection

$$\tilde{\iota}: \overline{D}_{t_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{t_\infty},$$

which is G-equivariant and moreover (by definition of $\iota_*: \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0) \to \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_\infty)$ satisfies

(4.9)
$$\tilde{\iota}(\gamma z) = i_* \gamma \cdot \tilde{\iota}(z) \quad \text{for all } z \in \overline{D}_{t_0} \text{ and } \gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0).$$

In particular, this implies that $\tilde{\iota}: \overline{D}_{t_0} \to D_{t_\infty}$ commutes with $[\cdot]$, and the same is true for $\tilde{\iota}: \overline{D}_{t_\infty} \to D_{t_0}$.

Let $\overline{x_{\infty}} := \tilde{\iota}^{-1}(x_{\infty}) \in \overline{D}_{t_0}$. Then by (4.9) and *G*-equivariance of $\tilde{\iota}$, for any $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_0)$, we have

(4.10)
$$x_{\infty}\varphi_{\overline{x_{\infty}}}(\gamma) = \tilde{\iota}(\overline{x_{\infty}} \cdot \varphi_{\overline{x_{\infty}}}(\gamma)) = \tilde{\iota}(\gamma \cdot \overline{x_{\infty}}) = \iota_*\gamma \cdot x_{\infty} = x_{\infty}\varphi_{x_{\infty}}(\iota_*\gamma).$$

Since $\iota_*\delta = \gamma_0^r \delta^{-1} \gamma_\infty^s$, we have $\iota_*(\gamma_\infty^\delta) = \gamma_0^{\delta^{-1} \gamma_\infty^s}$. Thus since the *G*-action on D_{t_∞} is free, we get

$$\begin{split} \varphi_{\overline{x_{\infty}}}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta}) &= \varphi_{x_{\infty}}(\gamma_{0}^{\delta^{-1}\gamma_{\infty}^{s}}) & \text{take } \gamma = \gamma_{\infty}^{\delta} \text{ in } (4.10), \\ &= \varphi_{\delta^{-1}\gamma_{\infty}^{s}x_{\infty}}(\gamma_{0}) & \text{by Proposition } 4.4.3(\text{d}), \\ &= \varphi_{x_{0}h}(\gamma_{0}) & \text{since } x_{\infty} := \gamma_{\infty}^{-s}\delta x_{0}h, \\ &= h^{-1}\varphi_{x_{0}}(\gamma_{0})h & \text{by Proposition } 4.4.3(\text{e}), \\ &= h^{-2}\varphi_{x_{0}}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}h^{2} & \text{since } q \text{ is balanced (see Proposition } 4.5.2) \end{split}$$

computes the first part of $Inv(\iota^*q, \iota^*\alpha)$. To compute the second part, note that

(4.11)
$$\overline{\alpha}([\overline{x_{\infty}}]) = \tilde{\iota}^{-1}(\alpha^{-1}([x_{\infty}])) \\ = \tilde{\iota}^{-1}(\alpha^{-1}([\gamma_{\infty}^{-s}\delta x_{0}h])) = \tilde{\iota}^{-1}(\alpha^{-1}([\delta x_{0}h])) = \tilde{\iota}^{-1}([x_{0}]).$$

On the other hand, for $g \in G$ we have

(4.12)
$$\tilde{\iota}(\delta \overline{x_{\infty}}g) = \iota_* \delta \cdot \tilde{\iota}(\overline{x_{\infty}}) \cdot g = \gamma_0^r \delta^{-1} \gamma_{\infty}^s x_{\infty} g.$$

Combining (4.11) with (4.12), we get

(4.13)
$$\overline{\alpha}([\overline{x_{\infty}}]) = [\delta \overline{x_{\infty}}g] \iff \tilde{\iota}^{-1}([x_0])$$
$$= [\tilde{\iota}^{-1}(\gamma_0^r \delta^{-1} \gamma_\infty^s x_\infty g)] \iff [x_0] = [\gamma_0^r \delta^{-1} \gamma_\infty^s x_\infty g] = [x_0 hg].$$

Here we have used the fact that $\tilde{\iota}$ commutes with [·]. On the other hand, note that

$$G_{[\delta \overline{x_{\infty}}]} = G_{[\overline{x_{\infty}}]} = G_{[x_{\infty}]} = G_{[\delta x_0 h]} = G_{[x_0 h]} = h^{-1} G_{[x_0]} h.$$

Here we have used the fact that $\tilde{\iota}$ and (the fiber bijections induced by) δ are both *G*-equivariant. Thus (4.13) holds if and only if $hg \in G_{[x_0]}$, equivalently $g \in h^{-1}G_{[x_0]} = G_{[\delta \overline{x_{\infty}}]}h^{-1}$. This shows that

$$H_{\delta,\overline{x_{\infty}}} = G_{[\delta\overline{x_{\infty}}]}h^{-1}.$$

Thus $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(\iota^*q, \iota^*\alpha) = \llbracket h^{-2}\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}h^2, h^{-1} \rrbracket = \llbracket \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}, h^{-1} \rrbracket$, which proves the proposition.

4.10. Automorphism groups of cuspidal objects of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$. According to Theorem 4.8.4, every object $(F, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ is isomorphic to an object of the form $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$, where (u, h) represents the class $\mathrm{Inv}_{\delta}(F, \alpha) \in \mathbb{I}(G)$. Here we calculate the automorphism group of the pair $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$.

First we consider automorphisms of the (Π, G) -set $F_{u,h}$. Let $M_{u,h} := \langle u, h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle$ as in (4.8). Let S_G denote the symmetric group on the underlying set of G. Then an automorphism of the (Π, G) -set $F_{u,h}$ is given by a permutation $\sigma \in S_G$ such that

- (*G*-equivariance) $\sigma(xg) = \sigma(x)g$ for all $x \in F_{u,h}, g \in G$;
- (II-equivariance) $\sigma(mx) = m\sigma(x)$ for all $x \in F_{u,h}, m \in M_{u,h}$.

Equivariance in G implies that $\sigma(g) = \sigma(1 \cdot g) = \sigma(1) \cdot g$ so σ is determined by $\sigma(1) \in G$. On the other hand, II-equivariance implies that $m\sigma(1) = \sigma(m \cdot 1)$ $= \sigma(m) = \sigma(1 \cdot m) = \sigma(1) \cdot m$, so $\sigma(1) \in C_G(M_{u,h})$. Conversely, for any $a \in C_G(M_{u,h})$, the permutation

$$\sigma_a: G \to G \qquad \text{sending} \qquad g \mapsto ag$$

defines a permutation of $G = F_{u,h}$ which is both right *G*-equivariant and left $M_{u,h}$ -equivariant, so it defines an automorphism of $F_{u,h}$. Next we seek to identify the elements $a \in C_G(M_{u,h})$ such that σ_a respects the gluing $\alpha_{u,h}$. For $a \in C_G(M_{u,h})$, σ_a respects the gluing if and only if we have an equality of cosets

$$\langle u \rangle \cdot h\sigma_a(x) = \langle u \rangle \cdot \sigma_a(hx)$$
 for all $x \in F_{u,h}$.

This is equivalent to saying

(4.14)

 $\langle u \rangle a h a^{-1} = \langle u \rangle h$ or equivalently $a h a^{-1} = u^{k_a} h$ for some $k_a \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Thus, automorphisms of $(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h})$ are precisely the permutations σ_a such that $a \in G$ centralizes $M_{u,h} = \langle u, h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle$ and satisfies (4.14). Let (4.15)

$$A_{G,u,h} := \{ a \in C_G(M_{u,h}) : aha^{-1} = u^{k_a}h \text{ for some } k_a \in \mathbb{Z} \} \le C_G(M_{u,h}).$$

PROPOSITION 4.10.1. Let $A_{G,u,h}$ be as in (4.15). The map

$$z: A_{G,u,h} \longrightarrow \langle u \rangle,$$
$$a \mapsto [a,h] := aha^{-1}h^{-1}$$

is a group homomorphism which fits into an exact sequence

$$1 \longrightarrow Z(G) \longrightarrow A_{G,u,h} \xrightarrow{z} \langle u^{k_{u,h}} \rangle \longrightarrow 1,$$

where $k_{u,h}$ is the smallest positive integer such that (u,h) is conjugate to $(u, u^{k_{u,h}}h)$. In particular, $A_{G,u,h}$ is an extension of a cyclic group of order $|u|/k_{u,h}$ by Z(G). If $M_{u,h} = G$, then $A_{G,u,h} = Z(G)$ and $k_{u,h} = |u|$.

Remark 4.10.2. Let (u, h) correspond to the cuspidal G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ (Theorem 4.8.4). It follows from the equivalence $\mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \cong \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$ that $A_{G,u,h}$ is precisely the vertical automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}^v(\pi)$ (viewing π in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$). Certainly $k_{u,h}$ always divides |u|, and accordingly Z(G) is always a subgroup of $A_{G,u,h} \cong \operatorname{Aut}^v(\pi)$. We have equality if and only if the generating pairs $(u,h), (u,uh), (u,u^2h), \ldots, (u,u^{|u|-1}h)$ are all non-conjugate. Thus, equality fails if and only if there is some "unexpected" relation between these generating pairs, corresponding to an unexpected vertical automorphism that does not lie in Z(G). In Section 5.3, we will show that for $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ $(q \geq 5)$, there are no unexpected automorphisms, so $k_{u,h} = |u|$ and $A_{G,u,h} = Z(G)$ for any generating pair of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Proof of Proposition 4.10.1. The description of $A_{G,u,h}$ follows from the exactness of the sequence, so it suffices to establish exactness. If $a, b \in A_{G,u,h}$, then $z(ab) = abhb^{-1}a^{-1}h^{-1} = az(b)ha^{-1}h^{-1} = z(b)aha^{-1}h^{-1} = z(b)z(a) = z(a)z(b)$, so z is a homomorphism. The kernel of z must commute with both h and $M_{u,h}$, but G is generated by $M_{u,h}$ and h, so the kernel is precisely Z(G). Since $A_{G,u,h} \subset C_G(M_{u,h})$, if (u, h) is conjugate to $(u, u^{k_{u,h}}h)$, then there must be a $g \in G$ which centralizes u and satisfies ${}^{g}h := ghg^{-1} = u^{k_{u,h}h}$. But then

$${}^{g}(h^{-1}u^{-1}h) = {}^{g}h^{-1}{}^{g}u^{-1}{}^{g}h = h^{-1}u^{-k_{u,h}}u^{-1}u^{k_{u,h}}h = h^{-1}u^{-1}h,$$

so g also centralizes $h^{-1}u^{-1}h$, so we have $g \in C_G(M_{u,h})$, hence $g \in A_{G,u,h}$. This shows that z is surjective onto $\langle u^{k_{u,h}} \rangle$, so the sequence is exact. If $M_{u,h} = G$, then $C_G(M_{u,h}) = Z(G)$. Hence $A_{G,u,h}$ is both contained in and contains Z(G), so it is equal to Z(G). The exactness of the sequence then forces $k_{u,h} = |u|$. \Box

Let ev_1 denote the "evaluation at 1" map

$$\operatorname{ev}_{1} : \operatorname{Aut}_{\underline{\operatorname{\mathbf{Sets}}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}}(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h}) \longrightarrow G,$$
$$\sigma \mapsto \sigma(1).$$

THEOREM 4.10.3. As usual we work over an algebraically closed field k of characteristic 0. Let t_0 be a tangential base point at $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1$. Let ι be the unique automorphism of \mathbb{P}^1 fixing 1 and swapping $0, \infty$. Let $t_{\infty} := \iota(t_0)$, and let $\delta : t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_{\infty}$ be a symmetric good path. The map ev_1 induces an isomorphism of groups (note that $\sigma(\tau(1)) = \sigma(1 \cdot \tau(1)) = \sigma(1)\tau(1)$)

$$\operatorname{ev}_1: \operatorname{Aut}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}}(F_{u,h}, \alpha_{u,h}) \xrightarrow{\sim} A_{G,u,h}$$

Let $\pi : C \to E$ be a cuspidal object of Adm(G)(k) with $\operatorname{Inv}_{\delta}(\pi) = \llbracket u, h \rrbracket$. Recall that its Higman invariant is $[u^{-1}, h^{-1}]$ (Proposition 4.8.6). Let $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi)$ denote its vertical automorphism group. This is precisely the group of G-equivariant automorphisms of C inducing the identity on E. For a generating pair (u, h)of G, let $k_{u,h}$ be the minimal positive integer such that (u, h) is conjugate to $(u, u^{k_{u,h}}h)$. Then

(a) Let $A_{G,u,h}$ be as in (4.15). There is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi) \longrightarrow A_{G,u,h}.$$

Thus, the vertical automorphism group of π is isomorphic to a subgroup of G which is an extension of a cyclic group of order $|u|/k_{u,h}$ by Z(G).

- (a') The vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ are all reduced to Z(G) (equivalently, the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is representable) if and only if $k_{u,h} = |u|$ for all generating pairs (u, h) of G.
- (b) If $\llbracket u,h \rrbracket \neq \llbracket u^{-1},h^{-1} \rrbracket$, then $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{A}dm(G)(k)}(\pi) = \operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi)$. If $\llbracket u,h \rrbracket = \llbracket u^{-1},h^{-1} \rrbracket$, then $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{A}dm(G)(k)}(\pi)$ is an extension of $\operatorname{Aut}(E) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ by $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi)$.

- (c) Every irreducible component of C is Galois over E with Galois group isomorphic to M_{u,h} = ⟨u, h⁻¹u⁻¹h⟩. The number of irreducible components of C is [G : M_{u,h}]. In particular, C is irreducible if and only if G is generated by u, h⁻¹u⁻¹h, in which case Aut^v(π) = Z(G).
- (d) As usual, let $O \in E$ be the origin. Let $x \in \pi^{-1}(O)$. Then an automorphism $\sigma \in \operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi)$ fixes x if and only if it acts trivially on $\pi^{-1}(O)$, and there is an isomorphism

(4.16)
$$\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi)}(x) \xrightarrow{\sim} A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle.$$

In particular, let $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ be the universal family over $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ and let \mathcal{R}_{π} be its reduced ramification divisor. Then for any cuspidal geometric point $z \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ whose image in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ has δ -invariant $\llbracket u,h \rrbracket$, its vertical automorphism group is

(4.17)
$$\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(z) \cong A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle.$$

Proof. Parts (a), (a'), and (c) follow immediately from Proposition 4.10.1 and the discussion above, noting that the map $\mathcal{A}dm(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}$ removes Z(G) from all automorphism groups of geometric points.

For (b), note that since automorphisms of π in $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ are *G*-equivariant, they descend to automorphisms of $E \cong C/G$, so we have an exact sequence

$$1 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}^{v}(\pi) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{A}dm(G)(k)}(\pi) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(E).$$

Since *E* is a nodal elliptic curve, $\operatorname{Aut}(E)$ is cyclic of order 2, so let [-1] be the generator. Then the map $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathcal{A}dm(G)(k)}(\pi) \to \operatorname{Aut}(E)$ is surjective if and only if there is an isomorphism $[-1]^*\pi \to \pi$ inducing the identity on *E*. By Proposition 4.9.1, this happens if and only if $\llbracket u,h \rrbracket = \llbracket u^{-1},h^{-1} \rrbracket$.

It remains to prove (d). Since automorphisms of π are *G*-equivariant and *G*-acts transitively on all fibers, if an automorphism fixes a point, then it must fix the entire fiber. Next we prove the isomorphism (4.16). Let $\nu : \mathbb{P}^1 \to E$ be a standard normalization, and let $\Xi_{\nu}(\pi) = (\pi' : C' \to \mathbb{P}^1, \alpha_{\pi})$ be the normalized-cover-with-gluing-data. Let $x' \in C'$ be the unique point lying over x, so $x' \in C'_1 := \pi'^{-1}(1)$. Let $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\pi')$ be the automorphism group of $(\pi', \alpha_{\pi}) \in \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$. Then by the equivalence $\Xi_{\nu} : \mathcal{C}_E^{pc} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ}$, it suffices to define an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\pi')}(x') \xrightarrow{\sim} A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle u^{-1}h^{-1}uh \rangle.$$

Let t_1 be a tangential base point at $1 \in \mathbb{P}^1$, and let $\gamma_1 \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^*, t_1)$ be the canonical generator of inertia. Since δ is a good path, for some path ϵ : $t_0 \rightsquigarrow t_1$, we have $(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1} \gamma_0^{-1} = \gamma_1^{\epsilon}$. Let $\xi_1 : \langle \gamma_1 \rangle \setminus C'_{t_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} C'_1$ be the canonical isomorphism given by the local picture near 1. Using the path ϵ , we obtain a *G*-equivariant bijection

$$\xi_1 \circ \epsilon : \langle \gamma_1^\epsilon \rangle \backslash C_{t_0}' \xrightarrow{\sim} \langle \gamma_1 \rangle \backslash C_{t_1}' \xrightarrow{\sim} C_1'.$$

By Proposition 4.2.3(b), these bijections define natural isomorphisms of functors $\mathcal{C}_{\mathbb{P}^1}^{\succ} \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$, and hence we can compute the action of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\pi')$ on C'_1 via its action on $\langle \gamma_1^{\epsilon} \rangle \backslash C'_{t_0}$. Passing to $\underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$, let $F_{\delta}^{\succ}(\pi') = (C'_{t_0}, \alpha) \in \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}^{(\Pi,G)_{\delta},\succ}$. Then the same computations as above shows that for any choice of $x_0 \in C'_{t_0}$, $\operatorname{Aut}(C'_{t_0}, \alpha) \cong A_{G,u,h}$, where $u = \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})$, and $h \in H_{\delta,x_0}$. Since π is balanced, we also have $\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_0) = h^{-1}u^{-1}h$. Here, for $a \in A_{G,u,h}$, let $\sigma_a \in \operatorname{Aut}(C'_{t_0}, \alpha)$ be the corresponding automorphism. Then σ_a acts on C'_{t_0} by $\sigma_a(x_0g) = x_0ag$ for any $g \in G$. Since $\gamma_1^{\epsilon} = (\gamma_{\infty}^{\delta})^{-1}\gamma_0^{-1}$, $\varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_1^{\epsilon}) = u^{-1}h^{-1}uh$, and for any $g \in G$, we have

$$\sigma_a(\gamma_1^{\epsilon} x_0 g) = \sigma_a(x_0 \varphi_{x_0}(\gamma_1^{\epsilon})g),$$

= $\sigma_a(x_0 u^{-1} h^{-1} u h g)$
= $x_0(a u^{-1} h^{-1} u h g),$

so σ_a fixes the coset $\langle \gamma_1^{\epsilon} \rangle x_0 g$ if and only if $a \in \langle u^{-1}h^{-1}uh \rangle$. This establishes the isomorphism (4.16). The isomorphism (4.17) follows immediately from the definition of \mathcal{R}_{π} in Section 3.2.

Remark 4.10.4. If G is abelian, then it follows from the discussion above that the vertical automorphism group of any cuspidal G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ is equal to G. In particular, the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}(G)} := \mathcal{A}dm(G) / \mathbb{Z}(G) \to \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ is representable. For $n \geq 3$, it is known that $\mathcal{M}(n) := \mathcal{M}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$ is representable. On the other hand, it follows from Theorem 4.10.3(b) that for $n \geq 3$, the cuspidal objects of $\overline{\mathcal{M}(n)} := \overline{\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})}$ also have no automorphisms, so $\overline{\mathcal{M}(n)}$ is also representable (even as a stack over $\mathbb{Z}[1/n]$), and hence this gives another construction of the Deligne-Rapoport moduli stack of generalized elliptic curves with full level n structures [DR73, Th. 2.7].

Using this, we are able to give a purely combinatorial statement of Theorem 3.5.1.

THEOREM 4.10.5 (Combinatorial congruence). Let G be a finite group, let $\mathfrak{c} \in \mathrm{Cl}(G)$ be a conjugacy class, and let $c \in \mathfrak{c}$ be a representative. Let $A_{G,u,h}$ be as in (4.15).

- (a) Let $d' = d'_{c} := |C_G(\langle c \rangle) / \langle c \rangle|.$
- (b) Let $m' = m'_{\mathfrak{c}}$ be the least positive integer which kills $A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle$ for any generating pair (u, h) of G with $[u, h] \in \mathfrak{c}$.

Then for any component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ with coarse scheme X, the map to the *j*-line $X \to \overline{M(1)}$ satisfies

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{|c|}{\gcd(|c|, m'd')}.$$

Combinatorially speaking, let $F_2 = \langle a, b \rangle$ be a free group of rank 2, and let $\gamma_{-I} \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(F_2)$ be the automorphism $(a, b) \mapsto (a^{-1}, b^{-1})$. Note that the image of γ_{-I} in $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2) \cong \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is central. Let $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)_{\mathfrak{c}} \subset \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)$ be the subset represented by surjections $\varphi : F_2 \twoheadrightarrow G$ satisfying $\varphi([a, b]) \in \mathfrak{c}$. Then every $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbit on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)_{\mathfrak{c}}/\langle \gamma_{-I}\rangle$ has cardinality divisible by $\frac{|c|}{\operatorname{gcd}(|c|,m'd')}$.²⁸

Remark 4.10.6. Recall that if G is not 2-generated, then $\mathcal{A}dm(G)$ is empty (Corollary 2.5.4), so the theorem is only non-trivial for finite 2-generated groups G.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ denote the universal family. Let $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} \subset \mathcal{C}$ denote the reduced ramification divisor. Suppose u, h is a generating pair of G with $[u, h] \in \mathfrak{c}$. By Proposition 3.5.2 the vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R}_{π} which lie over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ are equal to

$$Z(G) \cap \langle c \rangle = Z(G) \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle \subset A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle$$

so they are all killed by m'. By Theorem 4.10.3(d), the vertical automorphism group of any geometric point of \mathcal{R}_{π} is killed by m', so the full automorphism groups are killed by 12m'. By Proposition 3.2.2, the components of \mathcal{R}_{π} have degree over \mathcal{X} dividing d', so Theorem 3.5.1 gives the congruence on degrees. For the congruence on $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbits, first by Proposition 2.5.10(b), $\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)$ is a gerbe over $\mathcal{M}(G)$, so X is the smooth compactification of a unique component $M \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$. Thus, $\operatorname{deg}(X \to \overline{M(1)}) = \operatorname{deg}(M \to M(1))$. On the other hand, the fiber of the finite étale map $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\mathfrak{c}} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ above a geometric point $x_E \in \mathcal{M}(1)$ is in bijection with $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$, and for a component $\mathcal{M} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$, the fiber of $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is in bijection with an $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbit on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$. By Theorem 2.5.2(4), any unramified geometric fiber of $M \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is in bijection with the quotient of a geometric fiber of $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ by γ_{-I} . Thus we obtain the congruence on $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbits from the congruence on degrees. \Box

Remark 4.10.7. In Theorem 4.10.5, the full automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R}_{π} can also be expressed totally combinatorially, but the payoff is limited to at most an improvement of the resulting congruence by a factor of 12, so we do not treat it here.

²⁸Viewing F_2 as the fundamental group of a punctured torus and a, b as a positively oriented basis, then in the setup of Situation 2.5.14, the Higman invariant is technically given by $\varphi([b, a])$ (as opposed to $\varphi([a, b])$). However the automorphism of F_2 given by $(a, b) \mapsto (b, a)$ induces a bijection between the corresponding $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbits, and so the sizes of the orbits are the same.

4.11. Necessity of the obstructions m, d. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be a component classifying covers with ramification index e. Our main congruence (Theorem 3.5.1) gives

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{12e}{\gcd(12e, m_{\mathcal{X}}d_{\mathcal{X}})},$$

which is possibly diluted by the integers $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ and $m_{\mathcal{X}}$. In the best possible case, we can obtain $\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod 12e$. However, in general, this is too much to hope for since, for example, the congruence modular curve $Adm(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) = X_1(2)$ for elliptic curves with " $\Gamma_1(2)$ -structures" corresponds to ramification index e = 1 but it has degree 3 over $\overline{M(1)}$; thus, the conditions on $m_{\mathcal{X}}, d_{\mathcal{X}}$ are necessary. A more reasonable question is to ask if we can always obtain the congruence

(4.18)
$$\deg(X \to M(1)) \equiv 0 \mod e.$$

It turns out this also does not hold in general, and both $m_{\mathcal{X}}, d_{\mathcal{X}}$ can be responsible for this failure. As an explicit example, let $D_{2k} := \mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z} \rtimes \mu_2$ denote the dihedral group of order 2k, where k is odd. In this case, its commutator subgroup is $\mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z}$, its abelianization is μ_2 , and its center is trivial. By [Che18, Th. 4.2.2], $Adm(D_{2k})$ is isomorphic to $\frac{\phi(k)}{2}$ copies of the curve $Adm(\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$. In particular, every component of $Adm(D_{2k})$ has degree 3 over $\overline{M(1)}$, whereas one can check that the commutator of any generating pair of D_{2k} has order k [Che18, §4.2], so every component of $Adm(D_{2k})$ classifies D_{2k} -covers with ramification index e = k. Letting $k \to \infty$, we see that in the general case, even the congruence (4.18) can fail arbitrarily badly. From the combinatorial congruence (Theorem 4.10.5), one can check that for $G = D_{2k}, d' = 2$, so $d_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 2$ and hence $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ does not affect the congruence. Thus the culprit must be $m_{\mathcal{X}}$. Indeed, let (u, h) be the generating pair

$$(u,h) = ((1,1), (0,-1)) \in D_{2k} = \mathbb{Z}/k\mathbb{Z} \rtimes \mu_2.$$

In this case, we find that (u, h) is conjugate to (u, uh), so in this case we have that $A_{D_{2k},u,h} = [D_{2k}, D_{2k}]$ has order k, so the vertical automorphism group of the cusp in $\mathcal{A}dm(D_{2k})$ with δ -invariant $\llbracket u, h \rrbracket$ has order k, which implies that $k \mid m_{\mathcal{X}}$. Thus in this case $m_{\mathcal{X}}$ is totally responsible for the failure of the congruence.

Let $U_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ denote the group of isometries of a 3-dimensional Hermitian space over \mathbb{F}_{16} relative to the involution of $\mathbb{F}_{16}/\mathbb{F}_4$, let $SU_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ be the subgroup of isometries of determinant 1, and let $PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ denote its quotient by the center. Then $PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ is a finite simple group of order 62400. It has six conjugacy classes of elements of order 5, four of which are powers of each other.²⁹ We have computed using the computer algebra package GAP that for

²⁹In other words, these four conjugacy classes all generate the same rational class.

any one of these four classes \mathfrak{c} , $m'_{\mathfrak{c}} = 1$ (see Theorem 4.10.5). It follows that $m_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 12$ for any component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{PSU}_3(\mathbb{F}_4))_{\mathfrak{c}}$. On the other hand, from our computations $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{PSU}_3(\mathbb{F}_4))_{\mathfrak{c}}$ has two components, of degrees 1 and 184 respectively over $\mathcal{M}(1)$. It follows that in this case $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ must be responsible for the failure of the congruence $\equiv 0 \mod 5$.

4.12. Congruences for non-abelian finite simple groups. If $f: G_1 \to G_2$ is a surjection of 2-generated finite groups, then by Theorem 2.5.2(6), f induces a finite etale surjection of moduli spaces $\mathcal{M}(G_1) \to \mathcal{M}(G_2)$ (corresponding to the surjection of sets $f_*: \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G_1) \to \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G_2)$). Thus, in terms of understanding the sizes of $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbits, a crucial special case is when G is a finite simple group. If G is cyclic, then $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ acts transitively on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2, G)$ with size equal to the index of the congruence subgroup $\Gamma_1(n) \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ (cf. [DS05, §3.9]). Moreover, note that in this case our results say nothing — when G is abelian, |c| = 1 and hence the congruence in Theorem 4.10.5 is trivial.

In this section, we will show that Theorem 4.10.5 often yields non-trivial congruences when G is a non-abelian finite simple group. For this we wish to control the integers $d'_{\rm c}$ and $m'_{\rm c}$ of Theorem 4.10.5. More generally, we also obtain non-trivial congruences if we have some control on the proper normal subgroups of G. We begin with some group theoretic lemmas:

LEMMA 4.12.1. Let G be a group and $U \leq G$ be a cyclic subgroup of finite index. Then for any $g \in G$, g normalizes $U \cap gUg^{-1}$.

Proof. Conjugation by g maps $U \cap gUg^{-1}$ to $gUg^{-1} \cap g^2Ug^{-2}$, but these are both subgroups of the cyclic group gUg^{-1} of the same order, so they are equal. Thus g normalizes $U \cap gUg^{-1}$.

LEMMA 4.12.2. Let G be a non-abelian finite group. In the notation of Theorem 4.10.5, let ℓ be a prime and let $k, j \ge 0$ be integers such that

(a) $k := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(m'_{\mathfrak{c}}), and^{30}$

(b) G does not contain a proper normal subgroup of order divisible by ℓ^{j+1} .

If $k \geq j$, then G must contain a subgroup isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/\ell^k \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/\ell^{k-j} \mathbb{Z}$. In particular, we must have $\ell^{2k-j} \mid |G|$.

Proof. By Theorem 4.10.5, there must exist a generating pair (u, h) of G with $[u, h] \in \mathfrak{c}$ such that there exists an element $z \in A_{G,u,h} \cap \langle [u^{-1}, h^{-1}] \rangle$ of order ℓ^k . By Proposition 4.10.1, $|A_{G,u,h}|$ divides $|u| \cdot |Z(G)|$. Since G is

³⁰Note that if G cannot be generated by two elements, then m'_{c} is the least positive integer which satisfies a trivial condition, hence $m'_{c} = 1$. In particular this lemma implicitly assumes that G can be generated by two elements.

non-abelian, (b) implies that ℓ^{k-j} divides |u|. Moreover z centralizes $M_{u,h} =$ $\langle u, h^{-1}u^{-1}h \rangle$. Let $U := \langle u \rangle$ and $U^h := \langle h^{-1}uh \rangle$. By Lemma 4.12.1, h normalizes $U \cap U^h$. Since U is cyclic, u normalizes $U \cap U^h$, so $G = \langle u, h \rangle$ also normalizes $U \cap U^h$. Since G is not cyclic, (b) implies that ℓ^{j+1} does not divide $|U \cap U^h|$. Thus $|\langle z \rangle \cap U|$ and $|\langle z \rangle \cap U^h|$ cannot both be divisible by ℓ^{j+1} . Note that since z centralizes $M_{u,h}$, both $\langle z, u \rangle$ and $\langle z, u^h \rangle$ are abelian subgroups of G. For simplicity, assume ℓ^{j+1} does not divide $|\langle z \rangle \cap U|$. Choose $z' \in \langle z \rangle, u' \in \langle u \rangle$ such that $|z'| = \ell^k$ and $|u'| = \ell^{k-j}$. Then ℓ^{j+1} does not divide $|\langle z'\rangle \cap \langle u'\rangle|$, so $\langle z'^j\rangle \cap \langle u'\rangle$ is trivial, so $\langle z'^j, u'\rangle \cong (\mathbb{Z}/\ell^{k-j}\mathbb{Z})^2$. It follows that $\langle z', u' \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}/\ell^k \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}/\ell^{k-j} \mathbb{Z}.$

The ℓ -adic valuation $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(d'_{\mathfrak{c}})$ can be easily bounded if we know the relative valuations of $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|)$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|)$. One use of Lemma 4.12.2 is to do the same for $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(m'_{\mathfrak{c}})$. A theorem of Vdovin gives another method to control $d'_{\mathfrak{c}}, m'_{\mathfrak{c}}$ when G is a non-abelian finite simple group other than $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$:

THEOREM 4.12.3 (Vdovin [Vdo99, Th. A]). If G is a non-abelian finite simple group which is not isomorphic to $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ (for any prime power q), then for any abelian subgroup $A \leq G$, we have $|A| < |G|^{1/3}$.

To summarize, $d'_{\rm c}$ and $m'_{\rm c}$ can be controlled as follows.

COROLLARY 4.12.4. Let G be a finite group. Let $c \in G$, and let \mathfrak{c} be its conjugacy class. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ be a connected component with coarse scheme X. For a prime ℓ , let $r := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|)$. Let $d'_{\mathfrak{c}}, m'_{\mathfrak{c}}$ be as in Theorem 4.10.5.

- (a) Suppose G is non-abelian. Write $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|) = r + s$, and let $j \ge 0$ be an integer such that G does not contain any proper normal subgroups of order divisible by ℓ^{j+1} . Then
 - $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(d'_{\mathfrak{c}}) \leq s;$

ord_ℓ(m'_c) ≤ [r+s+j/2].
(b) Suppose G is non-abelian and simple.

- If $\ell^{r+1} \geq |G|^{1/3}$ and G is not isomorphic to $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ for any q, then $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(d_{\mathfrak{c}}') = 0.$
- If $\ell^{k+1} \geq |G|^{1/3}$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ and G is not isomorphic to $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ for any q, then $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(m'_{\mathfrak{c}}) \leq \lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor$.

Proof. Part (a) follows from Lemma 4.12.2. For (b), if $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(d'_{c}) > 0$, then there exists an ℓ -power torsion element $z \in C_G(\langle c \rangle)$ which does not lie in $\langle c \rangle$. Then $\langle z, c \rangle$ is abelian of order ℓ^{r+1} , which is forbidden by Vdovin's theorem. Similarly, (c) immediately follows from Lemma 4.12.2 and Vdovin's theorem.

This allows us to guarantee a non-trivial congruence in a number of settings. For example, we have

COROLLARY 4.12.5. Let G be a finite group. Let $c \in G$, and let \mathfrak{c} be its conjugacy class. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ be a connected component with coarse scheme X. For a prime ℓ , let $r := \operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|c|)$. Then we have

(a) Write $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|G|) = r + s$, and let $j \ge 0$ be an integer such that G does not contain any proper normal subgroup of order divisible by ℓ^{j+1} . Then

 $\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\lceil \frac{r-3s-j}{2} \rceil}.$

Combinatorially speaking, using the notation of 4.10.5, every $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbit on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2,G)_{\mathfrak{c}}/\langle \gamma_{-I}\rangle$ has cardinality divisible by $\ell^{\lceil \frac{r-3s-j}{2}\rceil}$.

(b) Suppose G is non-abelian and simple. If $\ell^{r+1} \ge |G|^{1/3}$ and G is not isomorphic to $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ for any q, then

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \ell^{\lceil \frac{r}{2} \rceil}.$$

Combinatorially speaking, using the notation of 4.10.5, every $\operatorname{Out}^+(F_2)$ -orbit on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(F_2,G)_{\mathfrak{c}}/\langle \gamma_{-I}\rangle$ has cardinality divisible by $\ell^{\lceil \frac{r}{2}\rceil}$.

Proof. We note that if G is abelian, then $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\mathfrak{c}}$ is empty for any non-trivial conjugacy class \mathfrak{c} , so (a) holds trivially in this case (see Remark 2.3.3). If G is non-abelian, (a) and (b) follow immediately from Corollary 4.12.4 and Theorem 4.10.5.

Remark 4.12.6. We make a few observations.

- If $\ell \geq 3$ and \mathfrak{c} is a class of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_\ell)$ of order divisible by ℓ , then since $\ell^2 \nmid |\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_\ell)|$, we may apply Corollary 4.12.5(a) with r = 1, s = j = 0 to obtain a congruence mod ℓ . We will later recover this fact from a more general analysis in Section 5.3 below, where we will even show that when $G = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ and $q \geq 3$, $A_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q),u,h} = Z(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ for any generating pair of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Moreover we will explicitly compute $d'_{\mathfrak{c}}$ and $m'_{\mathfrak{c}}$ for any Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} .
- Lemma 4.12.2 can be slightly sharpened by weakening condition (b). The proof only requires that ℓ^{j+1} does not divide |Z(G)| or the order of any proper normal *cyclic* subgroup. Accordingly part (a) of the above corollaries can also be sharpened.
- Part (b) of the above corollaries use Vdovin's theorem and hence can be slightly sharpened by noting that the proof of Lemma 4.12.2 often gives an abelian subgroup which is larger than $(\mathbb{Z}/\ell^k\mathbb{Z})^2$.

5. Applications to Markoff triples and the geometry of $\mathcal{M}(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$

In this section we will specialize our discussions above to the case of admissible $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -covers of elliptic curves. The key features that become available in this special case are the explicit description of the character variety for SL₂representations of a free group of rank 2, which is explained in Section 5.2, and

the work of Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak as explained in Section 5.5. In Section 5.3, we use the theory of this character variety and the results obtained in Section 4.10 to compute the vertical automorphism groups of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$; we will prove that these automorphism groups are reduced to the center of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. In Section 5.4, we put everything together to obtain congruences for many Markoff-type equations. The application to the Markoff equation $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 3xyz = 0$ is explicitly described in Section 5.5. In Section 5.6 we give a genus formula for the components of $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$.

We work universally over a base scheme S over which |G| is invertible.

5.1. The trace invariant. If $\pi : C \to E$ is an admissible *G*-cover of a 1-generalized elliptic curve *E* over an algebraically closed field *k*, then relative to a compatible system of roots of unity $\{\zeta_n\}_{n\geq 1}$, we have defined its Higman invariant in Section 2.3, which is a conjugacy class in *G*.

Definition 5.1.1. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. Let $G \leq \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be a subgroup. Then the trace invariant of a geometric point of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ is the trace of its Higman invariant relative to $\{\exp(\frac{2\pi i}{n})\}_{n>1}$.

As in Section 2.3, we also have decompositions

(5.1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{F}_{q}))}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} = \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_{q}} \overline{\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{F}_{q}))}_{t} \quad \text{and}$$
$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{F}_{q}))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} = \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_{q}} \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_{2}(\mathbb{F}_{q}))_{t}$$

into open and closed substacks corresponding to objects with trace invariant t.

Definition 5.1.2. We say that a conjugacy class $\mathfrak{c} \in \mathrm{Cl}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ (resp. an element $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$) is q-admissible if it is the conjugacy class (resp. trace) of the commutator of a generating pair of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

The q-admissible classes (resp. traces) were classified by McCullough and Wanderley [MW11].

PROPOSITION 5.1.3. We state the following results in pairs, beginning with a group-theoretic statement, followed by a geometric consequence.

- (a) If q = 2, 4, 8 or $q \ge 13$, then the q-admissible traces are $\mathbb{F}_q \{2\}$. If q = 3, 9, 11, then the q-admissible traces are $\mathbb{F}_q \{1, 2\}$. If q = 5, the q-admissible traces are $\in \mathbb{F}_q \{0, 2, 4\}$. If q = 7, the q-admissible traces are $\in \mathbb{F}_q \{0, 1, 2\}$.
- (a') For any $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_t$ is non-empty if and only if t is q-admissible.
- (b) If q is even, then for any t ∈ F_q {±2} = F_q {0}, there exists a unique conjugacy class in SL₂(F_q) with trace t. If t = ±2 = 0, then there exist precisely two classes with trace t, represented by [^{±1}₀ ⁰_{±1}] and [^{±1}₁ ¹₁], neither of which are q-admissible. In particular, every q-admissible trace

 $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$ is the trace of a unique q-admissible class \mathfrak{c} , and for any $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, any non-central element of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with trace a has the same order.

(b') If q is even, then for any q-admissible class \mathfrak{c} with trace t, the map

$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_t$$

is an isomorphism.

- (c) If q is odd, then for any $t \in \mathbb{F}_q \{\pm 2\}$, there exists a unique conjugacy class in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with trace t. If $t = \pm 2$, then there exist precisely three classes with trace t, represented by $\begin{bmatrix} \pm 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \pm 1 \end{bmatrix}$, $\begin{bmatrix} \pm 1 & 1 \\ 0 & \pm 1 \end{bmatrix}$, and $\begin{bmatrix} \pm 1 & a \\ 0 & \pm 1 \end{bmatrix}$, where $a \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is not a square. In particular, every q-admissible t other than -2 is the trace of a unique q-admissible class, and for any $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, any non-central element of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with trace a has the same order. The q-admissible classes of trace -2 are represented by $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$, $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & a \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ where $a \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a non-square. If $u \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times} - \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ with $u^2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$ and $\gamma := \begin{bmatrix} u & 0 \\ 0 & u^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$, then conjugation by γ switches the two q-admissible classes of trace -2.
- (c') If q is odd, then for any q-admissible class c with trace t, the map

$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_t$$

is an isomorphism except for t = -2. If t = -2, let $\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2$ denote the two q-admissible classes of trace -2. Then conjugation by γ induces an isomorphism $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}_2}$, and

$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{-2} = \bigsqcup_{\mathfrak{c} \in \{\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2\}} \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}}.$$

Proof. Part (a) is precisely [MW11, Th. 2.1]. Parts (b) and (c) follow from [MW13, §5]. Parts (a') and (b') follow immediately from (a) and (b). For part (c'), assume q odd, and let $\mathfrak{c}_1, \mathfrak{c}_2$ denote the two q-admissible classes of trace invariant -2. Let $i_{\gamma} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ be given by $g \mapsto \gamma g \gamma^{-1}$, then i_{γ} defines a map

$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$$

sending an admissible G-cover $\pi : C \to E$ to the same map $\pi : C \to E$, but with G-action defined via the isomorphism i_{γ} . Since i_{γ} has finite order, this is an equivalence. Since $u^2 \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a non-square, i_{γ} switches the two q-admissible classes of trace invariant -2, and hence it restricts to an equivalence

$$\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}_1} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\mathfrak{c}_2}.$$

Let $I := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. By Proposition 5.1.3(b) and (c), for any $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, with the exception of the conjugacy classes of $\pm I$, the conjugacy classes of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with trace a all have the same order. Thus, we may define

Definition 5.1.4. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. For $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, let $n_q(a)$ denote the order of any matrix $A \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}) - \{\pm I\}$ with trace a.

PROPOSITION 5.1.5. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. For $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, there is a set $\{\omega, \omega^{-1}\} \subset \mathbb{F}_{q^2}$ which is uniquely determined by the property that $a = \omega + \omega^{-1}$. The integer $n_q(a)$ satisfies

$$n_q(a) = \begin{cases} 2 & \text{if } q \text{ is even and } a = \pm 2 = 0\\ p & \text{if } q \text{ is odd and } a = 2,\\ 2p & \text{if } q \text{ is odd and } a = -2,\\ |\omega| & \text{if } a \neq \pm 2. \end{cases}$$

Proof. If $\omega + \omega^{-1} = a$, then $\{\omega, \omega^{-1}\}$ are precisely the roots of the polynomial $x^2 - ax + 1$, so they are determined by a. The description of $n_q(a)$ follows from Proposition 5.1.3, noting that if $a \neq \pm 2$, then $\omega \neq \omega^{-1}$ so any matrix with trace a is diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} .

5.2. $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -structures as \mathbb{F}_q -points of a character variety. Let G be a finite group. Let $E, \Pi, a, b, x_E, \alpha$ be as in Situation 2.5.14. Then the fiber of $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}/\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}$ over x_E is canonically in bijection with

$$\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G).$$

Under this bijection, the orbits of the $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ -action correspond to the components of $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$. In this section we will show that when $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ is closely related to the \mathbb{F}_q points of a certain character variety. This correspondence is central in our geometric approach to the conjecture of Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak 1.2.2, and moreover it allows us to calculate the automorphism groups of geometric points of $\mathcal{M}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$, which forms the key input to Theorem 3.5.1.

Using the oriented basis $a, b \in \Pi$, there is a bijection

(5.2)
$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, G) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & \{(A, B) \mid A, B \text{ generate } G\}, \\ \varphi & \mapsto & (\varphi(a), \varphi(b)). \end{array}$$

For the purposes of understanding the $\text{Out}^+(\Pi)$ -orbits, it suffices to consider the orbits of $\text{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ on the set of generating pairs of G. An elementary Nielsen move applied to a generating pair (A, B) of G sends (A, B) to any of

(5.3)
$$(A, AB), (B, A), \text{ or } (A, B^{-1})$$

Two generating pairs of G are said to be Nielsen equivalent if they are related by a sequence of elementary Nielsen moves. One can check that the elementary Nielsen moves, applied to the generators (a, b) of Π , define a set of generators of Aut(Π) [MKS04, §3], and that two generating pairs of G are Nielsen equivalent if and only if they lie in the same Aut(Π)-orbit via the bijection in (5.2). Questions about Nielsen equivalence were traditionally studied from the point of view of combinatorial group theory [Pak01, §2]. However, if R is a ring, S an R-algebra, and G is obtained as the S-points of an algebraic

group \mathcal{G}/R , then the set $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, G)$ can be viewed as the S-points of the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \mathcal{G}) : \underline{\operatorname{Sch}}/R \to \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}$ sending $T \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \mathcal{G}(T))$. Since Π is free on a, b, this functor is representable by the scheme $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$, and hence $\operatorname{Epi}(\Pi, G)$ inherits an algebraic structure as a subset of the S-points of $\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G}$. Similarly $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G)$ in many cases can be approximated by a subset of the S-points of

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \mathcal{G})/\mathcal{G} = (\mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{G})/\mathcal{G},$$

where the action of \mathcal{G} is by simultaneous conjugation, and the quotient is taken in a suitable sense (see Theorem 5.2.10 and Remark 5.2.11 below). Moreover, since Aut(II) is generated by automorphisms of the form (5.3), Aut(II) also acts on Hom(II, \mathcal{G}) and Hom(II, \mathcal{G})/ \mathcal{G} (on the right!) as automorphisms of schemes. When $\mathcal{G} = \mathrm{SL}_2$, these observations together with the work of Brumfiel-Hilden [BH95] and Nakamoto [Nak00] provide the connection between the sets Epi^{ext}(II, $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$) and \mathbb{F}_q -points of the Markoff equation (Theorem 5.2.10). In Section 5.3, we will also use this relationship to compute the vertical automorphism groups of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$.

When $\mathcal{G} = \mathrm{SL}_{2,R}$, the center of $\mathrm{GL}_{2,R}$ acts trivially on $\mathrm{Hom}(\Pi, \mathcal{G})$, so taking quotients by $\mathrm{SL}_{2,R}, \mathrm{GL}_{2,R}$ or $\mathrm{PGL}_{2,R}$ are all the same. For the purposes of our exposition it will be convenient to consider the quotient by $\mathrm{GL}_{2,R}$.

THEOREM 5.2.1. Let R be any ring. Let $A[\Pi] = A[\Pi]_R$ denote the affine ring of Hom $(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}) \cong \operatorname{SL}_{2,R} \times \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}$. Let $X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}$ be the quotient

 $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}) /\!\!/ \operatorname{GL}_{2,R} := \operatorname{Spec} A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}},$

where $\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}$ acts via conjugation on $\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}$. If $R = \mathbb{Z}$, we will simply write $X_{\operatorname{SL}_2} := X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}}$. Let Tr denote the map

$$\operatorname{Tr} : \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{A}^3_R$$

defined on A-valued points³¹ for various R-algebras A by sending $\varphi : \Pi \to$ SL₂(A) to tr $\varphi(a)$, tr $\varphi(b)$, and tr $\varphi(ab)$ respectively. Then Tr induces an isomorphism (which we also denote by Tr)

(5.4)
$$\operatorname{Tr}: X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{A}_R^3.$$

In particular, formation of the quotient commutes with arbitrary base change in R.

Proof. Let A, B, C denote the functions $\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab) \in A[\Pi]$ respectively. We must show that for any ring R, $A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}} = R[A, B, C]$. When $R = \mathbb{C}$ this amounts to a classical result of Fricke and Vogt (see [Gol03], [Gol09]). The general case is treated in Brumfiel-Hilden [BH95, Props. 3.5 and

³¹Since every scheme is covered by affine opens, to define a morphism of schemes, it suffices to define it on T-valued points for all affine schemes T.

9.1(ii)]; however they do not distinguish between $\operatorname{GL}_2(R)$ and $\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}$, so their exposition is not complete when $\operatorname{GL}_2(R)$ is not Zariski dense in $\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}$. If we assume their result when we have Zariski density (e.g., when $R = \mathbb{Z}$ or R is an infinite field), then the general case can be deduced by reducing to known cases using the universal coefficient theorem [Jan03, I, Prop. 4.18]. For completeness we also give a proof in the appendix, Section 6.2, following [BH95].

In fact the map $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}) \to X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}$ is a uniform categorical quotient in the sense of geometric invariant theory, though we will not need this [Ses77, Rem. 8] (also see [MFK94, Th. 1.1]).

Definition 5.2.2. With notation as in Theorem 5.2.1, $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})$ is the representation variety for $\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}$ -representations of Π , and $X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}$ is the character variety for $\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}$ -representations of Π . Since formation of $X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}$ commutes with base change in R, for most applications it will suffice to work with $X_{\operatorname{SL}_2} = X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}}$.

Definition 5.2.3. For a ring A and $\varphi \in \text{Hom}(\Pi, \text{SL}_2(A))$, we will call $\text{Tr}(\varphi) \in \mathbb{A}^3(A) = A^3$ the "trace coordinates of φ ." The trace invariant of φ is the element tr $\varphi([b, a]) = \text{tr } \varphi([a, b]) \in A$.

There is a natural right action of Aut(Π) on the functor Hom(Π , SL₂) commuting with the conjugation action of GL₂. By the Yoneda lemma, it follows that Aut(Π) acts on trace coordinates by *polynomials*, and the action descends to a right action of Aut(Π) on the character variety $X_{SL_2} \cong \mathbb{A}^3$. Moreover, we will see that this action preserves the trace invariant (Proposition 5.2.5 below).

LEMMA 5.2.4. Let R be any ring, and let Π be a free group with generators a, b. Let $\varphi : \Pi \to SL_2(R)$ be a homomorphism. Let (A, B, C) := $(\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab))$. Then the trace invariant of φ can be computed as follows:

$$tr(\varphi([a, b])) = A^2 + B^2 + C^2 - ABC - 2 \in R.$$

Proof. See [BH95, Prop. A.1*.10(iii)], and also [Gol09, §2.2].

PROPOSITION 5.2.5. Let $T : \mathbb{A}^3 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ (over \mathbb{Z}) be given by

$$T(x, y, z) = x^{2} + y^{2} + z^{2} - xyz - 2.$$

Let $\tau : X_{SL_2} \to \mathbb{A}^1$ be given by $\varphi \mapsto \operatorname{tr} \varphi([a, b])$. Then the following diagram is commutative:



where Tr is the isomorphism (5.4). The right action of Aut(II) on X_{SL_2} and its induced action on \mathbb{A}^3 preserve the fibers of τ and T. Viewing the induced action on \mathbb{A}^3 as a left action, Tr defines an anti-homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Tr}_* : \operatorname{Aut}(\Pi) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{A}^3),$$

which can be described as follows. The group $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ is generated by three elements r, s, t (defined below), and their images in $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{A}^3)$ under the anti-homomorphism Tr_* are given as follows:

Proof. We begin with the final statement. That r, s, t generate Aut(Π) follows from [MKS04, §3] (also see [MW13, §2]). That $(s, t) \mapsto (\tau_{12}, \tau_{23})$ is easy to check. To see that $r \mapsto R_3$, one should use the Fricke identity

(5.5)
$$\operatorname{tr}(AB) + \operatorname{tr}(A^{-1}B) = \operatorname{tr}(A)\operatorname{tr}(B)$$

valid for $A, B \in SL_2(R)$ for any ring R. To verify this identity, one uses the Cayley-Hamilton theorem to deduce that $A + A^{-1} = Tr(A)$. Multiplying both sides by B and taking traces yields the identity (5.5).

The commutativity of the diagram follows from the lemma. Using the explicit form of the Aut(Π)-action, the fact that Aut(Π) preserves the fibers amounts to the observation that for ring R and any homomorphism $\varphi : \Pi \to SL_2(R)$, the following identities hold:

$$T(\tau_{12}(x,y,z)) = T(\tau_{23}(x,y,z)) = T(R_3(x,y,z)) = T(x,y,z),$$

where $\tau_{12}, \tau_{23}, R_3$ are as in Proposition 5.2.5. This is easily verified by hand. \Box

Remark 5.2.6. The fact that $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ preserves the fibers of τ also follows from the local constancy of the Higman invariant (see Proposition 2.3.2). The fact that $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ preserves the fibers can be checked by noting that any representative of the non-trivial coset in $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)/\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ sends the Higman invariant to its inverse, and traces in SL_2 are invariant under inversion.

Definition 5.2.7. Let T be a scheme, $n \geq 1$ an integer, and G a group. A representation $\varphi : G \to \operatorname{GL}_n(T) = \operatorname{GL}_n(\Gamma(T, \mathcal{O}_T))$ is absolutely irreducible if the induced algebra homomorphism $\Gamma(T, \mathcal{O}_T)[G] \to M_n(\Gamma(T, \mathcal{O}_T))$ is surjective. A subgroup $G \subset \operatorname{GL}_n(T)$ is absolutely irreducible if the inclusion $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}_n(T)$ is an absolutely irreducible representation.

When $T = \operatorname{Spec} k$ with k a field, then this notion of absolute irreducibility is the same as the non-existence of non-trivial G-invariant subspaces of \overline{k}^n , where \overline{k} denotes the algebraic closure [Lan02, §XVII, Cor. 3.4]. Definition 5.2.8. Let R be any ring. Let $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})^{\operatorname{ai}} \subset \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})$ be the subfunctor corresponding to the absolutely irreducible representations. By [Nak00, §3], this is represented by an open subscheme of $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})$. Accordingly, let

$$X_{\mathrm{SL}_{2R}}^{\mathrm{al}} := \mathrm{Hom}(\Pi, \mathrm{SL}_{2R})^{\mathrm{al}} /\!\!/ \mathrm{GL}_2.$$

As usual, if $R = \mathbb{Z}$, then we will simply write $X_{SL_2}^{ai} := X_{SL_{2,\mathbb{Z}}}^{ai}$.

LEMMA 5.2.9. Let R be a ring. Let $\varphi : \Pi \to SL_2(R)$ be a representation. Let $(A, B, C) := (\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab))$. Then φ is absolutely irreducible if and only if

$$A^2 + B^2 + C^2 - ABC - 4 \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}.$$

In particular, we have $X_{SL_2}^{ai} = X_{SL_2} - \tau^{-1}(2)$.

Proof. The first statement is [BH95, Prop. 4.1]. The second statement follows from the description of τ in Proposition 5.2.5.

We have the following "moduli interpretation" for $X^{ai}_{\operatorname{SL}_2 R}(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

THEOREM 5.2.10. Let Π be a free group on the generators a, b. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. Let $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ act on the set $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ by conjugation. The map

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}: \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) &\longrightarrow \mathbb{F}_q^3 \\ \varphi &\mapsto (\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab)) \end{aligned}$$

is surjective. Moreover, the following maps induced by Tr are bijections:

(5.6)
$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))^{\operatorname{ai}} / \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \xrightarrow{\alpha} X_{\operatorname{SL}_2}^{\operatorname{ai}}(\mathbb{F}_q) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}} \mathbb{F}_q^3 - T^{-1}(2)$$

The surjectivity of Tr is [Mac69, Th. 1]. We will give two proofs of the bijectivity statement. The first is elementary and amounts to a classical result of Macbeath [Mac69] using explicit calculations in $SL_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_p})$. The second is significantly more general and uses results of Nakamoto [Nak00] on character varieties which, in particular, shows that the map $Hom(\Pi, SL_{2,R})^{ai} \to X_{SL_{2,R}}^{ai}$ is a universal geometric quotient.

Proof 1. The second map $\operatorname{Tr} : X_{\operatorname{SL}_2}^{\operatorname{ai}}(\mathbb{F}_q) \longrightarrow \mathbb{F}_q^3 - T^{-1}(2)$ is already a bijection by Proposition 5.2.5. Thus it suffices to show that the composition is bijective. This amounts to a classical result of Macbeath. For a homomorphism $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, let $(A, B, C) = (\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab))$ and let

$$Q_{\varphi}(x, y, z) = Q_{A,B,C}(x, y, z) := x^2 + y^2 + z^2 + Ayz + Bxz + Cxy.$$

We say that φ is non-singular if the projective conic defined by Q_{φ} is smooth (equivalently geometrically integral). Similarly, given any triple $(A, B, C) \in \mathbb{F}_q^3$, we say that it is non-singular if the form $Q_{A,B,C}$ defines a smooth projective

conic. We claim that φ is non-singular if and only if it is absolutely irreducible. Indeed, the discriminant of $Q_{\varphi} = Q_{A,B,C}$ is

$$\operatorname{disc}(Q_{\varphi}) = \operatorname{disc}(Q_{A,B,C}) = -(A^2 + B^2 + C^2 - ABC - 4),$$

and the associated conic fails to be smooth if and only if $\operatorname{disc}(Q_{\varphi}) = 0,^{32}$ or equivalently, when T(A, B, C) = 2, where T is as in Proposition 5.2.5. By Lemma 5.2.9, this is equivalent to φ not being absolutely irreducible, so the nonsingular representations are precisely the absolutely irreducible representations, and the non-singular triples are precisely those in $\mathbb{F}_q^3 - T^{-1}(2)$.

In [Mac69, Th. 3], Macbeath shows that every non-singular triple in \mathbb{F}_q^3 is the trace of a non-singular φ , and conversely any two non-singular representations φ, φ' are conjugate by some $P \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$. Since φ, φ' are absolutely irreducible, the associated algebra homomorphisms $\widehat{\varphi}, \widehat{\varphi'} : \mathbb{F}_q[\Pi] \to M_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ are surjective, and hence such a P must normalize $M_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, so it must normalize $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Finally, it follows from the description of the normalizer $N_{\mathrm{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ in Proposition 6.3.1 that the action factors through the action of $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, so Macbeath's result establishes the desired bijectivity. \Box

Proof 2. Since Tr is a bijection (Theorem 5.2.1, Proposition 5.2.5), it remains to prove the bijectivity of α . It follows from [Nak00, Cors. 2.13 and 6.8] that for any ring R, the map

$$\xi : \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})^{\operatorname{ai}} \to X^{\operatorname{ai}}_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}$$

is a universal geometric quotient by $\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}$ in the sense of geometric invariant theory [MFK94, Def. 0.6]. Thus for algebraically closed fields Ω over R, ξ induces a bijection

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\Omega))^{\operatorname{ai}}/\operatorname{GL}_2(\Omega) \xrightarrow{\sim} X^{\operatorname{ai}}_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}(\Omega).$$

Setting $\Omega = \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$, Proposition 6.3.1 implies (arguing as in the first proof) that two absolutely irreducible representations $\varphi, \varphi' : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, are conjugate in $\mathrm{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$ if and only if they are conjugate in $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. This implies the injectivity of α . Since the center of $\mathrm{GL}_{2,R}$ acts trivially, ξ is also a universal geometric quotient by $\mathrm{PGL}_{2,R}$. Since our representations are absolutely irreducible, the

³²The definition of the discriminant and its association with the smoothness of the associated conic is classical in characteristic $p \neq 2$, but in characteristic 2 some care is needed. A modern treatment describing the discriminant for an arbitrary projective hypersurface over arbitrary fields is given in Demazure [Dem12]. The definition of discriminant is [Dem12, Def. 4] (also see [Dem12, Ex. 6]), and its association with smoothness is [Dem12, Prop. 12]. For a ternary quadratic form q(x, y, z) over a field k, to calculate its discriminant one should first lift q to a quadratic form \tilde{q} in characteristic 0 (e.g., over a Cohen ring of k), compute its discriminant there, defined as one half of the determinant of the Gram matrix of the bilinear form $b(v, w) = \tilde{q}(v + w) - \tilde{q}(v) - \tilde{q}(w)$, and then take its image in k.

PGL_{2,R}-action is *free* [Nak00, Cor. 6.5], so ξ is moreover a principal PGL_{2,R}bundle. In particular, for any field k and map $x : \operatorname{Spec} k \to X_{\operatorname{SL}_{2,R}}^{\operatorname{ai}}$, the restriction $x^*\xi : x^* \operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_{2,R})^{\operatorname{ai}} \to \operatorname{Spec} k$ is a principal PGL_{2,k} bundle. When $k = \mathbb{F}_q$, by Lang's theorem [Poo17, Th. 5.12.19], principal PGL_{2, \mathbb{F}_q}}-bundles over $\operatorname{Spec} \mathbb{F}_q$ are trivial, and hence α is surjective.³³

Remark 5.2.11. The methods used in the second proof also hold for character varieties of absolutely irreducible representations of arbitrary groups in arbitrary dimension. More precisely, if Π temporarily denotes an arbitrary group, $n \geq 1$ an integer, R any ring, and $X_{\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_n}^{\mathrm{ai}}$ the quotient of the representation variety of absolutely irreducible representations $\mathrm{Hom}(\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_{n,R})^{\mathrm{ai}} \to \mathrm{GL}_{n,R}$, then by [Nak00, Cor. 6.8], the quotient map $\mathrm{Hom}(\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_{n,R})^{\mathrm{ai}} \to X_{\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_n}^{\mathrm{ai}}$ is a universal geometric quotient and a principal $\mathrm{PGL}_{n,R}$ -bundle, so the argument used in the second proof also gives a bijection $\mathrm{Hom}(\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q))^{\mathrm{ai}}/\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \xrightarrow{\sim} X_{\Pi,\mathrm{GL}_n}^{\mathrm{ai}}(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Combined with Theorem 3.5.1, restricting to the subsets with image of a particular type, this bijection can potentially be used to establish congruences on the $\mathrm{Aut}(\Pi)$ -orbits on \mathbb{F}_q points of more general character varieties.

By Theorem 5.2.10, elements of $X_{\mathrm{SL}_2}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ do not quite correspond to $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -structures, but rather $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -equivalence classes of such structures.

Definition 5.2.12. For a prime power q, let $i : \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \operatorname{Aut}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ be the map which sends $A \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ to the corresponding action by conjugation on $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Let D(q) be the image of $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ in $\operatorname{Out}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$. We call D(q)the group of "diagonal" outer automorphisms of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

For a general subgroup $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, let D(q, G) denote the image of $i: N_{\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(G) \to \operatorname{Out}(G)$, where *i* is given by the conjugation action. Thus if $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, then D(q, G) = D(q).

PROPOSITION 5.2.13. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. If q is even, D(q) is trivial. If q is odd, D(q) has order 2, and the non-trivial element is represented

 $1 \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_m(k^s) \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_2(k^s) \longrightarrow \mathrm{PGL}_2(k^s) \longrightarrow 1$

induces a longer exact sequence of Galois cohomology sets [Ser02, I,§5.7, Prop. 43]

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H^1(k, \operatorname{GL}_2(k^s)) \longrightarrow H^1(k, \operatorname{PGL}_2(k^s)) \longrightarrow H^2(k, \mathbb{G}_m(k^s)) \longrightarrow \cdots$$

 $^{^{33}\}mathrm{Alternatively},$ one could argue surjectivity as follows. Let k^s denote a separable closure of k. The exact sequence

Since PGL_2 is smooth, every principal PGL_2 -bundle over k^s is trivial, and hence $H^1(k, \operatorname{PGL}_2(k^s))$ classifies principal PGL_2 -bundles over k [Poo17, §5.12.4]. On the other hand, the first term of the sequence vanishes by Hilbert's Theorem 90 [Poo17, Prop. 1.3.15], and the last is the Brauer group, which vanishes for finite fields (or any field of cohomological dimension ≤ 1). In particular, if $k = \mathbb{F}_q$, then $x^*\xi$ is a trivial $\operatorname{PGL}_{2,k}$ -bundle, and hence α is surjective.

by any matrix $A \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with non-square determinant. When q = p is a prime, $D(p) = \operatorname{Out}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$.

Proof. The fact that $D(p) = \text{Out}(\text{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ follows from [Ste16, Th. 30], noting that for $\text{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$, there are no graph or field automorphisms. The rest is clear.

Definition 5.2.14. For a prime power q, we say that a subgroup $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is of dihedral type if its image in $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) := \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)/\{\pm I\}$ is either trivial or isomorphic to the dihedral group of order 2n for some $n \geq 1$. For a representation $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, we say that it is of dihedral type if its image is a subgroup of dihedral type.

For the results in the next section we will eventually need to exclude the representations of dihedral type. Next we make some preliminary observations about such representations.

Definition 5.2.15. Let R be a ring, and let $t \in R$ be an element corresponding to a map $t : \operatorname{Spec} R \to \mathbb{A}^1$. Let

$$X_{\mathrm{SL}_2,t} := \tau^{-1}(t) := X_{\mathrm{SL}_2} \times_{\tau,\mathbb{A}^1,t} \operatorname{Spec} R$$

be the fiber corresponding to representations with tr $\varphi([a,b]) = t$. Via Tr : $X_{\mathrm{SL}_{2,R}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{A}^3_R, X_{\mathrm{SL}_{2,t}} = \tau^{-1}(t)$ is identified with the affine surface $T^{-1}(t) \subset \mathbb{A}^3_R$:

$$T^{-1}(t): x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 = t.$$

In particular, when $t = -2 \in \mathbb{Z}$, this is the Markoff surface $\mathbb{X} \subset \mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{Z}}$. By Theorem 5.2.10, for $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, every \mathbb{F}_q point of $T^{-1}(t)$ is the image under Tr of a representation $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

- Let $X_t(q)$ denote the set of \mathbb{F}_q -points of the affine surface $T^{-1}(t) \subset \mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{F}_q}$.
- Let $X_t^*(q) \subset X_t(q)$ denote the subset corresponding to absolutely irreducible representations which are not of dihedral type (Definition 5.2.14).
- Let $X_t^{\circ}(q) \subset X_t(q)$ denote the subset corresponding to surjective representations $\Pi \twoheadrightarrow \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$.
- Let $X(q) := \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t(q)$, let $X^*(q) := \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t^*(q)$, and let $X^{\circ}(q) := \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t^{\circ}(q)$.

PROPOSITION 5.2.16. The following are true:

- (a) For all prime powers $q, X_2^*(q)$ and $X_2^\circ(q)$ are empty.
- (b) For $q \ge 3$, $X^{\circ}(q) \subset X^{*}(q)$.
- (c) For q = 2, $X^*(2)$ is empty whereas $X^{\circ}(2)$ is not.
- (d) For any prime power q, if $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, then

 $X_t^*(q) = \{(x, y, z) \in X_t(q) \mid as \ least \ two \ of \ \{x, y, z\} \ are \ non-zero \ in \ \mathbb{F}_q\}.$

Proof. Part (a) follows immediately from Lemma 5.2.9. Part (b) follows from the fact that $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is not dihedral for $q \geq 3$. For q = 2, $X^*(q)$ is empty since every subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_2) = PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_2)$ is either dihedral or cyclic. On the other hand, there exist surjections $\Pi \twoheadrightarrow SL_2(\mathbb{F}_2)$, so $X^{\circ}(2)$ is non-empty. This proves (c).

Finally we prove (d). Let $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be an absolutely irreducible representation with $A := \varphi(a), B := \varphi(b)$. Recall that φ is absolutely irreducible if and only if $\operatorname{tr} \varphi([a, b]) = 2$ (Lemma 5.2.9). Thus, $X_2^*(q)$ is empty, and it remains to show that φ is of dihedral type if and only if two of tr A, tr B, tr ABare equal to 0. Note that a group is dihedral if and only if it is generated by two elements g, h with $g^2 = h^2 = 1$, and that a matrix $A \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ maps to an element of order 2 in $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ if and only if $\operatorname{tr}(A) = 0$. Thus if two of tr A, tr B, tr AB are equal to zero, then φ must be of dihedral type. Conversely, if φ is of dihedral type, let $\overline{A}, \overline{B} \in \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be the images of A, B. Then $\overline{A}, \overline{B}$ must satisfy $\overline{A}^2 = \overline{B}^2 = 1$, and up to switching A, B, there are three cases:

- $|\overline{A}| = |\overline{B}| = 1$. Then $\varphi(\Pi) = \langle A, B \rangle \leq Z(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$, so φ is not absolutely irreducible, so this case cannot occur.
- $|\overline{A}| = 1$ and $|\overline{B}| = 2$. Then $A = \pm I$ and $\operatorname{tr}(B) = \operatorname{tr}(AB) = 0$. In this case $\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi) = (\pm 2, 0, 0)$ (though this case is actually forbidden since $\langle A, B \rangle$ is cyclic so φ cannot be absolutely irreducible in this case).
- $|\overline{A}| = |\overline{B}| = 2$. Then $\operatorname{tr}(A) = \operatorname{tr}(B) = 0$. In this case $\operatorname{Tr}(\varphi) = (0, 0, \operatorname{tr}(AB))$. Thus a representation of dihedral type must have at least two of $\operatorname{tr} \varphi(a)$,

For us, an important special case is when q = p and t = -2,

PROPOSITION 5.2.17. The following are true:

(a) For all primes $p \ge 3$, $X_{-2}^*(p) = X_{-2}^\circ(p)$ consists of the \mathbb{F}_p -points of the surface

$$X : x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = 0$$

other than (0,0,0). In other words, for $p \ge 3$, we have $X^*_{-2}(p) = X^{\circ}_{-2}(p) = X_{-2}(p) - \{(0,0,0)\} = \mathbb{X}^*(p)$.

(b) For p = 2, $X_{-2}^{\circ}(2) = X_{-2}^{*}(2)$ is empty but

tr $\varphi(b)$, tr $\varphi(ab)$ equal to 0, as desired.

$$X_{-2}(2) - \{(0,0,0)\} = \{(1,1,0), (1,0,1), (0,1,1), (1,1,1)\}.$$

Proof. Note that in $X_{-2}(p)$, if two of the coordinates are zero, then the third must also be zero. The fact that $X_{-2}^{\circ}(p) = X_{-2}(p) - \{(0,0,0)\}$ for $p \geq 3$ follows from the analysis of [MW13, §11]. This also implies $X_{-2}^{*}(p) = X_{-2}(p) - \{(0,0,0)\}$ for $p \geq 3$ by Proposition 5.2.16(b). For p = 2, -2 = 2, so the statement in this case follows from Proposition 5.2.16(a).

Remark 5.2.18. For general prime powers q and traces $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, the discussion in [MW13, §11] gives a complete (albeit more complicated) description of the subsets $X_t^{\circ}(q) \subset X(q)$.

Definition 5.2.19. Given a subgroup $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, we may speak of the trace of elements $g \in G$. For any $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, let $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_t \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ denote the open and closed substack classifying G-covers whose Higman invariant has trace t. We have analogous notions of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_t, \mathcal{M}(G)_t, \mathcal{M}(G)_t$.

Here we summarize the relation between the Aut(Π)-action on $X^*(q)$ and the geometry of the moduli stacks $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}/D(q,G)$:

PROPOSITION 5.2.20. Let $p \geq 3$ be a prime. Let E, Π, a, b, x_E be as in Situation 2.5.14. Let $G \leq SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be the image of an absolutely irreducible representation $\varphi : \Pi \to SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$, and let D(q, G) be as in Definition 5.2.12. Let

$$\mathfrak{f}: \mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}/D(q,G) \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}(1)$$

be the forgetful map. We have a commutative diagram

(5.7)
$$\begin{aligned}
\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(x_E) &\xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, G) / D(q, G) &\longleftrightarrow \quad X^*(q) \subset \mathbb{F}_q^3 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz - 2 \\
& \downarrow x^2 + y^2 + y^2 + z^2 + y^2 + z^2 + z^2 + y^2 + z^2 + z^2$$

where the map "trace invariant" is the trace invariant of any G-structure in the D(q,G)-orbit. The automorphisms $\gamma_0, \gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}, \gamma_{-I} \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ and their induced actions on $X(q) := \sqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t(q) = \mathbb{F}_q^3$ are given as follows:

By Galois theory, to every $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ -orbit on X(q) is associated a connected component of $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}/D(q,G)$ for some G as above. If $P \in X(q)$ corresponds to a geometric point $x_P \in \mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}/D(q,G)$, then the connected component $\mathcal{M}(x_P) \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}/D(q,G)$ containing P has degree over $\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ equal to the size of the $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ -orbit of P. Let $M(x_P)$ denote the coarse scheme, let $\overline{M(x_P)}$ denote its smooth compactification, and let

$$f:\overline{M(x_P)}\to\overline{M(1)}_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}$$

denote the forgetful map. If we identify $\overline{M(1)}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ with the projective line with coordinate j, then f is a branched covering of smooth proper curves over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$, étale over the complement of the points $j = 0,1728, \infty$. If $j(E) \neq 0,1728$, then

the bijection in (5.7) induces a bijection

$$f^{-1}(x_E) \xrightarrow{\sim} (\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi) \cdot P) / \langle \gamma_{-I} \rangle = \operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi) \cdot P.$$

For $j = 0, 1728, \infty$, there are bijections

$$f^{-1}(0) = \left(\operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\Pi) \cdot P\right) / \langle \gamma_{0} \rangle, \quad f^{-1}(1728) = \left(\operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\Pi) \cdot P\right) / \langle \gamma_{1728} \rangle, \text{ and}$$
$$f^{-1}(\infty) = \left(\operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\Pi) \cdot P\right) / \langle \gamma_{\infty} \rangle$$

such that the ramification index of a given point in $f^{-1}(0)$ (resp. $f^{-1}(1728)$, $f^{-1}(\infty)$) is equal to the size of the corresponding orbit under γ_0 (resp. $\gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}$) in (Aut⁺(Π) · P).

Proof. The properties of the diagram (5.7) follows from Theorem 5.2.10, Proposition 5.2.5, and the discussion in Situation 2.5.14. The formulas for the automorphisms of $X(q) := \bigsqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t(q) = \mathbb{F}_q^3$ induced by $\gamma_0, \gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}$ can be verified using Proposition 5.2.5, noting that

$$\gamma_0 = s \circ r \circ s \circ t \circ r \circ s, \ \gamma_{1728} = s \circ r, \ \gamma_{\infty} = t \circ r, \ \gamma_{-I} = \gamma_{1728}^2.$$

Here we must remember that Tr_* : $\operatorname{Aut}(\Pi) \to \operatorname{Aut}(X(q))$ is an *anti-homo-morphism*. Since $\gamma_{-I} = \gamma_{1728}^2$ acts trivially on $X^{\circ}(p)$, the statement about ramification indices follows from [BBCL22, Prop. 2.2.3].

Remark 5.2.21. The automorphisms $\gamma_0, \gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}, \gamma_{-I}$ are perhaps more familiar in terms of the corresponding matrices they determine in $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. Namely, under the map $\Pi \to \mathbb{Z}^2$, sending a, b to the canonical basis of \mathbb{Z}^2 , we find that $\gamma_0, \gamma_{1728}, \gamma_{\infty}, \gamma_{-I}$ correspond to the matrices

 $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$

respectively. Viewing the matrices as fractional linear transformations of the upper half plane \mathcal{H} , the *j*-function takes the values $0, 1728, \infty$ respectively on the fixed point sets of the first three matrices. The final matrix acts trivially on \mathcal{H} and corresponds to the hyperelliptic involution.

Remark 5.2.22. By Proposition 5.2.17(a), $X_{-2}^*(p) = X_{-2}^\circ(p)$ (for $p \ge 3$) is precisely the set of non-zero \mathbb{F}_p -points of $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = 0$. Thus it follows from the combinatorial analysis in the previous section that every $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ orbit on this set has cardinality divisible by p (see Corollary 4.12.5(a)). This proves Theorem 1.2.5 given in the introduction, and hence resolves the conjecture of Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak for all but finitely many primes. In the following sections we will give a different proof of this fact using the explicit form of the $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\Pi)$ -action on $X(q) = \sqcup_{t \in \mathbb{F}_q} X_t(q)$; this will yield additional congruences not directly implied by Corollary 4.12.5.

5.3. Automorphism groups of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$. In this section we use the formalism developed in Section 5.2 to describe the vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$. The main result is that for any $q \geq 3$, the map $\overline{\mathcal{M}}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \to \overline{\mathcal{M}}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ is representable. By Proposition 2.5.10(b), the restriction to the preimage above $\mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ is just the finite étale map $\mathcal{M}(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}} \to \mathcal{M}(1)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ (Theorem 2.5.2(1)), so there the representability is a consequence of finiteness. It remains to show that the vertical automorphism groups remain trivial at the cusps. For this, consider the "Dehn twist" $\gamma_{\infty} \in \operatorname{Aut}(\Pi)$ given by

$$\gamma_{\infty} = t \circ r : (a, b) \mapsto (a, ab),$$

which induces the "rotation" (using the terminology of [BGS16a])

$$\operatorname{rot}_1 := \operatorname{Tr}_*(t \circ r) = \operatorname{Tr}_*(r) \circ \operatorname{Tr}_*(t) = R_3 \circ \tau_{23} : (x, y, z) \mapsto (x, z, xz - y).$$

By Theorem 4.8.4, the cusps of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ are classified by the set $\mathbb{I}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$. Let Π, a, b be as in Situation 2.5.14. Then the map

$$\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) \longrightarrow \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)),$$
$$\varphi \mapsto \llbracket \varphi(a), \varphi(b) \rrbracket$$

induces a bijection $\operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))/\langle \gamma_{\infty} \rangle \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{I}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$. It follows from Theorem 4.10.3(a) that the following are equivalent:

- For every $\varphi \in \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$, the orbit $\{\varphi \circ \gamma_{\infty}^i \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ has size $|\varphi(a)|$.
- The vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of $\mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ are reduced to $\{\pm I\} = Z(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$.

Using the moduli interpretation of the points $X_{SL_2}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ (Theorem 5.2.10), we will show something even stronger:

LEMMA 5.3.1. For any prime power $q \geq 3$, let $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be an absolutely irreducible representation with $(\operatorname{tr} \varphi(b), \operatorname{tr} \varphi(ab)) \neq (0,0)$. (In particular, φ is not of dihedral type; see Proposition 5.2.16.) Then the γ_{∞} -orbit of φ viewed as an element of $\operatorname{Hom}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))^{\operatorname{ai}}/D(q)$ has size $|\varphi(a)|$.

The proof of the lemma will be given below. Recall that for $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, $n_q(t)$ is the order of any non-central element of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of trace t (Definition 5.1.4). The lemma implies

THEOREM 5.3.2. Let $q \geq 3$ be a prime power. Let $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be an absolutely irreducible representation which is not of dihedral type. (Equivalently, $\varphi(\Pi)$ is not a subgroup of dihedral type and tr $\varphi([a, b]) \neq 2$.) Then $G := \varphi(\Pi)$ contains $Z(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ and we have

(a) the vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$ are all reduced to $Z(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) = \{\pm I\};$

(b) the forgetful map $\mathfrak{f}: \overline{\mathcal{M}(G)}_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}} \longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}_{\overline{\mathbb{O}}}$ is representable.

Let $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, and let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_t$ be a component with universal family $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{E}$ and reduced ramification divisor \mathcal{R}_{π} . The vertical automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R}_{π} are as follows:

- (c1) If q is even, then for any geometric point $x \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$, $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(x)$ is trivial.
- (c2) If q is odd and t = -2, then for any geometric point $x \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$, $\operatorname{Aut}^{v}(x)$ has order 2.
- (c3) If q is odd, $t \neq -2$ and $n_q(t)$ is even, then for any geometric point $x \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$, Aut^v(x) has order 2.
- (c4) If q is odd, $t \neq -2$ and $n_q(t)$ is odd, then for any geometric point $x \in \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$, Aut^v(x) is trivial.

Proof of Theorem 5.3.2. That $G = \varphi(\Pi)$ must contain the $Z(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ follows from Macbeath's classification of the 2-generated subgroups of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ [Mac69, §4] (also see Proposition 6.4.1 in the appendix). Parts (a) and (b) follow immediately from Lemma 5.3.1 and the preceding discussion. It remains to address (c1)–(c4). Suppose \mathcal{X} classifies covers with Higman invariant \mathfrak{c} . Let $c \in \mathfrak{c}$ be a representative. Using Theorem 4.10.3 and Lemma 5.3.1, we find $\operatorname{Aut}^v(x) = Z(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) \cap \langle c \rangle$. If q is even, then $Z(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)) = 1$ so we are done. Now assume q is odd. If t = -2, then c is conjugate to $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & u \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ for some $u \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$, so in this case $c^p = -I$ so $\operatorname{Aut}^v(x)$ has order 2. If $t \neq -2$, then c is diagonalizable over $\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$, so $\langle c \rangle$ has non-trivial intersection with $\{\pm I\}$ if and only if $|c| = n_q(t)$ is even.

Finally we prove Lemma 5.3.1. Along the way we will also count the number of rot₁ orbits on $X_{-2}^{\circ}(p)$ for $p \geq 3$.

Proof of Lemma 5.3.1. Since $\operatorname{Tr}_*(\gamma_{\infty}) = \operatorname{rot}_1$, we must analyze the action of rot_1 on the $X_t(q)$ for various $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$. For any $a \in \mathbb{F}_q, t \in \mathbb{F}_q$, the action of rot₁ visibly preserves the conics

$$C_1(a)_t := X_t(q)_{x=a} = \{(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{F}_q^3 \mid x = a \text{ and} \\ y^2 + z^2 - ayz + (a^2 - 2 - t) = 0\} \subset X_t(q),$$

where q is understood. Since rot₁ is induced by an action of $\gamma_{\infty} \in Aut(\Pi)$, it also preserves the subset

$$C_1(a)_t^* := X_t^*(q) \cap C_1(a)_t$$

corresponding to absolutely irreducible representations not of dihedral type, as well as the subset

$$C_1(a)_t^\circ := X_t^\circ(q) \cap C_1(a)_t$$

corresponding to surjective representations. Note that for $q \geq 3$, $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is not dihedral, so $C_1(a)_t^\circ \subset C_1(a)_t^*$ for $q \geq 3$.

Here we analyze the action of rot_1 on these conics, following [BGS16a] and [MP18]. Homogenizing the equation $y^2 + z^2 - ayz + (a^2 - 2 - t) = 0$, by Chevalley-Warning we find that if $a^2 \neq t + 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, then $C_1(a)_t$ is non-empty. The discriminant of the corresponding ternary quadratic form is $(4 - a^2)(a^2 - 2 - t)$ and hence we find that $C_1(a)_t$ is a degenerate conic if and only if $a^2 = 4$ or $a^2 = t + 2$ in \mathbb{F}_q . Thus we will consider the values $a = \pm 2, \pm \sqrt{t+2}$ separately, where $\sqrt{t+2} \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$ is a square root of t+2. On each $C_1(a)_t$, rot₁ acts as the linear transformation on the ambient affine yz-plane given by

$$\operatorname{rot}_1|_{C_1(a)_t} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1\\ -1 & a \end{bmatrix}.$$

Given a subset $Z \,\subset\, C_1(a)_t$, we say that rot₁ acts freely on Z if the cyclic group $\langle \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & a \end{bmatrix} \rangle$ acts freely on Z. We will analyze the action of rot₁ according to the behavior of $a^2 - 4$. We will show that for any $q \geq 3$ and $a, t \in \mathbb{F}_q$ with $t \neq 2$, rot₁ acts freely on $C_1(a)_t^*$, so its orbits all have the same size $n_q(a)$ (Definition 5.1.4). For later use, we will also count the number of rot₁-orbits in the case where $q = p \geq 3$ and t = -2 (in which case $C_1(a)_{-2}^* = C_1(a)_{-2}^\circ$ by Proposition 5.2.17).

Since $C_1(a)_2^* = C_1(a)_2^\circ = \emptyset$, in the following we only consider the case when $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$. In particular, the exceptional cases $a^2 = 4, a^2 = t + 2$ do not overlap. We will also restrict ourselves to the case $q \geq 3$ (equivalently, $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is not dihedral).

(1) Suppose $a^2 - 4 = 0$ $(a = \pm 2)$, $t \neq 2$, and $q \ge 3$ is odd. In this case we say a is parabolic.

If a = 2, then $C_1(a)_t$ is given by $(y - z)^2 = t - 2$, which is non-empty if and only if $t - 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a square. When this is the case it is the disjoint union of the two lines $y - z = \pm \sqrt{t - 2}$. On \mathbb{F}_q^2 , rot₁ acts via $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$, which is conjugate to $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. It fixes pointwise the line y = z in \mathbb{F}_q^2 and acts freely with order $n_q(a) = p$ everywhere else. Since $t \neq 2$, $C_1(a)_t$ does not contain any fixed points, so rot₁ acts on $C_1(a)_t$ freely with orbits of size $n_q(a) = p$. When $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, we obtain two orbits (of size p) on $C_1(2)_{-2}^*$ when $p \equiv 1 \mod 4$ and zero orbits if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$.

If a = -2, then $C_1(a)_t$ is given by $(y + z)^2 = t - 2$, which is again non-empty if and only if $t - 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a square. When t - 2 is a square, $C_1(a)_t$ is again a disjoint union of the lines $y + z = \pm \sqrt{t - 2}$. On \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , rot₁ acts via $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & -2 \end{bmatrix} \sim \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$, which acts by $v \mapsto -v$ on the line y = -zand acts freely everywhere else, alternating between the two lines. Since qis odd and $t \neq 2$, rot₁ acts on $C_1(a)_t$ freely with order $n_q(a) = 2p$. When $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, we obtain one orbit (of size 2p) on $C_1(-2)_{-2}^*$ when $p \equiv 1 \mod 4$ and zero orbits if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$.

(2) Suppose $a^2 - 4 \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a square, $t \neq 2$, and $q \geq 3$ is odd. In this case we say a is hyperbolic. Hyperbolic a's are in bijection with the set of polynomials

of the form $T^2 - aT + 1$ with distinct roots in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , and hence there are $\frac{q-3}{2}$ hyperbolic *a*'s.

In this case rot₁ acts via $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & a \end{bmatrix}$, which is diagonalizable with distinct eigenvalues ω, ω^{-1} with $\omega = \frac{a \pm \sqrt{a^2 - 4}}{2}$ and $a = \omega + \omega^{-1}$. This matrix acts freely on $\mathbb{F}_q^2 - \{(0,0)\}$, so rot₁ acts freely on $C_1(a)_t - \{(a,0,0)\} \supset C_1(a)_t^*$ with orbits of size $n_q(a) = |\omega|$.

If $a^2 = t + 2$, then $C_1(a)_t$ is the degenerate conic $(y - \omega z)(y - \omega^{-1}z) = 0$, which consists of two lines intersecting at the origin. If $a^2 \neq t + 2$, then $C_1(a)_t$ is a non-degenerate conic with two points at infinity, so $C_1(a)_t$ has q - 1 points.

If $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, then the degenerate case $a^2 = t + 2$ corresponds to a = 0, in which case $C_1(0)_{-2}^* = C_1(0)_{-2} - \{(0,0,0)\}$. In this case we obtain $\frac{2(p-1)}{4}$ orbits on $C_1(0)_{-2}^*$, each of size 4. This occurs if and only if $a^2 - 4 = -4 \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ is a square; equivalently, $p \equiv 1 \mod 4$. If $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$, then a=0 is not hyperbolic. For non-degenerate hyperbolic a's, $|C_1(a)_{-2}^*| = p-1$ so $C_1(a)_{-2}^*$ contributes $\frac{p-1}{n_q(a)}$ orbits, each of size $n_q(a)$. Thus, if $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, the number of rot₁ orbits on $C_1(a)_{-2}^*$ for hyperbolic a's is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \# \text{ of rot}_1 \text{ orbits on} \bigsqcup_{\substack{a \in \mathbb{F}_p \\ \text{hyperbolic}}} C_1(a)_{-2}^* \\ \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{cases} \frac{2(p-1)}{4} + \sum_{\substack{d \mid p-1 \\ d \neq 1, 2, 4}} \frac{\phi(d)}{2} \cdot \frac{p-1}{d} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \sum_{\substack{d \mid p-1 \\ d \neq 1, 2}} \frac{\phi(d)}{2} \cdot \frac{p-1}{d} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

Here d should be thought of as $n_q(a) = |\omega|$.

(3) Suppose $a^2 - 4 \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$ is a non-square, $t \neq 2$, and $q \geq 3$ is odd. In this case we say a is elliptic. Elliptic a's are in bijection with the set of polynomials of the form $T^2 - aT + 1$ which are non-split in \mathbb{F}_q but have distinct roots in $\mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$. These roots are precisely the elements of $\mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ which lie in the unique subgroup of order q + 1 but not in the subgroup of order q - 1, and hence there are $\frac{q-1}{2}$ elliptic a's.

In this case rot₁ acts via $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & a \end{bmatrix}$ which is diagonalizable in \mathbb{F}_{q^2} with distinct conjugate eigenvalues $\omega, \omega^{-1} \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times} - \mathbb{F}_q$, so $\omega^{-1} = \omega^q$, equivalently $\omega^{q+1} = 1$, and as usual $a = \omega + \omega^{-1}$. For the same reason as the hyperbolic case, we find rot₁ acts freely on $C_1(a)_t - \{(0,0,0)\} \supset C_1(a)_t^*$ with orbits of size $n_q(a) = |\omega|$.

If $a^2 = t+2$, then over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} , $C_1(a)_t$ is given by $(y-\omega z)(y-\omega^{-1}z) = 0$, but since $\omega \notin \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$, $C_1(a)_t$ is empty. If $a^2 \neq t+2$, then $C_1(a)_t$ is a non-degenerate conic with q+1 points.
If $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, then the degenerate case $a^2 = t + 2$ (equivalently a = 0, equivalently $|\omega| = 4$) is elliptic if and only if $a^2 - 4 = -4 \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$ is a non-square, equivalently $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$, in which case $C_1(0)_{-2}^*$ is empty. For every other elliptic a, $|C_1(a)_{-2}^*| = p + 1$ so we have $\frac{p+1}{n_q(a)}$ rot₁-orbits of size $n_q(a)$. Thus, if $q = p \ge 3$ and t = -2, the number of rot₁-orbits on $C_1(a)_{-2}^*$ for elliptic a's is

$$\begin{pmatrix} \# \text{ of rot}_1 \text{ orbits on } \bigsqcup_{\substack{a \in \mathbb{F}_p \\ \text{elliptic}}} C_1(a)_{-2}^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{d \mid p+1 \\ d \neq 1, 2}} \frac{\phi(d)}{2} \cdot \frac{p+1}{d} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \sum_{\substack{d \mid p+1 \\ d \neq 1, 2, 4}} \frac{\phi(d)}{2} \cdot \frac{p+1}{d} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

Here d should be thought of as $n_q(a) = |\omega|$.

- (4) Finally assume $q \ge 3$ is even and $t \ne 2$ (equivalently $t \ne 0$).
 - If a = 0 = -2 = 2, then $C_1(0)_t$ is given by the equation $y^2 + z^2 = (y-z)^2 = t$. Here $\operatorname{rot}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ fixes points on the line y = z and acts with order 2 on every other vector in \mathbb{F}_q^2 . Such fixed points lie in $C_1(0)_t$ only when t = 0 = 2, which we have excluded, so in this case $C_1(0)_t$ has q points and rot_1 acts freely on $C_1(0)_t$ with order $n_q(a) = 2 = p$.
 - If $a \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$, rot₁ acts via $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & a \end{bmatrix}$ with characteristic polynomial $T^2 aT + 1$. Since $a \neq 0$, this matrix has distinct eigenvalues $\omega, \omega + a \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ so again rot₁ is diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} and hence acts freely on $\mathbb{F}_q^2 \{(0,0)\}$ and hence also acts freely on $C_1(a)_t \{(a,0,0)\} \supset C_1(a)_t^*$ with orbits of size $n_q(a)$.

The above discussion implies that for any prime power $q \geq 3$, $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$, $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, every orbit of rot_1 on $C_1(a)_t - \{(a,0,0)\} \subset \mathbb{F}_q^3$ has size $n_q(a)$ (Definition 5.1.4). In particular, this holds for every rot_1 orbit on $C_1(a)_t^*$ and $C_1(a)_t^\circ$.

PROPOSITION 5.3.3. For $q = p \ge 3$ a prime, $C_1(a)_{-2}^* = C_1(a)_{-2}^\circ$ is empty if and only if $a \in \{0, 2, -2\} \subset \mathbb{F}_p$ and $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$. Moreover, we have

$$|\mathbb{X}^*(p)| = |X_{-2}^\circ(p)| = |X_{-2}^*(p)| = \begin{cases} p(p+3) & p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ p(p-3) & p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

Proof. From the proof of Lemma 5.3.1, we see that $C_1(a)_{-2}^*$ is always nonempty if $a \notin \{0, \pm 2\}$. If a = 0, then we are in the degenerate case $a^2 = t + 2$, in which case $C_1(a)_{-2}^*$ is empty if and only if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$. If $a = \pm 2$, then ais parabolic and is again empty if and only if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$.

To compute the cardinality of $X_{-2}^*(p)$, if $p \equiv 1 \mod 4$, then the cases $a = \pm 2$ contribute 4p solutions. The degenerate hyperbolic case a = 0 contributes 2(p-1) solutions, and the remaining $\frac{p-5}{2}$ non-degenerate hyperbolic *a*'s

contribute (p-1) solutions each. Each of the $\frac{p-1}{2}$ elliptic *a*'s is non-degenerate and contributes p + 1 solutions each, so in total we get p(p+3) solutions in this case. If $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$, then there are no parabolic *a*'s, and each of the $\frac{p-3}{2}$ hyperbolic *a*'s is non-degenerate. The case a = 0 is degenerate elliptic, giving zero solutions, leaving $\frac{p-3}{2}$ non-degenerate elliptic *a*'s, so in this case we get p(p-3) as desired.

Definition 5.3.4. For a natural number n, let

$$\Phi(n) := \sum_{d|n} \frac{\phi(d)}{d}.$$

PROPOSITION 5.3.5. For $q = p \ge 3$, the number of rot_1 -orbits on $X^*_{-2}(p) = X^\circ_{-2}(p)$ is

$$\left|X_{-2}^{*}(p)/\operatorname{rot}_{1}\right| = \begin{cases} \frac{p-1}{2}\Phi(p-1) + \frac{p+1}{2}\Phi(p+1) + \frac{-5p+11}{4} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \frac{p-1}{2}\Phi(p-1) + \frac{p+1}{2}\Phi(p+1) + \frac{-7p-1}{4} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

Proof. This follows from the proof of Lemma 5.3.1.

5.4. Congruences for $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -structures. Let $q \geq 3$ be a prime power. Let $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be an absolutely irreducible subgroup which is not of dihedral type (Definition 5.2.14). Then we may speak of the trace of elements of G. Let $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, and let $\mathcal{A}dm(G)_t \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)$ be the open and closed substack classifying G-covers whose Higman invariants have trace t (Definition 5.2.19). Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_t$ be a component, and let X be its coarse scheme. Here we will apply Theorem 3.5.1 to establish congruences on the degree of the map $X \to \overline{M(1)}$. We want to bound the integers $d_{\mathcal{X}}, m_{\mathcal{X}}$ which appear in Theorem 3.5.1.

First we bound $m_{\mathcal{X}}$. Let $\mathcal{C} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ be the universal admissible $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -cover over \mathcal{X} with reduced ramification divisor $\mathcal{R}_{\pi} \subset \mathcal{C}$.

PROPOSITION 5.4.1. Let $q \ge 3$ be a prime power. Let $t \in \mathbb{F}_q$ be a q-admissible trace. Then the automorphism groups of geometric points of \mathcal{R}_{π} are all killed by 24. In the following cases we can do slightly better:

- (a) If q is even, then the automorphism groups are killed by 12.
- (b) If q is odd, t ≠ -2, and n_q(t) is odd, then the automorphism groups are killed by 12.

In particular, in the language of Theorem 3.5.1, we must have $m_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 24$ for q odd and $m_{\mathcal{X}} \mid 12$ in cases (a) or (b) above.

Proof. This follows immediately from Theorem 5.3.2, noting that all automorphism groups in $\overline{\mathcal{M}(1)}$ are killed by 12.

Next we bound $d_{\mathcal{X}}$. Let $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ be a connected component. Then we wish to bound the degree of \mathcal{R}/\mathcal{X} . By the definition of the Higman invariant, the stabilizer in $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of a geometric point of \mathcal{C} lying over the zero section of \mathcal{E} is conjugate to $\langle c \rangle$. By Proposition 3.2.2, we find that \mathcal{R}/\mathcal{X} is Galois with Galois group a subgroup of $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)/\langle c \rangle$. We can explicitly compute these centralizers as follows.

PROPOSITION 5.4.2. Let $q = p^r \ge 3$ with p prime. Let $t \ne 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, and let $c \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) - \{\pm I\}$ be a non-central element with trace $\mathrm{tr}(c) = t$. The centralizers $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$ are as follows:

- (a) If $t^2 4 = 0$, then |c| = 2p and $C_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \mid a = \pm 1, b \in \mathbb{F}_q \right\}$ $\cong \mathbb{F}_q \times \mu_2$. Thus $C_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$ has order 2q.
- (b) If $t^2 4$ is a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then $|c| \mid q 1$ and $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$ is cyclic of order q 1.
- (c) If $t^2 4$ is a non-square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then |c| | q + 1 and $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$ is cyclic of order q + 1.

In cases (a) (resp. (b) and (c)) we will say that c is parabolic (resp. hyperbolic, elliptic). Moreover (a) and (c) can only occur if q is odd. In particular, we find that if c is parabolic (resp. hyperbolic, elliptic), then in the language of Theorem 3.5.1, for any component $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))_t$, $d_{\mathcal{X}}$ must divide p^{r-1} (resp. $\frac{q-1}{|c|}, \frac{q+1}{|c|}$).

Proof. If $t^2 - 4 = 0$, then since $t \neq 2$, we must have t = -2, q odd, and |c| = 2p. By Proposition 5.1.3(c), c is conjugate to $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & u \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ for some $u \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$. An explicit calculation shows that its normalizer is the group of matrices of the form $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with $a^2 \in \mathbb{F}_p^{\times}$, and its centralizer is the subgroup with $a^2 = 1$.

For (b) and (c), we first make the following observation: If k is a field and $C \in \operatorname{GL}_d(k)$ is diagonalizable over k, then for any $A \in \operatorname{GL}_d(k)$, we have $ACA^{-1} = C^n$ if and only if A sends λ -eigenvectors to λ^n -eigenvectors. Indeed, if λ_v denotes the eigenvalue of an eigenvector $v \in k^d$, then

$$ACA^{-1} = C^n \iff ACA^{-1}v = C^n v = \lambda_v^n v \quad \text{for all eigenvectors } v \in k^d$$
$$\iff C(A^{-1}v) = \lambda_v^n (A^{-1}v) \quad \text{for all eigenvectors } v \in k^d.$$

If $t^2 - 4$ is a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then c is diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_q with distinct eigenvalues. If v, w is an eigenbasis, then A centralizes c if and only if $Av = \alpha v$, $Aw = \alpha^{-1}w$ for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$, so the centralizer is cyclic of order q - 1.

If $t^2 - 4$ is a non-square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then c is not diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_q but is diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} with distinct roots. By (b), we have $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q^2})}(\langle c \rangle)$ is cyclic of order $q^2 - 1$. Let σ denote the q-power Frobenius automorphism. Let $v \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^2$ be an eigenvector for c. Then we claim that v, v^{σ} is an eigenbasis for c.

If $v = (x, y) \neq (0, 0)$, then $v^{\sigma} = av$ for $a \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ if and only if $x^q = ax, y^q = ay$, so $x^{q-1} = y^{q-1} = 1$, so $v \in \mathbb{F}_q^2$, which contradicts the assumption that c is not diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_q , so $\{v, v^{\sigma}\}$ is an eigenbasis. If $A \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ centralizes c, then we must have

- Av = αv for some α ∈ 𝔽[×]_{q²}, and
 Av^σ = (Av)^σ = (αv)^σ = α^qv^σ.

Since det(A) = 1, we must have $\alpha^{q+1} = 1$. Conversely, the relation $(Av)^{\sigma} =$ Av^{σ} implies that any matrix in $\operatorname{GL}_2(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$ sending (v, v^{σ}) to $(\alpha v, \alpha^q v^{\sigma})$ where $\alpha^{q+1} = 1$ must lie in $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$, so $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)$ is cyclic of order q+1. \Box

Plugging the above results into Theorem 3.5.1 gives us the following.

THEOREM 5.4.3. Let $q = p^r \ge 3$ with p prime. Let $G \le SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be a subgroup which is not of dihedral type. Let $t \neq 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$, and let $c \in SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ – $\{\pm I\}$ be a non-central element with trace $\operatorname{tr}(c) = t$. Let $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{A}dm(G)_t$ be a connected component with coarse scheme X. Then

(a) If $t^2 - 4 = 0$ and q = p, then |c| = 2p and

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod p.$$

(b) If $t^2 - 4$ is a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{|c|}{\gcd\left(|c|, \frac{2(q-1)}{|c|}\right)}$$

In particular, if $n \mid |c|$ is coprime to $\frac{2(q-1)}{|c|}$, then $\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0$ $\mod n$.

(c) If $t^2 - 4$ is a non-square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then

$$\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0 \mod \frac{|c|}{\gcd\left(|c|, \frac{2(q+1)}{|c|}\right)}$$

In particular, if $n \mid |c|$ is coprime to $\frac{2(q+1)}{|c|}$, then $\deg(X \to \overline{M(1)}) \equiv 0$ $\mod n$.

If q is even, then $t^2 - 4$ must be a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , and then (b) can be strengthened by replacing the 2(q-1) by q-1.

Proof. Let $C \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathcal{E} \longrightarrow \mathcal{X}$ be the universal family, and let $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathcal{R}_{\pi}$ be a component of the reduced ramification divisor. By Proposition 3.2.2, the degree of \mathcal{R}/\mathcal{X} divides the order of $C_{\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)/\langle c \rangle$. Thus the theorem follows directly from Propositions 5.4.1 and 5.4.2 and Theorem 3.5.1. For the statement when q is even, note that $2 = 0 = -2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$ is never a q-admissible trace for q even, and every element of \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} is a square.

Using the "moduli interpretation" for $X_t^*(q)$ (see Theorem 5.2.10 and Definition 5.2.15), these congruences can be transported to congruences on the cardinality of Aut⁺(Π)-orbits on the sets $X_t^*(q)$.

THEOREM 5.4.4. Let $q = p^r \ge 3$ with p prime. Let $t \ne 2 \in \mathbb{F}_q$. Let $n_q(t)$ denote the order of any non-central element of $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ with trace t (cf. Definition 5.1.4 and Proposition 5.1.5). Let P = (X, Y, Z) be an \mathbb{F}_q -point of the affine surface given by the equation

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = 2 + t.$$

Suppose that at least two of $\{X, Y, Z\}$ are non-zero. Let \mathcal{O} be the Aut⁺(Π)-orbit of P.

(a) If $t^2 - 4 = 0$ and $q = p \ge 3$, then

$$\mathcal{O}| \equiv 0 \mod p.$$

(b) If $t^2 - 4$ is a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then

$$2|\mathcal{O}| \equiv 0 \mod \frac{n_q(t)}{\gcd\left(n_q(t), \frac{2(q-1)}{n_q(t)}\right)}$$

(c) If $t^2 - 4$ is a non-square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} , then

$$2|\mathcal{O}| \equiv 0 \mod \frac{n_q(t)}{\gcd\left(n_q(t), \frac{2(q+1)}{n_q(t)}\right)}.$$

If q is even and $\mathcal{O} \subset X_t^{\circ}(q)$, then $t^2 - 4$ must be a square in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} and (b) can be strengthened by replacing $2|\mathcal{O}|$ by $|\mathcal{O}|$ and 2(q-1) by q-1.

Proof. Since $t \neq 2$, by Proposition 5.2.16, our assumption on $\{X, Y, Z\}$ implies that $P \in X_t^*(q)$ (i.e., P is absolutely irreducible and not of dihedral type), so $\mathcal{O} \subset X_t^*(q)$. By Galois theory (Proposition 5.2.20), the orbit \mathcal{O} corresponds to a connected component $\mathcal{M} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)_t/D(q, G)$ with degree over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ equal to $|\mathcal{O}|$, where G is the image of an absolutely irreducible representation $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ not of dihedral type. Let M denote its coarse scheme. Then because γ_{-I} acts trivially on $X^*(q)$ (Proposition 5.2.20), $|\mathcal{O}|$ is also equal to the degree of $M \to M(1)$. We have maps

$$\mathcal{A}dm^0(G)_t \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}(G)_t \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}(G)_t / D(q,G),$$

where the first is rigidification by $Z(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ (Proposition 2.5.10(b)), and the second is finite étale of degree |D(q,G)|. At the level of coarse schemes, the maps induce

$$Adm^0(G)_t \xrightarrow{\cong} M(G)_t \longrightarrow M(G)_t/D(q,G).$$

The first map is an isomorphism, and the second is finite flat with degree at most |D(q,G)|. By Propositions 5.2.13 and 6.4.1, we always have $|D(q,G)| \leq 2$.

Thus if X is any connected component of $Adm^0(G)_t$ mapping to M, then $\deg(X/M) \leq 2$, so in this case we have

$$|\mathcal{O}| = \deg(\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)) = \deg(M \to M(1)) = \alpha \cdot \deg(X \to M(1)),$$

where $\alpha \in \{1, \frac{1}{2}\}$. If q is even and $G = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ (equivalently $\mathcal{O} \subset X_t^{\circ}(q)$), then D(q, G) = D(q) is trivial. Thus everything follows immediately from Theorem 5.4.3.

Remark 5.4.5. When $G \leq \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is a proper subgroup, the bound $d_{\mathcal{X}} \mid |C_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(\langle c \rangle)/\langle c \rangle|$ can be improved to $d_{\mathcal{X}} \mid |C_G(\langle c \rangle)/\langle c \rangle|$. Using Proposition 6.4.1, this would give slight strengthenings of Theorems 5.4.3 and 5.4.4.

5.5. Strong approximation for the Markoff equation. The Markoff surface is the affine surface \mathbb{M} defined by the Markoff equation

$$\mathbb{M}: x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 3xyz = 0.$$

A Markoff triple is a positive integer solution to this equation, and a Markoff number is a positive integer that appears as a coordinate of a Markoff triple. Here we prove some results regarding \mathbb{M} . It will be convenient to use a twisted version of \mathbb{M} , which is isomorphic to \mathbb{M} over $\mathbb{Z}[1/3]$ and has the benefit of admitting a moduli interpretation. Recall that taking trace coordinates induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Tr} : X_{\operatorname{SL}_2} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{A}^3$, and $X_{\operatorname{SL}_2,-2} \subset X_{\operatorname{SL}_2}$ is the closed subscheme corresponding to representations with trace invariant -2 (Definition 5.2.15). Under the isomorphism $\operatorname{Tr}, X_{\operatorname{SL}_2,-2}$ is isomorphic to the affine surface over \mathbb{Z} given by

$$\mathbb{X} : x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = 0.$$

The map $\xi : (x, y, z) \mapsto (3x, 3y, 3z)$ defines a map

$$\xi: \mathbb{M} \longrightarrow \mathbb{X}$$

which induces an isomorphism of schemes $\xi : \mathbb{M}_{\mathbb{Z}[1/3]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{X}_{\mathbb{Z}[1/3]}$. Since $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_3) = \{(0,0,0)\}, \xi$ also induces a bijection on integral points

$$\xi : \mathbb{M}(\mathbb{Z}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}).$$

Let $\mathbb{X}^*(p) := \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p) - \{(0,0,0)\}$, and let $\mathbb{M}^*(p) := \mathbb{M}(\mathbb{F}_p) - \{(0,0,0)\}$. Then by Proposition 5.2.5, the Aut(Π)-action on \mathbb{X} is generated by the automorphisms

$$\begin{array}{rcccc} R_3 : (x, y, z) & \mapsto & (x, y, xy - z), \\ \tau_{12} : (x, y, z) & \mapsto & (y, x, z), \\ \tau_{23} : (x, y, z) & \mapsto & (x, z, y). \end{array}$$

Via ξ we obtain an induced action of Aut(II) on $\mathbb{M}_{\mathbb{Z}[1/3]}$ generated by τ_{12}, τ_{23} , and $R'_3: (x, y, z) \mapsto (x, y, 3xy - z)$, which extends to an action on \mathbb{M} given by the same equations.

In [BGS16b], [BGS16a], Bourgain, Gamburd, and Sarnak study the action of Aut(Π) on $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ for primes p. They conjectured that for every prime p,

Aut(II) acts transitively on $\mathbb{M}^*(p)$. One may check that for p = 3, Aut(II) acts transitively on $\mathbb{M}^*(3)$ and $\mathbb{X}^*(3)$. (The latter is empty.) Thus, their conjecture is equivalent to

CONJECTURE 5.5.1 ([BGS16b], [BGS16a]). For all primes p, Aut(II) acts transitively on $X^*(p)$.

They were able to establish their conjecture for all but a sparse (though infinite) set of primes p:

THEOREM 5.5.2 ([BGS16a, Th. 2]). Let \mathbb{E}_{bgs} denote the "exceptional set" of primes for which Aut(II) fails to act transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. For any $\epsilon > 0$,

$$|\{p \in \mathbb{E}_{bgs} \mid p \le x\}| = O(x^{\epsilon}).$$

Moreover, they show that even if the conjecture were to fail, it cannot fail too horribly:

THEOREM 5.5.3 ([BGS16a, Th. 1]). Fix $\epsilon > 0$. For every prime p, there is an Aut(Π)-orbit C(p) such that

$$\mathbb{X}^*(p) - \mathcal{C}(p) \leq p^{\epsilon}$$
 for large p

whereas $|X^*(p)| = p(p+3) \pmod{p(p-3)}$ if $p \equiv 1 \mod 4 \pmod{4}$.

Recall that we have defined $X_{-2}^*(q)$ as the subset of $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ which corresponds (via Theorem 5.2.10) to absolutely irreducible representations not of dihedral type (Definition 5.2.15). Thus Theorem 5.4.4(a) implies

THEOREM 5.5.4. Every Aut⁺(Π)-orbit on $X^*(p)$ has size divisible by p.

Proof. By Proposition 5.2.17, for $p \ge 3$, $X_{-2}^*(p) = \mathbb{X}^*(p)$, so this case follows from Theorem 5.4.4(a). For p = 2, one can check the statement by hand.

Combined with Theorem 5.5.3, this establishes Conjecture 5.5.1 for all but finitely many primes. Since the methods of [BGS16a] are effective, one obtains the following result:

THEOREM 5.5.5. The exceptional set \mathbb{E}_{bgs} of Theorem 5.5.2 is finite and explicitly bounded.

Recently, it was shown in [EFL⁺23] that every prime $p \in \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$ satisfies $p < 3.448 \cdot 10^{392}$. (Conjecturally, \mathbb{E}_{bgs} is empty.)

Definition 5.5.6. Following [BGS16b], we say that an affine variety V over \mathbb{Z} satisfies strong approximation mod n if the natural map $V(\mathbb{Z}) \to V(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$ is surjective.

THEOREM 5.5.7. In light of Theorem 5.5.5, we have

- (a) for all but finitely many primes p, Aut⁺(Π) acts transitively on X^{*}(p) and M^{*}(p);
- (b) for all but finitely many primes p, $M(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))^{abs}_{-2} := M(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/D(p)$ is connected;
- (c) for all but finitely many primes p, both X and M satisfy strong approximation mod p.

To be precise, (a), (b), and (c) hold for every prime $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$.

Proof. By the definition of \mathbb{E}_{bgs} , for every $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, Aut(II) acts transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$. If Aut⁺(II) fails to act transitively, $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ would consist of a pair of Aut⁺(II)-orbits, and any automorphism of II not lying in Aut⁺(II) would have to exchange the orbits, and hence act without fixed points. This is false, since for example the automorphism $(a, b) \mapsto (b, a)$ induces τ_{12} : $(x, y, z) \mapsto (y, x, z)$, which has the fixed point $(3, 3, 3) \in \mathbb{X}^*(p)$. Via ξ , this also establishes the transitivity on $\mathbb{M}^*(p)$. This proves (a). Part (b) is the Galois-theoretic translation of part (a) (see Proposition 5.2.20). Since the reduction map $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ is Aut(II)-equivariant, (a) implies that the orbits of (0, 0, 0) and (3, 3, 3) map surjectively onto $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{F}_p)$ for $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$. This result can be transported to \mathbb{M} via ξ . This proves (c).

Thus, we have effectively reduced Conjecture 5.5.1 to a finite computation. In [dCIL22], de-Courcy-Ireland and Lee have verified the conjecture for all primes p < 3000, so one expects the final computation to give a positive solution to the conjecture. If the computation indeed verifies the conjecture, then it follows from Proposition 5.3.3 that there are no congruence constraints on Markoff numbers mod p other than the ones first noted in [Fro13], namely that if $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$ and $p \neq 3$, then a Markoff number cannot be $\equiv 0, \frac{\pm 2}{3} \mod p$.

It follows from the work of Meiri-Puder [MP18] that the strong approximation property can be further extended to squarefree integers n whose prime divisors avoid the finite set \mathbb{E}_{bgs} and moreover satisfy the following condition:

Thus $\mathbf{MP}(p)$ is satisfied for all primes $p \equiv 1 \mod 4$. Moreover by [MP18, Prop. A.1], we find that $\mathbf{MP}(p)$ holds for a density 1 set of primes. Their theorem is

THEOREM 5.5.8. Let $p_1, \ldots, p_r \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$ be distinct primes such that for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$, $p_i \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$ and satisfies $MP(p_i)$. Let $n := p_1 p_2 \cdots p_r$. The Chinese remainder theorem implies that $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}) = \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/p_1\mathbb{Z}) \times \cdots \times \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/p_r\mathbb{Z})$. Let $\mathbb{X}^*(n) \subset \mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$ denote the solutions which do not reduce to the trivial solution $(0, 0, 0) \mod p_i$ for any *i*. Then we have

- (a) Aut(Π) acts transitively on $\mathbb{X}^*(n)$;
- (b) both \mathbb{X} and \mathbb{M} satisfies strong approximation mod n.

Proof. Part (a) is [MP18, Cor. 1.7], which by induction on r implies that the Aut(Π)-orbit space on $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$ is the product of the orbit spaces on $\mathbb{X}(\mathbb{Z}/p_i\mathbb{Z})$ for $i = 1, \ldots, r$. This gives strong approximation for \mathbb{X} . The same argument gives strong approximation for $\mathbb{M} \mod n$, noting that if $3 \mid n$, then $\mathbb{M}(\mathbb{F}_3)$ has two singleton orbits $\{(0,0,0)\}$ and $\{(1,1,1)\}$. \Box

Finally, we note that Theorem 5.4.4 also gives a generalization of Theorem 5.5.4 to the \mathbb{F}_q -points of the Markoff-type equations $x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = k$. For example, it implies

THEOREM 5.5.9. Suppose $\omega \in \mathbb{F}_{q^2}^{\times}$ satisfies $t := \omega + \omega^{-1} \in \mathbb{F}_q - \{2, -2\}$. If ℓ is an odd prime and $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(|\omega|) = r$ and $\operatorname{ord}_{\ell}(q(q^2 - 1)) = r + s$, and P = (X, Y, Z) is an \mathbb{F}_q -point of

$$x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - xyz = t + 2$$

with at least two of $\{X, Y, Z\}$ non-zero, then the Aut⁺(Π)-orbit of P has cardinality divisible by $\ell^{\max\{r-s,0\}}$.

5.6. A genus formula for $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}^{\mathrm{abs}}$; Finiteness of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -structures of trace invariant -2. By Theorem 5.5.7 we find that the stack $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}^{\mathrm{abs}}$ is connected for primes p not lying in the finite set $\mathbb{E}_{\mathrm{bgs}}$. In this section we will establish a genus formula for (the compactification of) its coarse scheme M_p and show that for a density 1 set of primes, M_p is a "non-congruence modular curve." By Proposition 5.1.3(c'), the natural map $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2} \to M_p$ is a totally split cover, and hence this will also compute the genus of the two isomorphic components of $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$.

For $p \geq 5$, let $\overline{M_p}$ denote the smooth compactification of the 1-dimensional scheme $M_p := M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))^{\mathrm{abs}}_{-2}$. (By Proposition 5.1.3, M_p is empty for p = 2, 3.) By Theorem 2.5.2(2), the forgetful map

$$\mathfrak{f}:\overline{M_p}\to\overline{M(1)}=\mathbb{P}^1_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}}$$

is finite étale over the complement of $j = 0, 1728, \infty$, where as usual we use the *j*-invariant to identify $\overline{M(1)}$ with the projective *j*-line. Thus, if $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{\text{bgs}}$ (equivalently $\overline{M_p}$ is connected), then the genus of $\overline{M_p}$ can be computed by the Riemann-Hurwitz formula (see [Liu02, §7.4, Th. 4.16] or [Sil09, §II, Th. 5.9]). For this we need to know the degree of \mathfrak{f} and the cardinalities of the ramified fibers $\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(0), \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(1728), \mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\infty)$. Using Proposition 5.2.20, all of these quantities can be calculated from the Aut⁺(\Pi) action on $X^*_{-2}(p)$. For example, Proposition 5.3.3 implies that

$$\deg(\mathfrak{f}) = \begin{cases} p(p+3) & p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ p(p-3) & p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

The ramification above j = 0,1728 was computed in [BBCL22, Prop. 3.3.2]: PROPOSITION 5.6.1. Let $p \ge 5$ be a prime.

 (a) There is a unique unramified point in f⁻¹(0). Every other point is ramified with index 3, so

$$|\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(0)| = \begin{cases} \frac{p(p+3)-3}{3} & p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \frac{p(p-3)-3}{3} & p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

(b) There are precisely two unramified points in π⁻¹(1728) if p ≡ 1,7 mod 8, and no unramified points otherwise. Every other point is ramified with index 2. Thus we obtain

$$|\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(1728)| = \begin{cases} \frac{p^2 + 3p + 2}{2} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 8, \\ \frac{p^2 - 3p}{2} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 8, \\ \frac{p^2 + 3p}{2} & \text{if } p \equiv 5 \mod 8, \\ \frac{p^2 - 3p + 2}{2} & \text{if } p \equiv 7 \mod 8. \end{cases}$$

Recall that for an integer $n \ge 1$, we defined $\Phi(n) = \sum_{d|n} \frac{\phi(d)}{d}$. Theorem 2.5.2(4) (or Proposition 5.2.20) gives a combinatorial classification of the cusps. Using this, Proposition 5.3.5 calculates the number of cusps of $\overline{M_p}$:

PROPOSITION 5.6.2. Let $p \ge 5$ be a prime. We have

$$|\mathfrak{f}^{-1}(\infty)| = \begin{cases} \frac{p-1}{2}\Phi(p-1) + \frac{p+1}{2}\Phi(p+1) + \frac{-5p+11}{4} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \frac{p-1}{2}\Phi(p-1) + \frac{p+1}{2}\Phi(p+1) + \frac{-7p-1}{4} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$$

An elementary Riemann-Hurwitz calculation yields the following:

THEOREM 5.6.3. Let $p \geq 5$ be prime. Let \overline{M}_p be the smooth compactification of M_p . The smooth compactification of $M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$ is a disjoint union of two copies of \overline{M}_p . For $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{\mathrm{bgs}}, \overline{M}_p$ is a smooth curve of genus

genus
$$(\overline{M}_p) = \frac{1}{12}p^2 - \frac{p-1}{4}\Phi(p-1) - \frac{p+1}{4}\Phi(p+1) + \epsilon(p),$$

where

$$\epsilon(p) = \begin{cases} \frac{7}{8}p - \frac{29}{24} & \text{if } p \equiv 1 \mod 8, \\ \frac{5}{8}p + \frac{19}{24} & \text{if } p \equiv 3 \mod 8, \\ \frac{7}{8}p - \frac{17}{24} & \text{if } p \equiv 5 \mod 8, \\ \frac{5}{8}p + \frac{7}{24} & \text{if } p \equiv 7 \mod 8. \end{cases}$$

In particular, genus $(\overline{M}_p) \sim \frac{1}{12}p^2$, and moreover for all $p \geq 5$, we have

genus
$$(\overline{M}_p) \ge \frac{1}{12}p^2 - \frac{1}{2}(p-1)^{3/2} - \frac{1}{2}(p+1)^{3/2} + \frac{1}{2}p.$$

Proof. Everything but the lower bound follows from the above discussion. The lower bound follows from the upper bound for the divisor function $d(n) \leq d(n)$

 $2\sqrt{n}$, where d(n) is the number of positive divisors of n, and noting that $\Phi(n) \leq d(n) \leq 2\sqrt{n}$, and $\epsilon(p) \geq \frac{1}{2}p$ for $p \geq 5$.

THEOREM 5.6.4. For $p \ge 13$, $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, \overline{M}_p is a smooth curve of genus ≥ 2 . For p = 5, 7, 11, \overline{M}_p is a smooth curve of genus 0, 0, 1 respectively. In particular, for $p \ge 13$, $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$ and any number field K, only finitely many elliptic curves over K admit a $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -structure with ramification index 2p defined over K.

Proof. By the classification of elements in $SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ as parabolic, hyperbolic, or elliptic, only parabolic elements have order 2p, and by Proposition 5.1.3, this only happens when $p \geq 3$ and the trace is -2. The first part of the theorem follows from the lower bound for the genus obtained in Theorem 5.6.3, together with some explicit computer-aided calculations. The finiteness follows from the first part by Falting's theorem [CS86, §II].

Given a connected finite étale cover $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)_{\mathbb{C}}$ inducing $M \to M(1)_{\mathbb{C}}$ on coarse schemes, the analytic theory identifies \mathcal{M} with a quotient $[\mathcal{H}/\Gamma]$, where \mathcal{H} is the Poincaré upper half plane, and $\Gamma \leq \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ is a finite index subgroup acting by Mobius transformations [Che18]. The subgroup Γ is uniquely determined by \mathfrak{f} up to conjugation.

Definition 5.6.5. Let $k \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a subfield. We say that a finite étale map $\mathfrak{f} : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)_k$ is a congruence modular stack (and $\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}(1)_k$ is a congruence modular curve) if $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is connected and the subgroup $\Gamma \leq \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ associated to $\mathfrak{f}_{\mathbb{C}}$ is a congruence subgroup of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$. (That is, Γ contains $\mathrm{Ker}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/n))$ for some integer $n \geq 1$.) Otherwise we say that it is a non-congruence modular stack (resp. curve).

We end this section by showing that for a density 1 set of primes p, all components of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$ (and hence $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}$) are non-congruence.

Let Π, E, x_E be as in Situation 2.5.14. We work over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. The action of $D(p) \cong \operatorname{Out}(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ on $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ descends via the characteristic quotient $h: \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p) \to \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ to an outer action on $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$, where it also acts via the full outer automorphism group of $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$. Thus h induces a finite étale surjection

$$\mathcal{M}(h): \mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))/D(p) \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))/D(p)$$

and a surjection

$$h_* : \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))/D(p) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))/D(p)$$

which can be identified with the map on fibers above x_E induced by $\mathcal{M}(h)$. For $t \in \mathbb{F}_p$, let $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_t$ denote the image of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_t$. We say that $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_t$ classifies $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -structures of trace invariant t. Since h is

a central extension, any preimage of $x \in \mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_t$ in $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ must also have trace invariant t, so there is no ambiguity. Let

 $\mathbb{P}_{\mathrm{MP}} := \{ \text{primes } p \ge 5 \mid p \notin \mathbb{E}_{\mathrm{bgs}} \text{ and } p \text{ satisfies } \mathbf{MP}(p) \text{ (see } (5.8)) \}.$

Then \mathbb{P}_{MP} is a density 1 set of primes.

THEOREM 5.6.6 (Meiri-Puder). We work over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}$. For $p \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathrm{MP}}$, the stack $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}} = \mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/D(p)$ is connected. Its degree over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ is

$$d_p := \begin{cases} \frac{p(p+3)}{4} & p \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \frac{p(p-3)}{4} & p \equiv 3 \mod 4, \end{cases}$$

and its monodromy group over $\mathcal{M}(1)$ is the full alternating or symmetric group on d_p :

$$Mon(\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}} \to \mathcal{M}(1)) = \begin{cases} S_{d_p} & \text{if } p \equiv 5, 7, 9, 11 \mod 16, \\ A_{d_p} & \text{if } p \equiv 1, 3, 13, 15 \mod 16. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Since $p \in \mathbb{P}_{MP}$, $p \notin \mathbb{E}_{bgs}$, the connectedness statement follows from the connectedness of $\mathcal{M}(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))^{abs}_{-2}$ (Theorem 5.5.7(b)). Let V denote the order 4 group of automorphisms acting freely on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ by negating two of the coordinates. Let $\mathbb{Y}^*(p) := \mathbb{X}^*(p)/V$. The action of Γ on $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ descends to an action on $\mathbb{Y}^*(p)$, and the theory of the character variety allows us to identify the quotient map $\mathbb{X}^*(p) \to \mathbb{Y}^*(p)$ with the map

$$h_*: \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/D(p) \to \operatorname{Epi}^{\operatorname{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/D(p),$$

where the Γ -action is induced by the action of $\operatorname{Out}(\Pi)$ (Proposition 5.2.10). The sizes of $\mathbb{X}^*(p)$ were computed in Proposition 5.3.3. Thus the formula for d_p follows from the freeness of the V-action. By [MP18, Ths. 1.3, 1.4], the permutation image of Γ on $\mathbb{Y}^*(p)$ is either the full alternating or symmetric group. Since alternating groups in degrees ≥ 5 do not have non-trivial index 2 subgroups, the same is true for the permutation image of $\operatorname{Out}^+(\Pi)$ acting on $\operatorname{Epi}^{\mathrm{ext}}(\Pi, \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}/D(p)$. (Note $|\mathbb{Y}^*(p)| \geq 7$ for $p \geq 5$.) The determination of exactly when one obtains the alternating (or symmetric group) is done in [BBCL22, §3.3].

Remark 5.6.7. Conjecturally, this theorem holds for all primes $p \ge 5$ [MP18, Conj. 1.2]

COROLLARY 5.6.8. For $p \in \mathbb{P}_{MP}$, the stack $\mathcal{M}(PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{abs}$ is non-congruence. The same is true of $\mathcal{M}(SL_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{abs}$.

Proof. First observe that a cover of a non-congruence modular stack is non-congruence, so it suffices to show that $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))^{\mathrm{abs}}_{-2}$ is non-congruence.

If $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}} \to \mathcal{M}(1)$ is congruence, then it fits into a factorization

$$\mathcal{M}(n) \to \mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))^{\mathrm{abs}}_{-2} \to \mathcal{M}(1),$$

where $\mathcal{M}(n)$ is connected (in fact it is a component of $\mathcal{M}(\mathbb{Z}/n \times \mathbb{Z}/n)$) and the composition is Galois with Galois group $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/n)$. It follows that the monodromy group of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}}/\mathcal{M}(1)$ is a quotient of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/n)$. Writing $n = \prod_{i=1}^r q_i$ with each q_i a prime power, we have $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/n) = \prod_{i=1}^r \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/q_i)$, and hence the composition factors of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/n)$ are either abelian or of the form $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ for primes $p \geq 5$, so the same must be true of the composition factors of the monodromy group of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}}/\mathcal{M}(1)_{\mathbb{C}}$, but this contradicts Theorem 5.6.6.

Remark 5.6.9. Theorem 5.6.3 can be viewed as a non-congruence analog of Rademacher's conjecture, proved by Dennin [DJ75], that there exist only finitely many congruence subgroups of a given genus. By contrast, it follows from Belyi's theorem that there are infinitely many non-congruence subgroups of every genus, so to obtain finiteness, one must restrict the types of noncongruence modular curves considered. Theorem 5.6.3 yields finiteness for the family $\{M(\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))_{-2}^{\mathrm{abs}} \mid p \in \mathbb{P}_{\mathrm{MP}}\}.$

Remark 5.6.10. In [Che18, Conj. 4.4.1], the author conjectured that for any non-solvable group G, the components of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ should all be non-congruence. While the above corollary and computational evidence strongly suggest this should be true for G an extension of $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ (for $q \geq 4$), the example of $\mathrm{PSU}_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ from Section 4.11 implies that there exist four components of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSU}_3(\mathbb{F}_4))$ whose forgetful maps to $\mathcal{M}(1)$ are isomorphisms. In particular, they are congruence (with group $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$). Thus, this conjecture requires revision. A relatively safe revision is

CONJECTURE 5.6.11. For any non-solvable group G, at least one component of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is non-congruence. Equivalently, for any non-solvable group G, the kernel of the action of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \cong Out^+(\Pi)$ on $Epi^{ext}(\Pi, G)$ is non-congruence.

This conjecture was proven in [Che18, Cor. 4.4.14] for any extension of S_n $(n \ge 4)$, A_n $(n \ge 5)$, $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p)$ $(p \ge 5)$, or any minimal non-abelian finite simple group.

In general it is an interesting and remarkably subtle problem to determine whether the components of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ are congruence or non-congruence. In geometric terms, this roughly asks

Which G-covers of elliptic curves can be expressed in terms of "torsion data"? The example of $PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ shows that there exist certain $PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_4)$ -covers of elliptic curves which are equivalent to the "trivial datum." One can also check computationally that there are components of $\mathcal{M}(PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_5))$ which are congruence with group Γ , the unique index 3 normal subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ with

congruence level 3. In other words, certain $PSU_3(\mathbb{F}_5)$ -covers are, in an appropriate sense, equivalent to a configuration of 3-torsion points.

Despite these standouts, the general philosophy is that the "more nonabelian" G is, the "more non-congruence" $\mathcal{M}(G)$ should be. In [Che18, §4.2], we showed that for G a dihedral group, every component of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is congruence. In a forthcoming work with Pierre Deligne, we show the same statement holds for metabelian groups G. The same statement is, however, false for groups of solvable length 3, and hence false for groups of solvable length n for any $n \geq 3$. Computationally, the components of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ exhibit a striking numerical "regularity" which is not shared by many higher rank simple groups like $\mathrm{PSU}_3(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Given this, we tentatively conjecture that every component of $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ is non-congruence. The reader is referred to the discussion in [Che18, §4] and the data in [Che18, App. B] for more details.

6. Appendix

6.1. Normalized coordinates for tame balanced actions on prestable curves. The purpose of this section is to prove Proposition 6.1.4 below, which shows that the étale local picture of an admissible G-cover (Definition 2.1.4) can be checked on fibers. The trickiest part is to check this at a node, where the calculation uses the explicit form of the projection maps onto isotypic subspaces (Lemma 6.1.2).

Remark 6.1.1 (Noetherian approximation). It is sometimes useful to prove results about prestable curves by working over a Noetherian base. By standard Noetherian approximation arguments, we do not lose any generality in doing so. A precise statement we will need is this. Let $C \to S$ be a prestable curve equipped with an effective Cartier divisor $R \subset C$ finite étale over a quasicompact quasiseparated scheme S and an S-linear action of a finite group G preserving R. Then we may write S as a limit $S = \lim_{i \in I} S_i$ with affine transition morphisms with each S_i of finite type over \mathbb{Z} [Stacks, 01ZA,07RN]. In this case each map $S \to S_i$ is also affine [Stacks, 01YX]. Moreover, for some $i \in I$, the pair (C, R) with G-action is the base change of a prestable curve $C_i \to S_i$ with divisor $R_i \subset C_i$ finite étale over S_i and G-action preserving R_i . The key fact is that the category of schemes of finite presentation over S is the colimit of the categories of schemes of finite presentation over S_i [Stacks, 01ZM]. For example, from this, one can find a map $R_i \to C_i$ over S_i which pulls back to $R \to C$. By [Stacks, 0C5F,081C,081F], we may assume that C_i/S_i is a prestable curve, and that R_i/S_i is finite étale, and hence $R_i \to C_i$ must be the inclusion of an effective Cartier divisor. Similarly, viewing the G-action as being given as a collection of automorphisms satisfying certain properties, by [Stacks, 01ZM], we may assume the G-action is also the pullback of an S_i -linear G-action on (C_i, R_i) .

LEMMA 6.1.2. Let A be a ring such that Spec A is connected. Let $e \ge 1$ be an integer invertible in A. Suppose the finite étale group scheme $\mu_{e,A} =$ Spec $A[x]/(x^e - 1)$ is totally split over A. Let M be an A-module, and let G be a cyclic group of order e generated by g, acting A-linearly on M. For a root of unity $\zeta \in \mu_e(A)$, let

$$p_{\zeta}: M \longrightarrow M$$
 be given by $p_{\zeta}(m) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} \zeta^{-j} g^j(m).$

Then $p_{\zeta}(M) = M_{\zeta} := \{m \in M \mid gm = \zeta m\}$, and $\bigoplus_{\zeta} p_{\zeta} : M \to \bigoplus_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} M_{\zeta}$ is an isomorphism. Moreover, for each $\zeta \in \mu_e(A)$, formation of M_{ζ} defines an exact functor $\underline{Mod}_{A[G]} \to \underline{Mod}_{A[G]}$.

Proof. It is easy to check that p_{ζ} maps into M_{ζ} and that the composition $M_{\zeta} \hookrightarrow M \xrightarrow{p_{\zeta}} M_{\zeta}$ is the identity. Thus, each M_{ζ} is a direct summand of M. Moreover, if $\zeta_e \in A$ is a primitive *e*-th root of unity, then looking at the map $A[x]/(x^e - 1) \to A$ sending $x \mapsto \zeta_e$ shows that $\frac{1}{e} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} \zeta^{-j} = 1$ if $j \equiv 0$ mod *e*, and is zero otherwise. Thus, the map

$$\bigoplus_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} M_{\zeta},$$

$$m \mapsto \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} p_{\zeta}(m) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} \zeta^{-j} g^j(m) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} \sum_{\zeta \in \mu_e(A)} \zeta^{-j} g^j(m)$$

is the identity. This establishes the desired decomposition. The exactness of $M \mapsto M_{\zeta}$ is easy to check.

LEMMA 6.1.3 (Henselization commutes with *G*-invariants). Let *R* be a ring equipped with an action of a finite group *G* (no tameness assumptions). Let $\mathfrak{m}_R \subset R$ be a maximal ideal. Let $\mathfrak{m}_{R^G} := \mathfrak{m}_R \cap R^G$. Let $(R^h, \mathfrak{m}_R^h), ((R^G)^h, \mathfrak{m}_{R^G}^h)$ denote the henselizations of the pairs $(R, \mathfrak{m}_R), (R^G, \mathfrak{m}_{R^G})$ [Stacks, 0A02]. Then

- (a) $\mathfrak{m}_{R^G} := \mathfrak{m}_R \cap R^G$ is a maximal ideal of R^G .
- (b) $R^{h}, (R^{G})^{h}$ are local rings with maximal ideals $\mathfrak{m}_{R}^{h}, \mathfrak{m}_{R^{G}}^{h}$.
- (c) Let $f: (R^G)^h \to R^h$ be the natural map induced by the morphism of pairs $(R^G, \mathfrak{m}_{R^G}) \to (R, \mathfrak{m}_R)$. Then f induces an isomorphism $R \otimes_{R^G} (R^G)^h \xrightarrow{\sim} R^h$.
- (d) The natural map $(R^G)^h = (R^G) \otimes_{R^G} (R^G)^h \longrightarrow (R \otimes_{R^G} (R^G)^h)^G \cong (R^h)^G$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Integral morphisms are universally closed, so we get (a). Henselization of a pair (A, I) preserves the quotient A/I [Stacks, 0AGU], so $R^h/\mathfrak{m}_R^h \cong R/\mathfrak{m}_R, (R^G)^h/\mathfrak{m}_{RG}^h \cong R^G/\mathfrak{m}_{RG}$ are fields, so $\mathfrak{m}_R^h, \mathfrak{m}_{RG}^h$ are maximal. On the other hand, $\mathfrak{m}_R^h, \mathfrak{m}_{RG}^h$ must be contained in the Jacobson radical of their corresponding rings [Stacks, 09XE], so $R^h, (R^G)^h$ are local, so we get (b). Since every $r \in R$ satisfies the polynomial $\prod_{g \in G} (T - gr) \in R^G[T], R^G \to R$ is integral, so (c) is [Stacks, 0DYE]. Finally, henselization is flat, so (d) follows from the fact that taking G-invariants commutes with flat base change [KM85, Prop. A.7.1.3]. \Box

PROPOSITION 6.1.4 (Normalized coordinates for tame balanced actions on nodal curves). Let G be a finite group with order invertible on S. Let C/S be a prestable curve equipped with a (S-linear) right action of G acting faithfully on fibers. Let k be an algebraically closed field and \overline{p} : Spec $k \to C$ a geometric point with image \overline{s} in S. Let $A := \mathcal{O}_{S,\overline{s}}$, and let $R := \mathcal{O}_{C_A,\overline{p}}$ the strict local ring of C_A at \overline{p} . Suppose the stabilizer $G_{\overline{p}}$ is cyclic of order e and acts faithfully on R. Let $g \in G_{\overline{p}}$ be a generator.

(a) Suppose the image of \overline{p} is smooth inside $C_{\overline{s}}$. Then there is an A-algebra homomorphism

$$\phi: A[z] \longrightarrow R$$

such that

- φ induces an isomorphism between R and the strict local ring of A[z] at (m_A, z);
- there is a primitive e-th root of unity $\zeta_e \in A$ such that ϕ is $G_{\overline{p}}$ equivariant relative to the action of $G_{\overline{p}}$ on A[z] given by $gz = \zeta_e z$.
- (b) Suppose the image of p̄ is a node in the fiber C_{s̄}. The normalization of C_{s̄} defines a decomposition of the Zariski cotangent space T^{*}_{C_{s̄},p̄} into a sum of two 1-dimensional subspaces, called "branches." Suppose the action of G_{p̄} on T^{*}_{C_{s̄},p̄ preserves this decomposition and has image contained in SL(T^{*}_{C_{s̄},p̄}). Then there are an element a ∈ m_A and an A-algebra homomorphism}

$$\phi: A[z,w]/(zw-a) \longrightarrow R$$

such that

- ϕ induces an isomorphism between R and the strict local ring of A[z,w]/(zw-a) at (\mathfrak{m}_A, z, w) ;
- there is a primitive e-th root of unity $\zeta_e \in A$ such that ϕ is $G_{\overline{p}}$ equivariant relative to the action of $G_{\overline{p}}$ on A[z,w]/(zw-a) given by $gz = \zeta_e z, gw = \zeta_e^{-1}w.$

In particular, in case (a) the quotient map $\pi : C \to C/G$ satisfies condition (4) of the definition of an admissible G-cover near \overline{p} (Definition 2.1.4), and in case (b), the quotient map satisfies conditions (5) and (6) of the definition of an admissible G-cover near \overline{p} .

Proof. By Noetherian approximation (Remark 6.1.1), we may assume that S is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} .³⁴ Let κ be the residue field of A, and let $\overline{R} := R \otimes_A \kappa$.

³⁴In particular every ring in the proof will be Noetherian. This makes it easier for us to work with completions.

We begin with part (a). By the local picture at a smooth point [Stacks, 054L], there is a map $A[x] \to R$ inducing an isomorphism between R and the strict local ring of A[x] at the maximal ideal (\mathfrak{m}_A, x) . We abuse notation and also let x denote the image of x under the map $A[x] \to R$. Let R denote the completion of R; then $\widehat{R} \cong \widehat{A}[x]$. The Zariski cotangent space of $C_{\overline{s}}$ at \overline{p} is the 1-dimensional κ -vector space $\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}^2 = xR/(\mathfrak{m}_A, x^2)$. Since the G-action is faithful, g acts on the cotangent space by multiplication by a primitive e-th root of unity ζ_e . Let \overline{x} denote the image of x in $\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}^2$. By Lemma 6.1.2, the surjection $xR \to \mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}^2$ induces a surjection $(xR)_{\zeta_e}^{\gamma_e} \to (\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}^2)_{\zeta_e} = \mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}/\mathfrak{m}_{\overline{R}}^2$. Let $x' \in (xR)_{\zeta_e}$ denote any preimage of \overline{x} . Then we have $x' = x + m + fx^2$ for some $m \in \mathfrak{m}_A R$ and $f \in R$. Because $\widehat{A}[\![x]\!]$ is also the completion of A[x] at (\mathfrak{m}_A, x) , the universal property of power series rings gives us a unique \widehat{A} -algebra map $\widehat{A}[x] \to \widehat{A}[x]$ sending $x \mapsto x' = x + m + fx^2$. This map is, moreover, an automorphism since it is the composition of the automorphisms $x \mapsto x + m$ and $x \mapsto x + fx^2 = x(1 + fx)$. We will view this as giving an automorphism of \widehat{R} . Since R is a colimit of étale A[x]-algebras, there is an étale A[x]-algebra R_0 such that x' comes from an element of R_0 . Then we have a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
A[x] &\longrightarrow R_0 &\longrightarrow R &\longleftrightarrow & \widehat{R} \\
\xrightarrow{x\mapsto z} & & & \downarrow \\
A[z] &\xrightarrow{z\mapsto x'} & R_0 &\longrightarrow R &\longleftrightarrow & \widehat{R},
\end{array}$$

where the unlabeled maps are the obvious ones. Since A is already strict henselian, \hat{R} is the completion of both R_0 and also of A[x] at (\mathfrak{m}_A, x) . Thus we find that the map $A[z] \to R_0$ sending $z \mapsto x'$ induces an isomorphism on completions, and hence it is étale [Liu02, §4.3 Prop. 3.26], so the composition $\phi : A[z] \to R_0 \to R$ sending $z \mapsto x'$ identifies R with the strict local ring of A[z] at (\mathfrak{m}_A, z) . By definition of x', ϕ is $G_{\overline{p}}$ -equivariant relative to the action $gz = \zeta_e z$, as desired. Because A has separably closed residue field, by Lemma 6.1.3(d), the map $R^G \to R$ is G-equivariantly isomorphic to the map of henselizations induced by $A[z^e] = A[z]^G \hookrightarrow A[z]$, which shows that $\pi : C \to C/G$ satisfies condition (4) of the definition of an admissible G-cover.

Next we address (b). By the local picture at a node [Stacks, 0CBY], we find that R is the strict henselization of A[x, y]/(xy-a) for some $a \in \mathfrak{m}_A$. Again we abuse notation and let x, y also denote their images in R. The cotangent space of the x-branch is $T_x^* := x\overline{R}/(x\overline{R} \cap \mathfrak{m}_R^2)$. Since $G_{\overline{p}}$ acts faithfully, it acts on T_x^* by multiplication by a primitive e-th root of unity ζ_e . Since g preserves the branches of the node, it preserves the ideals xR, yR, so by Lemma 6.1.2, we obtain a surjection $(xR)_{\zeta_e} \to (T_x^*)_{\zeta_e} = T_x^*$. Let $x' \in (xR)_{\zeta_e}$ be any preimage of a basis of T_x^* . Then we must have x' = ux, where $u \notin (\mathfrak{m}_A R, xR, yR) = \mathfrak{m}_R$, so

 $u \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ is a unit. This implies that $u^{-1}y$ almost lies in $\mathbb{R}_{\zeta_{e}^{-1}}$, in the sense that

(6.1)
$$uxu^{-1}y = xy = a = g(a) = g(xy) = g(uxu^{-1}y) = \zeta_e uxg(u^{-1}y).$$

Let $p_{\zeta_e^{-1}}$ be as in Lemma 6.1.2. Then by (6.1), $y' := p_{\zeta_e^{-1}} u^{-1} y$ satisfies

$$x'y' = \frac{x'}{e} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} \zeta_e^j g^j(u^{-1}y) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} \zeta_e^j uxg^j(u^{-1}y) = \frac{1}{e} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} uxu^{-1}y = a.$$

On the other hand, y' and $u^{-1}y$ both map to the same basis element of $T_y^* := y\overline{R}/(y\overline{R}\cap\mathfrak{m}_R^2)$, so $y' \equiv u^{-1}y \mod(\mathfrak{m}_A R, x^2 R, y^2 R)$. Arguing as in the smooth case, we find that there is an automorphism of \widehat{R} sending $(x, y) \mapsto (x', y')$ (also see [Wew99, Prop. 2.1.1(ii)]), and such that the map $\phi : A[z, w]/(zw-a) \to R$ sending $(z, w) \mapsto (x', y')$ satisfies the desired properties. As in the smooth case, Lemma 6.1.3(d) implies that $R^G \hookrightarrow R$ is G-equivariantly isomorphic to the map on henselizations induced by $A[z^e, w^e]/(z^ew^e - a^e) \hookrightarrow A[z, w]/(zw-a)$, which shows that $\pi : C \to C/G$ satisfies conditions (5) and (6) of the definition of an admissible G-cover.

6.2. The isomorphism $R[A, B, C] \xrightarrow{\sim} A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}}$. Let Π be a free group of rank 2. For a ring R, let $A[\Pi] = A[\Pi]_R$ be the affine ring of $\operatorname{SL}_{2,R} \times \operatorname{SL}_{2,R}$. Thus $A[\Pi] = R[\{a_i, b_i, c_i, d_i\}_{i=1,2}]/(a_id_i - b_ic_i - 1)_{i=1,2}$. Let $X_i := \begin{bmatrix} a_i & b_i \\ c_i & d_i \end{bmatrix}$, and let $A, B, C \in A[\Pi]$ be the functions $\operatorname{tr}(X_1), \operatorname{tr}(X_2), \operatorname{tr}(X_1X_2)$ respectively. Let R[a, b, c] denote the polynomial ring on the variables a, b, c. The purpose of this section is to show that the map

(6.2)
$$f_R : R[a, b, c] \longrightarrow A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}},$$
$$a, b, c \mapsto A, B, C$$

is an isomorphism for any ring R. The approach follows [BH95], though we fill in some missing details.

LEMMA 6.2.1. Let $T[\Pi] \subset A[\Pi]$ denote the R-subalgebra generated by the traces $\operatorname{tr}(X_{i_1}X_{i_2}\cdots X_{i_r})$ for all integers $r \geq 1$ with $i_j \in \{1,2\}$. Then for any ring R, f_R is an isomorphism onto $T[\Pi]$.

Proof. Surjectivity is a formal consequence of relations between traces, valid over any ring (see [BH95, Prop. 1.7]). Injectivity is [BH95, Prop. 3.2]. The trick here is to show that the images of A, B, C under a well-chosen R-algebra map are algebraically independent. Specifically, let $\mu_x := \begin{bmatrix} 1+x & x \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Let $\varphi : A[\Pi] \to R[x, y, z]$ be the R-algebra homomorphism given by $X_1 \mapsto \mu_x$ and $X_2 \mapsto \mu_z \mu_y \mu_z^{-1}$. We check that

$$\varphi(A) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_x) = 2 + x, \quad \varphi(B) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_y) = 2 + y, \text{ and}$$

 $\varphi(C) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_x \mu_z \mu_y \mu_z^{-1}) = 2 + (x + y)(2 + z) - z^2$

but these are clearly independent in R[x, y, z], so A, B, C must be algebraically independent.

It remains to show that $T[\Pi] = A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}}$. For an integer $n \geq 1$, let $A[n] = A[n]_R$ denote the *R*-algebra representing the functor $M_2^n : \operatorname{\underline{Alg}}_R \longrightarrow \operatorname{\underline{Sets}}$ sending an *R*-algebra *S* to the set $M_2(S)^n$. Thus A[n] is a polynomial ring in the 4*n* variables $\{A_i, B_i, C_i, D_i \mid i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}\}$. Denote by Y_i the matrix variable $\begin{bmatrix} A_i & B_i \\ C_i & D_i \end{bmatrix}$. Let $\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}$ act on A[n] by conjugation on M_2^n .

THEOREM 6.2.2 (First fundamental theorem of invariant theory for matrices). For any ring R, the invariant ring $A[n]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}}$ is generated as a R-algebra by $\operatorname{tr}(Y_{i_1}Y_{i_2}\cdots Y_{i_r})$ and $\operatorname{det}(Y_i)$, where i, i_j vary over $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ and r varies over positive integers.

Proof. When $R = \mathbb{Z}$ or R is an algebraically closed field, this is due to Donkin (see [Don90, §3] or [DCP17, §15.2]). This can be bootstrapped to the general case as follows: the universal coefficient theorem [Jan03, I, Prop. 4.18] gives an exact sequence

(6.3)

$$0 \longrightarrow A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\mathrm{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R \longrightarrow A[n]^{\mathrm{GL}_{2,R}} \longrightarrow \mathrm{Tor}_{1}^{\mathbb{Z}}(H^{1}(\mathrm{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}, A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}), R) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Thus it would suffice to show that $H^1(\operatorname{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}, A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}})$ is \mathbb{Z} -flat, or equivalently that $\operatorname{Tor}_1^{\mathbb{Z}}(H^1(\operatorname{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}, A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}), \mathbb{F}_p) = 0$ for all primes p [Har10, §1, Lemma 2.1]. Since $\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}$ is faithfully flat over \mathbb{F}_p , it suffices to check the vanishing of the Tor group with \mathbb{F}_p replaced by $\overline{\mathbb{F}_p}$, but this follows from (6.3) combined with Donkin's result over algebraically closed fields.³⁵

The following lemma implies that f_R is an isomorphism, as desired.

LEMMA 6.2.3. For any ring R, the natural map $A[2] \to A[\Pi]$ sending $Y_i \mapsto X_i$ induces a surjection $\rho_2 : A[2]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}} \to A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}}$. In particular, $A[\Pi]^{\operatorname{GL}_{2,R}} = T[\Pi]$.

Proof. Note that if the map $A[2] \to A[\Pi]$ admits a GL₂-equivariant section, then we are done. This is not quite true, but at least if $\Delta_i := \det(Y_i)$ and $\delta_i := \sqrt{\Delta_i}$, then there exists an equivariant map $q : A[\Pi] \to A[2][\delta_1^{\pm 1}, \delta_2^{\pm 1}]$ sending $a_i, b_i, c_i, d_i \mapsto A_i/\delta_i, B_i/\delta_i, C_i/\delta_i, D_i/\delta_i$. This turns out to be enough; see [BH95, §9, pp. 97–98, "surjectivity of ρ_n "].

³⁵In fact, we have $H^1(\operatorname{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}, A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}) = 0$. This is because the $\operatorname{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}$ -module $A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ has a good filtration [Jan03, II, §4.16]. Donkin shows the existence of a good filtration over algebraically closed fields, but this implies that $A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ also has a good filtration, which implies the vanishing of all higher cohomology [Jan03, II, Lemma B.9]. (To use Lemma B.9 one should filter $A[n]_{\mathbb{Z}}$ by \mathbb{Z} -finite $\operatorname{GL}_{2,\mathbb{Z}}$ -submodules. See [Jan03, II, §8] for the definition and some properties of the Weyl modules $V(\lambda)$ over \mathbb{Z} .)

6.3. The normalizer of $\mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ in $\mathrm{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$.

PROPOSITION 6.3.1. Let q be a prime power, and let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. Then

$$N_{\mathrm{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})}(\mathrm{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)) = \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times} \cdot \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q) = \{ uA \mid u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}, A \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q) \}.$$

Moreover, the same is true if $SL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is replaced by $GL_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$.

Proof. Certainly every matrix of the form uA with $u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}$, $A \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ normalizes $\operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, so it remains to show that any matrix which normalizes must take this form. Let $\phi \in \operatorname{Aut}(\operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}))$ denote the Frobenius automorphism defined on matrices by acting on coefficients via $a \mapsto a^q$. Then, for $A \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$, $A \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ if and only if $\phi(A) = A$. Thus, for $B \in \operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, we have $ABA^{-1} \in \operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ if and only if $\phi(ABA^{-1}) = \phi(A)B\phi(A)^{-1} = ABA^{-1}$, which happens if and only if $A^{-1}\phi(A)$ centralizes B. Thus, A normalizes $\operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$ if and only if $A^{-1}\phi(A)$ centralizes $\operatorname{SL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, which by Schur's lemma happens if and only if $A^{-1}\phi(A) \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$ is a scalar. Equivalently, this is to say that $\phi(A) = uA$ for some unit $u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}$. It remains to characterize the elements of $\operatorname{SL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$ on which ϕ acts by multiplication by a unit $u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}$.

Suppose $A = (a_{ij}) \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\overline{\mathbb{F}_q})$ satisfies $\phi(A) = uA$ with $u \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}$. Let $r \in \{a_{ij}\}$ be chosen so that $r \neq 0$. Then since $a_{ij}^q = ua_{ij}$, it follows that $\phi\left(\frac{1}{r}A\right) = \frac{1}{r}A$, so $\frac{1}{r}A \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$, so we may write

$$A = rA', \quad \text{where } r \in \overline{\mathbb{F}_q}^{\times}, A' \in \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

as desired.

6.4. Images of absolutely irreducible representations $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Let Π be a free group of rank 2. In [Mac69], Macbeath classified the possible images of absolutely irreducible representations $\varphi : \Pi \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Here, $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ denotes the quotient of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ by the subgroup of scalar matrices, and $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ denotes the quotient of $\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ by the subgroup of scalar matrices.

PROPOSITION 6.4.1. Let $q = p^r$ be a prime power. Let $\varphi : \Pi \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be an absolutely irreducible representation. Let $G := \varphi(\Pi)$, and let \overline{G} be its image in $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. Let $Z := Z(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q))$ be the center, so Z has order 2 for q odd and is trivial for q even. Then G, \overline{G} must fall into one of the following categories:

- (E1) $\overline{G} \cong D_{2n}$ is dihedral $(n \ge 2)$.
- (E2) $\overline{G} \cong A_4$.
- (E3) $\overline{G} \cong A_5$.
- (E4) $\overline{G} \cong S_5$.
- (P1) \overline{G} is $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -conjugate to $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$ for some $q' \mid q$. In this case G is $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -conjugate to $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$.

(P2) \overline{G} is $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -conjugate to $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$ for some q' satisfying $q'^2 \mid q$. In this case if q is odd, then G is $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ -conjugate to $\langle \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'}), \begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \rangle$, where $a \in \mathbb{F}_{q'^2} - \mathbb{F}_{q'}$ with $a^2 \in \mathbb{F}_{q'}$. If q is even, then $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'}) = \operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$ and G must be as in case (P1).

Moreover, we have the following:

- (a) In each of the above cases, G is a central extension of \overline{G} by Z.
- (b) In each of the above cases except (E1) (dihedral), let $N := N_{\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(G)$ be its normalizer and $C := C_{\mathrm{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)}(G)$ be its centralizer. Then N/C has order at most 2.

Proof. The cases (E1)–(E4) are called *exceptional*, and the cases (P1) and (P2) are called *projective*. They are not necessarily mutually exclusive. We begin with (a). Since Z is trivial for q even, we may assume q odd. In this case, an element $g \in \text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ of even order must either be diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} or be conjugate to $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & u \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$ for $u \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$. If g is diagonalizable over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} of order 2k, then $g^k = -I$, so $Z \subset G$. If g is conjugate to $\begin{bmatrix} -1 & u \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$, then $g^p = -I$, so $Z \subset G$.

For (b), we will proceed case by case. First suppose q is even, so Z = 1 and $G \cong \overline{G}$. Then N/C is naturally a subgroup of $\operatorname{Out}(G)$, but $\operatorname{Out}(A_4) \cong \operatorname{Out}(A_5)$ have order 2, and $\operatorname{Out}(S_5)$ is trivial. Finally, from Proposition 6.3.1, we know that $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ acts on $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$ via $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$, so in this case we also have $|N/C| \leq 2$. Now suppose q is odd, so G is a central extension of \overline{G} by $Z \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. Case (P1) proceeds exactly as in the case where q is even. In case (P2), again we may assume $\overline{G} = \operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$ and $G = \langle \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'}), \begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a^{-1} \end{bmatrix} \rangle$. We know that the image of N in $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ must normalize $\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$, hence it normalizes its unique index 2 subgroup $\operatorname{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$, so N must normalize $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$, but then Proposition 6.3.1 implies that N acts via $\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{q'})$, so again we must have $|N/C| \leq 2$.

In cases (E2)–(E4), for each of $\overline{G} = A_4, A_5, S_5$, we will compute the outer automorphism groups of central extensions of \overline{G} by Z. Using the exact sequence [Wei94, Exercise 6.1.5]

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\mathbb{Z}}(H_{1}(G,\mathbb{Z}),A) \to H^{2}(G,A) \to \operatorname{Hom}(H_{2}(G,\mathbb{Z}),A) \to 0,$$

we find that $H^2(A_4, Z)$, $H^2(A_5, Z)$, $H^2(S_5, Z)$ have orders 2, 2, and 4 respectively. Using GAP we explicitly construct the associated central extensions, and we find that in all cases except for the split extension $S_5 \times Z$, the extension has an outer automorphism group of order 2. However, we claim that if $\overline{G} \cong S_5$, then G cannot be isomorphic to $S_5 \times Z$. Indeed, in this case there is an element $\overline{g} \in \overline{G}$ of order 4, but for q odd, \overline{g} must be the image of a matrix $g \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ which is diagonalizable over $\overline{\mathbb{F}_q}$, so g must have order 8, but $S_5 \times Z$ does not contain any elements of order 8. This shows that if $\overline{G} = A_4, A_5, S_5$, then $\mathrm{Out}(G) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, so $|N/C| \leq 2$.

Finally, we show that G, \overline{G} must fall into one of the categories listed. Note that since φ is absolutely irreducible, by Lemma 5.2.9, we must have $\operatorname{tr} \varphi([a, b]) \neq 2$, so φ must be "non-singular" in the terminology of the first proof of Theorem 5.2.10, and hence [Mac69, Th. 2] implies that \overline{G} cannot be an "affine group" in the sense of [Mac69, §4]. Thus the classification in [Mac69, §4] implies that \overline{G} must fall into one of the categories described above. We can rule out the case $\overline{G} \cong D_2$ because in that case G would be abelian. It remains to show that G has the stated form in cases (P1) and (P2), but this follows from comparing cardinalities.

6.5. Étale local rings of Deligne-Mumford stacks. The goal of this section is to show that (the completion of) the étale local ring of a geometric point of a Deligne-Mumford stack is canonically isomorphic to the universal deformation ring at that point. While this is certainly well known to experts, the author does not know of a good reference. The discussion here parallels the development in the stacks project [Stacks, 06G7], but we do not make the assumption that k is a finite Λ -algebra (see below). We do this so we can easily talk about the universal deformation rings of geometric points of \mathcal{M} .

6.5.1. *Étale local rings*. We begin with a discussion of étale local rings.

Definition 6.5.1. Let \mathcal{M} be a Deligne-Mumford stack whose diagonal is representable (by schemes).³⁶ Let Ω be a separably closed field, and let x: Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{M}$ be a point. An étale neighborhood of x is a quadruple $(U, i, \tilde{x}, \alpha)$, where U is an affine scheme, U, i, \tilde{x} form a diagram

$$\operatorname{Spec} \Omega \xrightarrow{\tilde{x}} U$$

$$\xrightarrow{x} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{i}$$

$$\mathcal{M},$$

and α is an isomorphism $x \xrightarrow{\sim} i \circ \tilde{x}$ in $\mathcal{M}(\operatorname{Spec} \Omega)$. A morphism of neighborhoods $(U, i, \tilde{x}, \alpha) \to (U', i', \tilde{x}', \alpha')$ is a pair (f, β) , where f is a map $f: U \to U'$ and β is an isomorphism $\beta: i \xrightarrow{\sim} i' \circ f$ in $\mathcal{M}(U)$ such that all 2-morphisms in the associated "tetrahedron" are compatible. Note that given f, if there exists a β making (f, β) into a morphism of neighborhoods, then β is unique. Let $N_{\mathcal{M},x}$ denote the category of étale neighborhoods of x. Because \mathcal{M} has representable diagonal, the same argument as in the schemes case shows that $N_{\mathcal{M},x}$ is cofiltered [Stacks, 03PQ]. The étale local ring of \mathcal{M} at x is

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x} := \operatorname{colim}_{(U,i,\tilde{x},\alpha)} \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U),$$

³⁶This implies that if $f: U \to \mathcal{M}, g: V \to \mathcal{M}$ are any maps from schemes, then $U \times_{\mathcal{M}} V$ is a scheme; i.e., f, g is are representable (by schemes).

where the colimit runs over the category of étale neighborhoods $N_{\mathcal{M},x}$. If \mathcal{M} is a scheme, then $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x}$ is the strict henselization of the local ring of the image of x [Stacks, 04HX]. The inclusion functor $\Phi : \underline{\operatorname{AffSch}} \hookrightarrow \underline{\operatorname{Sch}}$ is right adjoint to the functor $X \mapsto \operatorname{Spec} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{O}_X)$ [Stacks, 01I1], so Φ preserves all limits. Thus $\operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x}$ is also the limit of all étale neighborhoods of x. Let $\kappa(x)$ denote the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x}$. For any étale neighborhood $(U, i, \tilde{x}, \alpha), \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x}$ fits into a canonical 2-commutative diagram



PROPOSITION 6.5.2. Let \mathcal{M} be a Deligne-Mumford stack with representable diagonal. Let Ω be a separably closed field, and let $x : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \mathcal{M}$ be a point. The canonical map $i_x : \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x} \to \mathcal{M}$ is formally étale. If $(U, q, \tilde{x}, \alpha)$ is an étale neighborhood of x and u is the image of \tilde{x} , then there is a canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x} \cong \mathcal{O}_{U,\tilde{x}}$ which induces an isomorphism between $\kappa(x)$ and the separable closure of $\kappa(u)$ inside Ω .

Proof. First note that since \mathcal{M} is Deligne-Mumford, étale neighborhoods exist. Thus the map i_x is a limit of étale morphisms, so it is formally étale. The strict henselization $\mathcal{O}_{U,\tilde{x}}$ is defined as the (global sections) of the cofiltered limit of étale neighborhoods of \tilde{x} : Spec $\Omega \to U$. The category of étale neighborhoods of \tilde{x} embeds into the category of étale neighborhoods of x, and since every étale neighborhood of x is refined by an étale neighborhood of \tilde{x} , this map induces an isomorphism on limits, whence the isomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},x} \cong \mathcal{O}_{U,\tilde{x}}$. The final statement follows from the fact that the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{U,\tilde{x}}$ is the separable closure of $\kappa(u)$ inside Ω .

6.5.2. Étale local rings vs universal deformation rings. We work universally over a scheme S. Let $s : \operatorname{Spec} k \to S$ be a morphism with k a field. Suppose it factors as $\operatorname{Spec} k \to \operatorname{Spec} \Lambda \subset S$, where $\operatorname{Spec} \Lambda \subset S$ is a Noetherian open affine subscheme. Let $\mathcal{C}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda,k}$ be the category of pairs (A, ψ) , where A is an Artinian local Λ -algebra and $\psi : A/\mathfrak{m}_A \xrightarrow{\sim} k$ is an isomorphism of Λ -algebras. A morphism $(A, \psi) \to (A', \psi')$ in \mathcal{C}_{Λ} is a local Λ -algebra homomorphism $f : A \to A'$ such that $\psi' \circ (f \mod \mathfrak{m}) = \psi$. The category \mathcal{C}_{Λ} has a final object, given by (k, id_k) . Note that if $\operatorname{Spec} k \to \operatorname{Spec} \Lambda' \subset S$ is another factorization, the categories $\mathcal{C}_{\Lambda}, \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda'}$ are canonically isomorphic. Let

$$p: \mathcal{M} \to (\underline{\mathbf{Sch}}/\mathbb{S})$$

be an algebraic stack over S, and let x_0 : Spec $k \to \mathcal{M}$ be a morphism. By the 2-Yoneda lemma, we will identify x_0 with the object it defines in $\mathcal{M}(\operatorname{Spec} k)$ [Stacks, 04SS].

A deformation of x_0 over $(A, \psi) \in \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda}$ is by definition a pair (x, φ) , where $x \in \mathcal{M}(\operatorname{Spec} A)$, and $\varphi : x_0 \to x$ is a morphism in \mathcal{M} such that $p(\varphi) : \operatorname{Spec} k \to \operatorname{Spec} A$ induces the isomorphism $\psi : A/\mathfrak{m}_A \xrightarrow{\sim} k$. A morphism of deformations $(x, \varphi) \to (x', \varphi')$ is a map $f : x \to x'$ with $f \circ \varphi = \varphi'$. A morphism $f : (x, \varphi) \to (x', \varphi')$ of deformations over $(A, \psi) \in \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda}$ is an A-isomorphism if f is an isomorphism and $p(f) = \operatorname{id}_A$.

Definition 6.5.3. The deformation functor for x_0 is the functor

 $F_{x_0}: \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda} \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{Sets}},$ $(A, \psi) \mapsto \{\text{deformations of } x_0 \text{ over } (A, \psi)\}/A\text{-isomorphisms}.$

Remark 6.5.4. In a Deligne-Mumford stack, the diagonal (and hence inertia stack) is unramified (and hence formally unramified). This implies that a deformation over (A, ψ) has no non-trivial A-automorphisms.

If $f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$ is a morphism of algebraic stacks, then if (x, φ) is a deformation of x_0 over (A, ψ) , then $(f(x), f(\varphi))$ is a deformation of $f(x_0)$ over (A, ψ) . This defines a morphism of functors $f_* : F_{x_0} \to F_{f \circ x_0}$.

Let $\widehat{\mathcal{C}}_{\Lambda}$ be the category of pairs (R, ψ) , where R is a Noetherian complete local Λ -algebra and $\psi : R/\mathfrak{m}_R \xrightarrow{\sim} k$ is a Λ -algebra isomorphism. Morphisms are local homomorphisms respecting ψ 's. Thus, \mathcal{C}_{Λ} embeds as a full subcategory of $\widehat{\mathcal{C}}_{\Lambda}$. Given $(R, \psi) \in \widehat{\mathcal{C}}_{\Lambda}$, it gives rise to a functor $h_{R,\psi} : \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda} \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$ defined by $h_R((A, \psi')) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\widehat{\mathcal{C}}_{\Lambda}}((R, \psi), (A, \psi'))$. A functor $F : \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda} \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$ is prorepresentable by $(R, \psi) \in \widehat{\mathcal{C}}_{\Lambda}$ if there is an isomorphism $F \cong h_{R,\psi}$. If F_{x_0} is pro-represented by (R, ψ) , then we say that R is a universal deformation ring for x_0 .

PROPOSITION 6.5.5. Let \mathcal{M} be a Deligne-Mumford stack with representable diagonal over a scheme S. Let Spec $\Lambda \subset S$ a Noetherian open affine, and let k be a Λ -algebra which is a field. Let $\pi : U \to \mathcal{M}$ be a formally étale morphism with U a Noetherian scheme, let $\tilde{x}_0 : \operatorname{Spec} k \to U$ be a point with image $u \in U$, and let $x_0 := \pi \circ \tilde{x}_0$, with associated deformation functor $F_{x_0} : \mathcal{C}_\Lambda \to \underline{\operatorname{Sets}}$ as above. Let $R := \mathcal{O}_{U,u}$. Assume that \tilde{x}_0 induces an isomorphism $\xi : R/\mathfrak{m}_R \xrightarrow{\sim} k$. Let $\widehat{R} := \lim_n R/\mathfrak{m}_R^n$ be the completion, with induced map $\widehat{\xi} : \widehat{R}/\mathfrak{m}_R \xrightarrow{\sim} k$. Then

- (a) The map Spec $\widehat{R} \to \mathcal{M}$ induces an isomorphism $\eta_{\widehat{R}} : h_{\widehat{R},\widehat{\xi}} \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{x_0}$.
- (b) Let z_0 : Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{M}$ be a point with Ω separably closed, let $\kappa(z_0) \subset \Omega$ be the residue field of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},z_0}$, and let z'_0 : Spec $\kappa(z_0) \to \mathcal{M}$ be the corresponding map. Then the map Spec $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},z_0} \to \mathcal{M}$ identifies $\widehat{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M},z_0}}$ with the universal deformation ring of z'_0 .
- (c) Let $\rho: V \to \mathcal{N}$ be a formally étale morphism from a Noetherian scheme V to a Deligne-Mumford stack \mathcal{N} with representable diagonal, and suppose

we are given a map $q: U \to V$ fitting into a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} U & \stackrel{\pi}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{M} \\ \downarrow^{g} & & \downarrow^{f} \\ V & \stackrel{\rho}{\longrightarrow} & \mathcal{N}. \end{array}$$

Let v := g(u), and suppose g induces an isomorphism of residue fields $\kappa(u) \xrightarrow{\sim} \kappa(v)$. Let $S := \mathcal{O}_{V,v}$, so g induces a map $S \to R$, which induces an isomorphism $\zeta : S/\mathfrak{m}_S \xrightarrow{\sim} k$. Then the corresponding diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} h_{\widehat{R},\widehat{\xi}} & \xrightarrow{\eta_{\widehat{R}}} & F_{x_0} \\ & & & & \downarrow_{f_*} \\ & & & & \downarrow_{f_*} \\ h_{\widehat{S},\widehat{\zeta}} & \xrightarrow{\eta_{\widehat{S}}} & F_{f \circ x_0} \end{array}$$

commutes, where $\eta_{\widehat{R}}, \eta_{\widehat{S}}$ are as given in (a) and $h_{\widehat{R},\widehat{\xi}} \to h_{\widehat{S},\widehat{\zeta}}$ is induced by g.

Proof. Any map $a : (\widehat{R}, \widehat{\xi}) \to (A, \psi)$ with $(A, \psi) \in \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda}$ defines a map $x_a : \operatorname{Spec} A \to \operatorname{Spec} R \to \mathcal{M}$. Since \mathcal{M} is fibered in groupoids, there is a map $\varphi : x_0 \to x_a$ in \mathcal{M} inducing the isomorphism $\psi : A/\mathfrak{m}_A \xrightarrow{\sim} k$, and this map φ is unique up to precomposing with A-isomorphisms. The pair (x_a, φ) is thus a deformation of x_0 over A, and this defines a morphism of functors

$$\eta_{\widehat{R}}: h_{\widehat{R},\widehat{\mathcal{E}}} \to F_{x_0}.$$

Let $h_{R,\xi} : \mathcal{C}_{\Lambda} \to \underline{\mathbf{Sets}}$ be the functor sending (A, ψ) to the set of local Λ -algebra homomorphisms $a : R \to A$ satisfying $\psi \circ (a \mod \mathfrak{m}_R) = \xi$. Since any local homomorphism $\widehat{R} \to A$ must factor through $\widehat{R}/\mathfrak{m}_{\widehat{R}}^n \cong R/\mathfrak{m}_R^n$ for some n, the natural map $h_{R,\xi} \to h_{\widehat{R},\widehat{\xi}}$ is an isomorphism. Thus it suffices to show that the map

$$\eta_R: h_{R,\xi} \longrightarrow F_{x_0}$$

is an isomorphism. Let (x, φ) be a deformation of x_0 over $(A, \psi) \in \mathcal{C}_\Lambda$, so that $p(\varphi)$: Spec $k \to \text{Spec } A$ induces $\psi : A/\mathfrak{m}_A \xrightarrow{\sim} k$. The map $\varphi : x_0 \to x$ induces a unique isomorphism $\alpha_{\varphi} : x_0 \xrightarrow{\sim} x \circ p(\varphi)$. The triple $(\tilde{x}_0, p(\varphi), \alpha_{\varphi})$ defines a map $t : \text{Spec } k \to \text{Spec } R \times_{\mathcal{M}} \text{Spec } A$ making the following diagram commute (ignoring the dotted arrow for now):



Since π is formally étale, the same is true of π_u and $\pi_{u,A}$ [Stacks, 04EG]. Thus, there is a unique dotted arrow making the diagram commute, and hence

the corresponding map Spec $A \to \text{Spec } R$ gives an element of $h_{R,\xi}(A, \psi)$ inducing the deformation (x, φ) . The existence of the dotted arrow implies that η_R is surjective, and the uniqueness implies that η_R is injective. This proves (a). Part (b) follows from (a) by setting $U = \text{Spec } \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}, z_0}$, and (c) follows from the construction of the isomorphism $\eta_{\widehat{R}}$.

PROPOSITION 6.5.6. Let \mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} be locally Noetherian Deligne-Mumford stacks with representable diagonal. Let $f : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$ be a quasi-finite morphism. The following are equivalent:

- (a) f is étale.
- (b) For every point z_0 : Spec $\Omega \to \mathcal{M}$ with Ω separably closed, the induced morphism of étale local rings $(f_{z_0})_* : \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{N}, f \circ z_0} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{M}, z_0}$ is an isomorphism.
- (c) For every point $z_0 : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to \mathcal{M}$ with Ω separably closed and $\kappa(z_0) = \Omega$ (cf. Definition 6.5.1), f induces an isomorphism of deformation functors $f_* : F_{z_0} \xrightarrow{\sim} F_{f \circ z_0}$.

Proof. First we show $(1) \iff (2)$. Let $V \to \mathcal{N}$ be an étale neighborhood of $f \circ z_0$. Then $\mathcal{M}_V := \mathcal{M} \times_{\mathcal{N}} V \to \mathcal{M}$ is étale and \mathcal{M}_V is also a Deligne-Mumford stack with representable diagonal. Let $u: U \to \mathcal{M}_V$ be an étale neighborhood of some lift of z_0 to \mathcal{M}_V . Possibly shrinking U, V, we may assume that u is quasi-finite. Let $\tilde{z_0} : \operatorname{Spec} \Omega \to U$ be a lift of z_0 to U. Then f is étale at z_0 if and only if $\mathcal{M}_V \to V$ is étale at $u(\tilde{z_0})$ if and only if the map $h: U \to V$ is étale at $u(\tilde{z_0})$ if and only if the induced map on local rings is of finite presentation, so h is étale at the image of $\tilde{z_0}$ if and only if the induced map of local rings is weakly étale [Stacks, 0CKP, 039L], but this is equivalent to h inducing an isomorphism on étale local rings at $\tilde{z_0}$ [Stacks, 094Z]. Since $U \to \mathcal{M}$ and $V \to \mathcal{N}$ are étale, this map of étale local rings is precisely the map $(f_{z_0})_*$, so $(1) \iff (2)$.

Proposition 6.5.5 shows that $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$. The converse follows from [Liu02, §4.3, Prop. 3.26].

References

- [ACV03] D. ABRAMOVICH, A. CORTI, and A. VISTOLI, Twisted bundles and admissible covers, *Comm. Algebra* **31** no. 8 (2003), 3547–3618, special issue in honor of Steven L. Kleiman. MR 2007376. Zbl 1077.14034. https://doi.org/10.1081/AGB-120022434.
- [AV02] D. ABRAMOVICH and A. VISTOLI, Compactifying the space of stable maps, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 15 no. 1 (2002), 27–75. MR 1862797.
 Zbl 0991.14007. https://doi.org/10.1090/S0894-0347-01-00380-0.

- [ACG11] E. ARBARELLO, M. CORNALBA, and P. A. GRIFFITHS, Geometry of Algebraic Curves. Volume II, Grundlehren Math. Wissen. 268, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011, with a contribution by Joseph Daniel Harris. MR 2807457. Zbl 1235.14002. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-69392-5.
- [Asa01] M. ASADA, The faithfulness of the monodromy representations associated with certain families of algebraic curves, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 159 no. 2-3 (2001), 123–147. MR 1828935. Zbl 1045.14013. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0022-4049(00)00056-6.
- [Bar] A. BARAGAR, The Markoff equation and equations of Hurwitz, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1991, Ph.D. Thesis–Brown Univ. MR 2686830.
- [Bas93] H. BASS, Covering theory for graphs of groups, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 89 no. 1-2 (1993), 3–47. MR 1239551. Zbl 0805.57001. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0022-4049(93)90085-8.
- [BBCL22] R. BELL, J. BOOHER, W. Y. CHEN, and Y. LIU, Tamely ramified covers of the projective line with alternating and symmetric monodromy, *Algebra Number Theory* 16 no. 2 (2022), 393–446. MR 4412578. Zbl 1498.11151. https://doi.org/10.2140/ant.2022.16.393.
- [BM00] J. BERTIN and A. MÉZARD, Déformations formelles des revêtements sauvagement ramifiés de courbes algébriques, *Invent. Math.* 141 no. 1 (2000), 195–238. MR 1767273. Zbl 0993.14014. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s002220000071.
- [BM06] J. BERTIN and A. MÉZARD, Déformations formelles de revêtements: un principe local-global, Israel J. Math. 155 (2006), 281–307. MR 2269432.
 Zbl 1133.14011. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02773957.
- [BR11] J. BERTIN and M. ROMAGNY, Champs de Hurwitz, Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.) no. 125-126 (2011), 219. MR 2920693. Zbl 1242.14025. https: //doi.org/10.24033/msmf.437.
- [BDP17] M. BERTOLINI, H. DARMON, and K. PRASANNA, p-adic L-functions and the coniveau filtration on Chow groups, J. Reine Angew. Math. 731 (2017), 21–86, With an appendix by Brian Conrad. MR 3709060. Zbl 1436.11141. https://doi.org/10.1515/crelle-2014-0150.
- [Bom07] E. BOMBIERI, Continued fractions and the Markoff tree, Expo. Math. 25 no. 3 (2007), 187–213. MR 2345177. Zbl 1153.11030. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.exmath.2006.10.002.
- [BGS16a] J. BOURGAIN, A. GAMBURD, and P. SARNAK, Markoff surfaces and strong approximation: 1, 2016. arXiv 1607.01530.
- [BGS16b] J. BOURGAIN, A. GAMBURD, and P. SARNAK, Markoff triples and strong approximation, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 354 no. 2 (2016), 131–135. MR 3456887. Zbl 1378.11043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crma.2015. 12.006.
- [BH95] G. W. BRUMFIEL and H. M. HILDEN, SL(2) Representations of Finitely Presented Groups, Contemp. Math. 187, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995. MR 1339764. Zbl 0838.20006. https://doi.org/10.1090/conm/ 187.

- [BER11] K.-U. BUX, M. V. ERSHOV, and A. S. RAPINCHUK, The congruence subgroup property for Aut F₂: a group-theoretic proof of Asada's theorem, *Groups Geom. Dyn.* 5 no. 2 (2011), 327–353. MR 2782176. Zbl 1251. 20035. https://doi.org/10.4171/GGD/130.
- [CLP16] F. CATANESE, M. LÖNNE, and F. PERRONI, Genus stabilization for the components of moduli spaces of curves with symmetries, *Algebr. Geom.* **3** no. 1 (2016), 23–49. MR 3455419. Zbl 1354.14043. https://doi.org/10. 14231/AG-2016-002.
- [Che17] D. CHEN, Teichmüller dynamics in the eyes of an algebraic geometer, in Surveys on Recent Developments in Algebraic Geometry, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 95, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2017, pp. 171–197. MR 3727500. Zbl 1393.14021.
- [Che18] W. Y. CHEN, Moduli interpretations for noncongruence modular curves, Math. Ann. 371 no. 1-2 (2018), 41–126. MR 3788845. Zbl 1454.11110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00208-017-1575-6.
- [Cle73] A. CLEBSCH, Zur Theorie der Riemann'schen Fläche, Math. Ann. 6 no. 2 (1873), 216–230. MR 1509816. JFM 05.0285.03. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01443193.
- [CS86] G. CORNELL and J. H. SILVERMAN (eds.), Arithmetic Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986, papers from the conference held at the Univ. of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut, July 30–August 10, 1984. MR 0861969. Zbl 0596.00007. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-8655-1.
- [dCIL22] M. DE COURCY-IRELAND and S. LEE, Experiments with the Markoff surface, *Exp. Math.* **31** no. 3 (2022), 814–829. MR 4477406. Zbl 07589787. https://doi.org/10.1080/10586458.2019.1702123.
- [DCP17] C. DE CONCINI and C. PROCESI, The Invariant Theory of Matrices, Univ. Lecture Series 69, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2017. MR 3726879. Zbl 1401.15001. https://doi.org/10.1090/ulect/069.
- [Del89] P. DELIGNE, Le groupe fondamental de la droite projective moins trois points, in *Galois Groups over* Q (Berkeley, CA, 1987), *Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ.* 16, Springer, New York, 1989, pp. 79–297. MR 1012168. Zbl 0742. 14022. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-9649-9 3.
- [DM69] P. DELIGNE and D. MUMFORD, The irreducibility of the space of curves of given genus, *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* 36 (1969), 75–109. MR 0262240. Zbl 0181.48803. Available at http://www.numdam.org/item?id=PMIHES_1969__36__75_0.
- [DR73] P. DELIGNE and M. RAPOPORT, Les schémas de modules de courbes elliptiques, in *Modular Functions of One Variable*, II (Proc. Internat. Summer School, Univ. Antwerp, Antwerp, 1972), *Lecture Notes in Math.* 349, Springer, Berlin, 1973, pp. 143–316. MR 0337993. Zbl 0281.14010. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-37855-6.
- [Dem12] M. DEMAZURE, Résultant, discriminant, Enseign. Math. (2) 58 no. 3-4 (2012), 333–373. MR 3058604. Zbl 1283.13007. https://doi.org/10.4171/ LEM/58-3-5.

- [DJ75] J. B. DENNIN JR., The genus of subfields of K(n), Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 51 (1975), 282–288. MR 0384698. Zbl 0313.10022. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/2040309.
- [DS05] F. DIAMOND and J. SHURMAN, A First Course in Modular Forms, Grad. Texts in Math. 228, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2005. MR 2112196.
 Zbl 1062.11022. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-27226-9.
- [Don90] S. DONKIN, The normality of closures of conjugacy classes of matrices, *Invent. Math.* **101** no. 3 (1990), 717–736. MR 1062803. Zbl 0822.20045. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01231523.
- [DT06] N. M. DUNFIELD and W. P. THURSTON, Finite covers of random 3-manifolds, *Invent. Math.* 166 no. 3 (2006), 457–521. MR 2257389.
 Zbl 1111.57013. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00222-006-0001-6.
- [Dun70] M. J. DUNWOODY, Nielsen transformations, in Computational Problems in Abstract Algebra (Proc. Conf., Oxford, 1967), Pergamon, Oxford, 1970, pp. 45–46. MR 0260852. Zbl 0191.02202.
- [Dur18] E. DURYEV, Teichmüller Curves in Genus Two: Square-tiled Surfaces and Modular Curves, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2018, Ph.D. Thesis, Harvard Univ. MR 4187609.
- [EFL⁺23] J. EDDY, E. FUCHS, M. LITMAN, D. MARTIN, and N. TRIPENY, Connectivity of markoff mod-p graphs and maximal divisors, 2023. arXiv 2308. 07579.
- [EHKV01] D. EDIDIN, B. HASSETT, A. KRESCH, and A. VISTOLI, Brauer groups and quotient stacks, Amer. J. Math. 123 no. 4 (2001), 761–777. MR 1844577.
 Zbl 1036.14001. https://doi.org/10.1353/ajm.2001.0024.
- [EVW16] J. S. ELLENBERG, A. VENKATESH, and C. WESTERLAND, Homological stability for Hurwitz spaces and the Cohen-Lenstra conjecture over function fields, Ann. of Math. (2) 183 no. 3 (2016), 729–786. MR 3488737. Zbl 1342.14055. https://doi.org/10.4007/annals.2016.183.3.1.
- [FV91] M. D. FRIED and H. VÖLKLEIN, The inverse Galois problem and rational points on moduli spaces, *Math. Ann.* 290 no. 4 (1991), 771–800.
 MR 1119950. Zbl 0763.12004. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01459271.
- [Fro13] G. FROBENIUS, Über die Markoffschen Zahlen, Berl. Ber. (1913), 458–487, in "Gesammelte Abhandlungen", Band 3, 1968. JFM 44.0255.01.
- [Ful69] W. FULTON, Hurwitz schemes and irreducibility of moduli of algebraic curves, Ann. of Math. (2) 90 (1969), 542–575. MR 0260752. Zbl 0194.
 21901. https://doi.org/10.2307/1970748.
- [Gar08] S. GARION, Connectivity of the product replacement algorithm graph of PSL(2, q), J. Group Theory 11 no. 6 (2008), 765–777. MR 2466906.
 Zbl 1162.20047. https://doi.org/10.1515/JGT.2008.048.
- [GS09] S. GARION and A. SHALEV, Commutator maps, measure preservation, and T-systems, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 no. 9 (2009), 4631–4651. MR 2506422. Zbl 1182.20015. https://doi.org/10.1090/ S0002-9947-09-04575-9.

- [Gol03] W. M. GOLDMAN, The modular group action on real *sl*(2)-characters of a one-holed torus, *Geom. Topol.* 7 (2003), 443–486. MR 2026539. Zbl 1037.
 57001. https://doi.org/10.2140/gt.2003.7.443.
- [Gol09] W. M. GOLDMAN, Trace coordinates on Fricke spaces of some simple hyperbolic surfaces, in *Handbook of Teichmüller theory*. Vol. II, IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys. 13, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2009, pp. 611–684. MR 2497777. Zbl 1175.30043. https://doi.org/10.4171/055-1/16.
- [Gro61] A. GROTHENDIECK, Chapitre II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes, Inst. Hautes. Études Sci. Publ. Math. 8 no. 1 (1961), 5–205. MR 217084. Zbl 0118.36206. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02699291.
- [Gro57] A. GROTHENDIECK, Sur quelques points d'algèbre homologique, Tohoku Math. J. (2) 9 (1957), 119–221. MR 0102537. Zbl 0118.26104. https: //doi.org/10.2748/tmj/1178244839.
- [GR71] A. GROTHENDIECK and M. RAYNAUD, Revêtements Étales et Groupe Fondamental, Lecture Notes in Math. 224, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1971, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique de Bois Marie 1960/61 SGA 1. Zbl 0234.14002. https://doi.org/10.1007/BFb0058656.
- [HOPS18] D. HARBATER, A. OBUS, R. PRIES, and K. STEVENSON, Abhyankar's conjectures in Galois theory: current status and future directions, *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (N.S.) 55 no. 2 (2018), 239–287. MR 3777018. Zbl 1432. 14029. https://doi.org/10.1090/bull/1594.
- [HS97] D. HARBATER and L. SCHNEPS, Approximating Galois orbits of dessins, in *Geometric Galois Actions*, 1, *London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser.*242, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997, pp. 205–230. MR 1483119. Zbl 0898.14011. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511758874.015.
- [Har10] R. HARTSHORNE, Deformation Theory, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 257, Springer, New York, 2010. MR 2583634. Zbl 1186.14004. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1596-2.
- [HS09] F. HERRLICH and G. SCHMITHÜSEN, Dessins d'enfants and origami curves, in Handbook of Teichmüller Theory. Vol. II, IRMA Lect. Math. Theor. Phys. 13, Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2009, pp. 767–809. MR 2516744.
 Zbl 1203.30043. https://doi.org/10.4171/055-1/19.
- [HS06] P. HUBERT and T. A. SCHMIDT, An introduction to Veech surfaces, in Handbook of Dynamical Systems. Vol. 1B, Elsevier B. V., Amsterdam, 2006, pp. 501–526. MR 2186246. Zbl 1130.37367. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1874-575X(06)80031-7.
- [Hur91] A. HURWITZ, Ueber Riemann'sche Flächen mit gegebenen Verzweigungspunkten, Math. Ann. 39 no. 1 (1891), 1–60. MR 1510692. JFM 23. 0429.01. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01199469.
- [Jan03] J. C. JANTZEN, Representations of Algebraic Groups, second ed., Math. Surveys Monogr. 107, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003. MR 2015057. Zbl 1034.20041.

NONABELIAN LEVEL STRUCTURES

- [KM85] N. M. KATZ and B. MAZUR, Arithmetic Moduli of Elliptic Curves, Ann. of Math. Stud. 108, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1985. MR 0772569. Zbl 0576.14026. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400881710.
- [Kle80] S. L. KLEIMAN, Relative duality for quasicoherent sheaves, Compositio Math. 41 no. 1 (1980), 39–60. MR 0578050. Zbl 0403.14003. Available at http://www.numdam.org/item?id=CM 1980 41 1 39 0.
- [Knu83] F. F. KNUDSEN, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves. II. The stacks $M_{g,n}$, Math. Scand. **52** no. 2 (1983), 161–199. MR 0702953. Zbl 0544.14020. https://doi.org/10.7146/math.scand.a-12001.
- [KM76] F. F. KNUDSEN and D. MUMFORD, The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves. I. Preliminaries on "det" and "Div", *Math. Scand.* **39** no. 1 (1976), 19–55. MR 0437541. Zbl 0343.14008. https://doi.org/10.7146/ math.scand.a-11642.
- [Knu71] D. KNUTSON, Algebraic Spaces, Lecture Notes in Math. 203, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1971. MR 0302647. Zbl 0221.14001. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/BFb0059750.
- [Kol12] J. KOLLÁR, Quotients by finite equivalence relations, in Current Developments in Algebraic Geometry, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ. 59, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2012, with an appendix by Claudiu Raicu, pp. 227–256. MR 2931872. Zbl 1271.14002.
- [KV04] A. KRESCH and A. VISTOLI, On coverings of Deligne-Mumford stacks and surjectivity of the Brauer map, Bull. London Math. Soc. 36 no. 2 (2004), 188–192. MR 2026412. Zbl 1062.14004. https://doi.org/10.1112/ S0024609303002728.
- [Lan02] S. LANG, Algebra, third ed., Graduate Texts in Math. 211, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002. MR 1878556. Zbl 0984.00001. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4613-0041-0.
- [LZB19] M. M. LIU, Y. WOOD and D. ZUREICK-BROWN, A predicted distribution for Galois groups of maximal unramified extensions, 2019. arXiv 1907. 05002.
- [Liu02] Q. LIU, Algebraic Geometry and Arithmetic Curves, Oxford Grad. Texts in Math. 6, Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 2002, translated from the French by Reinie Erné, Oxford Science Publications. MR 1917232. Zbl 0996.14005.
- [Loc05] P. LOCHAK, On arithmetic curves in the moduli spaces of curves, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 4 no. 3 (2005), 443–508. MR 2197065. Zbl 1094.14018. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474748005000101.
- [Lön20] M. LÖNNE, Branch stabilisation for the components of Hurwitz moduli spaces of Galois covers, in *Galois Covers*, *Grothendieck-Teichmüller Theory and Dessins d'Enfants*, *Springer Proc. Math. Stat.* **330**, Springer, Cham, 2020, pp. 181–204. MR 4166931. Zbl 1457.14070. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-030-51795-3_9.

- [Lub11] A. LUBOTZKY, Dynamics of $\operatorname{Aut}(F_N)$ actions on group presentations and representations, in *Geometry, Rigidity, and Group Actions, Chicago Lectures in Math.*, Univ. Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 2011, pp. 609–643. MR 2807845. Zbl 1266.20045.
- [LS01] R. C. LYNDON and P. E. SCHUPP, Combinatorial Group Theory, Classics in Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001, reprint of the 1977 edition. MR 1812024. Zbl 0997.20037. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-642-61896-3.
- [Mac69] A. M. MACBEATH, Generators of the linear fractional groups, in Number Theory (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XII, Houston, Tex., 1967), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1969, pp. 14–32. MR 0262379. Zbl 0192. 35703. https://doi.org/10.1090/pspum/012/0262379.
- [MKS04] W. MAGNUS, A. KARRASS, and D. SOLITAR, Combinatorial Group Theory, second ed., Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 2004, presentations of groups in terms of generators and relations. MR 2109550. Zbl 0362.20023.
- [Man99] Y. I. MANIN, Frobenius Manifolds, Quantum Cohomology, and Moduli Spaces, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. 47, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999. MR 1702284. Zbl 0952.14032. https://doi.org/10.1090/coll/047.
- [Mar79] A. A. MARKOFF, Sur les formes quadratiques binaires indéfinies, Math. Ann. 15 no. 3 (1879), 381–406. JFM 11.0147.01. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02086269.
- [Mar80] A. A. MARKOFF, Sur les formes quadratiques binaires indéfinies, Math. Ann. 17 no. 3 (1880), 379–399, Sécond mémoire. MR 1510073. JFM 12. 0143.02. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01446234.
- [MT02] H. MASUR and S. TABACHNIKOV, Rational billiards and flat structures, in *Handbook of Dynamical Systems*, Vol. 1A, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002, pp. 1015–1089. MR 1928530. Zbl 1057.37034. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1874-575X(02)80015-7.
- [Mat89] H. MATSUMURA, Commutative Ring Theory, second ed., Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 8, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1989, translated from the Japanese by M. Reid. MR 1011461. Zbl 0666.13002. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/CBO9781139171762.
- [MW11] D. MCCULLOUGH and M. WANDERLEY, Writing elements of PSL(2, q) as commutators, *Comm. Algebra* **39** no. 4 (2011), 1234–1241. MR 2782601.
 Zbl 1214.20046. https://doi.org/10.1080/00927871003645383.
- [MW13] D. MCCULLOUGH and M. WANDERLEY, Nielsen equivalence of generating pairs of SL(2, q), Glasg. Math. J. 55 no. 3 (2013), 481–509. MR 3084656.
 Zbl 1284.20031. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0017089512000675.
- [McM03] C. T. MCMULLEN, Billiards and Teichmüller curves on Hilbert modular surfaces, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 no. 4 (2003), 857–885. MR 1992827.
 Zbl 1030.32012. https://doi.org/10.1090/S0894-0347-03-00432-6.

- [McM05] C. T. MCMULLEN, Teichmüller curves in genus two: discriminant and spin, Math. Ann. 333 no. 1 (2005), 87–130. MR 2169830. Zbl 1086.14024. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00208-005-0666-y.
- [MP18] C. MEIRI and D. PUDER, The Markoff group of transformations in prime and composite moduli, *Duke Math. J.* 167 no. 14 (2018), 2679–2720, With an appendix by Dan Carmon. MR 3859362. Zbl 1447.11049. https://doi. org/10.1215/00127094-2018-0024.
- [MFK94] D. MUMFORD, J. FOGARTY, and F. KIRWAN, Geometric Invariant Theory, third ed., Ergeb. Math. Grenzgeb. 34, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1994. MR 1304906. Zbl 0797.14004.
- [Nak00] K. NAKAMOTO, Representation varieties and character varieties, *Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.* 36 no. 2 (2000), 159–189. MR 1753200. Zbl 1070. 14503. https://doi.org/10.2977/prims/1195143100.
- [Noo04] B. NOOHI, Fundamental groups of algebraic stacks, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu
 3 no. 1 (2004), 69–103. MR 2036598. Zbl 1052.14001. https://doi.org/10.
 1017/S1474748004000039.
- [Noo05] B. NOOHI, Foundations of topological stacks I, 2005. arXiv math/0503247.
- [Ols12] M. OLSSON, Integral models for moduli spaces of G-torsors, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 62 no. 4 (2012), 1483–1549. MR 3025749. Zbl 1293. 14004. https://doi.org/10.5802/aif.2728.
- [Ols16] M. OLSSON, Algebraic Spaces and Stacks, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ.
 62, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2016. MR 3495343. Zbl 1346. 14001. https://doi.org/10.1090/coll/062.
- [Ols07] M. C. OLSSON, (Log) twisted curves, Compos. Math. 143 no. 2 (2007), 476–494. MR 2309994. Zbl 1138.14017. https://doi.org/10.1112/ S0010437X06002442.
- [OZ81] R. P. OSBORNE and H. ZIESCHANG, Primitives in the free group on two generators, *Invent. Math.* 63 no. 1 (1981), 17–24. MR 0608526. Zbl 0438.
 20017. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01389191.
- [Pak01] I. PAK, What do we know about the product replacement algorithm?, in Groups and Computation, III (Columbus, OH, 1999), Ohio State Univ. Math. Res. Inst. Publ. 8, de Gruyter, Berlin, 2001, pp. 301–347. MR 1829489. Zbl 0986.68172.
- [PdJ95] M. PIKAART and A. J. DE JONG, Moduli of curves with nonabelian level structure, in *The Moduli Space of Curves (Texel Island*, 1994), *Progr. Math.* **129**, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1995, pp. 483–509. MR **1363068**. Zbl 0860.14024. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4612-4264-2 18.
- [Poo17] B. POONEN, Rational points on varieties, Grad. Stud. in Math. 186, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2017. MR 3729254. Zbl 1387.14004. https: //doi.org/10.1090/gsm/186.
- [RV15] D. P. ROBERTS and A. VENKATESH, Hurwitz monodromy and full number fields, Algebra Number Theory 9 no. 3 (2015), 511–545. MR 3340543.
 Zbl 1349.14037. https://doi.org/10.2140/ant.2015.9.511.

- [Rom05] M. ROMAGNY, Group actions on stacks and applications, *Michigan Math. J.* 53 no. 1 (2005), 209–236. MR 2125542. Zbl 1100.14001. https://doi.org/10.1307/mmj/1114021093.
- [Ryd13] D. RYDH, Existence and properties of geometric quotients, J. Algebraic Geom. 22 no. 4 (2013), 629–669. MR 3084720. Zbl 1278.14003. https: //doi.org/10.1090/S1056-3911-2013-00615-3.
- [Sch04] G. SCHMITHÜSEN, An algorithm for finding the Veech group of an origami, *Experiment. Math.* 13 no. 4 (2004), 459–472. MR 2118271. Zbl 1078. 14036. https://doi.org/10.1080/10586458.2004.10504555.
- [Sch97] L. SCHNEPS, The Grothendieck-Teichmüller group GT: a survey, in Geometric Galois Actions, 1, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 242, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997, pp. 183–203. MR 1483118.
 Zbl 0910.20019. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511666124.
- [SL97a] L. SCHNEPS and P. LOCHAK, Geometric Galois Actions, 1, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 242, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997. MR 1483106. Zbl 0901.14001. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511758874.
- [SL97b] L. SCHNEPS and P. LOCHAK (eds.), Geometric Galois Actions. 2. The Inverse Galois Problem, Modli Spaces and Mapping Class, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997. MR 1653006. Zbl 0868.00040. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511666124.
- [ST18] S. SCHRÖER and Y. TAKAYAMA, On equivariant formal deformation theory, *Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo* (2) 67 no. 3 (2018), 409–419. MR 3911998.
 Zbl 1409.14021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12215-017-0322-x.
- [Ser79] J.-P. SERRE, Local Fields, Grad. Texts in Math. 67, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979, translated from the French by Marvin Jay Greenberg. MR 0554237. Zbl 0423.12016. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4757-5673-9.
- [Ser02] J.-P. SERRE, Galois Cohomology, English ed., Springer Monogr. Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002, translated from the French by Patrick Ion and revised by the author. MR 1867431. Zbl 1004.12003.
- [Ses77] C. S. SESHADRI, Geometric reductivity over arbitrary base, Advances in Math. 26 no. 3 (1977), 225–274. MR 0466154. Zbl 0371.14009. https: //doi.org/10.1016/0001-8708(77)90041-X.
- [Sil09] J. H. SILVERMAN, The Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves, second ed., Grad. Texts in Math. 106, Springer, Dordrecht, 2009. MR 2514094. Zbl 1194.
 11005. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-09494-6.
- [Stacks] STACKS PROJECT AUTHORS, The Stacks Project, 2022. Available at https: //stacks.math.columbia.edu.
- [Ste16] R. STEINBERG, Lectures on Chevalley Groups, Univ. Lecture Series 66, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2016, notes prepared by John Faulkner

and Robert Wilson, Revised and corrected edition of the 1968 original MR 0466335, with a foreword by Robert R. Snapp. MR 3616493. Zbl 1361.20003. https://doi.org/10.1090/ulect/066.

- [Vdo99] E. P. VDOVIN, Maximal orders of abelian subgroups in finite simple groups, Algebra Log. 38 no. 2 (1999), 131–160, 253. MR 1763386.
 Zbl 0936.20009. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02671721.
- [Vee89] W. A. VEECH, Teichmüller curves in moduli space, Eisenstein series and an application to triangular billiards, *Invent. Math.* 97 no. 3 (1989), 553– 583. MR 1005006. Zbl 0676.32006. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01388890.
- [Vis89] A. VISTOLI, Intersection theory on algebraic stacks and on their moduli spaces, *Invent. Math.* 97 no. 3 (1989), 613–670. MR 1005008. Zbl 0694. 14001. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01388892.
- [Wei94] C. A. WEIBEL, An Introduction to Homological Algebra, Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 38, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1994. MR 1269324.
 Zbl 0797.18001. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139644136.
- [Wew99] S. WEWERS, Deformation of tame admissible covers of curves, in Aspects of Galois Theory (Gainesville, FL, 1996), London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 256, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999, pp. 239–282.
 MR 1708609. Zbl 0995.14008.
- [Wha20] J. P. WHANG, Nonlinear descent on moduli of local systems, Israel J. Math. 240 no. 2 (2020), 935–1004. MR 4193155. Zbl 1464.14017. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11856-020-2085-x.
- [Zor06] A. ZORICH, Flat surfaces, in Frontiers in Number Theory, Physics, and Geometry. I, Springer, Berlin, 2006, pp. 437–583. MR 2261104. Zbl 1129. 32012.

(Received: June 18, 2021) (Revised: July 28, 2022)

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY, NEW YORK, NY AND INSTITUTE FOR ADVANCED STUDY, PRINCETON, NJ *E-mail*: oxeimon@gmail.com